
 AGENDA 

 November 21, 2025 
  10:30 a.m. 



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
Board of Supervisors Meeting 

Agenda  
  November 21, 2025 

10:30 a.m. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. OPENING INVOCATION

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD

5. CONSENT AGENDA

5.1 October 24, 2025 Meeting Minutes 

5.2 Approve the District Administrator’s Employment Agreement and authorize the 

Board Chair to execute the agreement.  

6. REPORTS

6.1 Management Report 

7. GENERAL BUSINESS

7.1 Approve awarding three-year continuing service agreements to Harper Limbach 

LLC, Garney Companies Inc., and Southland Construction Inc. for as-needed 

urgent general construction, repair, and maintenance services and authorize the 

District Administrator to execute each contract in an amount not-to-exceed 

$3,000,000  

7.2 Approve establishing the initial budget for the Studios South Central Energy Plant 

Expansion project in the amount of $7,000,000; approve allowances for 

professional services of $500,000; procurement of owner-furnished materials of 

$1,500,000; and RCES design/support services fees of $200,000; all with a 10% 

contingency for unforeseen issues, and authorize the District Administrator to 

execute the subsequent contracts for such allowances, all subject to the District 

closing on the Series 2025 Bonds previously approved on October 24, 2025 by 

Resolution No. 682 

8. OTHER BUSINESS



 

9. ADJOURN 
 
 
APPEALS: All persons are advised that, should they decide to appeal any decision made at a Board 
of Supervisors hearing, they will need a verbatim transcript of the record of the proceedings. It is 
the responsibility of every party-in-interest to arrange for a transcript of the proceedings, which 
must include the verbatim testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is made. 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT: The Central Florida Tourism Oversight District is committed 
to reasonably accommodating the needs of anyone with disabilities who wishes to attend or participate in 
public meetings. Anyone with a disability who requires a reasonable accommodation should contact the 
Clerk of the Board, by telephone at (407) 828-3548 or via email (DistrictClerk@oversightdistrict.org), no 
less than one business day (i.e. Monday through Friday, excluding legal holidays) in advance of the applicable 
meeting to ensure that the District has sufficient time to accommodate the request

mailto:(DistrictClerk@oversightdistrict.org


Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Board of Supervisors Meeting 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
October 24, 2025 

 
 

On Friday, October 24, 2025, the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District Board of 
Supervisors met in regular session at the Administration Office of the District, 1900 Hotel Plaza 
Boulevard, Lake Buena Vista, Florida. The meeting was posted in accordance with Florida 
Statutes, and a quorum was present.  
 
Board of Supervisors Present:  
Chair Alexis Yarbrough 
Supervisor Brian Aungst Jr. 
Supervisor John Gilbert 
Supervisor Scott Workman 
 
Via Virtual: 
Supervisor Bridget Ziegler 
 
CFTOD Staff: 
District Administrator S.C. Kopelousos 
Deputy District Administrator Mike Crikis 
Chief Financial Officer Susan Higginbotham 
Chief Strategic Officer Chad Colby 
District Attorney Roy Payne 
District Clerk Alycia Mills 
Fire Chief Eric Ferrari  
Director of Security and Emergency Management Tanya Naylor 
 
1. Call to Order  

Chair Yarbrough called the meeting to order at 10:30 a.m.  
 
2. Opening Invocation 

An invocation and message were delivered by Fire Chaplain Billy Dover.  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Wendy Duncan.  

                                                         
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There were no requests for public comment, and no public comment was made. 



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
October 24, 2025 
Page 2 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 

There were no changes or objections under the consent agenda. 

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Supervisor Gilbert 
second.  

Vote: Motion carried unanimously.  
    

6. REPORTS 
6.1 Management Report 

The District Administrator provided an update on Fire Prevention Week activities held on 
October 7 at Fire Station 1 and expressed appreciation for staff participation. 

The Finance and Reedy Creek Emergency Services teams were recognized for their work in 
preparation for Resolution No. 682 to issue utility revenue bonds. 

7. GENERAL BUSINESS 
7.1 Approve a one-year renewal for Contract #C006223 landscape maintenance & 

services with Cepra Landscape, LLC and authorize the District Administrator to 
execute the contract amendment not to exceed $5,090,997 

Horticulture Manager Jessie Mack Burns presented background information and scope on 
Item 7.1 and recommended Board approval for the District Administrator to execute the 
contract amendment not to exceed $5,090,997.  

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve Item 7.1. Supervisor Workman seconded 

Vote: Motion approved unanimously 

7.2 Approve Fiscal Year 2026 Budget Amendment #1 increasing expenditures for fire 
rescue apparatus purchase utilizing rollover funds in the amount of $441,676 

Chief Eric Ferrari presented on Item 7.2 and recommended Board approval to increase 
expenditures for fire rescue apparatus purchase utilizing rollover funds in the amount of 
$441,676.  

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve 7.2. Supervisor Workman seconded. 

Vote: Motion approved unanimously  

7.3 Approve the purchase of two (2) Freightliner Road Rescue Ultramedic medium duty 
ambulances from Matheny Fire & Emergency, and authorize the District 
Administrator to execute the purchase documents in the amount of $933,500 

Chief Eric Ferrari presented background information on Item 7.3 and recommended Board 
approval for the District administrator to execute the purchase of two (2) Freightliner Road 
Rescue Ultramedic medium duty ambulances from Matheny Fire & Emergency.  



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
October 24, 2025 
Page 3 
 

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve 7.3. Supervisor Workman seconded. 

Vote: Motion approved unanimously  

7.4 Approve the award of Contract #C006659 for the Traffic Signal Improvements 
Program 2026 with Traffic Control Devices, LLC, and authorize the District 
Administrator to execute Contract #C006659 in the amount of $1,760,650 plus 5% 
contingency for a total amount of $1,848,683 

Director of Construction Management Craig Sandt presented background information and 
scope on Item 7.4 and recommended Board approval for the District Administrator to execute 
Contract #C006659 with Traffic Control Devices, LLC, in the amount of $1,760,650 plus 5% 
contingency for a total amount of $1,848,683. 

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve 7.4. Supervisor Workman seconded. 

Vote: Motion approved unanimously  

7.5 Approve a Developer Agreement for Construction of Electrical Infrastructure to 
Service Project L and authorize the District Administrator to execute the agreement 

Director of Reedy Creek Energy Services Chris Ferraro presented agreement background on 
Item 7.5 and recommended Board approval for the District Administrator to execute the 
agreement for construction of electrical infrastructure to service Project L.  

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved to approve 7.5. Supervisor Workman seconded. 

Vote: Motion approved unanimously  

8. PUBLIC HEARING 

8.1 Resolution No. 682 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CENTRAL FLORIDA 
TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT AUTHORIZING AND PROVIDING FOR THE 

ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $190,000,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
OF UTILITIES REVENUE BONDS CONSISTING OF (1) CENTRAL FLORIDA 

TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT UTILITIES REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2025-1 IN 
AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $95,000,000 (THE 

“SERIES 2025-1 BONDS”), AND (2) CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT TAXABLE UTILITIES REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2025-2 IN AN 

AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $95,000,000 (THE “SERIES 
2025-2 BONDS,” AND COLLECTIVELY WITH THE SERIES 2025-1 BONDS, THE 

“SERIES 2025 BONDS”), TO PAY THE COSTS OF IMPROVEMENTS TO THE 
UTILITY SYSTEM AND TO PAY RELATED COSTS AND THE COST OF REQUIRED 
DEPOSITS INTO THE SERIES 2025-1 COSTS OF ISSUANCE ACCOUNT AND THE 

SERIES 2025-2 COSTS OF ISSUANCE ACCOUNT, RESPECTIVELY, AND, IF 



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
October 24, 2025 
Page 4 
 

NECESSARY, THE DEBT SERVICE RESERVE ACCOUNT; AUTHORIZING THE 
CHAIR, THE DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR, A DEPUTY DISTRICT 

ADMINISTRATOR OR THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (THE “DISTRICT 
OFFICIALS”) TO AWARD THE SALE OF THE SERIES 2025 BONDS ON A 
NEGOTIATED BASIS; APPROVING THE FORM AND CONTENT OF AND 

AUTHORIZING THE DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
AND THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT WITH 
RESPECT TO THE SALE OF SERIES 2025 BONDS, INCLUDING THE FORM OF AN 

“UNOFFICIAL COMPOSITE TRUST INDENTURE FOR UTILITY REVENUE 
BONDS” TO BE INCLUDED THEREIN; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A PURCHASE CONTRACT 
WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2025 BONDS; APPOINTING A DISCLOSURE 

DISSEMINATION AGENT AND APPROVING THE FORM AND CONTENT OF AND 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A DISCLOSURE 

DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE SERIES 2025 BONDS; 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF (i) A TWENTY-FIFTH 

SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE 
SERIES 2025-1 BONDS AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO, AND A 

TWENTY-SIXTH SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE PROVIDING FOR THE 
ISSUANCE OF THE SERIES 2025-2 BONDS AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO; AUTHORIZING THE OBTAINING AND ACCEPTANCE OF ONE OR 

MORE COMMITMENTS FOR THE ISSUANCE OF POLICIES OF BOND 
INSURANCE; AUTHORIZING DISTRICT OFFICIALS TO DO ALL ACTS 

NECESSARY AND PROPER FOR CARRYING OUT THE TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER 

DETAILS WITH RESPECT THERETO; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

Chair Yarbrough opened the public hearing.  Director of Reedy Creek Energy Services Chris 
Ferraro presented the item and discussed the Utility Capital Improvement Program. John 
Williams, Managing Director, Jefferies LLC, provided a Municipal Market Report.  

District Counsel Roy Payne read the title of Ordinance/Resolution No. 682 in its entirety. 

Chair Yarbrough opened the public comment portion of the hearing.  There were no requests for 
public comment, and no public comment was made. 
Chair Yarbrough asked the Board if there were any comments. There were none.  

Motion: Supervisor Aungst moved approval of Resolution No. 682. Supervisor Workman 
seconded.  

Roll Call Vote: 

Supervisor Zeigler -Yes 

Supervisor Aungst – Yes 



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
Regular Meeting Minutes  
October 24, 2025 
Page 5 
 

Chair Yarbrough – Yes 

Supervisor Workman – Yes 

Supervisor Gilbert – Yes 

Result: Motion passed unanimously. 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 

 No other business was brought forward 

10. ADJOURN 

There being no further business, Chair Yarbrough adjourned the meeting at 10:57 a.m. 

                
ATTESTED THIS 21st day of November 

 
 
        _______________________________________ 
        Alexis Yarbrough, Chair of the Board of Supervisors  
        Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 

     
         

 
_______________________________________ 
Alycia M Mills, District Clerk  
Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 5.2           Board Meeting Date: 11/21/2025 

Subject: Amendment to Employment Agreement for District Administrator   

Presented By: Roy Payne, District General Counsel   

Department: Administration  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item 5.2, approving the 
Amendment to Employment Agreement for District Administrator and authorizing the Chair of the Board 
of Supervisors of the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District to execute same.   
 
 

 
BACKGROUND: On June 27, 2025, the Board authorized the Chair to negotiate the terms of a new or 
amended Employment Agreement with the District Administrator and bring the finalized document back 
to the Board for consideration.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding is included in the District’s FY26 budget and will be included in the 
District’s future annual budgets as approved by the Board.   
 

LEGAL REVIEW: This agenda item has been reviewed by the District General Counsel. 
 
 



AMENDMENT ONE TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

This Amendment One to Employment Agreement  is made and entered into this ____ 
day of __________, by and between the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District, a public 
corporation and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida whose mailing address 
is Post Office Box 10170, Lake Buena Vista, Florida 32830-0170 (hereinafter referred to as the 
“District”), and Stavroula Kopelousos (“Executive”) (collectively referred to as “Parties”)  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein described, and other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by the 
Parties, the Employment Agreement, dated March 27, 2024, between the District and the 
Executive, “Employment Agreement” is hereby amended as follows:  

 
Article I. Section 3. EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT. The effective date of this Agreement 
will be March 27, 2024 (“Effective Date”), and the Agreement shall remain effective and continue 
in force and effect until December 31, 2030, and automatically renew thereafter on an annual 
basis, as provided hereafter during Executive’s employment and for the periods of time thereafter 
as set forth in this Agreement. 

 
Article II. Section 5.2. Benefits. As of the Effective Date, Executive and her eligible 
dependents, as defined by applicable benefits plans, shall be eligible to participate in the District’s 
employee health benefit plans, and any retirement and other benefits plans, which are provided 
to other employees in similar positions. Executive understands that she must meet any and all 
eligibility requirements of the particularly benefit plan(s) as a condition of Executive’s 
participation in any such plan. The District may, in its sole discretion, change, modify, amend or 
terminate any of the benefits provided to its employees, including Executive, at any time in a 
manner which does not discriminate between Executive and other employees of the District who 
are eligible to participate in such benefits and as otherwise permitted by law.  
 
The District shall provide an annual retention award upon the attainment of 3 years of service as 
Executive equal to 3% of the Executive’s total annual compensation. The first retention award will 
be provided on March 27, 2027, and annually thereafter.  The amount of each year’s retention 
award shall be vested immediately upon the applicable date and distributed to retirement plans 
at the discretion of the Executive, in part, to allow the Executive to maximize deferred 
compensation opportunities as provided pursuant to Internal Revenue Service Code Sections 
401(a), 403(b), and 457.  
 

Article III. Effect; Conflicts.  Except as modified herein, all other terms and provisions of the 
Employment Agreement are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and 
effect. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Amendment One and the 
provisions of the Employment Agreement, the provisions of this Amendment One shall control. 



 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment One to Employment 

Agreement on the dates indicated below and to be effective on the day and year specified herein.  
 
__________________                          ___________________________________        
Date                                                                                     Stavroula Kopelousos  
 
__________________     ____________________________________ 
Date       Alexis Yarbrough, Chair 
       Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.1           Board Meeting Date: 11/21/2025 

Subject: Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contracts 
 
Presented by: Chris Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services 
 
Department: Utility Services 
               
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item #7.1 awarding three-year 
continuing service agreements to Harper Limbach LLC, Garney Companies Inc., and Southland 
Construction Inc. for as-needed urgent general construction, repair, and maintenance services and 
authorize the District Administrator to execute each contract in an amount not-to-exceed $3,000,000  
               
RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Operational Excellence 
               
PROOF OF PUBLICATION: Bid released: August 21, 2025 
               

BACKGROUND:  
The District’s Procurement & Contracting Department issued a Request for Proposal from experienced 
and qualified professional firms to provide all labor, materials, equipment, tools, supervision, 
transportation, and incidentals necessary to deliver emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and  
maintenance services for the District. Services will be performed on an as-needed, on-call basis in 
response to urgent conditions that require immediate attention to protect District property, maintain 
operations, or ensure public safety. 
 
The exact scope of work and scale of the services will be defined during each project initiation and issued 
task work order. 
 
The Contractor shall be qualified and equipped to respond rapidly to emergency and urgent calls for 
general construction and utility services, which may include, but are not limited to: 

• Structural repairs and modifications 
• Concrete and asphalt work, including demolition and restoration 
• Excavation, trenching, and backfilling 
• Site grading and stabilization 
• Temporary structures, shoring, and safety barriers as required 
• Coordination with other trades and District personnel 
• Protection of existing facilities during construction 
• Site cleanup and disposal of waste materials in compliance with environmental regulations 
• Pipelining installation and repair 
• Welding services 
• High-temperature hot water system services and repairs 
• Chilled water system services and repairs 
• Boiler services and repairs 
• Plumbing services and repairs 
• Pipe fitting and stabilization 
• Pipe protection 
• Roadway depression investigation 
• Underground utilities inspection, installation, and repair 



• Hot tap/line stop services
• Hauling and disposal of excess materials
• Emergency or urgent response for minor repairs.
• All other related construction and repair tasks as required by the District during emergency

situations

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: 
On August 21, 2025, Request for Proposal #C006914 was released for emergency and urgent response 
construction services as a continuing contract to general, building, mechanical, and underground utility 
contractors. 

Five (5) responses were received, reviewed, and discussed by a formal selection committee during a 
public meeting on September 19, 2025 at 9:30 AM. 

Firms that achieved a minimum score of 90 points out of 100 are recommended for award of a contract. 
The results are as follows: 

Vendor’s Location 
Harper Limbach LLC Lake Mary, FL 
Garney Companies, Inc. North Kansas City, MO 
Southland Construction, Inc. Apopka, FL 
Diaz Constructors, Inc Sebastian, FL 
Wind River Environmental Orlando, FL 

The Utility Services department is requesting approval of Contract #C006914 with Harper Limbach 
LLC, Garney Companies, Inc, and Southland Construction, Inc. 

The duration of each contract is 3 years, with a 2-year optional renewal. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Funding for this purchase will be on a task work order basis utilizing approved and budgeted funds. 

PROCUREMENT REVIEW: 
This action has been reviewed and approved for compliance with the District's procurement policies. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The contracts will be reviewed for form and legality by the District Counsel. 

ALTERNATIVE: 
• Deny
• Amend
• Table

SUPPORT MATERIALS:  
Contract– (Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services - Continuing Contract) (PDF) 



CONTRACT NO. C006946 

Page 1 
 

EMERGENCY AND URGENT RESPONSE CONSTRUCTION SERVICES  
CONTINUING AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, is made effective as of November 21, 2025 by and between Central Florida 
Tourism Oversight District (herein referred to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose mailing 
address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Harper Limbach LLC, 
(herein referred to as the “Contractor”), whose mailing address is 1251 Waterfront Place, Suite 201, 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222. 

W I T N E S S E T H 
WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued a Request for Proposals (“RFP”) No. 

C006914 on August 21, 2025 for emergency and urgent response construction service-continuing contract.  
Contractor shall provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and maintenance services as 
requested by the District over a three-year continuing contract term;  

WHEREAS, five (5) proposers responded, and Harper Limbach LLC was a high-ranking firm.  The 
Contractor was subsequently selected for one of the three continuing contracts for these services; and 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and obligations 
contained in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

A. Agreement. The term “Agreement” or “Contract” represents the entire and integrated Agreement 
between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, 
either written or oral. The Agreement may be amended or modified only as set forth below in 
Section 10. 

B. Services.  
i. The term “Services” or “Work” as used in this Agreement shall be construed to include all 

Services set forth in Exhibit A, imposed upon the Contractor by this Paragraph and by all other 
provisions of the Contract Documents, as well as the structures to be built and the labor to be 
performed under this Agreement and where any Task Work Orders have been issued pursuant 
to Section 3 and where any Amendments have been issued pursuant to Section 10 of this 
Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all materials, tools, equipment, labor, professional and 
nonprofessional services, and shall perform all other acts and supply all other things necessary 
to fully and properly perform and complete the Work.  The Contractor shall further provide and 
pay for all related facilities described in any of the Contract Documents, including all work 
expressly specified therein and such additional work as may be reasonably inferred therefrom, 
saving and excepting only such items of work as are specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents not to be the obligation of the Contractor. 

C. General Conditions. The capitalized terms used herein may have the meanings set forth in the 
General Conditions for Construction (herein referred to as the “General Conditions”).  References 
herein referring to numbered articles and paragraphs in the General Conditions shall be specified 
as such, however, references to sections refer to those in this Agreement.   

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  A description of the nature, scope and schedule of Services to be performed 
by Contractor under this Agreement in accordance with Exhibit A - Scope of Work and the Exhibits 
outlined in Section 32 - Project Specifications and Section 33 - Contract Documents.  

3. CONTRACT TIME. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of all duties, obligations, 
and responsibilities set forth in this Agreement and the Contract Documents.  
A. Term. This Agreement shall commence on DECEMBER 1, 2025 and continue in effect for a term 

of THREE (3) YEARS, through and including NOVEMBER 30, 2028.  

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 2 

 

B. Optional Renewal.  The Agreement may be renewed for a TWO-YEAR (2-YEAR) renewal term upon 
mutual written consent of both parties, unless terminated by either party pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

C. Initial Request. Once a project has been identified, the Owner will request service.  The Contractor 
shall respond on-site no later than the response timelines set forth in Exhibit A - Scope of Work 
unless Owner requests scheduled or future work. 

D. Project Proposal. The Contractor shall provide a detailed proposal utilizing the pricing outlined in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule with associated quantities for each line item. The detailed 
proposal shall be submitted to the Owner within twenty-four (24) hours after initial request. If 
Owner determines an emergency or urgent condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

E. Task Work Orders for Projects.  
i. Individual Projects:  Contractor is required on-site based on the response timelines outlined in 

Exhibit A.  In such cases, written authorization from the Owner’s Representative (or designee) 
in the form of an email or text may be utilized as authorization to proceed.  However, Contractor 
will still provide a proposal to Owner, and a Task Work Order will be completed to memorialize 
the services and pricing under the Agreement.  

ii. Scheduled/Future Projects:  If Owner requests service for a future date and does not require 
the emergency or urgent response timelines outlined in Exhibit A, Contractor shall not 
commence work until a Task Work Order is executed and provided by the Owner. 

iii. Task Work Orders shall, by mutual agreement of the parties, set forth the: (a) scope of services 
for the individual project; (b) price breakdown; (c) project schedule; and (d) subcontractor/ 
sub-consultant proposals, if applicable.  

iv. Contractor shall complete assigned projects within the time limits specified in the Task Work 
Order and timelines shall be strictly enforced by Owner. At no time will Contractor be allowed 
to lag behind. Contractor will be expected to accurately track Contract Time and progress for 
each assigned project. Task Work Orders for additional projects will not be issued if Contractor 
has failed to properly complete and close out previous projects assigned under this Agreement.  

F. The Time for Performance under this Agreement may only be adjusted by Change Order, in the 
sole and absolute discretion of Owner. Any request for an extension of the Time for Performance 
must be submitted in a writing delivered to the Owner’s Representative, along with all supporting 
data. All requests for adjustments in the Contract Time shall be determined by Owner. 

G. As to any delay, inefficiency, or interference in this performance of this Agreement caused by any 
act or failure to act by Owner, the Contractor’s sole remedy shall be the entitlement of an extension 
of time to complete the performance of the affected work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. Contractor agrees to make no claim for extra or additional costs attributable to said 
delays, inefficiencies or interference, except as provided in this Agreement. 

H. None of the provisions of this Section shall exclude Owner’s right of recovery for damages caused 
by delays or inefficiencies caused by any act or failure to act by Contractor, to include costs incurred 
by Owner for the procurement of additional services. 

4. COMPENSATION.  Owner shall compensate the Contractor an amount not to exceed THREE 
MILLION AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($3,000,000.00), (the “Maximum Limiting 
Amount”) for its Services and in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and based 
on the amounts approved on executed Task Work Orders in accordance with rate schedule set forth in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule.  Completed projects must be approved and agreed upon by the 
Owner’s Representative  before payment will be made. 
A. Applications for Payment. The Contractor shall, on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar 

month (herein referred to as the “Payment Application Date”), deliver to the Owner an Application 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 3 

 

for Payment in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 of the General Conditions.  A progress 
report and updated project schedule must be submitted with each monthly Application for Payment 
indicating the percent of services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment 
to Contractor and the basis for payment in the event a project is suspended or abandoned.  

B. Monthly Progress Payments. The compensation amount under this Section shall be paid by Owner, 
monthly, based upon a percentage of completion of the work as invoiced by Contractor and 
approved by Owner. The compensation sought under this Agreement is subject to the express 
terms of this Agreement and any applicable Federal and/or state laws. Prior to payment, the 
Owner’s Representative shall review and approve the Contractor's Application for Payment, 
pursuant to Article 9 of the General Conditions.  However, the Owner shall have no obligation to 
make payment if it has withheld approval as permitted under Subparagraph 9.3.1. of the General 
Conditions or if the Contractor has not submitted to the Owner all documentation required to 
substantiate the Application for Payment. Owner’s Representative approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments by Owner shall be made no later than 
the time periods established in Section 218.735, Florida Statutes.  

C. Project Schedule and Progress Reports (if requested by Owner). A progress report and updated 
project schedule must be submitted with each monthly pay request indicating the percentage of 
services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment to Contractor and the 
basis for payment in the event project is suspended or abandoned. 

D. Pricing Documentation. Contractor shall provide any and all documentation required by Owner in 
connection with labor, materials,  and equipment. Any pricing submitted for materials, equipment, 
or services provided by a subcontractor or supplier must be accompanied by comprehensive 
documentation to support the cost. This documentation shall include, but is not limited to, the 
following: (i) Manufacturer/Supplier Cost Data: Copies of actual quotes, invoices, or documented 
cost breakdowns from the manufacturer or supplier, detailing material costs, labor, equipment, and 
any other direct or indirect costs; and (ii) Subcontractor Proposals: Copies of all subcontractor 
proposals received for any portion of the Services. 

E. Final Payments. Final payment for each individual project shall be paid to the Contractor after 
completion of those items set forth in the TWO and/or Punch List and after Owner approval of the 
final Application for Payment for said project.   

F. Invoice Form and Address. All invoices shall be in the form required by Owner, reference the 
contract number, and shall be addressed appropriately as outlined below based on the Owner’s 
Representative/department the task work order/invoice pertains to: 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight 
District (“District” or “CFTOD”) projects  

District utility projects managed by Reedy 
Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
ap@oversightdistrict.org 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
C/O: Reedy Creek Energy Services - Utilities Division 
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
wdw.rces.billing@disney.com  

G. Payment of Invoices. The Owner’s Representative must review and approve all invoices prior to 
payment. Owner approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments 
by Owner shall be made no later than the time periods established in sections 218.73 and 218.735, 
Florida Statutes, as applicable. 

H. Withholding of Payment. Owner reserves the right to withhold, in whole or in part, payment for 
any and all work that: (i) has not been completed by Contractor; (ii) is inadequate or defective and 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775

mailto:wdw.rces.billing@disney.com


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 4 

 

has not been remedied or resolved in a manner satisfactory to the Owner’s Representative; (iii) 
which fails to comply with any term, condition, or other requirement under this Agreement; or for 
(iv) representations provided in Contractor’s billing statements that are wholly or partially 
inaccurate. Any payment withheld shall be released and remitted to Contractor within thirty (30) 
calendar days of the Contractor’s remedy or resolution of the inadequacy or defect.  

I. Amendments to Services. Contractor shall be compensated for any Additional Services based upon 
the Rate Schedule; such amounts to be invoiced and paid in accordance with the terms of this 
section; provided, however, that Contractor shall not be entitled to compensation for Additional 
Services unless Contractor has obtained prior written authorization of Owner to perform the same. 
Owner retains the right to reduce any portion of Contractor's Services at any time. Any additions 
or reductions to the Scope of Services and Not to Exceed Amount shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 10 of this Agreement. 

J. Return of Funds. Contractor will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Contractor. The 
Contractor must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Contractor, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment.  

5. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. As specified in Task Work Orders.  Should the Contractor fail to achieve 
Substantial Completion by the date provided in Task Work Order, the Contractor shall pay and/or the 
District may retain from the compensation otherwise to be paid to the Contractor, as liquidated 
damages, the sum of (specified in Task Work Order, if applicable) for each consecutive calendar day 
until Substantial Completion is achieved; said sum is agreed upon as a reasonable and proper measure 
of damages which the District will sustain per diem by failure of the Contractor to complete work within 
the time as stipulated;  it being recognized by the District and the Contractor that the injury to the 
District which could result from a failure of the Contractor to complete on schedule is uncertain and 
cannot be computed exactly.  In no way shall costs for liquidated damages be construed as a penalty 
on the Contractor. The liquidated damages referenced herein may also be assessed and collected 
against the Surety.  Liquidated damages do not apply to final completion dates. 

6. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 
A. The Contractor shall at its expense procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement (and 

shall require the same from its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors) the following types and 
minimum amounts of insurance: 

i. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed 
operations liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for 
bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be 
maintained for two (2) years after contract expiration;  

ii. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

iii. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

iv. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying policies 
required by i, ii, and iii above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

v. If Contractor is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Contractor will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that 
precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at 
least two (2) years following the conclusion of work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 5 

 

vi. If Contractor is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Contractor will also carry Pollution Liability 
insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be on a 
claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or services 
under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years following the conclusion 
of work. 

vii. If work will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability insurance 
will be at least $4,000,000. 

viii. If Contractor is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be 
obtained. 

ix. Contractor is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not 
responsible for and Contractor holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 

B. All insurance required under this Section shall be with companies and on forms authorized to issue 
insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are 
waived, in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager. Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if 
required by the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 

C. CANCELLATION. All such insurance required by this Section shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Contractor, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to 
Owner.    

D. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory 
basis, the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.   

E. WAIVERS. The Contractor hereby waives, and will require its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents 
and assigns.  

F. CLAIMS. The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors shall assist and cooperate 
in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Work and shall cooperate with the insurance 
carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Contractor, its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
in all litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the said insurance 
carrier or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 

G. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its 
appointed board supervisors, officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, 
damages, losses and costs including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent 
caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct (which includes, without 
limitation, any failure of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors to 
perform and complete the Services in strict compliance with the Contract Documents, unless such 
failure has been specifically waived by the District in writing upon final acceptance of the Services) 
of the Contractor or any persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the 
Agreement, including without limitation, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor (or their 
employees), utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Services. The provisions of this 
paragraph shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 6 

 

7. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Owner shall, in its sole discretion and with or without cause, have the right to suspend or terminate 
this Agreement upon seven (7) days prior written notice to Contractor.  In the event of termination, 
Owner's sole obligation and liability to Contractor, if any, shall be to pay to Contractor that portion of 
the amount earned by it, plus any earned amounts for Additional Services performed pursuant to 
Sections 4 and 10, through the date of termination. 

8. NON-FUNDING. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or 
otherwise become unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Contractor 
without penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding. 

9. FORCE MAJEURE. 
A. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 

beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented. 

B. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations. 

C. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Contractor be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Work due to any of the conditions under this section, Contractor shall be entitled 
to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Contractor  be entitled to 
any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from such Force 
Majeure delays. 

10. MODIFICATIONS, ADDITIONS, OR DELETIONS TO THE SERVICES. 
A. An Amendment may consist of additions, deletions, or other modifications to the Agreement which 

shall be in writing and mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

B. The Owner may, from time to time, without affecting the validity of the Agreement, or any term 
or condition thereof, issue an Amendment which may identify additional or revised Scope of 
Services, or other written instructions and orders, which shall be governed by the provisions of the 
Agreement. The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner. 
Upon receipt of any such Amendment, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Amendment, 
and the resultant decrease or increase in the amount to be paid the Contractor, if any, shall be 
governed by the provisions of Section 4 in this Agreement. 

11. REPRESENTATIONS. Contractor hereby represents to Owner that:  (A) it has the experience and skill 
to perform the Services as set forth in this Agreement; (B) it is duly licensed to observe and perform 
the terms, covenants, conditions and other provisions on its part to be observed or performed under 
this Agreement; (C) it has by careful examination satisfied itself as to all other matters or things which 
could in any manner affect the performance of the Services. 

12. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES. Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement, 
the following provisions are the responsibility of the Contractor:    
A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures and safety precautions or programs incident thereto.   
B. Contractor shall competently and efficiently supervise, inspect, and direct all work to be performed 

under this Agreement, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 7 

 

C. The Deliverables (if any) shall not call for the use of nor infringe any patent, trademark, service 
mark, copyright or other proprietary interest claimed or held by any person or interest absent prior 
express written consent from the Owner.  

D. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
ordinances, agency regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other government 
authority including without limitation, the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 (“ADA”), as same may be amended from time to time, which have jurisdiction and which are 
current at the time Contractor renders Services hereunder. 

13. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.  Contractor shall refer to Plans and additional Specifications provided with 
each individual project, if any. 

14. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY. 
A. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions 

and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to 
all persons involved in any way in the Services and all other persons, including, without limitation, 
the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be 
affected thereby. 

B. All Services, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools and 
like items used in the Services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to:  (i) all applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental 
authority; and (ii) all codes, rules, regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance 
carriers relating thereto.  In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

C. The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 
clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials.  The Owner may require 
the Contractor to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal 
as the Owner may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the 
general area in which the Services are to be performed clean and free from such waste or rubbish, 
or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner may take such action and offset 
any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred by the Owner in undertaking 
such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor. 

15. OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT. 
A. All drawings, data, ideas, concepts, molds, models, tooling, improvements, inventions, or other 

tangible or intangible work product in whole or in part conceived, produced, commissioned or 
acquired by Contractor hereunder (“Work Product”) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive 
property of Owner when produced, whether or not fixed in a tangible medium of expression, except 
that Contractor may retain copies of such Work Product for its permanent reference, but shall not 
use such copies in any manner whatsoever without the express written consent of Owner and shall 
keep same confidential in accordance with the requirements of Section 17 entitled 
Promotion/Confidentiality.  In the event of early termination of this Contract, in whole or in part, 
Contractor shall deliver to Owner all Work Product whether complete or not. 

B. Without limiting the forgoing, Contractor agrees that any and all Work Product shall be deemed to 
be "works made for hire" for Owner as the author, creator, or inventor upon creation; provided, 
however, that in the event and to the extent that such Work Product is determined not to constitute 
"works made for hire" as a matter of law, Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers such 
property, and all right, title and interest therein, whether now known or hereafter existing including, 
but not limited to, patents and copyrights, to Owner and its successors and assigns.  Contractor 
grants to Owner all rights including, without limitation, reproduction, manufacturing and moral 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 8 

 

rights, throughout the universe in perpetuity and in all languages and in any and all media whether 
now or hereafter known, with respect to such Work Product.  Contractor acknowledges that Owner 
is the motivating force and factor, and for purposes of copyright or patent, has the right to such 
copyrightable or patentable Work Product produced by Contractor under this Contract.  Contractor 
agrees to execute any and all documents and do such other acts as requested by Owner to further 
evidence any of the transfers, assignments and exploitation rights provided for herein. 

16. BOOKS AND RECORDS.  Contractor shall maintain comprehensive books and records relating to any 
Services performed under this Agreement, which shall be retained by Contractor for a period of at least 
four (4) years from and after the completion of such Services.  Owner, or its authorized representatives, 
shall have the right to audit such books and records at all reasonable times upon prior notice to 
Contractor.  The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or early termination of this 
Agreement. 

17. PROMOTION/CONFIDENTIALITY. The Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire no 
right to use, and shall not use, the name of the Owner or the Owner’s Representative  (either alone or 
in conjunction with or as a part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or 
designs of either of them or any related, affiliated or subsidiary companies:  in any advertising, publicity 
or promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of the Contractor's Work or services; or in any 
other manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  
Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to and acquire knowledge 
regarding plans, concepts, designs, materials, data, systems and other information of or with respect 
to Owner or Owner’s Representative, or any subsidiaries or affiliated companies thereof, which may 
not be accessible or known to the general public (“Confidential Information”).  Confidential Information 
that is specific as to techniques, equipment, processes, products, concepts or designs, etc. shall not be 
deemed to be within the knowledge of the general public merely because it is embraced by general 
disclosures in the public domain. Any knowledge acquired by Contractor from such Confidential 
Information or otherwise through its engagement hereunder shall not be used, published or divulged 
by Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or used in any advertising or promotion 
regarding Contractor or its services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of Owner, which permission Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  Contractor specifically agrees that the foregoing confidentiality obligation applies to, but is 
not limited to, any information disclosed to Contractor in any document provided to Contractor pursuant 
to or in connection with this Agreement, including but not limited to, a Request for Proposal, Request 
for Estimate, Request for Quotation or Invitation to Bid, except to the extent Contractor must disclose 
such information to compile and prepare its proposed price for work or services performed hereunder.  
The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

18. SUBCONTRACTORS. If the Contractor desires to employ Subcontractors in connection with the 
performance of its Services under this Agreement: 
A. Nothing contained in the Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the Owner 

and any Subcontractor. However, it is acknowledged that the Owner is an intended third-party 
beneficiary of the obligations of the Subcontractors related to the Services. 

B. Owner reserves the right to approve or disapprove the use of any Subcontractor for this Agreement. 
C. Contractor shall coordinate the services of any Subcontractors, and remain fully responsible under 

the terms of this Agreement, Contractor shall be and remain responsible for the quality, timeliness 
and the coordination of all Services furnished by the Contractor or its Subcontractors. 

D. All subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement 
and shall incorporate the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the full extent applicable to 
the portion of the Services covered thereby.  Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the 
Owner, to be bound by such terms and conditions to the full extent applicable to its portion of the 
Services. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 9 

 

19. NOTICE. 
A. Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered 

personally or by mail, telex, facsimile, cable, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when 
received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 If to Owner: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519 
 Orlando, Florida 32869 
 Attention: Contracting Officer 
 If to Contractor: HARPER LIMBACH LLC 

    1251 Waterfront Place, Suite 201 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 
Attention: Bill Brockenbrough 

or to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the other as hereinabove 
provided. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed ineffective 
if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of the party to whom the notice is 
directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice. 

20. THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE. 

A. Reedy Creek Energy Services, whose designated representative is Brad Burchett, and whose 
mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando,  Florida 32869, shall act as 
the Owner's authorized representative (herein referred to as the "Owner’s Representative"); 
provided, however, that the Owner may, without liability to the Contractor, unilaterally amend this 
Section from time to time by designating a different person or organization to act as its 
representative and so advising the Contractor in writing, at which time the person or organization 
so designated shall be the Owner’s Representative for purposes of this Agreement.  Except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, and until the Contractor is notified in writing to the contrary, 
all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and instructions to be given 
by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and decisions to be made 
by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall be taken, given 
and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner’s Representative in the name of and on behalf 
of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s Representative) shall be 
solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor 
hereunder. 

B. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Contractor and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Contractor to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement. 

21. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
A. The acceptance of final payment under this Agreement, or the acceptance of final payment upon 

early termination hereof, shall constitute a full and complete release of Owner by Contractor from 
any and all claims, demands and causes of action whatsoever which Contractor may have against 
Owner in any way related to the subject matter of this Agreement and Contractor shall as a 
condition precedent to receipt of final payment from Owner, submit to the Owner a fully and 
properly executed General Release.  Neither the Owner's review, approval or acceptance of, nor 
payment for, any of the Services required under this Agreement shall be construed to operate as 
a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the performance 
of this Agreement, and Contractor shall be and remain liable to Owner in accordance with law for 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 10 

 

all damages to Owner caused by the Contractor's performance of any of the Services furnished 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

B. It is understood and agreed that Contractor is acting as an independent contractor in the 
performance of its Services hereunder, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed 
to create an agency relationship between Owner and Contractor. 

C. The rights and remedies of Owner provided for under this Agreement are cumulative and are in 
addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 

22. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public 
Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Contractor shall: 
A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service. 
B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency with 

a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable 
time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by 
law. 

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Contractor does not transfer the 
records to the public agency. 

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to 
perform the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the Contractor 
keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Contractor shall meet all 
applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, 
in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the public agency. 

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, 
EMAIL ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, 
MAILING ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT, ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 
# 690519, ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869. 

23. E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE. The Contractor and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal 
immigration laws and regulations that relate to their employees. The Contractor agrees and 
acknowledges that the Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set 
forth in Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this 
Agreement.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section hereof, if the Owner has a good faith belief 
that the Contractor has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to 
work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for employment under this 
Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has a good faith belief that a 
subcontractor performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775

mailto:PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 11 

 

who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United States 
for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall promptly notify the Contractor and order the 
Contractor to immediately terminate the contract with the subcontractor. The Contractor shall be liable 
for any additional costs incurred by the Owner as a result of termination of a contract based on 
Contractor’s failure to comply with E-Verify requirements referenced herein. 

24. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor certifies that it is eligible 
to bid on, submit a proposal for, enter into or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services 
pursuant to Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon 
discovering that Contractor: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that 
Boycott Israel List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized 
Companies with Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Iran Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or 
Syria. This Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Contractor falsely certified or has 
become ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this 
Agreement is terminated by the Owner as provided above, the Owner reserves the right to pursue any 
and all legal remedies against the Contractor, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid only for 
the work completed as of the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in this Section, 
no other damages, fees or costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination of the 
Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

25. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 
A. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications. 

B. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right 
or obligation under this Agreement, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Agreement, the 
Contract Documents or the Work to be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be submitted 
for trial, without jury, solely and exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in 
and for Orange County, Florida; provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not have 
jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before the United States 
District Court for the Middle District of Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that if 
neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and 
exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange County, Florida, having jurisdiction.  The parties 
(i) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (ii) consent and submit to the sole and exclusive 
jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein and (iii) agree to accept service of process 
outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a Proceeding in accordance with the applicable 
rules of civil procedure. 

C. If any provision of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner allowing its validity or, 
if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, all other provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

26. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement is for the services of Contractor and may not be assigned by 
Contractor in any fashion, whether by operation of law, or by conveyance of any type including, without 
limitation, transfer of stock in Contractor, without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner retains the right to assign all or any portion of this 
Agreement at any time. Upon such assignment, and provided the Assignee shall, in writing, assume 
Owner's obligations under this Agreement, Owner shall be automatically released and discharged from 
any and all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Contractor shall thenceforth look solely to the 
Assignee for performance of Owner's obligations under this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 12 

 

27. EFFECTIVE DATE.  Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Contractor prior to the 
effective date of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when 
agreed to by the Owner. 

28. HEADINGS.  The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 
and shall not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof. 

29. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other 
agreements, either oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains 
all the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or 
otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are not 
embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, or promise 
not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this Agreement. Any 
modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both 
parties. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement shall 
not be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently require strict compliance 
at any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so. 

30. WARRANTY.  Contractor warrants all labor, materials, and equipment furnished under the agreement 
are new, of the type and quality required for the Project, and installed in a good and workmanlike 
manner in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall guarantee the Work shall be free 
from any defects in workmanship for a period of not less than ONE (1) year from the date of project 
completion. Contractor shall guarantee the materials provided shall be free from any defects for the 
longer of: (A) ONE (1) year from the date of project completion; or (B) the period of warranty provided 
by any supplier or manufacturer. The Owner may withhold final payment until the Contractor provides 
complete written manufacturers' warranties to the Owner’s Representative at the end of the project. 

31. PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION BOND.  Performance and Payment bonds will be required for any single 
task work order over $200,000 and will be paid as a separate line item. Contractor shall include the 
line item for a bond in their proposal for individual projects of $200,000 or more. In such cases, the 
Contractor must submit a recorded, Public Construction Bond in conformance with Florida Statute 
255.05 as security for the faithful performance of the work within the time set forth as required herein 
and for prompt payment to all persons defined in 713.01, Florida Statues, who furnish labor, services, 
or materials for the completion of the work provided herein. The Public Construction Bond must be 
recorded in the county where the project is located.  

32. PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS. All work shall be in accordance with all applicable federal, state and 
local codes and regulations, including but not limited to the following specifications and documents, 
which are incorporated by reference: 
A. The Project Specifications listed below are available for viewing and download under Request                

for Proposals (RFP) No. C006914: Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services - 
Continuing Contract at: https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296, under 
documents. 

• Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (“CFTOD”) Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) 
Requirements.   

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces, dated 
March 13, 2018. 

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Lockout/Tagout (“LOTO”) Program, including                  
Appendix 1-4. 

B. In the event of a conflict between the individual Project Specifications regarding the scope of work 
to be performed, then the specification with the more restrictive provision shall take precedence 
over the others. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775

https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006946 
 

 

 
Page 13 

 

33. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  
A. The Contract Documents which comprise the entire understanding between the Owner and 

Contractor, shall only include (1) this Agreement; (2) those documents listed in this Section as 
Exhibits to this Agreement; and (3) those documents identified in the Project Specifications Section 
of this Agreement.  Each Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference for all purposes. 

Exhibit A: Scope of Work (A-1 through A-4) 
Exhibit B: Unit Price Schedule (B-1) 
Exhibit C: Special Contract Conditions (C-1 through C-15) 
Exhibit D: General Conditions for Construction (D-1 through D-26) 
Exhibit E: Sample Forms (E-1 through E-8) 
Exhibit F: Contractor Proposal (F-1 through F-6) 

B. If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement, Project Specifications and the Exhibits, 
then the terms of this Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms 
contained in the Project Specifications and Exhibits. If there is a conflict between the Project 
Specifications and the Exhibits, the Project Specifications shall prevail.  

C. If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits the order of precedence is as follows:                   
(1) Exhibit A, (2) Exhibit C, (3) Exhibit D, (4) Exhibit E, (5) Exhibit B, then (6) Exhibit F.  

 

 

 

  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as 

of the day and year first above written. 
 

 
OWNER CONTRACTOR 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM   
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

HARPER LIMBACH LLC 

  
 
 
 

 
Signature:   Signature:   
               As authorized by the Board of Supervisors  
Print Name:  S.C. Kopelousos           Print Name:   

Title:             District Administrator  Title:   

Date:           November 21, 2025  Date:   

                                                            

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775

BILL BROCKENBROUGH

November 19, 2025

⁷Sr VP Branch Manager



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

A - 1 

SECTION 1. SCOPE OF WORK OVERVIEW 

1.1 Contractor shall provide all labor, material, equipment, supervision, transportation, tools, and 
incidentals necessary to provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and 
maintenance services for the District over a three-year continuing contract term. 

1.2 Services will be performed on an as needed, on-call basis in response to urgent conditions that 
require immediate attention to protect District property, maintain operations, or ensure public safety. 

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF WORK  

2.1 The Contractor shall respond rapidly to emergency and urgent calls for general construction and 
utility services, which may include, but are not limited to: 

A. Structural repairs and modifications 
B. Concrete and asphalt work, including demolition and restoration 
C. Excavation, trenching, and backfilling 
D. Site grading and stabilization 
E. Temporary structures, shoring, and safety barriers as required 
F. Coordination with other trades and District personnel 
G. Protection of existing facilities during construction 
H. Site cleanup and disposal of waste materials in compliance with environmental regulations 
I. Pipe lining installation and repair 
J. Welding services 
K. High-temperature hot water system services and repairs 
L. Chilled water system services and repairs 
M. Boiler services and repairs 
N. Plumbing services and repairs 
O. Pipe fitting and stabilization 
P. Pipe protection 
Q. Roadway depression investigation 
R. Underground utilities inspection, installation, and repair 
S. Hot tap/line stop services 
T. Hauling and disposal of excess materials 
U. Emergency or urgent response for minor repairs 
V. All other related construction and repair tasks as required by the District during emergency 

situations. 
2.2 The specific scope of work shall be set forth in individual Task Authorizations issued by the Owner 

as needed. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

2.3 Response:  

A. Contractor must be available 24/7/365 to respond to emergency calls. 
B. Contractor should be able to mobilize and arrive on site within two hours (2 HRS) of notification 

by the District. Work shall be performed continuously until the emergency condition is resolved 
or stabilized, unless otherwise directed by the District. Urgent, but non-emergency work can 
mobilize and arrive on site in three to four hours (3-4 HRS). 

2.4 Contractor shall provide detailed incident reports after completion of each emergency and urgent 
call, including before-and-after documentation. 

2.5 The District may decide to Owner direct purchase any parts or materials for Contractor use during 
the term of the Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

A - 2 

SECTION 3. CONTRACTOR REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 All work shall meet applicable codes, safety standards, and District specifications, even during 
emergency and urgent conditions. Work areas shall be always secure to ensure safety of District 
personnel and the public. 

3.2 Comply with confined space entry and lock out/tag out safety requirements. Refer to RCES Lockout 
Tagout and RCES Confined Space documents in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.3 Contractor must have their Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) accepted by CFTOD Safety prior to 
commencement of work. Refer to CFTOD PSSP Requirements in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.4 Contractor shall adhere to any and all RCES Specifications applicable to each specific project for a 
Task Work Authorization. 

3.5 The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests, or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific Safety 
Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) 
and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. 

3.6 Contractor’s service vehicle shall contain all parts, equipment, and materials necessary to perform 
services. Damage attributed to the Contractor shall be repaired immediately at no cost to the District.  

3.7 Special access throughout property will need to be approved prior to work being performed at the 
Energy Plants. 

3.8 Contractor must maintain valid licensing, accreditations, and certifications applicable to the services 
throughout the term of the Agreement.  

3.9 Safety Training: The Contractor is responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent 
injury to all persons involved in any way in the Services. 

SECTION 4. EMPLOYEES 

The following applies to ALL contract work: 
4.1 The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 

clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials. The District may require the 
Contractor to comply with such standards, means, and methods of cleanup, removal, disposal as the 
District may make known to the Contractor and/or as required by any applicable laws. In the event 
the Contractor fails to keep clean of such rubbish and waste in the affected areas, and the District 
incurs the clean-up cost, the District will deduct the expenses incurred from any sums then or 
thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.2 All Contractor employees are expected to present a professional, businesslike image to clients, 
visitors, customers and the public. Contractor shall ensure that all vehicles and uniforms used by 
their staff are identified with company name and logo. 

4.3 Employees may be required to meet special dress and grooming standards, such as wearing uniforms 
or personal protective equipment (PPE) depending on the nature of their job.  

4.4 District will designate where Contractor’s crew will take breaks, lunches, and use restroom facilities. 
Employee personal vehicles will be parked only in areas designated by the District. No smoking of 
any kind at any time on District property. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

A - 3 

4.5 District reserves the right to refuse any Contractor’s employee who does not meet or conform to the 
District’s policies. Contractor’s employees shall be required to maintain a level a professional 
appearance at all times while performing required tasks in or out of guest view. This includes as level 
of professional hygiene that includes all Contractor-provided uniforms. 

4.6 Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to all 
persons involved in any way in the Services. 

4.7 Any and all complaints or calls for assistance from the District or its agents or representatives shall 
be responded to by the Contractor within twenty-four (24) hours of the District’s issuance of such 
complaints or calls and all repairs or work which precipitated such complaint shall be diligently and 
professionally completed by the Contractor. 

4.8 Contractor shall cause all of its employees to behave in a friendly, respectable, and courteous manner 
toward the District, guests, staff, and management. In the event the District believes that any of the 
Contractor’s employees are acting other than herein required, or the District or its agents determine 
that any of such employees are not performing their duties in a competent manner, the District shall 
so advise the Contractor and the Contractor shall promptly arrange to correct the deficiencies or to 
replace such employee as reasonably approved by the District. Contractor shall maintain continuous 
and regular communications with the District concerning safety and other factors that relate to the 
performance requirements hereunder and concerning any injury or damage to guests or Contractor’s 
employees that may result or occur in connection with the services to be provided by the Contractor 
hereunder. 

4.9 All services shall be approved by and scheduled through the District or its authorized representative. 
4.10 All services, whether performed by the Contractor, its subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools, and like items 
used in the services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to: (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations, and orders of any public, quasi-public, or other governmental authority; and (b) 
all codes, rules, regulations, and requirements, of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating 
thereto. In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

SECTION 5. TASK WORK ORDERS 

5.1 Services will be requested as needed by District, and will be authorized on a Task Work Order 
(“TWO”) basis. Task Work Order review and approval process (sample “TWO” form included in 
Exhibit E - Sample Task Work Order Form):   
A. The District will request written proposal from the Contractor. Written proposals must include 

the following: 
1. Scope of Services (should be detailed and outline all tasks); 
2. Itemized Pricing (should be detailed to ensure the rates are pursuant to Agreement); 
3. Project Schedule; and 
4. Subcontractor and/or sub-consultant proposals, if applicable. 

B. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under direction 
of Owner using the billing rates established in the contract while a formal proposal and Task 
Work Order is drafted for the project. 

5.2 Liquidated Damages & Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) dates will be negotiated for each project. Failures 
upon the part of the Contractor to complete the specific project within the time frame after receiving 
the Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) will be assessed Liquidated Damages per day in the amount the District 
will determine for each project. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

A - 4 

5.3 Task Work Orders will be assigned to contract holders on an alternating basis while utilizing a fair 
and balanced approach, while also considering the best qualified contractor for a particular job, at 
the sole discretion of the District.  

5.4 The District does not guarantee the number of assignments, if any or the dollar value of fees for 
tasks that may be assigned. This Agreement shall be non-exclusive and without limitation upon the 
District to obtain services from third parties as the District deems appropriate in its sole discretion. 

 
 

End of Exhibit A 
 
 

 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

B - 1 

In accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions for Construction, the following Unit Price Schedule 
may be used for the Contract Work (individual projects) as the Owner may direct.  

SECTION 1. LABOR RATES  
The hourly wage rates shall be utilized for calculating the total cost of labor pursuant to this Agreement. 
All hourly wage rates set forth herein are inclusive of the Contractor’s overhead, profit and cost of all 
employee burdens, benefits, insurance and Worker’s Compensation coverage. The Contractor shall provide, 
if so required by Owner, as supporting data, evidence of the direct cost of labor, Contractor’s overhead, 
profit, and each category of employee burden, benefit and related cost.  
• Standard labor shall be between the hours of 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM Eastern Standard Time, Monday 

through Friday.   

• Overtime  labor shall be between the hours of 5:01 PM and 7:59 AM Eastern Standard Time, Monday 
through Friday, and including all hours on the weekends.  

• Holiday labor is all hours worked on District holidays. 

Labor Category UOM Standard Rate     
(M-F, 8 AM – 5 PM) 

Overtime 
Rate 

Holiday 
Rate 

Senior Foreman HR $130.00 $195.00 $260.00 
Foreman HR $108.00 $162.00 $216.00 
Journeyman HR $93.00 $139.50 $186.00 

 
SECTION 2. EQUIPMENT RATES 
The table below lists each type of equipment to be utilized in the performance of the Work and the hourly, 
daily, and weekly rate corresponding to each.  Each and every listed rate is an all-inclusive rate, which 
includes but is not necessarily limited to, the cost of purchasing, leasing, maintaining, licensing, transporting 
and fueling the equipment, the Contractor’s overhead and any profit to be derived by the Contractor from 
the use of the equipment pursuant to the Agreement, and is not subject to additional markup by the 
Contractor.   
Each and every equipment rate shall remain in effect for the duration of the Contract and shall apply to 
both additions to and deletions from the Work (collectively, changes to the Work).  Any costs for such 
equipment that are attributable to changes to the Work shall be computed on a net hourly, daily or weekly 
basis, as applicable, multiplied by the corresponding rate.   

The rates applied in such computations shall be strictly applied in the following manner:  the hourly rate 
shall be applied when the equipment is utilized for less than one (1) eight-hour day; the daily rate shall be 
applied when the equipment is utilized for more than one (1) but less than five (5) consecutive days; and 
the weekly rate shall be applied when the equipment is utilized for more than five (5) consecutive days but 
less than four (4) consecutive weeks which shall be applied on a prorated basis.  The equipment rates set 
forth below are exclusive of the cost of Labor, if any, that is necessary to operate the equipment.   
 

Equipment Description Hourly Rate Daily Rate Weekly Rate 
Welding Machine (w/50’ lead) $150.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 
Trimble (survey) $150.00 $750.00 $2,000.00 
Pipe Freeze Machine $250.00 $1,000.00 $2,500.00 
ProPress Machine $75.00 $500.00 $1,600.00 
3D Scanner (BIM modeling) $500.00 $2,500.00 $6,000.00 

End of Exhibit B 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 1 

Table of Contents: 

I. General Safety Requirements, Contractor Parking and Access, Break Areas 
II. Construction Site Minimum Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”) and Clothing Requirements 
III. Reserved 
IV. Asbestos/Cadmium or Lead/CFCs 
V. Confined Spaces 
VI. Hazardous and Chemical Waste Disposal 
VII. Electrical Safety Policy 
VIII. Lock out/Tag out (“LOTO”) 
IX. Fall Protection 
X. Aerial Work Platforms (“AWP”) 
XI. Ladders 
XII. Trenching and Excavation 
XIII. Utility Locates 
XIV. Mobile Cranes 
XV. Heavy Equipment Operations 
XVI. Diving Operations 
XVII. RCES Power Outage Scheduling Requirements for Contractors 

 
Definitions: 
The following is a list of defined terms and their corresponding meaning as they appear within this 
document: 

Contractor: The word, Contractor, as it appears within this document, means the Contractor or the 
Consultant as named and as defined within the Agreement.  The Contractor’s, rights, privileges, duties and 
obligations, as set forth herein also apply to each of its Sub-contractors and Sub-subcontractors and the 
suppliers of each and to the Consultant and each of its Sub-consultants and Sub-subconsultants and the 
suppliers of each. 
Owner: The word, Owner, as it appears within this document, means the Owner, acting on its own behalf, 
or the Owner’s Representative, acting on the Owner’s behalf, each as named and defined within the 
Agreement, together with their designated representative(s). 

 I. GENERAL SAFETY REQUIREMENTS, CONTRACTOR PARKING AND ACCESS, BREAK AREAS  
The Owner is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a safe work environment on all of its sites. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is obligated to strictly abide by the safety regulations and requirements 
set forth within these Special Contract Conditions.  Flagrant disregard for safety regulations and 
requirements by the Contractor may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
suspension of all relevant work activities and permanent removal of the responsible party, individual 
(or both) from the Owner’s property. 

All workers must maintain appropriate and respectful behavior at all times. The following behaviors 
are not allowed and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate removal from 
the property: 

a) Fighting 
b) Horseplay 
c) Possession of firearms 
d) Possession/use of alcohol/drugs 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 2 

Work performed must be planned and communicated prior to starting and must incorporate safety 
into the planning. This shall take the form of a Project Site-Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”), a hazard 
analysis, pre-task planning, etc. The type of planning used should be based on the complexity of 
the project and the associated safety hazards. Do not begin work before safety measures are in 
place and training is complete. Any changes to the PSSP must be communicated to the Owner. 
All workers, including managers and supervisors, shall have the proper training and instruction on 
general safety requirements for the project as well as any task or equipment specific training 
required to complete the project. This also includes temporary workers. Awareness-type training is 
not sufficient where task or equipment specific training is required. 
No one shall knowingly be permitted to work while their ability or alertness is so impaired by 
fatigue, illness, or other cause that they may expose themselves or others to injury. 
All jobsite emergencies shall be reported immediately. For fire or medical emergencies, call 911 
and ask for District Fire Department. Report all emergencies to an immediate supervisor, the project 
manager and the Owner. 
All work-related materials must be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping exits, access ways, 
walkways and sidewalks unobstructed. Work areas must be kept as clean and free of debris as 
practicable. Trash cans must be provided for refuse. 
Smoking, “vaping”, and smokeless tobacco use will be permitted in designated areas only. The 
Owner reserves the right to designate these areas on a project. 
Workers shall not engage in any activity, including cell phone usage, which diverts their attention 
while actually engaged in performing work. This includes operating vehicles and equipment. If cell 
phone usage is the primary means of communication, then it must be used in hands-free mode. 
The use of ear buds is prohibited. 
No one shall ride in a vehicle or mobile equipment unless they are on a seat, with the exceptions 
of aerial work platforms (AWPs”) and other equipment designed to be ridden while standing. Riding 
in the back of pick-ups shall not be allowed. 
Seatbelts must be used when provided in any type of vehicle, including but not limited to, personal 
vehicles, industrial trucks, haulage, earth moving, and material handling vehicles. Seatbelts must 
also be used in a personal transport vehicle (“PTV”) if so equipped. 
Posted speed limits and other traffic signs shall be observed at all times. Stop for personnel in 
and/or entering a crosswalk as they have the right of way. 
Do not pass or drive around busses when they are loading, unloading, or stopped in a driving lane. 

Park in authorized areas only. Do not block or obstruct intersections, fire lanes or fire hydrants, 
traffic lanes, pedestrian walkways, driveways or parking lot entrances. Vehicles parked in 
unauthorized places may be towed without notice at the vehicle owner’s expense. 
Fresh drinking water must be provided at construction job sites. If a cooler is used instead of 
bottled water, then it must be maintained in a sanitary condition, be capable of being tightly closed, 
equipped with a tap, and clearly marked as to its content. Disposable cups must be provided. 
Trashcans must be provided for the disposable cups and/or bottles. 
Portable restrooms and hand washing facilities must be provided, if needed, and must be 
maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. Portable restrooms must meet Florida Administrative 
Code 64E-6.0101. The Owner reserves the right to determine the location of these facilities. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 3 

II. CONSTRUCTION SITE MINIMUM PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (“PPE”) AND CLOTHING 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but not limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific 
Safety Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(“OSHA”) and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. The Owner reserves 
the right of final decision, in its sole and absolute discretion, as to whether the PPE utilized meets 
project requirements. “Cowboy” and similar novelty hard hats are not permitted. Sleeveless shirts 
are not permitted. All high-visibility clothing is to be monitored closely to ensure that all items 
retain the protective qualities provided by the manufacturer. Vests and shirts that have become 
faded are to be replaced and shall not be worn while performing work on the Owner’s job site. 
Shirts designed to be worn by the general public, such as those endorsing sports teams or other 
products or services, even if they are yellow, green, or orange, are not considered high-visibility 
shirts and do not meet the requirements set forth herein.  In the event that any of the requirements 
set forth within this Section conflict with the requirements set forth elsewhere within this document 
or within any of the Contract Documents, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 

III. RESERVED. 

IV. ASBESTOS/CADMIUM OR LEAD/CFCs 

 A. ASBESTOS 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that Asbestos-Containing Materials 
(“ACM”) and/or Presumed Asbestos-Containing Materials (“PACM”), including without 
limitation, thermal system insulation, and sprayed on or troweled on surfacing material 
that is presumed to contain asbestos, exists or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor 
may be performing Work or services in or near areas that contain ACM and/or PACM as 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for 
communicating existing conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and 
employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner and Contractor agree 
that the quantities of ACM and/or PACM referred to in the Contract Documents are 
approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant 
to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration Asbestos Standards, 29 CFR Parts 
1910, 1915, and 1926. 

 B. CADMIUM and/or LEAD 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that cadmium and/or lead exists, 
or may exist, at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services in 
or near areas that contain cadmium and/or lead as specified in the Contract Documents.  
Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing conditions to 
all subcontractors and employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the cadmium and/or lead referred to in the Contract Documents 
are described for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant to the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration Cadmium Standard 29 CFR 1926.63 and/or Lead 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.62. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 4 

 C. CHLOROFLUOROCARBONS (“CFCs”) 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that chlorofluorocarbons (“CFCs”) 
exist, or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services 
in or near areas that contain CFCs as specified in the Contract Documents.  Should the 
Contractor’s work result in (i) any loss or release of CFCs from any source, including any 
equipment or containers, or (ii) any addition by Contractor of CFCs to any equipment or 
container, then Contractor shall provide all necessary documentation concerning such loss, 
release or addition, including the quantities of CFCs affected, to the Owner.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the quantities of CFCs referred to in the Contract Documents 
are approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification to the 
Contractor. 

 D. USE OF ASBESTOS/LEAD/CADMIUM CONTAINING MATERIALS 
Contractor shall not utilize or install any asbestos, lead, or cadmium-containing products 
on the Owner’s property or within the scope of Work or services contemplated by this 
Agreement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain appropriate Material Safety 
Data Sheets for all materials to be used, and verify that the products do not contain 
asbestos, lead or cadmium.  This requirement extends to any materials that may be 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Specification of a particular material by the Owner 
in the Contract Documents does not relieve the Contractor from its responsibility to verify 
that the specified material does not contain asbestos, lead or cadmium.  If a specified 
material does contain asbestos, lead or cadmium, then Contractor shall notify Owner 
immediately, and submit a proposed alternate material to be used in lieu of the specified 
material.  Contractor shall submit Material Safety Data Sheets for all installed products, as 
part of the As-Built package.  If Contractor installs any product containing asbestos, lead 
or cadmium, without previously obtaining the written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal of the asbestos, lead, or cadmium 
containing material. 

V. CONFINED SPACES 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that permit-required confined spaces exist 
or may exist at the Job Site and that the Contractor may be performing Work or Services in or near 
permit-required confined spaces as specified in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall fully 
comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910.146 in connection with all Work in any permit-
required confined space (“PRCS”), as defined by OSHA.  The Contractor must have a written 
confined space program when performing Permit Required Confined Space (“PRCS”) entry. 
Accordingly, site specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the 
Contractor’s Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”). In support of the Contractor’s preparation the 
PSSP, the Contractor shall obtain from the Owner the following information:  (i) the elements that 
make the space in question a permit-required confined space, including the hazards identified and 
the Owner’s experience with the space, and (ii) any precautions or procedures that the Owner has 
implemented for the protection of employees in or near any PRCS where the Contractor’s personnel 
will be working.  
The Contractor shall provide its own confined space permits when working on the Owner’s job site. 
All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they 
will be performing. This includes entrant, attendant entry supervisor, air monitoring, rescue, site-
specific training for those workers exposed to hazards posed by PRCS, but who may not be 
performing work inside of confined space or supporting confined space entry. 
Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by the Owner as a PRCS will be treated 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 5 

as such, despite whether or not the Contractor agrees or disagrees with that designation. Trenches 
may also be treated as a PRCS under certain conditions. The Owner reserves the right to designate 
any trench as a PRCS in its sole and absolute discretion.   
Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 
are met. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the Contractor may use 
alternate entry procedures for worker entry into a PRCS, however, the Contractor must first consult 
with the Owner prior to using any alternate entry procedures. 
The Owner shall provide information to the Contractor respecting any known hazards associated 
with a given PRCS.  However, it is ultimately the Contractor’s responsibility to determine, with 
reasonable certainty, the existence of any and all hazards prior to any worker’s entry into the 
confined space.  The Owner is NOT responsible for providing additional services prior to or during 
entry into a given confined space, including but not limited to: atmospheric monitoring, emergency 
response services, including rescue, attendants or entry supervisors. 

The Owner reserves the right to order the immediate discontinuation of the performance of work 
and the immediate removal of the Contractor’s personnel from a confined space if an unsafe 
condition or behavior is observed. In such instances, the space will be immediately evacuated until 
concerns are resolved to the satisfaction of the Owner. 
When both the Owner’s personnel and the Contractor’s personnel will be working in or near any 
PRCS, prior to entering such PRCS, the Contractor shall coordinate entry operations with the Owner.  
The Contractor shall inform the Owner at the conclusion of the entry operations regarding the 
PRCS program followed and regarding any hazards encountered or created within any PRCS during 
entry operations.  The Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing 
conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and to the employees thereof.   

VI. HAZARDOUS AND CHEMICAL WASTE DISPOSAL. 
All hazardous, regulated, universal and chemical wastes generated by the Contractor during the 
performance of the Work shall be managed in accordance with applicable federal, state and local law 
and regulations, including but not limited to Title 40 CFR Subchapter I, Parts 260 through 265, 273, 
279, 302; Title 49 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter A and Rule 62-730 of the Florida Administrative Code 
as applicable to "Large Quantity Generators of Hazardous Wastes".  Packaging, labeling, storage and 
disposal of such wastes shall also comply with Owner’s policies, which are available from Owner.  
Such wastes must be properly placed in U.S. Department of Transportation approved packaging, with 
appropriate markings at the time of generation.  Packages containing such wastes must be labeled 
to identify the contents, date of accumulation and the Contractor’s name and telephone number.  
Such packages must be stored at a secure location and not exposed to weather.  Upon completion 
of the Project or before 60 days has elapsed from the date of the first accumulation of wastes in each 
specific container, whichever is earlier, Contractor shall contact Owner to arrange for disposal.  Owner 
will arrange for the disposal of such wastes by Owner’s approved hazardous waste disposal vendor.  
Upon Owner’s receipt of the invoice for disposal costs, a copy of the invoice will be forwarded to the 
Contractor and Contractor shall reimburse Owner therefor. The Contractor shall be responsible for all 
packaging, storage, and labeling costs. 

VII. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 
Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Contractor’s (and 
its Subcontractor's and Sub-subcontractor's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety 
Policy (“Policy”). 
The Policy is that all electrical work shall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This Policy applies to the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 6 

subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Contractor is expected to exercise good judgment and take 
personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 
The Contractor agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor, Subconsultant, Sub-subconsultant or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized 
electrical conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state.  For systems up to 
1000V, the zero-energy state shall be verified by the Contractor and those greater than 1000V shall 
be verified by the Owner. Any work performed within six feet (6’) of systems greater than 1000V 
at a zero energy state and where there are exposed cables, all personnel shall wear a minimum of 
8cal daily wear Flash Resistant Clothing (“FRC”). 

In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, 
excluding diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing 
must first be completed by the Contractor and submitted to the Owner for approval.  The intent of 
the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the Owner prior to 
performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
• Validation for energized work 
• Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed within 

boundary, etc. 
• Work procedures 
• Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
• PPE to be utilized 
• Job work plan summary 
• A complete list of the names of all individuals involved in the work/briefing 

The Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Contract, may 
review the Contractor's, Subcontractor's, and Sub-subcontractor's safe work plan to confirm for its 
operations and the safety and wellbeing of its employees, guests and invitees that adequate 
contingency plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical 
service. 

Contractor shall establish or shall cause its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the Work based on the type of hazard present as 
called for in NFPA 70. The boundaries shall be either: 
A flash protection boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from 
the exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc 
flash to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is 
appropriate.  Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the 
appropriate PPE and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 
A limited approach boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of three feet six inches (3’6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 7 

The Contractor understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 
Policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Contractor’s 
(or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's) work without notice.  The Contractor expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this Policy constitutes a material breach of the Contract 
and may result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Contract at no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

VIII. LOCK OUT/TAG OUT (“LOTO”) 
The Contractor shall have and maintain a program consisting of energy control procedures, 
employee training and periodic inspections prior to performing Lock Out/Tag Out (“LOTO”). The 
program shall have steps for notification, shutting down, isolating, blocking and securing machines, 
applying LOTO devices, dissipating stored energy equipment or facilities to control hazardous 
energy. It shall also have steps for the removal and transfer of LOTO devices and tags. 
The Contractor must verify by testing that the machine or equipment has been isolated and secured 
from all energy sources before work begins. All affected personnel must be notified prior to starting.  
Proper PPE must be worn in accordance with NFPA70E as referenced in RCES Electrical Safety, 
latest revision. 
LOTO devices shall indicate the identity of the employee applying the device(s) as well as their 
department/company, contact number and date if the work will extend beyond one shift. A lock 
and tag must be used for all energy isolation. LOTO devices shall be standardized by color, shape 
or size and shall not be used for any other purpose. LOTO devices shall only be used for performing 
service or maintenance on equipment, not to be used for any other use. LOTO shall be performed 
only by the person(s) who are performing the servicing or maintenance. Each person performing 
LOTO must have individual locks and tags. 

Before LOTO devices are removed by the worker who applied the device(s), the work area shall be 
inspected to ensure that nonessential items have been removed, all workers have been safely 
positioned or removed, and affected workers have been notified of re-energization of the 
equipment. 
Hot tap operations for pressurized pipelines carrying natural gas, steam or water do not require 
LOTO if it is demonstrated that: 
a)  Continuity of service is essential, and 
b)  Shutdown of the system is impractical, and 
c)  Procedures are documented and followed, and 
d)  Special equipment is used to provide effective protection for workers 

Systems shall be de-energized and taken to a zero-energy state using applicable LOTO procedures 
and verified before work begins. Work on an energized system (e.g. diagnostic testing that cannot 
be performed de-energized) shall require validation accepted by the Owner and project manager. 

If an equipment/machine is not capable of accepting a lock, a tag may be used without a lock as 
long as additional means can be used to prevent accidental activation of the device (e.g., removal 
of a lever, handle, switch, or valve). 
Group LOTO is permitted when all of the following are met: 
a) A single authorized employee must assume the overall responsibility for the control of 

hazardous energy for all workers in the group. Authorized employees must have knowledge 
and training in the following: 

b) Skills necessary for the safe application, use and removal of energy-isolating devices 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 8 

c) Hazardous energy source recognition 
d) Type and magnitude of the hazardous energy sources in the workplace 
e) Energy-control procedures, including methods and means to isolate and control energy sources 
The authorized employee must communicate and implement LOTO procedures, coordinate the 
operation to all affected workers, and verify that all LOTO procedural steps have been taken. 
Each worker must affix their own personal LOTO device and tag to the group LOTO device or group 
lockbox before work begins. 
The authorized employee must not remove the group LOTO device until each worker in the group 
has removed their personal LOTO device. The authorized employee will be the first lock on and the 
last lock off unless their responsibilities have been handed over to another authorized employee. 
The authorized employee must make sure that there is a continuity of LOTO protection during a 
shift change. It is the responsibility of the oncoming worker to verify the machine, equipment or 
facilities is still in a zero-energy state. If there will be a lapse in time between the outgoing worker 
removing their LOTO device and the oncoming worker placing their LOTO device, the oncoming 
authorized employee must repeat the LOTO process and place their personal LOTO device on the 
machine, equipment or system. 
In the event that a worker leaves the jobsite without removing their LOTO device and cannot be 
located, and it is necessary to restore the equipment to its normal operating state, the LOTO device 
may be removed after all of the following have been completed: 
a)  Contractor has had no success in contacting the worker to determine if they are available to 

remove the LOTO device. 
b) Contractor’s supervisory personnel, the authorized person, and the Owner have determined 

that it is safe to re-energize the machine, equipment or facility. 
c)  The authorized person has notified all affected individuals that the machine, equipment or 

facility is being reenergized. 
d)  After removal of the LOTO device, the Contractor must notify the worker whose lock was 

removed, prior to their return to work, that their LOTO device was removed and the machine, 
equipment or facility has been reenergized. 

When the Contractor is performing work on existing machines, equipment or facilities owned and 
operated by the Owner, the Owner’s responsible Project/Engineering Management and responsible 
Contractor supervisory personnel shall inform each other of their respective LOTO programs. The 
Owner reserves the right to determine if the Contractor’s LOTO program meets the Owner’s 
requirements. 

IX.  FALL PROTECTION 
The Contractor shall provide training to all affected workers regarding the proper use of fall 
protection systems. Workers using fall protection improperly (e.g. harness slightly loose, D-ring in 
the wrong position on the back, etc.) can correct the condition and then continue working. 
Repeated misuse or misuse which results in an extremely hazardous condition (e.g. using an 
improper anchor point, using the wrong type or length of lanyard, etc.) will be considered cause 
for the Owner to demand an immediate stop to the performance of all related work (hereinafter 
deemed a “STOP WORK” condition), and the Contractor shall then immediately discontinue the 
performance of such work. When workers are observed being exposed to an unmitigated fall 
hazard, it will also be considered a STOP WORK condition. Work will not resume until the Contractor 
has reevaluated the situation and developed corrective measures to ensure the hazard(s) will not 
occur again. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 9 

Fall restraint systems shall be used instead of fall arrest systems whenever feasible. These systems 
allow a person to reach an area to perform their duties but prevent them from reaching a point 
where a fall could occur. 
Self-retracting lifelines or lanyards (“SRLs”) must be anchored at the height of the harness D-ring 
or above. It should be positioned directly overhead in order to prevent swing falls. When it isn’t 
feasible to anchor overhead, and anchorage is only possible below the D-Ring, then fall protection 
equipment specifically designed for that application must be used. All SRLs must be used in 
accordance with the SRL manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Contractor shall use anchorage connection points designated by the Owner when available. If 
no such designated anchorages are available, then the Contractor’s qualified person must select 
structures suitable as fall protection anchorage points for their workers. 
Fall protection is not required when using portable ladders unless the ladder cannot be placed to 
prevent slipping, tilting or falling. If ladders must be used under these circumstances (e.g. lifts are 
not feasible), a Personal Fall Arrest System (“PFAS”), independent of the ladder, must be used. 
Working height on portable ladders is limited to twenty-five feet (25’). 
The use of a ladder, or similar, in close proximity (i.e., ladder length plus 4 feet) to a guardrail or 
parapet may create an exposure to the fall hazard. Fall protection must be provided by raising the 
height of the guardrail/parapet or a PFAS, independent of the ladder, must be used. Ladders or 
work platforms with a built-in guarded work platform do not require additional fall protection. 
Workers shall be protected from falling into excavations five feet (5’) or more in depth. 

Slopes with an angle of measure from horizontal grade that exceed 40⁰ require the use of fall 
protection. 
Fall protection is required for work conducted six feet (6’) or more above water. Where fall 
protection completely prevents falling into the water, personal flotation devices (“PFDs”) are not 
required. 

X. AERIAL WORK PLATFORMS (“AWP”) 
All operators must be trained in safe and proper AWP operation. Training documents must be 
provided to the Owner immediately upon the Owner’s request.  
Written permission from the manufacturer is required before modifications, additions or alterations 
can be made to an AWP. 
Operators shall be responsible for following the requirements of the AWP operating manual and 
ensuring that the vehicle is in proper operating condition. Operators shall immediately report any 
item of non-compliance to a supervisor for corrective action. AWPs that are not in proper operating 
condition shall be immediately removed from service until repaired. The key shall be removed from 
the vehicle and a tag shall be attached to the control panel to identify the machine as “out of 
service” the vehicle shall not to be operated until it has been repaired. 
The primary purpose of AWP equipment is to raise personnel and necessary tools to a temporary 
height for work; the AWP shall not be used as a crane. AWP equipment is not designed to lift 
materials except on the platform and within the manufacturer’s capacity limits. Lifting items on the 
guardrails or by attaching them to the AWP equipment in any manner not approved by the 
manufacturer is strictly prohibited. 
AWP occupants shall wear a fall restraint system, which includes a safety harness along with a 
fixed lanyard or self-retracting lifeline (“SRL”) of appropriate length (e.g. 3 feet). If the AWP is 
being used at heights of 18 ft. or less, then a SRL shall be utilized. The fall restraint system shall 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 10 

be connected to an anchorage point provided by the manufacturer at all times when the AWP is in 
use.  
Transfer at Height (in or out of the basket/platform) is permitted however one hundred percent 
(100%) tie-off is required during the maneuver. 
Some AWPs are equipped with an external fall protection system. These systems are either a halo 
system or rigid rail engineered to safely allow personnel to exit the basket with 270-degree (270°) 
mobility around the basket. These systems are designed to provide an anchorage for fall arrest 
and can be used as such. Fall restraint is also an option depending upon the situation. When an 
individual is attached outside of the AWP basket, the AWP shall be emergency stopped and the 
basket shall not be moved. If an individual must reach an area that is not within the current radius 
of the attached fall protection system (harness/lanyard) they shall re-enter the AWP basket, move 
the unit to a closer location, emergency stop the AWP and then exit the basket to perform the 
given task from the new location.  

XI.  LADDERS 
Consideration must be given to the method of transporting tools and materials to the work location. 
Workers are not permitted to hand-carry items up the ladder. Hands must be free to climb the 
ladder. 
Ladders placed in areas such as passageways, walkways, doorways or driveways, or where they 
can be displaced by workplace activities or traffic should be barricaded to prevent accidental 
movement. 

Never place a ladder in front of doors unless the door is locked and access is controlled. 

Never climb the back-bracing of a step/A-frame ladder unless it is a twin (double-sided) ladder. 
Only one person is permitted on a ladder at a time, unless it is designed for two-person use. 

Do not use ladders as scaffold. 
All manufacturer stickers/labels must be affixed and in readable condition. 
Prior to each use, the Contractor must visually check the ladder for the following: 
a) Free of cracks, splits, and corrosion. 
b) Steps/rungs free of oil/grease. 
c) Steps/rungs firmly attached to side rails. 
d) Steps/rungs not bent. 
e) Safety feet/base and other moveable hardware in good working condition. 
f) Ropes/pulleys in good condition (extension ladders). 
Temporary fixes shall not be used to make repairs to a damaged ladder. Any repair to a ladder 
must be with manufacturer approved parts or kits. Any accessories used with a ladder must be 
approved by the manufacturer. 
Work shall not be performed from a permanent fixed ladder unless a fall protection system, such 
as a ladder climbing device, is installed and used. 
Extension, straight, and portable ladders cannot be made of wood (except job-made ladders on 
construction sites); fiberglass is preferred. Ladders made of aluminum cannot be used for electrical 
work or near energized equipment. 

The working height for an extension shall be limited to under 25 feet.  
Workers shall not sit, kneel, step, or stand on the pail shelf, top cap, or the first step below the top 
cap of an A-frame/step ladder. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 11 

If ladders are used within 1.5 times their height to a leading edge or drop in elevation (measured 
horizontally), fall protection devices must be used. 
Do not use an A-frame/step ladder to transition to another elevated work surface unless it has 
been specifically designed for this. 
Use ladders correctly. Do not over-reach. Prevent belt buckles from extending outside the side rails 
of the ladder. A-frame/step ladders should be used only for front-facing work. Do not perform 
“side-load” work. 

XII. TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION 

Utility locate tickets must be obtained prior to breaking ground by each and every contractor 
performing trenching/excavation and the operator performing the trenching/excavation must have 
reviewed the ticket. Third party locates may also be required for trenching/excavations located 
beyond the utility provider’s service point.  
All soil shall be considered as Class C soil. Class A and B soils do not exist on property. All sloping 
of trenches must be at a 1.5:1.0 ratio. Benching is not allowed in Class C soil.  
Any shoring, bracing, shielding or trench boxes used must be in good condition. Tabulated data 
must be made available upon request.  
Trenches or excavations that have a hazardous atmosphere or the potential to contain a hazardous 
atmosphere must be monitored by the competent person and may have to be treated as a confined 
space if appropriate.  
The Contractor must provide appropriate barricades to protect people from falling or driving into 
the trench or excavation.  Lighted and/or reflective barricades are preferable at night. Caution tape 
is not a sufficient barricade.  
Barricades must be placed at least six feet (6’) from the edge of the trench or excavation.  Trenches 
and excavation that are left open and unattended shall be barricaded until work resumes. These 
barricades shall be checked at least daily to assure no changes have occurred. 

XIII. UTILITY LOCATES 

Routine Locate Tickets: 
The Contractor must request the locate ticket a minimum of three (3) full business days before 
digging. 
If the dig site is in an area that is under water, the Contractor must call for the locate ten (10) full 
business days before digging. 
Locate ticket requests can be submitted anytime on-line at Sunshine One but must be submitted 
to Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) between 7:00 AM and 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, 
excluding weekends and holidays. 
Obtain a completed locate ticket through Sunshine State One Call of Florida (“SSOCOF”) by calling 
811. 
Call the Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. 

Provide the Sunshine One Call locate ticket number. 

Mark up the RCES supplied map to show limits of excavation. 
The Contractor is expressly forbidden from performing any excavation work until it has received 
and reviewed the RCES Utility Locate Office response and notes for utility presence, conflicts or 
special conditions. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 12 

Emergency Locate Tickets:  
An emergency is defined as any condition constituting a clear and present danger to life or property; 
a situation caused by the escape of any substance transported by means of an underground facility; 
any interruption of vital public service or communication caused by any break or defect in an 
underground facility; or any impairment of public roads or utilities that requires immediate repair 
(collectively, incident(s)), as determined by the authority having jurisdiction within the area where 
the incident has occurred. Difficulties experienced by the Contractor in properly scheduling the 
performance of planned work activities will not constitute justification for obtaining an emergency 
locate ticket. 
During the hours of 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, call the Reedy Creek Energy 
Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. Call the SSOCOF at 811 or 1-800-432-
4770. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance from 
the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
On weekdays between 4:00 PM and 7:00 AM, or Weekends and Holidays: Call the RCES Control 
Room Emergency Number at 407-824-4185. Provide the nature of the emergency and exact 
location. Contact SSOCOF at 811. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Control 
Room. The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance 
from the RCES Control Room. 
No excavation will be permitted until the excavator has submitted a Locate Ticket request and 
received clearance as described above. 
Each company that performs digging must obtain and follow their own locate ticket. The excavator 
shall have a copy of the locate ticket at the excavation site. 

Requirements must be communicated directly to the person(s) performing the digging. 
Exposed underground utilities must be protected. 

Each company must locate utilities when cutting or drilling into concrete. 

Secondary utilities must be considered when performing digging activities. 
The Contractor shall IMMEDIATELY STOP EXCAVATION if an underground facility is contacted 
(even if there is no noticeable damage) and immediately notify the Owner of such. Warning signs 
that indicate the potential of contacting a buried, underground utility include buried red concrete, 
unpainted buried concrete, wooden boards, warning tape, etc. 
It is important to understand tolerance zones. Locate marks show the approximate location of 
underground facilities. The lines can actually be located anywhere within the tolerance zone. 
Proceed cautiously when digging within 24 inches on either side of the locate marks. 
When any mechanized equipment is used within the tolerance zone, supervisory personnel shall 
be present to supervise the operation. 

XIV. MOBILE CRANES 

Operators must be certified on the specific type of crane they are operating. Certification must 
come from an accredited crane operator testing organization, such as The National Commission for 
the Certification of Crane Operators (“NCCCO”). 
A Lift Plan shall be submitted on all critical lifts and should be completed and submitted for review 
and acceptance, with the exception of emergency lifts, 72 hours, prior to lift. 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 13 

A critical lift plan is required for the following lifts: 
a) Lift is ≥ 75% of the cranes rated capacity as determined by the load chart 
b) Two or more cranes involved in the lift or adjacent to each other 
c) Hoisting personnel 
d) Lift from floating platform, barge, or vessel 
e) Any lift where boom intersects within 20 feet of monorail 
f) Any lift deemed critical by the Owner 
g) Any lift where boom intersects within 25 feet of a populated area 
A critical lift plan should include a Pre-Lift Crane Data Worksheet, step-by-step work instructions, 
a list of all personnel involved and their assignments, and a diagram of the lift and swing area. A 
3-D plan or comparable CAD rendering is preferable. A rigging plan is required to be submitted for 
critical lifts. If the crane will be set up on top of, or within 10-feet of a tunnel, manhole, or utility 
vault; or within 10-feet of a seawall, bridge, or water’s edge, Ground Bearing Pressures (“GBP”) 
for each outrigger (below the crane mats) must be submitted with the lift plan. 
The use of a crane to hoist personnel is prohibited except where it can be demonstrated that 
conventional means of reaching the work area (scaffold, ladders, aerial lifts, etc.) would be more 
hazardous or is not possible due to worksite conditions. Hoisting personnel shall comply with all 
parts of 29 CFR 1926.1431. 
The crane hook or other part of the load line may be used as an anchor for a personal fall arrest 
system where all of the following requirements are met: 
a) Approved by a qualified person 
b) Equipment operator must be at the worksite 
c) No load is suspended from the load line when the personal fall arrest system is anchored to it 

or the hook. 
Tag lines must be used for all lifts to control the load unless the use of a tag line is deemed unsafe 
or unfeasible. The decision to not use a tag line must be included in the lift plan and accepted by 
the Owner. 

All crane operations near, adjacent to, or within 10 feet of the monorail or skyway transportation 
system, require a special precautions are taken. All work must be coordinated with the Owner prior 
to commencing.  Any contact with anything associated with these systems must be reported 
immediately to the Owner. At no time will any materials be lifted over the systems. A spotter is 
required when a crane travels under the systems. 
Barricades and notices should be used to prevent people from entering the fall zone (the area 
where the load will land if dropped). No one is allowed to be under a suspended load, with the 
exception of steel workers working in accordance with 29 CFR 1926.753(d). 
In congested areas where barriers are not feasible, an audible signal (horn, whistles, etc.) must 
precede each lift to alert nearby personnel working in the proximity of the crane that the lift is in 
progress. Evening lifts may use alternative signaling methods in lieu of audible signals, if requested.  
The qualified signal person shall be the only person signaling the crane operator; however, anyone 
can signal a stop if there is a perceived emergency situation. 

XV. HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 
The operator must not wear earbuds or headphones while operating heavy equipment. These 
devices may create a distraction and may prevent the operator from hearing important sounds in 
the work area (e.g. backup alarms, evacuation horns, etc.). They do not serve as hearing protection 
or attenuation which may be needed when operating heavy equipment. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 14 

Unless the cab is totally enclosed, the operator must wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) which may include safety glasses, hearing or respiratory protection. When 
exiting the cab in a construction zone, the operator must wear the required site PPE.  Seat belts 
are required at all times.  

Chase (escort) vehicles / Spotters are required when: 
a) Heavy equipment travels to and from work zones 
b) Anticipated pedestrian or vehicle traffic intrudes within the safe work zone, in the judgment of 

the operator 
c) Space is restricted, and a safe work zone cannot be maintained 
d) The back-up alarm is muted 
e) Safe movement is in question 
f) Overhead hazards are present 
The equipment shall be operated at a safe speed. Equipment inspections shall be documented and 
available upon request. 
Check the area for overhead utility lines to ensure the equipment will remain at least 10 feet away 
from the lines at all times. 
Avoid backing up the equipment unless it is absolutely necessary. Attempt to always travel forward 
if possible. Backing up the equipment usually does not present a clear field of view. 
Never allow an individual to ride on running boards or any other part of the equipment. Only the 
operator should be on the equipment. 

Maintain three points of contact when exiting or entering the vehicle. 

Never exit a running vehicle. The vehicle must be turned off if the operator is leaving the cab. 
Remove keys from unattended vehicles. 
Always park the vehicle on level ground. Lower buckets, shovels, dippers, etc. and set the parking 
brake. 

XVI. DIVING OPERATIONS 
Before conducting dive operations, a job hazard assessment shall be developed by the Contractor 
and submitted to the Owner in the form of a dive plan (“Dive Plan”). A complete Dive Plan shall be 
developed and documented for each diving operation. The primary purpose of the Dive Plan is to 
provide a written document capturing the details of the dive operations. The Owner must approve 
all Dive Plans prior to beginning the dive operations. Dive Plans shall be reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure they remain relevant for the actual diving activity and have been updated as 
warranted (i.e., staff safety concerns are conveyed, new equipment or procedures are to be 
implemented, or an injury/incident has occurred).  
The Dive Plan shall include the following:  
a) Site & project information 
b) Immediate contact name(s) and telephone number(s) 
c) Information regarding personnel involved, including the Designated Person in Charge (“DPIC”), 

dive team roles and qualifications, assignment of responsibilities and verification of training 
records, and the verification of the physical fitness of dive team members 

d) Minimum equipment requirements 
e) Sequence of basic job steps and the recommended safe operational procedures and protection.  
f) Known and/or potential hazards, including environmental, surface, overhead and underwater 

conditions and hazards, including any anticipated hazardous conditions or confined spaces 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006946 

 

 

C - 15 

g) Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operations that may interfere with the dive or 
that pose a safety hazard to dive team members (i.e., watercraft, ride vehicles, chemicals, 
potentially dangerous aquatic wildlife and other types of hazards) 

h) Limited access or penetration situations. A diver entering a pipe, tunnel, wreck, or similarly 
enclosed or confining structure, (other than a habitat).  

Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operation that may interfere with the dive or that 
pose a safety hazard to dive team members shall require that proper controls be developed, 
documented and implemented to ensure the dive area is secured from such hazards impeding 
and/or entering the area.  

A diver-carried reserve breathing supply that meets the emergency air volume requirements for 
the dive profile with a separate first and second stage regulator shall be provided to each diver for 
all diving operations.   

 
XVII. RCES POWER OUTAGE SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

Contractors shall provide a minimum three (3) week construction planning schedule to Reedy Creek 
Energy Services (“RCES”) Project Management on a weekly basis identifying all anticipated work 
including utility outages. 

a) A minimum seven (7) day notice will be required for scheduling utility outages to facilitate 
construction.  

b) Any contractor concern with available work duration window and expected task list shall 
be discussed with RCES Project Management before scheduling the utility outage.  

c) All utility outages shall be coordinated with the property owner impacted.  
d) Dates and utility outage duration shall be agreed upon between contractors, customers, 

RCES Project Management and RCES Electrical Operations.  
e) Contractors will be notified by RCES Project Management whether the requested utility 

outage schedule is approved or denied.  
f) In the event the scheduled utility outages need to be canceled due to weather, 

emergencies or customer requests, contractors will be notified, and contractors shall 
provide revised project schedule coordinating with RCES Project Management to plan for 
future power outages. 

 
 
 

END OF SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS 
 
 

End of Exhibit C 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 1 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT  
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
1.1. AGREEMENT/CONTRACT. The sum of all Contract Documents. It represents the entire and integrated 

agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, either written or oral.  The Agreement may be amended or modified only by a 
Modification, as defined below.  The Agreement shall be referred to throughout the Contract 
Documents as the “Agreement” or “Contract.” 
1.1.1. The Contract Documents consist of those documents specified in Section 33 of the 

Agreement.   
1.1.2. Modifications to the Agreement may be accomplished by:  (a) Change Order; (b) Directive; 

or (c) any other written amendment to the Agreement signed by both parties.  A Modification 
may be made only after execution of the Agreement. No Directive shall be construed as a 
Change Order or other Modification unless it expressly states. 

1.1.3. A Change Order is a written Modification executed by both parties (except in the event of a 
unilateral Change Order as herein provided) and consisting of additions, deletions or other 
changes to the Agreement.  A Change Order may be accompanied by and/or may identify 
additional or revised Drawings, sketches or other written instructions, which become and 
form a part of the Contract Documents by virtue of the executed Change Order.  Except as 
otherwise provided in Subparagraph 1.1.4., a Change in the Work, or a change in the 
Contract Time or the Contract Sum shall become the subject of a Change Order. 

1.1.4. A Directive is a written document issued by the Owner and consisting of additions, deletions, 
clarifications or other written instructions issued by the Owner with respect to the 
performance of the Work or the activities of the Contractor on the Job Site or the property 
of the Owner.  A Directive may include, but shall not be limited to, a bulletin, an engineering 
change, or other orders or instructions.  Directives may become the subject of a Change 
Order, either singularly or collectively.  Directives shall become the subject of a Change Order 
if they involve a Change in the Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum. 

1.2. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER. The person or entity having a direct contract with the Owner to design the 
Project or a portion thereof and to produce the Project Plans and Specifications or portion thereof, 
as identified in Section 13 of the Agreement or the most current Modification thereto, together with 
its subconsultants. 

1.3. CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  
The Contractor shall so designate a sufficient number of Project representatives that there shall be 
at least one authorized representative on the Job Site at all times in which the Work is being 
performed including, without limitation, a project manager (herein referred to as the "Project 
Manager") who shall at all times have authority to act (in all capacities necessary for the Work) for 
and bind the Contractor. 

1.4. JOB SITE.  The Job Site shall mean the area in which the Work is to be performed and such other 
areas as may be designated by the Owner for the storage of the Contractor's materials and 
equipment. 

1.5. OWNER.  The Owner is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  The term 
"Owner," whenever it appears in the Contract Documents, means the Owner and/or the Owner's 
Representative acting on behalf or for the benefit of the Owner (except as otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents or as the context otherwise requires); provided, however, that with respect to 
any provisions of the Agreement which require the Contractor to provide insurance for the protection 
of the Owner or to release the Owner from, or waive, any claims the Contractor may have against it, 
the term "Owner" shall mean the Owner and its supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns 
and the Owner’s Representatives and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies, and the 
officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns of each. 

1.6. OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. The Owner's Representative is the person or organization designated 
from time to time by the Owner to act as its representative as identified in Section 20 of the 
Agreement or the most current Modification thereto. 

1.7. PLANS.  Wherever the words "Plan," “Plan Set” or "Plans" are used in the Contract Documents, they 
shall be construed as having the same meaning as Drawing or Drawings. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 2 

1.8. PROJECT. The Project is the total construction of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
1.9. PROVIDE. Except as the context otherwise requires, the term "provide" means to furnish, fabricate, 

complete, deliver, install and erect including all labor, materials, equipment, apparatus, 
appurtenances and expenses, necessary to complete in place, ready for operation or use under the 
terms of the Specifications. 

1.10. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR. 
1.10.1. A Subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct contract with the Contractor to 

perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

1.10.2. A Sub-subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct or indirect contract (on any 
tier) with a Subcontractor to perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any 
materials or equipment to be incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

ARTICLE 2 - THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS. 

2.1.1. The Contractor warrants and represents that, in executing the Agreement and undertaking 
the Work, it has not relied upon any oral inducement or representation by the Owner, the 
Owner's Representative, the Architect/Engineer or any of their officers or agents as to the 
nature of the Work, the Job Site, the Project conditions or otherwise. 

2.1.2. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.  If the Contract Documents do not specifically allow the 
Contractor a choice as to quality or cost of items to be furnished, but could be interpreted to 
permit such choice, subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, they shall be construed 
to require the Contractor to furnish the best quality.  Words and abbreviations which have 
well-known technical or trade meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance 
with such recognized meanings. 

2.1.3. Where conflict exists within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the 
Contract Documents and either applicable industry standards or applicable codes, ordinances 
or other legal requirements, the more stringent requirements shall apply; otherwise, the 
following order of precedence shall be used:  the Agreement; the Scope of Work; the Special 
Conditions; the General Conditions; the Specifications; the Drawings.  If the Contractor is 
required to perform any extra or corrective Work to comply with the preceding sentence, it 
shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, and no claim shall 
result from such compliance.  Subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, large scale 
Drawings take precedence over smaller scaled Drawings, figured dimensions on the Drawings 
take precedence over scaled dimensions, and noted items on the Drawings take precedence 
over graphic representations. 

2.1.4. The organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and the 
arrangement of Drawings, are not intended to influence the Contractor in its division of the 
Work among Subcontractors or its establishment of the extent of the Work to be performed 
by any trade. 

2.1.5. The Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for any interpretations necessary 
for the proper execution or progress of the Work.  Such interpretations shall be issued in 
writing. 

2.1.6. The Contract Documents reflect conditions as they are believed to exist, but it is not intended 
or to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by or on 
behalf of the Owner that such conditions actually exist.  The Contractor shall inspect the Job 
Site and conduct any tests or surveys it deems necessary or desirable prior to the 
commencement of the Work and shall accept full responsibility for any loss sustained by it 
as a result of any variances between the conditions as shown on the Contract Documents 
and the actual conditions revealed during the progress of the Work or otherwise.  The 
Contract Sum shall in no event be increased by reason of any such variance unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

2.1.7. The Contractor shall develop and maintain current "as-built" Plans to be provided to the 
Owner in accordance with Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Owner may inspect and copy such Plans 
at any time during the course of the Work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 3 

2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP.  All Contract Documents and copies thereof furnished by the 
Owner, the Owner's Representative or the Architect/Engineer are and shall remain the Owner's 
property.  They are not to be published or used by the Contractor on any other project and, with the 
exception of one complete set for the Contractor, are to be returned to the Owner upon completion 
of the Work. 

2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER.  The provisions of this Agreement cannot be amended, modified, varied or waived 
in any respect except by a Modification signed by the Owner.  The Contractor is hereby given notice 
that no person has authority to orally waive, or to release the Contractor from, any of the Contractor's 
duties or obligations under or arising out of this Contract.  Any waiver, approval or consent granted 
to the Contractor shall be limited to those matters specifically and expressly stated thereby to be 
waived, approved or consented to and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to obtain any 
future waiver, approval or consent.  Despite any prior waiver, approval or consent as to any particular 
matter, the Owner may at any time require strict compliance with the Contract Documents as to any 
other matter. 

ARTICLE 3 - OWNER 
3.1. EASEMENTS.  The Owner shall obtain and pay for any easements required for permanent structures. 
3.2. ACCESS. The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work at each and every stage of preparation 

and progress.  The Contractor shall provide facilities (including, without limitation, roadways) for 
such access. 

ARTICLE 4 - THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 
4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS. Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner's Representative and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that the Owner's Representative shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations 
of the Contractor to the Owner as imposed by the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, 
the Owner's rights pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. and Articles 10 and 11 of these General Conditions). 

4.2. ROLE.  Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, and until the Contractor is notified 
in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and 
instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall 
be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner's Representative in the name of 
and on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner's Representative) 
shall be solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the 
Contractor hereunder.  If the Owner's Representative is an organization, then it shall, in turn, act 
through such person or persons as it may designate in writing from time to time.  Only those so 
designated are authorized to grant on behalf of the Owner any approval, consent or waiver with 
respect to the Contract Documents or the Work, or to otherwise act for the Owner in any capacity 
whatsoever. 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACTOR 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. In addition to the representations contained in Section 11 of 

the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that prior to execution of the Agreement it has 
thoroughly reviewed and inspected the Contract Documents. The Contractor further acknowledges 
that it has satisfied itself regarding any error, inconsistency, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, 
insufficiency of detail or explanation and has assured itself of the adequacy and accuracy of each of 
the Contract Documents, as well as the compatibility of any combination thereof, as they relate to 
one another and to the scope of Work and the Schedule.  The Contractor hereby warrants and 
represents to the Owner that the Contract Documents are suitable and adapted for the Work and 
guarantees their sufficiency for their intended purpose.  The Owner shall not be responsible or liable 
to the Contractor for, and the Contractor hereby waives, any claims for changes, delays, 
accelerations, inefficiencies, impacts, and any other costs, damages, losses, or expenses of any 
nature whatsoever, resulting from any error, inadequacy, inaccuracy, inconsistency, insufficiency, 
unsuitability, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, or insufficiency of detail or explanation in the Contract 
Documents. The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work at any time without approved 
Contract Documents or, where required, shop drawings, product data, or samples, for such portions 
bearing the A/E's appropriate action stamp.  Work performed in violation of this provision shall be at 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 4 

the Contractor's risk.  Nothing in this Paragraph 5.1. shall in any way limit the effects of Section 11 
of the Agreement. 

5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 
5.2.1. The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using its best skill and attention. The 

Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, coordination, scheduling (subject to Article 8) and procedures, for all cleanup 
and for all safety and weather precautions and programs, in connection with the Work. 

5.2.2. The Contractor shall employ a competent Project Manager and necessary assistants who 
shall be in attendance at the Job Site during the progress of the Work and who shall be 
satisfactory to the Owner. The Contractor shall remove any of its employees or agents 
(including, without limitation, the Project Manager) from the Project upon instruction from 
the Owner.  The Project Manager shall not be changed except with the consent of the Owner 
unless the Project Manager ceases to be in the Contractor's employ.   

5.2.3. The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its employees.  
It shall also be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors, their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the 
Work, in the same manner as if they were the acts and omissions of persons directly 
employed by the Contractor. 

5.2.4. The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the Owner in its administration 
of the Contract, including, without limitation, by any inspections or tests required or 
performed under Paragraph 5.7., or by approvals or other similar action with regard to shop 
drawings or submittals (of any type), or by the activities of persons other than the Contractor 
with respect to the Project.  Further, notwithstanding the fact that a dispute, controversy or 
other question may have arisen between the parties hereto relating to the execution or 
progress of the Work, the interpretation of the Contract Documents, the payment of any 
monies, the delivery of any materials or any other matter whatsoever, the Contractor shall 
not be relieved of its obligations to pursue the Work diligently under the Contract Documents 
pending the determination of such dispute, controversy or other question. 

5.2.5. The Contractor shall establish, implement and supervise the submission of shop drawings 
and other submittals (of any type) in accordance with the Schedule and any Milestones.  The 
Contractor shall note any variances between any such shop drawings or other submittals and 
the Contract Documents for the benefit of the Owner at the time of submission. 

5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. 
5.3.1. The Contractor shall, if so directed by the Owner, cause any or all materials and equipment 

to be manufactured in advance, and be warehoused either at the factory or elsewhere at the 
Contractor's cost.  The Contractor shall cause all materials and equipment to be delivered to 
the Job Site in accordance with any schedule or schedules therefor established from time to 
time and approved by the Owner and, in any event, in a manner which will assure the timely 
progress and completion of the Work but will not encumber the Job Site unreasonably.  
Materials delivered to the Job Site for incorporation in the Work shall not be removed from 
the Job Site without the consent of or unless directed by the Owner. 

5.3.2. The Owner may, from time to time during the performance of the Work and without any 
liability or obligation whatsoever to the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors, direct the Contractor to relocate, or cause to be relocated, to any other 
location on or off the Job Site, as designated by the Owner, any materials, equipment, office 
or storage trailers, storage sheds or the like brought onto the Owner's property by the 
Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, with which directions the 
Contractor shall promptly comply.  Should such relocation not be completed within the time 
therefor established by the Owner, the Owner may accomplish such relocation and offset the 
costs incurred by it in accomplishing the same against any amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor. 

5.3.3. The Contractor shall give, or shall require its Subcontractors and their Sub-subcontractors to 
give, full and accurate quality, performance and delivery status reports, in a form satisfactory 
to the Owner, regarding any materials and equipment, or such other data with respect 
thereto as may be requested by the Owner, and shall obtain for the Owner the written 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 5 

assurances of any manufacturer that its material or equipment is designed, and appropriate, 
for the use intended. 

5.4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the Owner that all materials and equipment furnished under 
this Agreement shall be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work shall be of good quality, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents.  All Work not so 
conforming to these standards may be considered defective.  This warranty is not limited by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.2. of these General Conditions or Section 30 of the Agreement.  All 
warranties and guarantees from Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (including, without limitation, 
manufacturers) shall be assignable to the Owner regardless of whether it is so stated therein, and 
the Contractor agrees to assign all such warranties and guarantees to the Owner and deliver them 
pursuant to Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph shall survive the 
expiration or sooner termination of the Contract. 

5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS. 
5.5.1. The Contractor shall pay, or cause to be paid, all import duties and sales, consumer, use, 

excise, value added and ad valorem taxes required to be paid in connection with the Work 
or upon materials, tools or equipment brought to the Job Site or used in the Work.  If any of 
the foregoing taxes are not paid in a timely manner, the Owner may withhold the amount of 
any such taxes from any amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract Documents, 
submit the amount so withheld to the appropriate taxing authority on behalf of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors and offset said amount against the Contract 
Sum. 

5.5.2. The Contractor shall secure and pay for all governmental fees, permits and licenses which 
the Owner is not specifically required to provide and pay for under the Contract Documents. 

5.5.3. The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees incident to the use of any invention, 
design, process or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others, 
all of which shall be deemed included in the Contract Sum.  The Contractor shall not 
unlawfully use or install any patented or copyrighted article, and any such unlawful use or 
installation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay 
all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions for infringement of, or otherwise related 
to, any patent rights or copyrights, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  In the event of any injunction or legal action arising out of 
any such infringement which has the effect of delaying the Work, the Owner may require 
the Contractor to substitute such other articles of like kind as will make it possible to proceed 
with and complete the Work, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne 
by the Contractor. 

5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Contractor shall, at its cost and expense, comply with each and every 
Federal, state and local law, ordinance, code, rule and regulation, as well as the lawful order or 
decree of any public or quasi-public authority, bearing on the performance of the Work specifically 
including, but not limited to, those specified in Subparagraph 10.1.2., and all applicable building 
codes.  It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to familiarize itself with all of the same, and 
any performance of the Work by or on behalf of the Contractor which is not in compliance therewith 
shall be at the Contractor's sole risk and expense.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner prior to 
execution of the Agreement (and, without limiting the duty of such prior notice, continuously 
thereafter) of any instances where the Contract Documents are, or where the Contractor believes 
the Contract Documents are, not in compliance with the same. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 6 

5.7. TESTS. 
5.7.1. If the Contract Documents, or any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or any orders or 

decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having jurisdiction, or common practice in the 
industry, require or dictate that the Contractor have any portion of the Work inspected, 
tested or approved, the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if 
practicable) of its readiness and of the date arranged so that the Owner may observe such 
inspection, testing or approval.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of such inspections, tests 
and approvals except as otherwise specified. 

5.7.2. The Owner may require any special inspection, testing or approval of the Work not included 
under Subparagraph 5.7.1., or any more stringent inspection, testing or approval thereof, in 
which event it shall instruct the Contractor to order such inspection, testing or approval, and 
the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if practicable) as in 
Subparagraph 5.7.1.  If such inspection or testing reveals any failure of the Work or the 
performance thereof to comply with the more stringent of:  (a)  the requirements of the 
Contract Documents;  (b)  applicable industry standards; or  (c)  applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, regulations or orders or decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having 
jurisdiction, or reveals any defect in the Work, the Contractor shall bear the costs of such 
inspection or testing and all costs to correct the Work to the satisfaction of the Owner, which, 
if incurred by the Owner, may be offset by the Owner against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If such inspection or testing proves that the Work was performed 
properly, the Owner shall bear the costs of such inspection or testing. 

5.7.3. Required certificates of inspection, testing or approval shall be secured by the Contractor 
and promptly delivered by it to the Owner. 

5.8. CONTRACTOR - GENERAL.  The duties and responsibilities of the Contractor as set forth in this Article 
5 are in addition to, and not in lieu of, other duties and responsibilities of the Contractor enumerated 
elsewhere in these Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 - SUBCONTRACTORS 
6.1. SUBCONTRACTORS - GENERAL.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner or the Owner's Representative and any Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor.  However, it is acknowledged that the Owner and Owner's Representative are 
intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
related to the Work and the Project. 

6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS. 
6.2.1. The Contractor shall, prior to awarding any subcontract, notify the Owner in writing of the 

names of all Subcontractors proposed for the several parts of the Work and shall include with 
any such notice the completed insurance information form and any insurance certificates 
required by this Agreement for any proposed Subcontractor.  The Owner may also require 
such lists and information regarding any proposed Sub-subcontractors.  The Contractor shall 
also advise the Owner in writing of any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor with which it 
shares any business relationship or financial interest, and of the nature and extent of any 
such relationship or interest.  No Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be engaged if 
objected to by the Owner; provided, however, that if the Owner does not take exception to 
a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor in writing within fifteen (15) days of its receipt of such 
notification, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be deemed acceptable to the 
Owner.  The Owner shall not be liable to the Contractor in any manner arising out of the 
Owner's objection to a proposed Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  The Contractor shall 
not terminate the employment of a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor engaged in the Work 
prior to the expiration of that subcontract without good cause shown and the Owner's prior 
approval after reasonable notice of the Contractor's intent to so terminate. 

6.2.2. The Owner may, without any responsibility or liability whatsoever, require the Contractor to 
utilize any person or organization for any portion of the Work as a Subcontractor or a Sub-
subcontractor (herein referred to as a "Nominated Subcontractor" or "Nominated Sub-
subcontractor") provided the Owner gave notice of its intention to so nominate any such 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor prior to execution of the Agreement. The Contractor 
shall assume full responsibility for any such Nominated Subcontractor or Nominated Sub-
subcontractor. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 7 

6.2.3. In the event the Owner and Contractor agree that the Owner may participate in any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor procurement activities, provided the Owner has 
informed the Contractor and allowed the Contractor the opportunity to participate and concur 
with such activities, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the results of any such 
activities including, without limitation, full responsibility for the Subcontractors' or Sub-
subcontractors' awarded portions of the Work as a result thereof. 

6.2.4. The Owner may assign to the Contractor any contracts or purchase orders entered into 
between the Owner and any other person or organization in any way related to the Project 
or the Work, at any time, in which event the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for 
such person or organization and its portion of the Work as if such person or organization was 
originally a Subcontractor.  Such assignment may occur by Change Order or other 
Modification to the Agreement, and any increase in the Contract Sum shall be governed by 
Article 12. 

6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS. 
6.3.1. All subcontracts and sub-subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract and sub-

subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement and shall incorporate the terms and 
conditions hereof to the full extent applicable to the portion of the Work covered thereby.  
Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the Owner, to be bound by, and to require 
each of its Sub-subcontractors to be bound by, such terms and conditions to the full extent 
applicable to its portion of the Work. 

6.3.2. Each subcontract shall provide for its termination by the Contractor if, in the Owner's opinion, 
the Subcontractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents insofar 
as the same may be applicable to its portion of the Work; and each Subcontractor shall be 
required to insert a similar provision in each of its  sub-subcontracts.  In the event of any 
such failure by a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to comply with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, as the case may be, shall, 
upon the Owner’s request, be removed immediately from the Work and shall not again be 
employed on the Work.  Any such failure (specifically including, without limitation, a failure 
to pay for labor (including applicable fringe benefits) or materials) by a Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or 
utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for 
and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or 
otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner. 

6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS. 
6.4.1. Unless the Owner otherwise agrees or the Contract Documents otherwise provide, the 

Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, upon receipt of payments from the Owner, an 
amount equal to the percentage of completion allowed to the Contractor on account of such 
Subcontractor's portion of the Work, less a percentage thereof equal to the percentage 
retained from payments to the Contractor.  The Contractor shall also require each 
Subcontractor to make similar payments due to any Sub-subcontractor. 

6.4.2. If the Owner fails to approve a Contractor's Application for Payment, as hereinafter provided, 
for any cause which is the fault of the Contractor and not the fault of a particular 
Subcontractor, the Contractor shall nevertheless pay that Subcontractor for its portion of the 
Work to the extent completed, less the retained percentage, such payment to be made no 
later than the date payment to the Contractor would otherwise have been made by the 
Owner. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 8 

6.4.3. The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor its proper share of any insurance monies 
received by the Contractor under Article 11, and it shall require each Subcontractor to make 
similar payments due to a Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 7 - SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS. The Owner reserves the right to award other 

contracts in connection with the Project or other work on the Job Site on any terms and conditions 
which the Owner may from time to time determine in its sole discretion (hereinafter referred to as 
"Separate Contracts"; and such other contractors are hereinafter referred to as "Separate 
Contractors"). 

7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS. 
7.2.1. The Contractor shall afford all Separate Contractors and the Owner reasonable opportunity 

for the introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and for the execution of 
their work and shall properly cooperate, connect and coordinate the Work with such other 
work as shall be in the best interest of the Project as determined by the Owner. 

7.2.2. If the execution or result of any part of the Work depends upon any work of the Owner or 
of any Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with the Work, inspect 
and promptly report to the Owner in writing any apparent discrepancies or defects in such 
work of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor that render it unsuitable for the proper 
execution or result of any part of the Work.  Failure of the Contractor to so inspect and report 
shall constitute an acceptance of the Owner's or Separate Contractor's work as fit and proper 
to receive the Work, except as to defects which may develop in the Owner's or Separate 
Contractor's work after completion of the Work and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered by its inspection prior to completion of the Work. 

7.2.3. Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any Separate 
Contractor on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the 
Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work, the Contractor shall be liable for the same; and, 
in the case of a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall attempt to settle said claim with 
such Separate Contractor prior to such Separate Contractor's institution of litigation or other 
proceedings against the Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner 
may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the 
Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  Any such damage to the work 
or property of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor on the Project, or to other work on 
the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work shall 
be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional 
wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor 
in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, 
judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such damage, 
delay or interference, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to 
reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge 
all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor under the 
Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been paid or if the sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the 
Owner. 

7.2.4. Should any Separate Contractor cause damage to the Work or to the property of the 
Contractor or cause delay or interference with the Contractor's performance of the Work, the 
Contractor shall present to such Separate Contractor any claims it may have as a result of 
such damage, delay or interference (with an information copy to the Owner) and shall 
attempt to settle its claim against such Separate Contractor prior to the institution of litigation 
or other proceedings against such Separate Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the 
dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event 
the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  In no 
event shall the Contractor seek to recover from the Owner, the Owner's Representative or 
the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor hereby represents that it will not seek to recover 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 9 

from them, any costs, expenses or losses incurred by the Contractor as a result of any 
damage to the Work or property of the Contractor or any delay or interference caused or 
allegedly caused by any Separate Contractor. 

7.2.5. If a dispute arises between the Contractor and any Separate Contractor as to the 
responsibility for cleaning as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner may clean and 
charge the cost thereof to the responsible contractor, or apportion it among the several 
responsible contractors, as the Owner shall determine to be just. 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME 
8.1. DEFINITIONS. 

8.1.1. Whenever the word "day" is used in the Contract Documents, it shall mean a calendar day 
unless otherwise specifically provided. 

8.1.2. The Date of Commencement of the Work is the date established in a written notice to 
proceed.  If there is no notice to proceed, it shall be the date of the Agreement or such other 
date as may be established by the Owner in writing. 

8.1.3. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (or "Substantial Completion") is the date, 
certified by the Owner, when all construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the 
Contract Documents that the Owner may, if it so elects, occupy and use the Work or 
designated portion thereof for the purpose for which it was intended.  

8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING. 
8.2.1. All times and dates stated in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, those for 

the Commencement, prosecution, Milestones, Substantial Completion and final completion 
of the Work and for the delivery and installation of materials and equipment, are of the 
essence of the Contract. 

8.2.2. The Contractor shall begin the Work on the Date of Commencement and shall perform the 
Work diligently, expeditiously and with adequate resources so as to meet all Milestones and 
complete all the Work within the Contract Time. The scheduling of the Work shall be 
performed and monitored by the Contractor utilizing a method to be chosen by the Owner.  
The Contractor (and its Subcontractors, if the Owner requires) shall furnish all scheduling 
information requested by the Owner (in such form and detail as requested for the particular 
portion of the Work; herein referred to as the "Schedule" or "Schedules") within two (2) 
weeks of the Owner's request, shall revise the same from time to time thereafter when so 
requested by the Owner, and shall attend such meetings concerning scheduling as the Owner 
may call from time to time.  The Contractor shall comply with any Schedule or Schedules 
established by it and approved by the Owner, or established by the Owner with respect to 
the Commencement, performance, Milestones or completion of the whole or various portions 
of the Work.  With respect to any portion of the Work for which a Schedule has not been 
established, the Contractor shall commence such portion of the Work within three (3) days 
of the date on which the Owner directs such commencement and shall thereafter prosecute 
and complete the same with all due diligence or as otherwise directed by the Owner.  Neither 
the scheduling information submitted by the Contractor or its Subcontractors, the acceptance 
or approval thereof by the Owner nor the establishment or implementation of, or failure to 
establish or implement, Schedules by the Owner shall relieve the Contractor of its obligation 
to perform and complete the Work in a timely manner or to otherwise perform in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

8.2.3. Float or slack time associated with any one chain of activities is defined as the amount of 
time between earliest start date and latest start date or between earliest finish date and 
latest finish date for such activities, as set forth in an approved Schedule for the Work 
(assuming the critical path method is used), including any revisions or updates thereto.  Float 
or slack time is not for the exclusive use or benefit of either the Owner or the Contractor.  
However, if float time associated with any chain of activities is expended but not exceeded 
by any actions attributable to the Owner, the Contractor shall not be entitled to an extension 
in the Contract Time. 

8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME. 
8.3.1. The time during which the Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by the acts 

or omissions of the Owner, the Owner's Representative, acts of God, unusually severe and 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 10 

abnormal climatic conditions or other conditions beyond the Contractor's control and which 
the Contractor could not reasonably have foreseen and provided against, shall be added to 
the Contract Time stated in the Agreement; provided, however, that no claim by the 
Contractor for an extension of time for such delays shall be considered unless made in 
accordance with Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.2. The Owner and the Owner's Representative shall not be obligated or liable to the Contractor 
for, and the Contractor hereby expressly waives any claims against them, on account of, any 
damages, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever which the Contractor, its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, 
suspensions, rescheduling, changes in sequence, congestion, disruptions or the like, arising 
from or out of any act or omission of the Owner, or any of the events referred to in 
Subparagraph 8.3.1. above, it being understood and agreed that the Contractor's sole and 
exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of the Contract Time, but only if claim 
is properly made in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.3. Whenever, in the opinion of the Owner, the Work falls behind Schedule due to the fault of 
the Contractor, the Contractor shall, to the extent necessary to meet said Schedule, increase 
its labor force and/or provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, and Sunday and/or holiday 
work, and shall have each Subcontractor do likewise, all at no additional cost to or 
compensation from the Owner.  Further, the Owner shall have the right to offset against any 
amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor, or to be reimbursed by the Contractor for, 
any additional costs the Owner may incur as a direct result of said increase in labor force or 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 

8.3.4. The Owner may, in its sole discretion and for any reason, direct the Contractor to accelerate 
the Schedule of performance by providing overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or 
holiday work and/or by having all or any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors designated 
by the Owner provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
8.3.4.1. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by the 

Contractor's own forces pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and 
exclusive obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account 
thereof shall be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Contractor of 
the premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) for all labor utilized by 
the Contractor in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but 
not for the straight time costs of such labor, together with any Social Security and 
state or federal unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium 
time (or shift differential for any extra shifts). 

8.3.4.2. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by a 
Subcontractor pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive 
obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall 
be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Subcontractor for the 
premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) of all labor utilized in such 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but not for the straight 
time cost of such labor), together with any Social Security and state or federal 
unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium time. 

8.3.4.3. Anything in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, should the Owner's 
direction to the Contractor to accelerate the Schedule of performance pursuant to 
this Subparagraph 8.3.4. require the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's forces to work 
in excess of fifty (50) hours per week for a period in excess of four (4) consecutive 
weeks, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, for each consecutive week after the 
fourth consecutive week in which the same forces are required to work in excess of 
fifty (50) hours, an additional amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the gross 
wages of Job Site labor, less payroll costs as defined in Subparagraph 12.2.1., paid 
to such forces on account of such overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.  Such acceleration shall be referred to as 
"Extended Acceleration", and the payment described herein shall be the sole and 
exclusive remedy for such Extended Acceleration including, without limitation, all 
inefficiencies, impacts, added supervision and overhead, ripple effect or any other 
costs or expenses of any kind.  Anything in this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Owner shall have no obligation to make payments on account 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 11 

of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work ordered pursuant hereto unless:  (a)  
the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for the Owner's review and approval, duly 
authenticated time tickets evidencing the hours of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. by the end of the 
day on which performed and recapped in summary form; and  (b)  the Contractor 
shall include with its request for reimbursement a duplicate of each of the foregoing 
time tickets and such other substantiation of costs reimbursable hereunder as the 
Owner may require.  If overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work is 
performed in part pursuant to Subparagraph 8.3.3. and in part pursuant to this 
Subparagraph 8.3.4.3., the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. calling for 
payments by the Owner on account thereof shall only apply to such work performed 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. 

8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK. The Owner shall have the authority to suspend the Work, in 
whole or in part, for such periods and such reasons as it may deem necessary or desirable, in its sole 
discretion including, without limitation:  (a) unsuitable weather; (b) other conditions considered 
unfavorable for the suitable prosecution of the Work; (c) special events; and/or (d) other conditions 
considered adverse to the best interests of the Owner.  Any such suspension shall be in writing to 
the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately obey such orders of the Owner and shall not 
resume the Work until so ordered in writing by the Owner.  No such temporary suspension of the 
Work, for periods of time up to thirty (30) consecutive days, shall be the basis of a claim by the 
Contractor for any increase in the Contract Sum or for any other damages, losses, costs or expenses 
whatsoever, all of which claims the Contractor hereby expressly waives.  The Contractor shall be 
entitled to an extension of the Contract Time not to exceed the length of time that the Work was 
suspended provided the claim is submitted in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. and the suspension 
is not due to an act or omission of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 9 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE. 

9.1.1. The "Payment Application Date" shall be that day of each calendar month designated in the 
Agreement when the Contractor shall deliver the "Application for Payment," as hereinafter 
defined, to the Owner. 

9.1.2. The "Application for Payment" shall be an invoice prepared by the Contractor and submitted 
to the Owner in accordance with the Contract Documents.  It shall show in detail all monies 
properly payable to the Contractor in accordance with the previously approved Schedule of 
Values, including those items of labor, materials and equipment used or incorporated in the 
Work (and, if the Owner has agreed in advance in writing, suitably stored at the Job Site) 
through and including the Payment Application Date.  The Application for Payment shall have, 
as attachments, waivers of mechanics' and materialmen's liens by the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors as of the date of submission of the Application for 
Payment, which waivers shall conform in all material respects with the then current provisions 
of Part I, Chapter 713, Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto), and such other evidence 
of performance of the Work, the costs thereof and payment therefor as the Owner may deem 
necessary or desirable. 

9.1.3. The Contractor warrants that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by an 
Application for Payment shall pass to the Owner, free and clear of all liens, claims, security 
interests or encumbrances, upon the sooner occurrence of:  (a)  the delivery of any such 
materials or equipment to the Job Site; or (b) the tender of payment of the applicable 
Application for Payment by the Owner to the Contractor; and that no Work, materials or 
equipment covered by an Application for Payment shall have been acquired, whether by the 
Contractor or by any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, subject to an agreement under 
which an interest therein or an encumbrance thereon is retained by the seller or otherwise 
imposed by the Contractor or such other person.  The passage of title to the Owner as 
provided herein shall not alter or limit the obligations and duties of the Contractor with 
respect to the Work and the materials or equipment incorporated therein or used in 
connection therewith as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT. 
9.2.1. If the Contractor has submitted an Application for Payment in the manner prescribed in the 

Contract Documents, the Owner shall, with reasonable promptness, approve the same (or 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 12 

such portions thereof covering amounts it determines to be properly due) or shall state in 
writing its reasons for withholding its approval (whether of all or a part). 

9.2.2. The Owner's approval of an Application for Payment shall not constitute a representation by 
the Owner that the conditions precedent to the Contractor's entitlement to payment have 
been fulfilled, nor shall approval of an Application for Payment by the Owner be deemed a 
representation by the Owner:  (a) that it has made exhaustive or continuous on-site 
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work; (b)  that it has reviewed the 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, coordination or procedures, or the 
cleanliness of the Job Site, or the safety precautions and programs, in connection with the 
Work; (c) that it has made any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes the 
Contractor has used the monies previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 

9.2.3. No approval of an Application for Payment, progress payment or any beneficial, partial or 
entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall constitute an acceptance of any 
Work which is not in accordance with the Contract Documents; and regardless of approval 
of an Application for Payment by the Owner, the Contractor shall remain totally obligated 
and liable for the performance of the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. 

9.2.4. Subject to the Owner's rights to offset or withhold as set forth in these General Conditions, 
after the Owner has approved an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, it shall make 
payment of the amount approved to the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 

9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK. 
9.3.1. The Owner may withhold its approval of an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, or 

nullify the whole or any part of an approval previously given, if it determines that the 
Application for Payment covers portions of the Work which have not, in fact, been completed, 
or that it includes amounts for claims allegedly made but not actually made (or subsequently 
withdrawn),  and/or for which payment is not then due or if, and to the extent that, it deems 
it necessary or desirable to protect itself against loss or damage due to: (a) defective Work 
not remedied; (b) Contractor, Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or third party claims, 
disputes or liens or reasonable evidence indicating such claims, disputes or liens; (c) failure 
or alleged failure of the Contractor to make payments to Subcontractors (or of Subcontractors 
to make payments to Sub-subcontractors) as required by the Contract Documents, or failure 
to provide lien waivers for previous payments; (d) inability, or reasonable doubt as to the 
ability, of the Contractor to complete the Work within the Contract Time, for the unpaid 
balance of the Contract Sum or within the estimates prepared by the Contractor and 
submitted to and approved by the Owner; (e) damage to the Owner or a Separate 
Contractor; (f) unsatisfactory prosecution of the Work by the Contractor, its Subcontractors 
or Sub-subcontractors; (g) failure of the Contractor to maintain the Job Site in a clean and 
safe condition; (h) failure of the Contractor to meet any other monetary obligation imposed 
upon it pursuant to the Contract Documents; or (i) failure of the Contractor to comply with 
any other provision of the Contract Documents. 

9.3.2. The Owner after giving the Contractor appropriate notice, may make payments on account 
of labor, materials and/or equipment for the Work directly to the Subcontractors, Sub-
subcontractors or persons entitled to the same in lieu of paying the Contractor therefor or 
make joint payment to any such person and the Contractor.  Any amounts so paid shall be 
credited against the Contract Sum.  No such payment shall create any relationship between 
the recipient thereof and the Owner, nor any duty on the part of the Owner.  The Contractor 
shall cooperate with the Owner to facilitate any such direct payments and shall provide such 
evidence as the Owner may request for purposes of determining any amount to be so paid.  
If the Owner elects to make such payments as a result of a failure on the part of the 
Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract, or as a result of a request from the 
Contractor that the Owner make such payments, then the Owner may offset or credit the 
amount of its administrative costs incurred in making said such payments against the 
Contract Sum or render an invoice to the Contractor for such administrative costs, which 
invoice the Contractor shall pay promptly. 

9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT. 
9.4.1. At such time as the Contractor deems the Work to be Substantially Complete, the Contractor 

shall notify the Owner and prepare and submit to the Owner a list of items to be completed 
and/or corrected and its final bill, including itemized projected amounts for any portions of 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 13 

the Work not yet completed.  The failure to include any items on such list shall not alter the 
responsibility of the Contractor to complete and/or correct the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.  When the Owner, on the basis of an inspection, confirms the 
notification from the Contractor that the Work is Substantially Completed or, without being 
notified by the Contractor, determines that the Work is Substantially Completed, it shall 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Substantial Completion which may state 
the responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor for maintenance, heat, utilities and 
insurance and it shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, which sets forth those items determined by the Owner to require completion or 
correction, as applicable, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall complete or 
correct the items listed and complete all obligations required by the Contract Documents and 
submit to the Owner all documents and other matters required by the Contract Documents 
to be submitted by the Contractor upon completion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's 
rights or remedies under the Contract Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations 
to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The Certificate of 
Substantial Completion shall constitute a demand for an Application for Payment (including 
all costs, claims or fees for any outstanding Change Orders, or any other matter which the 
Contractor has not previously waived pursuant to the General Conditions, and itemized 
projections for any incomplete Work), and the Contractor shall be deemed conclusively to 
have waived the right to payment of any such item, fee or cost of any kind not billed to the 
Owner within thirty (30) days of delivery to the Contractor of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  The issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not constitute a 
waiver of any rights of the Owner, including without limitation the right to those retainages 
permitted by the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor does not complete and/or correct 
the items listed in the Punch List within the time fixed therein, the Owner shall have the right 
to accomplish the same and offset all costs thereof against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not 
sufficient to cover such costs, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.  The 
Owner's decision as to the Date of Substantial Completion shall be final and binding. 

9.4.2. Within a reasonable time following the Owner's receipt of written notification from the 
Contractor that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and that the Contractor 
has completed all items set forth on the Punch List, including, delivery of the final Application 
for Payment, the Owner shall make such inspection and, when the Work is found to be 
acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Agreement fully performed, shall certify 
completion of the Punch List, including approval of the final Application for Payment; 
provided, however, Owner shall not be required to certify completion of the Punch List and, 
therefore, neither final payment nor any retainage shall become due, until the Contractor 
submits to the Owner:  (a) an affidavit, in a form approved by the Owner, that all payrolls, 
bills for materials and equipment and other indebtednesses connected with the Work for 
which the Owner or its property might in any way be responsible have been paid in full or 
otherwise satisfied; (b) consent of sureties, if any, to final payment; (c) all Contract 
Documents (except one set thereof to be retained by the Contractor), including, without 
limitation, a completed set of as-builts and record documents (as defined in and to the extent 
required by the Specifications); (d) such other data as the Owner may require establishing 
payment or satisfaction of all obligations of the Contractor in connection with the Work 
including, without limitation, receipt of final satisfaction and releases and waivers of lien and 
releases of any and all claims by the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors, 
conforming in all material respects with the then current provisions of Part I, Chapter 713, 
Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto) and evidencing performance of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents; (e) a release of the Owner and its insurers from 
and against any claims under the insurance required to be provided by the Owner hereunder 
(except to the extent of any claims theretofore timely filed which are owing but unpaid) and 
a release of the Owner from and against any claims between the Contractor and a separate 
contractor; (f) any governmental certificates required by the Contract Documents or 
otherwise to evidence compliance of the Contractor and the Work with applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, codes, regulations and the Contract Documents; and (g) warranties, 
guarantees, assignments thereof, and maintenance or other manuals, required by the 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 14 

Specifications in the forms approved by the Owner, in favor of the Owner and such other 
persons as the Owner may direct (notwithstanding the foregoing, by execution of the 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be deemed to have guaranteed to the Owner the matters 
contained in the attached form of guarantee incorporated by reference into the Agreement); 
and (h) a fully and  properly executed Close-out Change Order, with all of its fully and 
properly executed Exhibits, in the form attached to the Agreement. 

9.4.3. The making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims or rights by the 
Owner. 

9.4.4. The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor and 
shall constitute a general release of the Owner, the Owner's Representative and the 
Architect/Engineer by the Contractor. 

9.4.5. If any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor refuses to furnish any release, satisfaction or 
waiver of lien required at any time by the Owner under Paragraphs 9.1., 9.3. or 9.4., or files 
a claim of lien against the Owner's property, the Contractor shall, if requested by the Owner 
and at the Contractor's expense, furnish a bond (separate and apart from any other bond 
provided by the Contractor hereunder) satisfactory to the Owner to exempt the Owner and 
its property from and against any such lien.  The Contractor authorizes the Owner, and shall 
cause its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to authorize the Owner, to check directly 
with any suppliers of labor and material with respect to any item chargeable to the Owner's 
property, to confirm balances due and to obtain sworn statements and waivers of lien, all if 
the Owner so elects.  If any lien remains unsatisfied after all payments are made to the 
Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner on account of all monies that the latter 
may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and attorneys' fees. 

9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. 
9.5.1. The Owner reserves the right, at its option and convenience, to occupy or otherwise make 

use of all or any part of the Project or equipment at any time prior to completion of the Work 
upon two (2) days written notice to the Contractor (referred to herein as "Beneficial 
Occupancy").  The Owner shall use its best efforts to prevent such occupancy from interfering 
with the performance of the remaining Work; provided, however, that the Owner shall not 
be liable for any delays or additional costs of any nature caused by such occupancy. 

9.5.2. Beneficial Occupancy shall not constitute acceptance by the Owner or the Owner's 
Representative of the completed Work or any portion thereof, shall not relieve the Contractor 
of its full responsibility for correcting defective Work and repairing the Work, shall not be 
deemed to be the equivalent of completion of the Work, shall not relieve the Contractor from 
its obligation to complete the Punch List, and shall not entitle the Contractor to any increase 
in the Contract Sum. 

9.5.3. Anything in this Paragraph 9.5. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner may certify any 
portion of the Work to be occupied or used hereunder to be Substantially Completed and 
shall prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion for 
such portion of the Work.  The Owner shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the 
Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, in the form provided by the Owner, and, upon the Contractor's timely completion or 
correction of the items on the Punch List and the Owner's approval thereof, accept that 
portion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies under the Contract 
Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents.  The provisions of Paragraph 9.4., except as they relate to the 
Contractor's obligations to complete or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, shall not apply to such Partial Substantial Completion, but the provisions of 
Subparagraph 14.2.2. shall apply to the portion of the Work which the Owner certifies to be 
Substantially Completed. 

9.6. INDIVIDUAL PROJECTS.  The duties and responsibilities of the parties as set forth in this Article 9 
may be applied to individual projects issued to Contractor under the Agreement.  Each individual 
project shall follow the process outlined above with the exception of the close-out process. A close-
out change order will be issued to Contractor at the end of the Agreement and after the completion 
of all individual projects.   Individual projects, if applicable will be indicated in Section 3 and 4 of the 
Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 15 

ARTICLE 10 - PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
10.1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH. 

10.1.1. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety and 
anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and shall 
provide all protection to prevent injury to all persons involved in any way in the Work and all 
other persons, including, without limitation, the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees 
and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be affected thereby.  These precautions shall 
include, but in no event be limited to:  the posting of danger signs and personal notification 
to all affected persons of the existence of a hazard of whatever nature; the furnishing and 
maintaining of necessary traffic control barricades and flagman services; the use, or storage, 
removal and disposal of required explosives or other hazardous materials only under the 
supervision of qualified personnel and after first obtaining permission of all applicable 
governmental authorities; and the maintenance of adequate quantities of both hose and 
operable fire extinguishers at the Job Site.  The Contractor shall set forth in writing its safety 
and anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work and, if 
requested by the Owner, submit the same to the Owner for review.  The Owner may, but 
shall not be obligated to, make suggestions and recommendations to the Contractor with 
respect thereto. 

10.1.2. All Work, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and all equipment, appliances, 
machinery, materials, tools and like items incorporated or used in the Work, shall be in 
compliance with, and conform to:  (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental authority relating to the safety of 
persons and their protection against injury, specifically including, but in no event limited to, 
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, and all rules and 
regulations now or hereafter in effect pursuant to said Act; and (b) all codes, rules, 
regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating thereto.  In 
the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

10.1.3. The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization at the Job Site as 
the Project Safety Officer, whose duties it shall be to enforce the Contractor's safety and 
anti-substance abuse programs, to assure compliance with Subparagraph 10.1.2 and to 
prevent accidents.  This person shall be the Contractor's Project Manager unless otherwise 
designated in writing by the Contractor and approved by the Owner.  The Contractor shall 
further cause each of its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to designate a responsible 
supervisory representative to assist the Contractor's Project Safety Officer Representative in 
the performance of their duties as aforesaid. 

10.1.4. Should the Contractor fail to provide a safe area for the performance of the Work or any 
portion thereof, the Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to suspend Work in 
the unsafe area.  All costs of any nature (including, without limitation, overtime pay) resulting 
from the suspension, by whomsoever incurred, shall be borne by the Contractor. 

10.1.5. The Contractor shall provide to each worker on the Job Site the proper safety equipment for 
the duties being performed by that worker and will not permit any worker on the Job Site 
who fails or refuses to use the same.  The Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, 
to order the Contractor to send a worker home for the day or to discharge a worker for their 
failure to comply with safe practices or anti-substance abuse policies, with which order the 
Contractor shall promptly comply. 

10.1.6. Any failure of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be responsible, to 
comply with the provisions of Paragraph 10.1. shall be considered or deemed to be caused 
by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of 
persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work. The 
Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, 
including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions 
pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all 
damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If 
the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 16 

or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities 
under this Paragraph 10.1. should the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights 
hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any 
responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this Contract, or in any other 
manner whatsoever. 

10.1.7 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should 
the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby 
assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the 
Contractor by this Contract, or in any other manner whatsoever. 

10.2. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS. 
10.2.1. The Contractor shall, throughout the performance of the Work, maintain adequate and 

continuous protection of all Work and temporary facilities against loss or damage from 
whatever cause, shall protect the property of the Owner and third parties from loss or 
damage from whatever cause arising out of the performance of the Work and shall comply 
with the requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers and with all applicable laws, 
codes, rules and regulations with respect to the prevention of loss or damage to property as 
a result of fire or other hazards.  The Owner may, but shall not be required to, make periodic 
patrols of the Job Site as a part of its normal security program.  In such event, however, the 
Contractor shall not be relieved of its aforesaid responsibilities.  

10.2.2. Until final acceptance of the Work by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 9.4. (unless and to 
the extent otherwise set forth in a Certificate of Substantial Completion), the Contractor shall 
have full and complete charge and care of and, except as otherwise provided in this 
Subparagraph 10.2.2., shall bear all risk of loss of, and injury or damage to, the Work or any 
portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to 
be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) from any cause whatsoever.  
The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, restore and make good all losses of, and injuries or 
damages to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, 
equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) 
before final acceptance of the Work.  Such rebuilding, repair or restoration shall be at the 
Contractor's sole cost and expense unless the loss, injury or damage requiring such 
rebuilding, repair or restoration:  (a) is directly due to errors in the Contract Documents 
which were not discovered by the Contractor and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered through the exercise of due diligence; (b) is caused by the Owner (unless (i) the 
Contractor has waived its rights of subrogation against the Owner on account thereof as 
provided in the Contract Documents, or (ii) such loss or damage would be covered by any 
policy or policies of insurance which the Contractor is required to maintain hereunder, 
whether the Contractor actually maintains such insurance or not, or (iii) is otherwise covered 
by a policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor, whether or not required 
hereunder); or (c) is caused by a hazard against which the Owner is required to insure under 
the provisions of Article 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the loss, injury or damage 
would not have occurred but for the negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, the rebuilding, repair or restoration shall 
be at the Contractor's cost and expense to the extent of the deductible on said insurance. 

10.3. SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER. Surface or subsurface water or other fluid shall not be permitted 
to accumulate in excavations or under structures.  Should such conditions develop or be encountered, 
the water or other fluid shall be controlled and suitably disposed of by means of temporary pumps, 
piping, drainage lines and ditches, dams or other methods approved by the Owner in writing. The 
proposed location and coordination of temporary channels and conduits conducting accumulated 
water from the Job Site shall be submitted to the Owner for its prior written approval.  All such work 
shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 

10.4. EMERGENCIES.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, or in the event of a 
claimed violation of any federal or state safety or health law or regulation, arising out of or in any 
way connected with the Work or its performance, the Contractor shall act immediately to prevent 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 17 

threatened damage, injury or loss or to remedy said violation, whichever is applicable, failing which 
the Owner may immediately take whatever action it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, 
suspending the Work as provided in Paragraph 8.4.  Any failure by the Contractor to so act or so 
remedy a violation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure to act or 
remedy a violation, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, 
costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, 
or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the 
Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have 
already been paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover 
the items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  If the Contractor shall be entitled to any additional compensation 
or extension of time claimed on account of emergency work not due to the fault or neglect of the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, it shall be handled as a claim as provided in 
Article 13. 

10.5. CLEANUP.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Job Site clean and free from accumulation of 
waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, hazardous waste), caused by its 
performance of the Work, and shall continuously throughout performance of the Work remove and 
dispose of all such materials from the Job Site and the Project.  The Owner may require the Contractor 
to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal as the Owner 
may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the Job Site clean and 
free from such waste or rubbish, or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner 
may take such action and offset any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred 
by the Owner in undertaking such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  
The Contractor shall notify the Owner in advance of the generation, importation, storage, 
transportation or disposal, of any hazardous waste, toxic materials or contaminants of any type in 
connection with the Project.  

10.6. OWNER'S STANDARDS.  The Owner reserves the right, but assumes no duty, to establish and enforce 
standards, and to change the same from time to time, for the protection of persons and property, 
with which the Contractor shall comply, and to review the efficiency of all protective measures taken 
by the Contractor.  The exercise of or failure to exercise any or all of these acts by the Owner shall 
not relieve the Contractor of its duties and responsibilities under this Contract, and the Owner shall 
not thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any such duties or responsibilities of the 
Contractor. 

ARTICLE 11 - INSURANCE; INDEMNIFICATION 
11.1. - 11.7. COMMERCIAL INSURANCE.  Refer to Sections 6.A.-6.F. of the Agreement.  
11.8.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Refer to Section 6.G. of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
12.1. CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES.  The Owner may, without affecting the validity of the Contract 

Documents or any term or condition thereof, issue Change Orders, or Directives, or give other orders 
and instructions regarding the Work which may have the effect of ordering extra work or other 
changes in the Work by altering, adding to or deducting from the Work, modifying the method or 
manner of its performance or otherwise (herein sometimes referred to as "Changes in the Work").  
The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner.  In any such 
event, the Contract Sum shall, where applicable, be increased or decreased in the manner hereinafter 
set forth; provided, however, that if the Contractor should proceed with a Change in the Work upon 
an oral order, by whomsoever given, it shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for 
an increase in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time on account thereof.  Upon receipt 
of any such Change Order, or Directive or other order or instructions, the Contractor shall promptly 
proceed with the Change in the Work, even though the amount of any resultant increase or decrease 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 18 

in the Contract Sum has not yet been determined.  All Changes in the Work shall be performed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

12.2. CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in 
an increase in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall have the right to require the performance thereof 
on a lump sum basis, a unit price basis or a time and material basis, all as hereinafter more 
particularly described. 
12.2.1. If the Owner elects to have any Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis, its 

election shall be based on a lump sum proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a lump sum proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall be itemized and segregated by labor and materials for the various components of the 
Change in the Work (no aggregate labor total will be acceptable) and shall be accompanied 
by signed proposals of any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors who will perform any 
portion of the Change in the Work and of any persons who will furnish materials or equipment 
for incorporation therein. The portion of the proposal relating to labor, whether by the 
Contractor's forces or those of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may only include 
reasonably anticipated gross wages of Job Site labor, including foremen, who will be directly 
involved in the Change in the Work (for such time as they will be so involved), plus payroll 
costs (including Social Security, federal or state unemployment insurance taxes and fringe 
benefits in connection with such labor required by union and/or trade agreements if 
applicable) and up to fifteen percent (15%) of such anticipated gross wages, but not payroll 
costs, as overhead and profit for any such entity actually performing the Change in the Work 
or a portion thereof.  The portion of the proposal relating to materials may only include the 
reasonably anticipated direct costs to the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors (as applicable) of materials to be purchased for incorporation in the Change 
in the Work, plus transportation and applicable sales or use taxes, and up to fifteen percent 
(15%) of said direct material costs as overhead and profit for the entity actually supplying 
the materials.  The proposal may further include the Contractor's or its Subcontractor's or 
Sub-subcontractor's reasonably anticipated direct rental costs in connection with the Change 
in the Work (either actual rates or discounted local published rates), plus up to six percent 
(6%) thereof as overhead and profit for the entity actually incurring such costs.  If any of 
the items included in the lump sum proposal are covered by unit prices contained in the 
Contract Documents, the Owner may elect to use these unit prices in lieu of the similar items 
included in the lump sum proposal, in which event an appropriate deduction will be made in 
the lump sum amount prior to the application of any allowed overhead and profit 
percentages.  No overhead and profit shall be applied to any unit prices.  The lump sum 
proposal may only include up to six percent (6%) of the amount which the Contractor will 
pay to any Subcontractor, and up to six percent (6%) of the amount which a Subcontractor 
will pay to any Sub-subcontractor, for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the 
Contractor or Subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may 
be included). 

12.2.2. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis, its 
election shall be based on a unit price proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a unit price proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall itemize the quantities of each item of the Change in the Work for which there is an 
applicable unit price contained in the Contract Documents.  The quantities shall be itemized 
in relation to each specific Drawing or Scope of Work.  Unit prices shall be applied to net 
differences of quantities of the same item.  Nothing herein contained shall preclude the 
Owner from requesting a lump sum proposal and a unit price proposal with respect to the 
same Change in the Work, in which event the Contractor shall submit both. 

12.2.3. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a time and material basis, 
the same shall be performed, whether by the Contractor's forces or the forces of any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, at actual cost to the entity performing the Change in 
the Work (without any charge for  administration, clerical expense, supervision or 
superintendents of any nature whatsoever, except foremen directly involved in the Change 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 19 

in the Work, or the cost, use or rental of small tools, defined as tools with a cost or value of 
less than $1,000,  or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated 
companies), plus fifteen percent (15%) of gross wages (excluding payroll costs) of Job Site 
labor and direct material costs and six percent (6%) of rental costs (other than small tools 
or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated companies) as the 
total overhead and profit.  Only the entity actually performing the Change in the Work or a 
portion thereof shall be entitled to a mark-up as aforesaid for overhead and profit, but the 
Contractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Subcontractor, 
and a Subcontractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any 
Sub-subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be 
included), for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or 
Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall submit to the Owner daily time and material tickets, to 
include the identification number assigned to the Change in the Work, the location and 
description of the Change in the Work, the classification, names and social security numbers 
of the labor employed, the materials used, the equipment rented (not tools) and such other 
evidence of costs as the Owner may require.  The Owner may require authentication of all 
time and material tickets and invoices by persons designated by the Owner for such purpose.  
The failure of the Contractor to secure any required authentication shall, if the Owner elects 
to treat it as such, constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for the cost of that 
portion of the Change in the Work covered by a non-authenticated ticket or invoice; provided, 
however, that the authentication of any such ticket or invoice by the Owner shall not 
constitute an acknowledgment by the Owner that the items thereon were reasonably 
required for the Change in the Work. 

12.2.4. The Owner shall have no obligation or liability on account of a Change in the Work except as 
specifically provided in this Paragraph 12.2.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal 
within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 
or such longer period of time established by the Owner in its request, the Owner may issue 
a unilateral Change Order for any such Change in the Work giving the Owner's reasonable 
estimate of the cost of the Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the 
Contractor.  Overhead and profit, as allowed under this Paragraph 12.2., shall be deemed to 
cover all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including, without limitation, those 
for clean-up, protection, supervision, estimating, field operations, insurance, impacts, 
inefficiency, extended (Job Site and home office) overhead, unabsorbed (Job Site and home 
office) overhead, delays, acceleration (actual or constructive), ripple effect, small tools and 
security, which the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur 
in the performance of or in connection with a Change in the Work and which are not 
otherwise specifically recoverable by them pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 

12.2.5. The Work pursuant to this Agreement shall be performed by the Contractor at no extra cost 
to the Owner despite any order from the Owner which designates or contemplates a portion 
of the Work as a Change in the Work. 

12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in a 
decrease in the Contract Sum, the Owner may request a quotation by the Contractor of the amount 
of such decrease for use in preparing a Change Order.  The Contractor's quotation shall be forwarded 
to the Owner within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request or such longer period of 
time established by the Owner therein and, if acceptable to the Owner, shall be incorporated in the 
Change Order.  If not acceptable, the parties shall make every reasonable effort to agree as to the 
amount of such decrease, which may be based on a lump sum properly itemized, on unit prices 
stated in the Contract Documents and/or on such other basis as the parties may mutually determine.  
If the parties are unable to so agree, the amount of such decrease shall be the total of the estimated 
reduction in actual cost of the Work, as determined by the Owner's Representative in its reasonable 
judgment.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal within the time required herein, the Owner 
may issue a unilateral deductive Change Order giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the 
deductive Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the Contractor. 

12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES.  If any dispute should arise between the parties with respect to 
an increase or decrease in the Contract Sum as a result of a Change in the Work, the Contractor shall 
not suspend performance of any such Change in the Work or the Work itself unless otherwise so 
ordered by the Owner in writing.  The Owner may, however, notify the Contractor of its determination 
regarding any such Change and, in the case of an increase, may thereafter pay to the Contractor up 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 20 

to 50% of the Owner's reasonable estimate of the value of the Change in the Work as its sole 
obligation with respect to any such Change pending resolution of the dispute.  The Contractor shall 
thereafter be subject to the terms of Paragraph 13.2. regarding its claim for any difference. 

12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS.  The Contractor shall afford, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to afford, access to the Owner at all reasonable times to any accounting books and 
records, correspondence, instructions, invoices, receipts, vouchers, memoranda and other records of 
any kind relating to the Work, all of which each of them shall maintain for a period of at least four 
(4) years from and after the Date of Substantial Completion.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall make the same available for inspection, copying and audit, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting standards, within three (3) days following notification 
to the Contractor of the Owner's intent to audit, failing which any claims for an increase in the 
Contract Sum and/or extension of the Contract Time, as applicable, shall be waived. 

ARTICLE 13 - CLAIMS 
13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME.   No claim by the Contractor for an extension of the 

Contract Time or any Milestones shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 
13.1.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time or any Milestones 
as a result of any condition or cause, unless it shall have given written notice to the Owner pursuant 
to Paragraph 16.3. promptly, but in any event within fourteen (14) days following the commencement 
of each such condition or cause and stating the probable duration of the condition or cause and the 
Contractor’s request for an extension of time.  The Contractor shall deliver to the Owner, within thirty 
(30) days after the commencement of each condition or cause for which the Contractor has submitted 
a request for extension of time, supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s request, 
including, without limitation, an analysis showing the actual impact of the condition or cause on the 
Schedule and the critical path of construction activities, plus any other documentation or information 
as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s request.  
The Contractor hereby waives any claims for any such extensions not timely made or timely 
substantiated in accordance herewith.  If the Contractor timely makes any such claim and the parties 
are unable to agree as to whether or not the Contractor is entitled to an extension of time or the 
length of such extension regarding such claim, the Owner's Representative may, but shall not be 
required to, ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and determine and fix an extension of 
the time for completing the Work. 

13.2. CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM. 
13.2.1. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 12.2., no claim by the Contractor for an increase 

in the Contract Sum shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 13.2.  
The Contractor shall give the Owner written notice pursuant to Paragraph 16.3. of any such 
claim promptly, but in any event not later than fourteen (14) days after the occurrence of 
the event giving rise to the claim (including, without limitation, any Owner determination 
pursuant to Article 12.4.), but (except in the event of emergencies pursuant to Paragraph 
10.4.) prior to the incurring of any expenses by the Contractor.  Failure to give such notice, 
or to provide substantiation thereof as required below, shall constitute a waiver of the claim 
including, but not limited to, any and all damages, cost, impacts, inefficiency, extended 
overhead, unabsorbed overhead, ripple effect, or expenses of any nature whatsoever which 
the Contractor, or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may suffer or incur.  Claims shall 
be made in writing and shall identify the instructions or other circumstances that are the 
basis of the claim and shall set forth the Contractor's best estimate of the dollar amount 
claimed.  Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, 
the Contractor shall fix the amount of its claim with specificity and shall provide to the Owner 
supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s claim, including, without 
limitation, substantiation of all costs plus any other documentation or information as may be 
requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s claim.  No 
claim shall be considered by the Owner if the Contractor has otherwise waived its rights to 
file a claim pursuant to the Contract Documents. 

13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS.  The parties acknowledge that the provisions of Paragraphs 13.1. and 
13.2. are included herein for the purpose of fixing and limiting the time within which, and 
the manner in which claims must be made; and that Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. do not grant 
to the Contractor any right to increases in the Contract Sum, or extensions in the Contract 
Time or any Milestones, not otherwise permitted or provided by the other terms and 
provisions of the Contract Documents. 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 21 

ARTICLE 14 - UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK; OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 
14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK. 

14.1.1. If any portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the instructions or request of the 
Owner or the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, if required by 
the Owner, uncover such portion of the Work for the Owner's observation and shall replace 
such Work all at the Contractor's expense. 

14.1.2. If any portion of the Work should be covered prior to a specific request for observation or 
instruction by the Owner, the Owner may request to see such Work, and it shall be uncovered 
by the Contractor.  If such Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and without defect, the cost of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change 
Order, be charged to the Owner.  If such Work is found to be defective or not in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall bear such costs; provided, however, that 
if it is found that the condition was caused by a Separate Contractor employed as provided 
in Article 7, the Contractor shall have the right to seek reimbursement of the costs it incurs 
as aforesaid from said Separate Contractor. 

14.2. CORRECTION OF WORK. 
14.2.1. The Owner shall have the authority to reject any portion of the Work which is defective or 

does not conform to the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall promptly correct all 
Work so rejected by the Owner, whether observed before or after the Date of Substantial 
Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed.  In order that such 
corrective Work shall not interrupt or delay the Owner's schedule for completion of the 
Project or, if applicable, disturb the occupants of the completed Project, the Contractor shall 
perform such Work according to a schedule therefor established by the Owner (which may 
provide that the same be performed on overtime, shiftwork, Saturdays, Sundays and/or 
holidays), utilizing in the performance thereof such manpower as is necessary to complete 
the corrective Work in accordance with said schedule.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of 
correcting such rejected Work including, without limitation, compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary thereby. 

14.2.2. If, within one (1) year after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (as determined 
by the Owner) or within such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the 
terms of any applicable warranty or guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any of 
the Work is found to be defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the 
Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of written instructions to that effect from 
the Owner unless the Owner has previously given the Contractor a written acceptance of 
such condition. 

14.2.3. The Contractor shall remove from the Job Site all Work which is defective or non-conforming 
and not corrected under Paragraph 5.4. or Subparagraphs 14.2.1. or 14.2.2. unless removal 
is waived by the Owner. 

14.2.4. The Contractor shall bear the cost of making good all work of Separate Contractors (and any 
of the Owner's other structures or facilities) destroyed or damaged by such removal or 
correction. 

14.2.5. If the Contractor does not remove such uncorrected defective or non-conforming Work within 
a reasonable time fixed by written instructions to that effect from the Owner, the Owner may 
remove it and store the materials and equipment at the expense of the Contractor.  If the 
Contractor does not pay the cost of such removal and storage within ten (10) days thereafter, 
the Owner may, upon ten (10) additional days written notification to the Contractor, sell such 
materials and equipment at public or private sale and account to the Contractor for the net 
proceeds thereof, after deducting all the costs that should have been borne by the 
Contractor, including compensation for any additional architectural and engineering services 
and attorneys' fees made necessary thereby.  If such proceeds of sale do not cover all costs 
which the Contractor should have borne, the difference shall be offset against any amounts 
then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor are not sufficient to cover such difference, the Contractor shall, upon demand, 
pay the same to the Owner.  The obligations of the Contractor under this Subparagraph 
14.2.5. shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any obligations imposed on it by law, 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 22 

by any other provision of this Agreement or by any warranty or guarantee under this 
Agreement. 

14.2.6. If the Contractor fails to correct any defective or non-conforming Work, the Owner may 
correct it in accordance with Paragraph 14.3.  In the event of a defect found after final 
acceptance of the Work by the Owner which the Contractor is obligated to correct pursuant 
to Subparagraph 14.2.2., the Owner may, at its option, after giving the Contractor an 
opportunity to correct such defect, cause such corrective Work to be performed by others 
and charge the Contractor with the cost thereof.  Such charge shall be due and payable by 
the Contractor upon demand. 

14.3. OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK.  If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work 
in accordance with the Contract Documents or fails to perform any provision of this Agreement, and 
such default, neglect or non-performance shall continue for a period of 48 hours after written 
notification thereof from the Owner (or if such default, neglect or non-performance cannot be 
reasonably remedied within such 48-hour period, and Contractor does not (in the sole determination 
of Owner) undertake in good faith the remedy of the same within said period and thereafter proceed 
diligently to completion), then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other remedy the Owner 
may have, make good such deficiencies; provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, as 
determined by the Owner, no notification shall be required.  The Owner shall have the right to take 
possession of such portion of the Job Site as will enable it to make good such deficiencies and, in 
connection therewith, to utilize the materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and 
machinery of the Contractor located on the Job Site.  If the Owner makes good any such deficiencies, 
the costs of correcting the same including, without limitation, compensation for additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary by such default, neglect or non-performance, 
shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such costs, then the Contractor shall, 
upon demand, pay the difference to the Owner. 

 14.4. ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK.   If the Owner prefers to accept 
defective or non-conforming Work, it may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in 
which case an appropriate amount shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor; or, if the said appropriate amount of offset is determined after final payment (or if there 
is not then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to cover the offset available to 
the Owner), the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay the appropriate amount (or the difference after 
offset, as applicable) to the Owner. 

ARTICLE 15 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 
15.1. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR.  If the Owner should, without notifying the Contractor of its cause 

for doing so, fail or refuse to approve an Application for Payment or make payment later than the 
time periods established in section 218.735, Florida Statutes, then the Contractor shall have the right, 
as its sole and exclusive remedy and upon fourteen (14) days prior written notice to the Owner, to 
terminate this Agreement and recover from the Owner payment for all unpaid Work executed up to 
the date of termination, including any proven loss of reasonable profits sustained, based upon the 
percentage of Work completed through the date of termination.  If the Owner shall cure its said 
default within such fourteen (14) day period, then the Contractor's notice of termination shall thereby 
be rendered ineffective, and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.  Prior to 
termination as aforesaid, the Contractor shall not delay or suspend the Work in whole or in part.  The 
Contractor may not terminate this Agreement on the grounds that the cause given by the Owner for 
failing or refusing to pay is not in accordance with fact or law, it being understood and agreed that 
the Contractor's sole remedy in such event shall be to seek money damages.  The Contractor 
acknowledges that it can be adequately compensated by such money damages for any breach of this 
Agreement which may be committed by the Owner.  Accordingly, and except as hereinabove 
provided, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of the Owner shall entitle 
the Contractor to cancel or rescind this Agreement or suspend or abandon its performance of the 
Work. 

15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE. 
15.2.1. If the Contractor should become insolvent, file any bankruptcy proceedings, make a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or allow appointment of a receiver, refuse, fail 
or be unable to make prompt payment to Subcontractors, disregard applicable laws, 
ordinances, governmental orders or regulations or the instructions of the Owner, or if the 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 23 

Contractor should otherwise be guilty of a violation of, or in default under, any provision of 
the Agreement, then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy 
available to the Owner and after giving the Contractor and its surety, if any, three (3) days 
written notice, terminate the Agreement and the employment of the Contractor on the 
Project, take possession of the Job Site and of all materials, equipment, tools, construction 
equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and finish the Work by whatever 
method the Owner may deem expedient.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement 
as a whole, the Owner may, under any of the circumstances set forth above, terminate any 
portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner the Owner deems appropriate, the 
scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor) and complete the portion of this 
Agreement so terminated in such manner as the Owner may deem expedient, taking 
possession of such part of the Job Site and utilizing such materials, equipment, tools, 
construction equipment and machinery owned by the Contractor as may be necessary to 
accomplish the same.  The Contractor hereby grants to the Owner the further right:  (a) to 
enter upon any premises or property other than the Job Site in order to take possession of 
any materials, tools, equipment, machinery or other items intended for incorporation in the 
Work (or any portion thereof) or for use in the performance thereof; and (b) to receive an 
assignment of such subcontracts as the Owner deems necessary or desirable at the time of 
termination of this Agreement or a portion thereof. 

15.2.2. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., the Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and the Owner shall 
have the same right to retain monies owing to the Contractor as it would have to retain such 
monies from and against final payments.  Upon the completion of the Work, the Owner shall 
make payment to the Contractor, or the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner, as the case 
may be, as provided in Sections 4 and 7 of the Agreement.  If a portion of this Agreement is 
terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., such termination shall not be treated as a 
reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to Article 12.  Rather, in such event, the Owner 
shall offset against any monies then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount 
determined by the Owner to be adequate to cover all costs and expenses it will incur in 
performing, or causing to be performed, the portion of this Agreement so terminated.  If the 
Owner's cost and expenses prove to be less than the amount offset, the Contractor shall be 
entitled to the difference unless otherwise provided herein.  If the amount then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor is less than the amount to be offset and/or if the Owner's costs and 
expenses prove to exceed the amount offset, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the 
Owner upon demand. 

15.2.3. The remedies provided to the Owner in this Paragraph 15.2. are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to the Owner under the Contract Documents, 
at law or in equity.  In the event of any breach of this Agreement by the Contractor, and 
whether or not this Agreement is terminated by the Owner, the Contractor shall be liable for 
all damages, losses, costs and expenses incurred by the Owner as a result thereof. 

15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE.  Without limitation to the provisions of Paragraph 15.2., 
the Owner shall have the right at any time, upon not less than three (3) days notice to the Contractor 
to terminate this Agreement without cause and/or for the Owner's convenience.  Upon receipt of 
such notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith discontinue the Work and remove its 
equipment and employees from the Job Site.  In the event of termination under this Paragraph 15.3., 
the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to recover from the Owner 
payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss of 
reasonable profits sustained based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement as a whole, the Owner may, for its 
convenience, terminate a portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner as the Owner 
deems appropriate, the scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor), in which event such 
termination of a portion of this Agreement shall be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work 
pursuant to Article 12. 

 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 24 

ARTICLE 16 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
16.1. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 

laws of the State of Florida, to the exclusion of Florida rules of conflicts of laws. 
16.2. ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 

16.2.1. This Agreement may be assigned by Owner at any time without Contractor's consent; without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, all warranties and guarantees in favor of Owner 
under the Contract Documents may be assigned without Contractor's consent by Owner to 
any party designated by Owner and such assignee may directly enforce any such warranty 
or guarantee.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement in whole or in part without the 
written consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion; 
nor shall this Agreement be assignable by the Contractor by operation of law.  The Contractor 
shall not assign any monies due or to become due to it hereunder without the prior written 
consent of the Owner. 

16.2.2. The Owner and the Contractor each binds itself and, to the extent permitted herein, its 
successors and assigns, to the other party and, to the extent permitted herein, the other 
party's successors and assigns, in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations 
contained in the Contract Documents. 

16.3. NOTICE. All notices (whether or not designated as such herein) which are required under this 
Agreement to be given between the parties pursuant to this paragraph shall be in writing and deemed 
given and, unless otherwise provided herein, effective when delivered personally to an officer of the 
party to be served (including the Contractor's Project Manager, in the case of the Contractor), when 
deposited in the United States mail, or in a sealed envelope, with postage thereon prepaid, sent by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the appropriate party at the 
address set forth in the Agreement or such other address as may be designated by either party 
hereto by notice to the other, or when transmitted by wire or facsimile to the appropriate party at 
the aforesaid address (a complimentary confirming letter shall also be mailed to the appropriate party 
on the same date). 

16.4. PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS. Unless waived or otherwise agreed by the Owner, the 
Contractor shall furnish (and if directed by the Owner shall require all or certain of its Subcontractors 
to furnish) a bond covering the faithful performance of this Agreement (or any such subcontract), as 
revised or modified from time to time, and a bond covering the payment of all obligations arising 
thereunder in full compliance with the then current provisions of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes (or 
any successor thereto; or, if applicable, Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, or any successor thereto), 
each in the full Contract Sum, as revised or Modified from time to time, and with such sureties as 
may be approved by the Owner.  Each bond shall contain the following language:  "The provisions 
and limitations of Section 255.05 or of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes, whichever is applicable to 
the Contract, are incorporated herein by reference, provided, however, that in the event of any 
conflict between the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 and those contained in this 
bond, the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 shall govern."  If such bonds, or either 
of them, are stipulated in the bidding documents or in the Contract Documents, the premium therefor 
shall be paid by the Contractor (or appropriate Subcontractors); but if required or increased in amount 
pursuant hereto subsequent to award of the Agreement or due to Changes in the Work, the premium 
therefor shall be reimbursed by the Owner.  The Contractor shall deliver promptly, and in any event 
no later than ten (10) days after notice of award, to the Owner any required bonds or amendments 
thereto. Bonds required under 255.05 must be recorded at the Orange County Courthouse prior to 
providing the recorded certified copy or original bond to the Owner.  The Contractor's failure to timely 
obtain and deliver the required bonds or amendments thereto shall constitute cause for the Owner 
to terminate this Agreement (or for the Contractor to terminate any subcontract).  The Owner shall 
not be obligated to respond to, and the Contractor shall assure that the Owner is not sent, any job 
status inquiries from the Contractor, any surety, or any of their accountants or independent auditors. 

16.5. MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS.  The Contractor is hereby advised that any portion of 
the Project, or other projects in proximity to the Project may be subject to, and governed by, certain 
union or trade agreements.  It is the policy of the Owner to promote and maintain harmonious 
relationships in connection with the Project.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors shall follow this policy; and shall utilize only qualified persons or organizations in the 
performance of the Work.  A qualified person or organization is one:  which is not likely to promote 
labor unrest on the Project; which shall abide by all local, state and federal labor and employment 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 25 

relation rules, regulations and laws; whose financial stability is reasonably assured throughout the 
duration of the Contract; and whose commitments to other projects are not likely to interfere with 
its ability to perform its portion of the Work efficiently and cost effectively.  The Owner reserves the 
right to disapprove, or to require the removal of, any person or organization who is being considered 
for, or has received, an award to perform all or a portion of the Work but has failed to demonstrate 
the willingness or ability to follow this policy. 

16.6. UNION AGREEMENTS.  Regardless of the expiration of any collective bargaining agreement during 
the term of this Agreement which may affect the Contractor in any of its activities including, without 
limitation, with respect to the Work or the Project, the Contractor is obligated to man the job and 
properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner.  Upon notification of expected or actual 
labor disputes or job disruption arising out of any such collective bargaining negotiations, the 
expiration of any union or trade agreement or any other cause, the Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall cooperate with the Owner concerning any legal, practical or contractual 
actions to be taken by the Owner in response thereto and shall perform any actions requested by 
the Owner to eliminate, neutralize or mitigate the effects of such actions on the progress of the Work 
and the impact of such actions on the public access to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
or any of the properties or facilities located therein, irrespective of whether such properties are owned 
by the Owner or by a third party.  It is the Contractor's obligation, at the Contractor's own cost and 
expense, to take all steps available to prevent any persons performing the work from engaging in 
any disruptive activities such as strikes, picketing, slowdowns, job actions or work stoppages of any 
nature or ceasing to work due to picketing or other such activities, which steps shall include, without 
limitation, execution of an appropriate project agreement with appropriate unions prohibiting all such 
activities on or about the Project.  Notwithstanding any such occurrences, the Contractor shall not 
be relieved of its obligation to man the job and properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent 
manner. 

16.7. USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY. Neither the Contractor nor its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire any right to use, and they shall not 
use, the name of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative (either alone or in conjunction with or as a 
part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or designs of either of them 
or any of its related, affiliated or subsidiary companies: in any of their advertising, publicity or 
promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of their respective Work or services; or in any other 
manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the foregoing uses hereinabove specifically 
prohibited).  The Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to, 
and acquire knowledge of or from, material, data, strategies, systems or other information relating 
to the Work, the Project, the Owner, the Owner’s Representative, its parent, affiliated, or related 
companies, which may not be accessible or known to the general public.  Any such knowledge 
acquired by the Contractor shall be kept confidential and shall not be used, published or divulged by 
the Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or in any advertising or promotion regarding 
the Contractor or its Work or services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in 
its sole discretion. The Contractor shall not be allowed to undertake or allow any photography on or 
about the Job Site or the Project absent written permission of the Owner, which permission the 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations 
under this Paragraph 16.7., Owner shall be entitled to an injunction restraining Contractor from 
disclosing or divulging in whole or in part any confidential information.  Further, any failure by 
Contractor to comply with this Paragraph 16.7. shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed 
or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and 
shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 
fees, incurred by the Owner.  The Provisions of this Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of the Contract. 

16.8. GENERAL. 
16.8.1. The captions of divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like 

in the Contract Documents are for convenience only and shall in no way define the content 
or limit the meaning or construction of the wording of the divisions, sections, articles, 
paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like.  The parties agree that the Contract 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

 

D - 26 

Documents shall not be construed more strictly against any party regardless of the identity 
of their drafter. 

16.8.2. Unless otherwise specified, article, paragraph and subparagraph references appearing in 
these General Conditions are to articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs herein. 

16.8.3. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor hereunder to reimburse the Owner or 
others for attorneys' fees, such obligation shall not only include attorneys' fees incurred prior 
to and including litigation in the trial court, but also all attorneys' fees incurred in connection 
with any and all appellate proceedings, no matter to which court any appeal is taken and by 
whomever so taken. 

16.8.4. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor to "indemnify" the Owner, such 
obligations shall include, but shall not be limited by, the following: (i) the Contractor shall 
indemnify the Owner and its supervisors, administrators, officers, directors, agents, 
employees, agents, successors and assigns and Owner's Representative, and its parent, 
related, affiliated and subsidiary companies and the officers, directors, agents, employees 
and assigns of each; (ii) the Contractor shall defend (if requested by the Owner) and hold 
each indemnitee harmless; (iii) in the event of any such requested defense, the Owner may 
choose its legal counsel, control the litigation including, without limitation, determining legal 
strategy, settlement strategy and whether or not to file any appeals; (iv) the Contractor shall 
not raise as a defense to its obligation to indemnify any comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of any of those indemnified 
pursuant to any such provision, it being understood and agreed that no such comparative or 
contributing negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct shall relieve the 
Contractor from its liability to so indemnify nor entitle the Contractor to any contribution, 
either directly or indirectly, by those indemnified; (v) no indemnification obligation hereunder 
shall be limited in any way to any limit on the amount or type of damage, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor under 
any Worker's Compensation Act, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts; and 
(vi) all such indemnity provisions shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this 
Contract.  

16.8.5. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the Owner may withhold any consents, 
approvals or waivers required of it pursuant to the Agreement in its sole discretion. 

16.9. ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS.  To the extent the Work requires the Contractor to enter upon 
land owned by others than the Owner, or the Contractor is permitted to enter upon such land, then 
the Contractor shall, prior to entry, satisfy itself as to all conditions present upon such land and shall 
take all necessary precautions to protect all persons and property from injury or damage as a result 
of the Contractor’s entry upon such land and shall promptly repair any damage to the land and any 
property located thereon.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the owner(s) 
of such land from and against any and all claims, suits, judgments, damages, losses and expenses 
(including attorneys' fees) of any nature whatsoever to the extent caused by or arising out of the 
Contractor’s entry upon such land.  Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Contractor and the owner(s) of such land; however, it is acknowledged that the owner(s) 
of such land are intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Contractor hereunder. 

 
<< END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION >> 

 
End of Exhibit D 

 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit E 
SAMPLE FORMS 

CONTRACT NO. C006946 
 

E - 1 

THIS EXHIBIT CONTAINS THE FOLLOWING: 

• Payment Bond 

• Performance Bond 

• Dual Obligee Rider  

• Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application  

• Task Work Order (sample form) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

E - 2 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
HARPER LIMBACH LLC 
1251 Waterfront Place, Suite 201 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006946 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum:  ______________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  ________________ 
Amount:  ___________________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, to pay for labor, material, 
services, utilities, equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida 
Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, including, but 
not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor promptly makes full payment to all Claimants, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, 

material, services, utilities and equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 
713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, 
including, but not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, 
and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, losses and expenses 
which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and fully reimburses and 
pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur in remedying any 
such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

E - 3 

administrators, successors and assigns, from  their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
4. The Surety and the Contractor further agree that this bond shall inure to the benefit of, and may be 

sued directly upon by, any Claimant furnishing labor, materials, services, utilities or equipment or any 
other item for which a construction lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this 
Project. 

 
5. “Claimant” shall mean for purposes hereof all persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or other entities 

that would be entitled to claim a construction lien if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project. 
 
6. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
7. The sum of this Payment Bond is in addition to the sum of the Performance Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
HARPER LIMBACH LLC   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:  
Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:   Title:   

 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

 E - 4 
  

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
HARPER LIMBACH LLC 
1251 Waterfront Place, Suite 201 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006946 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum: _____________________________________ (______________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  _______________ 
Amount: ___________________________________________(______________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, for the performance of 
the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, agreements, 
extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor fully performs the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, 

terms, conditions, agreements, extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and 
warranties thereof, and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, 
losses and expenses which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and 
fully reimburses and pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur 
in remedying any such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
3. The Surety further agrees that whenever the Contractor shall be, and is declared by Owner to be, in 

default under or in breach of the Contract (which shall include without limitation any breach by the 
Contractor of any of the provisions of the Contract) the Surety shall promptly remedy the default or 
breach and undertake to perform and complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and 
conditions.  The Surety’s obligations include, but are not limited to, (i) the responsibilities of the 
Contractor for correction of defective work, completion of the Contract and fulfillment of warranty 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

 E - 5 
  

obligations, (ii) additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the Contractor’s 
default or breach or from the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph, and (iii) liquidated 
damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed 
performance or non-performance of the Contractor or the Surety.  The Surety shall fully indemnify and 
hold harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), which the 
Owner may incur as a result of the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph. 

 
4. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
5. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
6. The sum of this Performance Bond is in addition to the sum of the Payment Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
HARPER LIMBACH LLC   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:   
Print Name:  Print Name:   

Title:                  Title: ___________________________________ 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

E - 6 

DUAL OBLIGEE RIDER 
 
To be attached to and form a part of contract payment bond number _____________________ issued by  

______________________________________________________________________________ (Surety) 

On behalf of _________________________________________________________________ (Contractor)                                       

In the amount of ________________________________________________ Dollars ($_______________) 

and dated _______________ in favor of CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. 

In consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Undersigned hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S. Inc. is hereby added to said bond as additional Obligee. 
 

2. The Surety shall not be liable under this bond to the Obligee, or either of them unless the said 
Obligee, or either of them, shall make payments to the Principal strictly in accordance with the 
terms of the said contract as to payments, and shall perform all other obligations to be performed 
under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth. 
 

3. No suit, action or preceding by reason of any default whatever shall be brought on this bond after 
two (2) years from the day on which the final payment under said construction contract falls due. 
 

4. Aggregate liability of Surety hereunder to Obligee is limited to the penal sum above stated Surety, 
upon making payment hereunder, shall be subrogated to, and shall be entitled to an assignment 
of all rights of the payee with respect to the particular obligation discharged by the payment, either 
against principal or against and other party liable to the payee on the discharged obligation. 

 
 
 
Signed, sealed and dated this ___________ day of ____________________, 20________. 
 
         

Contractor: HARPER LIMBACH LLC  
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 

Surety 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



 

E - 7 
 

 
 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
CONSENT OF SURETY FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT APPLICATION 

(Date)______________________________ 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT    
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 

Re: Consent of Surety  
Bond #_________________________  
Contract # C006946 
Payment Req. No.: _______________ 

Dear Sir or Madam: 
__________________________________________________________ (Surety) hereby consents to the 
payment of the amount of moneys due to _______________________________________ (Prime 
Contractor), by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT for which the necessary duly executed 
affidavits/releases of liens have not been provided. 
 
This Consent of Surety is executed in lieu of the appropriated Affidavit and Release of Lien from 
____________________________________________ (Subcontractor/s - Supplier/s list if necessary) 
which the District’s Prime Contractor has not submitted with its Partial Payment Application.  The Surety 
executes this Consent for the amount of __________________, encompassing Work and/or labor 
performed, the provision of materials, equipment, and supplies through the _______ day of 
_________________, 20______, except for any applicable retainage. 
 
_____________________________________________________________ (Surety) further acknowledges 
that payment by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT shall not be construed as a waiver 
of any of the District’s rights or those of any other named Obligee under the Payment and Performance 
Bonds; nor a determination by the District or those of any other named Obligee as to the merits of any 
controversy or dispute between the Prime Contractor and a Subcontractor/Supplier. 
 
Sincerely, 
__________________________________  
Name 
__________________________________  
Title 
__________________________________  
Signature of Attorney-in-Fact 
 
 
 
Note: Documentation must be provided that reflects the Attorney-in-Fact’s authority to sign 
for the Surety. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



CONTRACT#

To: Attn:

Requested By: Date:

Approved By: Date:

 CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
TASK WORK ORDER

RAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVET DIS

FUNDING SOURCE : 

WORK ORDER NUMBER # _________

EFFECTIVE DATE: ________________
Contracting Officer 

Approval/Initials

Department Director or Designee

Owner's Representative

Project Title:  

EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
NUMBER( ):

In accordance with your executed CFTOD Agreement, you are hereby authorized to
commence the work outlined in the attached scope of work. The approved work order
amount as a maximum limiting amount shall not to exceed $

S

Submit completed form to Contracting Officer

Exhibit E - SAMPLE FORMS 

E - 8

End of Exhibit E 

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 1

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 2

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 3

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 4

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 5

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



Emergency Response Q&A Form
Bid No.: _______________________

Solicitation Title: __________________________________________________________________________________

Please provide responses below.

Q1. After being notified of an emergency  how long on average until your company will be on-
site?

A1.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q2. Will the emergency deployment include full staffing, or limited equipment and staff? 

A2.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q3. What clients of yours, if any, have received similar emergency response services in the past? 

A3._________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q4. Would the District have priority deployment over other clients in an urgent or emergency 
situations? (i.e. natural disasters)   YES   NO

If not, please explain:

A4. ______________________________________________________________________________________

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 6

C006914

CFTOD Emergency and urgent Response Construction Services

1-2 Hours

Full Staffing

Advent Health,

✔

Docusign Envelope ID: FC43E7AD-AC7A-4FD9-AD34-918AB547F775



CONTRACT NO. C006914 

Page 1 
 

EMERGENCY AND URGENT RESPONSE CONSTRUCTION SERVICES  
CONTINUING AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, is made effective as of November 21, 2025 by and between Central Florida 
Tourism Oversight District (herein referred to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose mailing 
address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Garney Companies, 
Inc., (herein referred to as the “Contractor”), whose mailing address is 1700 Swift Street, North Kansas 
City, Missouri 64116. 

W I T N E S S E T H 
WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued a Request for Proposals (“RFP”) No. 

C006914 on August 21, 2025 for emergency and urgent response construction service-continuing contract.  
Contractor shall provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and maintenance services as 
requested by the District over a three-year continuing contract term;  

WHEREAS, five (5) proposers responded, and Garney Companies, Inc. was a high-ranking firm.  The 
Contractor was subsequently selected for one of the three continuing contracts for these services; and 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and obligations 
contained in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

A. Agreement. The term “Agreement” or “Contract” represents the entire and integrated Agreement 
between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, 
either written or oral. The Agreement may be amended or modified only as set forth below in 
Section 10. 

B. Services.  
i. The term “Services” or “Work” as used in this Agreement shall be construed to include all 

Services set forth in Exhibit A, imposed upon the Contractor by this Paragraph and by all other 
provisions of the Contract Documents, as well as the structures to be built and the labor to be 
performed under this Agreement and where any Task Work Orders have been issued pursuant 
to Section 3 and where any Amendments have been issued pursuant to Section 10 of this 
Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all materials, tools, equipment, labor, professional and 
nonprofessional services, and shall perform all other acts and supply all other things necessary 
to fully and properly perform and complete the Work.  The Contractor shall further provide and 
pay for all related facilities described in any of the Contract Documents, including all work 
expressly specified therein and such additional work as may be reasonably inferred therefrom, 
saving and excepting only such items of work as are specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents not to be the obligation of the Contractor. 

C. General Conditions. The capitalized terms used herein may have the meanings set forth in the 
General Conditions for Construction (herein referred to as the “General Conditions”).  References 
herein referring to numbered articles and paragraphs in the General Conditions shall be specified 
as such, however, references to sections refer to those in this Agreement.   

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  A description of the nature, scope and schedule of Services to be performed 
by Contractor under this Agreement in accordance with Exhibit A - Scope of Work and the Exhibits 
outlined in Section 32 - Project Specifications and Section 33 - Contract Documents.  

3. CONTRACT TIME. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of all duties, obligations, 
and responsibilities set forth in this Agreement and the Contract Documents.  
A. Term. This Agreement shall commence on DECEMBER 1, 2025 and continue in effect for a term 

of THREE (3) YEARS, through and including NOVEMBER 30, 2028.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 2 

 

B. Optional Renewal.  The Agreement may be renewed for a TWO-YEAR (2-YEAR) renewal term upon 
mutual written consent of both parties, unless terminated by either party pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

C. Initial Request. Once a project has been identified, the Owner will request service.  The Contractor 
shall respond on-site no later than the response timelines set forth in Exhibit A - Scope of Work 
unless Owner requests scheduled or future work. 

D. Project Proposal. The Contractor shall provide a detailed proposal utilizing the pricing outlined in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule with associated quantities for each line item. The detailed 
proposal shall be submitted to the Owner within twenty-four (24) hours after initial request. If 
Owner determines an emergency or urgent condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

E. Task Work Orders for Projects.  
i. Individual Projects:  Contractor is required on-site based on the response timelines outlined in 

Exhibit A.  In such cases, written authorization from the Owner’s Representative (or designee) 
in the form of an email or text may be utilized as authorization to proceed.  However, Contractor 
will still provide a proposal to Owner, and a Task Work Order will be completed to memorialize 
the services and pricing under the Agreement.  

ii. Scheduled/Future Projects:  If Owner requests service for a future date and does not require 
the emergency or urgent response timelines outlined in Exhibit A, Contractor shall not 
commence work until a Task Work Order is executed and provided by the Owner. 

iii. Task Work Orders shall, by mutual agreement of the parties, set forth the: (a) scope of services 
for the individual project; (b) price breakdown; (c) project schedule; and (d) subcontractor/ 
sub-consultant proposals, if applicable.  

iv. Contractor shall complete assigned projects within the time limits specified in the Task Work 
Order and timelines shall be strictly enforced by Owner. At no time will Contractor be allowed 
to lag behind. Contractor will be expected to accurately track Contract Time and progress for 
each assigned project. Task Work Orders for additional projects will not be issued if Contractor 
has failed to properly complete and close out previous projects assigned under this Agreement.  

F. The Time for Performance under this Agreement may only be adjusted by Change Order, in the 
sole and absolute discretion of Owner. Any request for an extension of the Time for Performance 
must be submitted in a writing delivered to the Owner’s Representative, along with all supporting 
data. All requests for adjustments in the Contract Time shall be determined by Owner. 

G. As to any delay, inefficiency, or interference in this performance of this Agreement caused by any 
act or failure to act by Owner, the Contractor’s sole remedy shall be the entitlement of an extension 
of time to complete the performance of the affected work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. Contractor agrees to make no claim for extra or additional costs attributable to said 
delays, inefficiencies or interference, except as provided in this Agreement. 

H. None of the provisions of this Section shall exclude Owner’s right of recovery for damages caused 
by delays or inefficiencies caused by any act or failure to act by Contractor, to include costs incurred 
by Owner for the procurement of additional services. 

4. COMPENSATION.  Owner shall compensate the Contractor an amount not to exceed THREE 
MILLION AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($3,000,000.00), (the “Maximum Limiting 
Amount”) for its Services and in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and based 
on the amounts approved on executed Task Work Orders in accordance with rate schedule set forth in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule.  Completed projects must be approved and agreed upon by the 
Owner’s Representative  before payment will be made. 
A. Applications for Payment. The Contractor shall, on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar 

month (herein referred to as the “Payment Application Date”), deliver to the Owner an Application 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 3 

 

for Payment in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 of the General Conditions.  A progress 
report and updated project schedule must be submitted with each monthly Application for Payment 
indicating the percent of services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment 
to Contractor and the basis for payment in the event a project is suspended or abandoned.  

B. Monthly Progress Payments. The compensation amount under this Section shall be paid by Owner, 
monthly, based upon a percentage of completion of the work as invoiced by Contractor and 
approved by Owner. The compensation sought under this Agreement is subject to the express 
terms of this Agreement and any applicable Federal and/or state laws. Prior to payment, the 
Owner’s Representative shall review and approve the Contractor's Application for Payment, 
pursuant to Article 9 of the General Conditions.  However, the Owner shall have no obligation to 
make payment if it has withheld approval as permitted under Subparagraph 9.3.1. of the General 
Conditions or if the Contractor has not submitted to the Owner all documentation required to 
substantiate the Application for Payment. Owner’s Representative approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments by Owner shall be made no later than 
the time periods established in Section 218.735, Florida Statutes.  

C. Project Schedule and Progress Reports (if requested by Owner). A progress report and updated 
project schedule must be submitted with each monthly pay request indicating the percentage of 
services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment to Contractor and the 
basis for payment in the event project is suspended or abandoned. 

D. Pricing Documentation. Contractor shall provide any and all documentation required by Owner in 
connection with labor, materials,  and equipment. Any pricing submitted for materials, equipment, 
or services provided by a subcontractor or supplier must be accompanied by comprehensive 
documentation to support the cost. This documentation shall include, but is not limited to, the 
following: (i) Manufacturer/Supplier Cost Data: Copies of actual quotes, invoices, or documented 
cost breakdowns from the manufacturer or supplier, detailing material costs, labor, equipment, and 
any other direct or indirect costs; and (ii) Subcontractor Proposals: Copies of all subcontractor 
proposals received for any portion of the Services. 

E. Final Payments. Final payment for each individual project shall be paid to the Contractor after 
completion of those items set forth in the TWO and/or Punch List and after Owner approval of the 
final Application for Payment for said project.   

F. Invoice Form and Address. All invoices shall be in the form required by Owner, reference the 
contract number, and shall be addressed appropriately as outlined below based on the Owner’s 
Representative/department the task work order/invoice pertains to: 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight 
District (“District” or “CFTOD”) projects  

District utility projects managed by Reedy 
Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
ap@oversightdistrict.org 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
C/O: Reedy Creek Energy Services - Utilities Division 
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
wdw.rces.billing@disney.com  

G. Payment of Invoices. The Owner’s Representative must review and approve all invoices prior to 
payment. Owner approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments 
by Owner shall be made no later than the time periods established in sections 218.73 and 218.735, 
Florida Statutes, as applicable. 

H. Withholding of Payment. Owner reserves the right to withhold, in whole or in part, payment for 
any and all work that: (i) has not been completed by Contractor; (ii) is inadequate or defective and 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D

mailto:wdw.rces.billing@disney.com


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 4 

 

has not been remedied or resolved in a manner satisfactory to the Owner’s Representative; (iii) 
which fails to comply with any term, condition, or other requirement under this Agreement; or for 
(iv) representations provided in Contractor’s billing statements that are wholly or partially 
inaccurate. Any payment withheld shall be released and remitted to Contractor within thirty (30) 
calendar days of the Contractor’s remedy or resolution of the inadequacy or defect.  

I. Amendments to Services. Contractor shall be compensated for any Additional Services based upon 
the Rate Schedule; such amounts to be invoiced and paid in accordance with the terms of this 
section; provided, however, that Contractor shall not be entitled to compensation for Additional 
Services unless Contractor has obtained prior written authorization of Owner to perform the same. 
Owner retains the right to reduce any portion of Contractor's Services at any time. Any additions 
or reductions to the Scope of Services and Not to Exceed Amount shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 10 of this Agreement. 

J. Return of Funds. Contractor will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Contractor. The 
Contractor must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Contractor, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment.  

5. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. As specified in Task Work Orders.  Should the Contractor fail to achieve 
Substantial Completion by the date provided in Task Work Order, the Contractor shall pay and/or the 
District may retain from the compensation otherwise to be paid to the Contractor, as liquidated 
damages, the sum of (specified in Task Work Order, if applicable) for each consecutive calendar day 
until Substantial Completion is achieved; said sum is agreed upon as a reasonable and proper measure 
of damages which the District will sustain per diem by failure of the Contractor to complete work within 
the time as stipulated;  it being recognized by the District and the Contractor that the injury to the 
District which could result from a failure of the Contractor to complete on schedule is uncertain and 
cannot be computed exactly.  In no way shall costs for liquidated damages be construed as a penalty 
on the Contractor. The liquidated damages referenced herein may also be assessed and collected 
against the Surety.  Liquidated damages do not apply to final completion dates. 

6. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 
A. The Contractor shall at its expense procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement (and 

shall require the same from its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors) the following types and 
minimum amounts of insurance: 

i. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed 
operations liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for 
bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be 
maintained for two (2) years after contract expiration;  

ii. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

iii. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

iv. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying policies 
required by i, ii, and iii above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

v. If Contractor is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Contractor will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that 
precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at 
least two (2) years following the conclusion of work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 5 

 

vi. If Contractor is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Contractor will also carry Pollution Liability 
insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be on a 
claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or services 
under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years following the conclusion 
of work. 

vii. If work will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability insurance 
will be at least $4,000,000. 

viii. If Contractor is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be 
obtained. 

ix. Contractor is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not 
responsible for and Contractor holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 

B. All insurance required under this Section shall be with companies and on forms authorized to issue 
insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are 
waived, in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager. Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if 
required by the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 

C. CANCELLATION. All such insurance required by this Section shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Contractor, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to 
Owner.    

D. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory 
basis, the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.   

E. WAIVERS. The Contractor hereby waives, and will require its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents 
and assigns.  

F. CLAIMS. The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors shall assist and cooperate 
in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Work and shall cooperate with the insurance 
carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Contractor, its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
in all litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the said insurance 
carrier or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 

G. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its 
appointed board supervisors, officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, 
damages, losses and costs including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent 
caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct (which includes, without 
limitation, any failure of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors to 
perform and complete the Services in strict compliance with the Contract Documents, unless such 
failure has been specifically waived by the District in writing upon final acceptance of the Services) 
of the Contractor or any persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the 
Agreement, including without limitation, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor (or their 
employees), utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Services. The provisions of this 
paragraph shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 6 

 

7. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Owner shall, in its sole discretion and with or without cause, have the right to suspend or terminate 
this Agreement upon seven (7) days prior written notice to Contractor.  In the event of termination, 
Owner's sole obligation and liability to Contractor, if any, shall be to pay to Contractor that portion of 
the amount earned by it, plus any earned amounts for Additional Services performed pursuant to 
Sections 4 and 10, through the date of termination. 

8. NON-FUNDING. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or 
otherwise become unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Contractor 
without penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding. 

9. FORCE MAJEURE. 
A. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 

beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented. 

B. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations. 

C. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Contractor be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Work due to any of the conditions under this section, Contractor shall be entitled 
to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Contractor  be entitled to 
any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from such Force 
Majeure delays. 

10. MODIFICATIONS, ADDITIONS, OR DELETIONS TO THE SERVICES. 
A. An Amendment may consist of additions, deletions, or other modifications to the Agreement which 

shall be in writing and mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

B. The Owner may, from time to time, without affecting the validity of the Agreement, or any term 
or condition thereof, issue an Amendment which may identify additional or revised Scope of 
Services, or other written instructions and orders, which shall be governed by the provisions of the 
Agreement. The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner. 
Upon receipt of any such Amendment, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Amendment, 
and the resultant decrease or increase in the amount to be paid the Contractor, if any, shall be 
governed by the provisions of Section 4 in this Agreement. 

11. REPRESENTATIONS. Contractor hereby represents to Owner that:  (A) it has the experience and skill 
to perform the Services as set forth in this Agreement; (B) it is duly licensed to observe and perform 
the terms, covenants, conditions and other provisions on its part to be observed or performed under 
this Agreement; (C) it has by careful examination satisfied itself as to all other matters or things which 
could in any manner affect the performance of the Services. 

12. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES. Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement, 
the following provisions are the responsibility of the Contractor:    
A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures and safety precautions or programs incident thereto.   
B. Contractor shall competently and efficiently supervise, inspect, and direct all work to be performed 

under this Agreement, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 7 

 

C. The Deliverables (if any) shall not call for the use of nor infringe any patent, trademark, service 
mark, copyright or other proprietary interest claimed or held by any person or interest absent prior 
express written consent from the Owner.  

D. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
ordinances, agency regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other government 
authority including without limitation, the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 (“ADA”), as same may be amended from time to time, which have jurisdiction and which are 
current at the time Contractor renders Services hereunder. 

13. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.  Contractor shall refer to Plans and additional Specifications provided with 
each individual project, if any. 

14. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY. 
A. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions 

and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to 
all persons involved in any way in the Services and all other persons, including, without limitation, 
the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be 
affected thereby. 

B. All Services, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools and 
like items used in the Services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to:  (i) all applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental 
authority; and (ii) all codes, rules, regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance 
carriers relating thereto.  In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

C. The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 
clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials.  The Owner may require 
the Contractor to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal 
as the Owner may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the 
general area in which the Services are to be performed clean and free from such waste or rubbish, 
or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner may take such action and offset 
any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred by the Owner in undertaking 
such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor. 

15. OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT. 
A. All drawings, data, ideas, concepts, molds, models, tooling, improvements, inventions, or other 

tangible or intangible work product in whole or in part conceived, produced, commissioned or 
acquired by Contractor hereunder (“Work Product”) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive 
property of Owner when produced, whether or not fixed in a tangible medium of expression, except 
that Contractor may retain copies of such Work Product for its permanent reference, but shall not 
use such copies in any manner whatsoever without the express written consent of Owner and shall 
keep same confidential in accordance with the requirements of Section 17 entitled 
Promotion/Confidentiality.  In the event of early termination of this Contract, in whole or in part, 
Contractor shall deliver to Owner all Work Product whether complete or not. 

B. Without limiting the forgoing, Contractor agrees that any and all Work Product shall be deemed to 
be "works made for hire" for Owner as the author, creator, or inventor upon creation; provided, 
however, that in the event and to the extent that such Work Product is determined not to constitute 
"works made for hire" as a matter of law, Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers such 
property, and all right, title and interest therein, whether now known or hereafter existing including, 
but not limited to, patents and copyrights, to Owner and its successors and assigns.  Contractor 
grants to Owner all rights including, without limitation, reproduction, manufacturing and moral 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 8 

 

rights, throughout the universe in perpetuity and in all languages and in any and all media whether 
now or hereafter known, with respect to such Work Product.  Contractor acknowledges that Owner 
is the motivating force and factor, and for purposes of copyright or patent, has the right to such 
copyrightable or patentable Work Product produced by Contractor under this Contract.  Contractor 
agrees to execute any and all documents and do such other acts as requested by Owner to further 
evidence any of the transfers, assignments and exploitation rights provided for herein. 

16. BOOKS AND RECORDS.  Contractor shall maintain comprehensive books and records relating to any 
Services performed under this Agreement, which shall be retained by Contractor for a period of at least 
four (4) years from and after the completion of such Services.  Owner, or its authorized representatives, 
shall have the right to audit such books and records at all reasonable times upon prior notice to 
Contractor.  The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or early termination of this 
Agreement. 

17. PROMOTION/CONFIDENTIALITY. The Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire no 
right to use, and shall not use, the name of the Owner or the Owner’s Representative  (either alone or 
in conjunction with or as a part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or 
designs of either of them or any related, affiliated or subsidiary companies:  in any advertising, publicity 
or promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of the Contractor's Work or services; or in any 
other manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  
Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to and acquire knowledge 
regarding plans, concepts, designs, materials, data, systems and other information of or with respect 
to Owner or Owner’s Representative, or any subsidiaries or affiliated companies thereof, which may 
not be accessible or known to the general public (“Confidential Information”).  Confidential Information 
that is specific as to techniques, equipment, processes, products, concepts or designs, etc. shall not be 
deemed to be within the knowledge of the general public merely because it is embraced by general 
disclosures in the public domain. Any knowledge acquired by Contractor from such Confidential 
Information or otherwise through its engagement hereunder shall not be used, published or divulged 
by Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or used in any advertising or promotion 
regarding Contractor or its services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of Owner, which permission Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  Contractor specifically agrees that the foregoing confidentiality obligation applies to, but is 
not limited to, any information disclosed to Contractor in any document provided to Contractor pursuant 
to or in connection with this Agreement, including but not limited to, a Request for Proposal, Request 
for Estimate, Request for Quotation or Invitation to Bid, except to the extent Contractor must disclose 
such information to compile and prepare its proposed price for work or services performed hereunder.  
The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

18. SUBCONTRACTORS. If the Contractor desires to employ Subcontractors in connection with the 
performance of its Services under this Agreement: 
A. Nothing contained in the Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the Owner 

and any Subcontractor. However, it is acknowledged that the Owner is an intended third-party 
beneficiary of the obligations of the Subcontractors related to the Services. 

B. Owner reserves the right to approve or disapprove the use of any Subcontractor for this Agreement. 
C. Contractor shall coordinate the services of any Subcontractors, and remain fully responsible under 

the terms of this Agreement, Contractor shall be and remain responsible for the quality, timeliness 
and the coordination of all Services furnished by the Contractor or its Subcontractors. 

D. All subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement 
and shall incorporate the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the full extent applicable to 
the portion of the Services covered thereby.  Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the 
Owner, to be bound by such terms and conditions to the full extent applicable to its portion of the 
Services. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 9 

 

19. NOTICE. 
A. Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered 

personally or by mail, telex, facsimile, cable, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when 
received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 If to Owner: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519 
 Orlando, Florida 32869 
 Attention:  Contracting Officer 
 If to Contractor: GARNEY COMPANIES, INC. 

    1700 Swift Street 
North Kansas City, Missouri 64116 
Attention: William Poczekaj 

or to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the other as hereinabove 
provided. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed ineffective 
if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of the party to whom the notice is 
directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice. 

20. THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE. 

A. Reedy Creek Energy Services, whose designated representative is Brad Burchett, and whose 
mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando,  Florida 32869, shall act as 
the Owner's authorized representative (herein referred to as the "Owner’s Representative"); 
provided, however, that the Owner may, without liability to the Contractor, unilaterally amend this 
Section from time to time by designating a different person or organization to act as its 
representative and so advising the Contractor in writing, at which time the person or organization 
so designated shall be the Owner’s Representative for purposes of this Agreement.  Except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, and until the Contractor is notified in writing to the contrary, 
all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and instructions to be given 
by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and decisions to be made 
by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall be taken, given 
and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner’s Representative in the name of and on behalf 
of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s Representative) shall be 
solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor 
hereunder. 

B. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Contractor and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Contractor to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement. 

21. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
A. The acceptance of final payment under this Agreement, or the acceptance of final payment upon 

early termination hereof, shall constitute a full and complete release of Owner by Contractor from 
any and all claims, demands and causes of action whatsoever which Contractor may have against 
Owner in any way related to the subject matter of this Agreement and Contractor shall as a 
condition precedent to receipt of final payment from Owner, submit to the Owner a fully and 
properly executed General Release.  Neither the Owner's review, approval or acceptance of, nor 
payment for, any of the Services required under this Agreement shall be construed to operate as 
a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the performance 
of this Agreement, and Contractor shall be and remain liable to Owner in accordance with law for 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 10 

 

all damages to Owner caused by the Contractor's performance of any of the Services furnished 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

B. It is understood and agreed that Contractor is acting as an independent contractor in the 
performance of its Services hereunder, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed 
to create an agency relationship between Owner and Contractor. 

C. The rights and remedies of Owner provided for under this Agreement are cumulative and are in 
addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 

22. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public 
Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Contractor shall: 
A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service. 
B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency with 

a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable 
time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by 
law. 

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Contractor does not transfer the 
records to the public agency. 

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to 
perform the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the Contractor 
keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Contractor shall meet all 
applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, 
in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the public agency. 

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, 
EMAIL ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, 
MAILING ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT, ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 
# 690519, ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869. 

23. E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE. The Contractor and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal 
immigration laws and regulations that relate to their employees. The Contractor agrees and 
acknowledges that the Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set 
forth in Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this 
Agreement.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section hereof, if the Owner has a good faith belief 
that the Contractor has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to 
work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for employment under this 
Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has a good faith belief that a 
subcontractor performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D

mailto:PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 11 

 

who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United States 
for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall promptly notify the Contractor and order the 
Contractor to immediately terminate the contract with the subcontractor. The Contractor shall be liable 
for any additional costs incurred by the Owner as a result of termination of a contract based on 
Contractor’s failure to comply with E-Verify requirements referenced herein. 

24. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor certifies that it is eligible 
to bid on, submit a proposal for, enter into or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services 
pursuant to Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon 
discovering that Contractor: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that 
Boycott Israel List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized 
Companies with Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Iran Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or 
Syria. This Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Contractor falsely certified or has 
become ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this 
Agreement is terminated by the Owner as provided above, the Owner reserves the right to pursue any 
and all legal remedies against the Contractor, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid only for 
the work completed as of the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in this Section, 
no other damages, fees or costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination of the 
Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

25. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 
A. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications. 

B. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right 
or obligation under this Agreement, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Agreement, the 
Contract Documents or the Work to be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be submitted 
for trial, without jury, solely and exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in 
and for Orange County, Florida; provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not have 
jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before the United States 
District Court for the Middle District of Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that if 
neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and 
exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange County, Florida, having jurisdiction.  The parties 
(i) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (ii) consent and submit to the sole and exclusive 
jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein and (iii) agree to accept service of process 
outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a Proceeding in accordance with the applicable 
rules of civil procedure. 

C. If any provision of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner allowing its validity or, 
if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, all other provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

26. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement is for the services of Contractor and may not be assigned by 
Contractor in any fashion, whether by operation of law, or by conveyance of any type including, without 
limitation, transfer of stock in Contractor, without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner retains the right to assign all or any portion of this 
Agreement at any time. Upon such assignment, and provided the Assignee shall, in writing, assume 
Owner's obligations under this Agreement, Owner shall be automatically released and discharged from 
any and all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Contractor shall thenceforth look solely to the 
Assignee for performance of Owner's obligations under this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 12 

 

27. EFFECTIVE DATE.  Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Contractor prior to the 
effective date of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when 
agreed to by the Owner. 

28. HEADINGS.  The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 
and shall not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof. 

29. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other 
agreements, either oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains 
all the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or 
otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are not 
embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, or promise 
not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this Agreement. Any 
modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both 
parties. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement shall 
not be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently require strict compliance 
at any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so. 

30. WARRANTY.  Contractor warrants all labor, materials, and equipment furnished under the agreement 
are new, of the type and quality required for the Project, and installed in a good and workmanlike 
manner in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall guarantee the Work shall be free 
from any defects in workmanship for a period of not less than ONE (1) year from the date of project 
completion. Contractor shall guarantee the materials provided shall be free from any defects for the 
longer of: (A) ONE (1) year from the date of project completion; or (B) the period of warranty provided 
by any supplier or manufacturer. The Owner may withhold final payment until the Contractor provides 
complete written manufacturers' warranties to the Owner’s Representative at the end of the project. 

31. PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION BOND.  Performance and Payment bonds will be required for any single 
task work order over $200,000 and will be paid as a separate line item. Contractor shall include the 
line item for a bond in their proposal for individual projects of $200,000 or more. In such cases, the 
Contractor must submit a recorded, Public Construction Bond in conformance with Florida Statute 
255.05 as security for the faithful performance of the work within the time set forth as required herein 
and for prompt payment to all persons defined in 713.01, Florida Statues, who furnish labor, services, 
or materials for the completion of the work provided herein. The Public Construction Bond must be 
recorded in the county where the project is located.  

32. PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS. All work shall be in accordance with all applicable federal, state and 
local codes and regulations, including but not limited to the following specifications and documents, 
which are incorporated by reference: 
A. The Project Specifications listed below are available for viewing and download under Request                

for Proposals (RFP) No. C006914: Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services - 
Continuing Contract at: https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296, under 
documents. 

• Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (“CFTOD”) Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) 
Requirements.   

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces, dated 
March 13, 2018. 

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Lockout/Tagout (“LOTO”) Program, including                  
Appendix 1-4. 

B. In the event of a conflict between the individual Project Specifications regarding the scope of work 
to be performed, then the specification with the more restrictive provision shall take precedence 
over the others. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D

https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006914 
 

 

 
Page 13 

 

33. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  
A. The Contract Documents which comprise the entire understanding between the Owner and 

Contractor, shall only include (1) this Agreement; (2) those documents listed in this Section as 
Exhibits to this Agreement; and (3) those documents identified in the Project Specifications Section 
of this Agreement.  Each Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference for all purposes. 

Exhibit A: Scope of Work (A-1 through A-4) 
Exhibit B: Unit Price Schedule (B-1 through B-4) 
Exhibit C: Special Contract Conditions (C-1 through C-15) 
Exhibit D: General Conditions for Construction (D-1 through D-26) 
Exhibit E: Sample Forms (E-1 through E-8) 
Exhibit F: Contractor Proposal (F-1 through F-12) 

B. If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement, Project Specifications and the Exhibits, 
then the terms of this Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms 
contained in the Project Specifications and Exhibits. If there is a conflict between the Project 
Specifications and the Exhibits, the Project Specifications shall prevail.  

C. If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits the order of precedence is as follows:                   
(1) Exhibit A, (2) Exhibit C, (3) Exhibit D, (4) Exhibit E, (5) Exhibit B, then (6) Exhibit F.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as 

of the day and year first above written. 
 

 
OWNER CONTRACTOR 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM   
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

GARNEY COMPANIES, INC. 

  
 
 
 

 
Signature:   Signature:   
               As authorized by the Board of Supervisors  
Print Name:  S.C. Kopelousos           Print Name:   

Title:             District Administrator  Title:   

Date:           November 21, 2025  Date:   

                                                            

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D

William Poczekaj

November 11, 2025

Director



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

A - 1 

SECTION 1. SCOPE OF WORK OVERVIEW 

1.1 Contractor shall provide all labor, material, equipment, supervision, transportation, tools, and 
incidentals necessary to provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and 
maintenance services for the District over a three-year continuing contract term. 

1.2 Services will be performed on an as needed, on-call basis in response to urgent conditions that 
require immediate attention to protect District property, maintain operations, or ensure public safety. 

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF WORK  

2.1 The Contractor shall respond rapidly to emergency and urgent calls for general construction and 
utility services, which may include, but are not limited to: 

A. Structural repairs and modifications 
B. Concrete and asphalt work, including demolition and restoration 
C. Excavation, trenching, and backfilling 
D. Site grading and stabilization 
E. Temporary structures, shoring, and safety barriers as required 
F. Coordination with other trades and District personnel 
G. Protection of existing facilities during construction 
H. Site cleanup and disposal of waste materials in compliance with environmental regulations 
I. Pipe lining installation and repair 
J. Welding services 
K. High-temperature hot water system services and repairs 
L. Chilled water system services and repairs 
M. Boiler services and repairs 
N. Plumbing services and repairs 
O. Pipe fitting and stabilization 
P. Pipe protection 
Q. Roadway depression investigation 
R. Underground utilities inspection, installation, and repair 
S. Hot tap/line stop services 
T. Hauling and disposal of excess materials 
U. Emergency or urgent response for minor repairs 
V. All other related construction and repair tasks as required by the District during emergency 

situations. 
2.2 The specific scope of work shall be set forth in individual Task Authorizations issued by the Owner 

as needed. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

2.3 Response:  

A. Contractor must be available 24/7/365 to respond to emergency calls. 
B. Contractor should be able to mobilize and arrive on site within two hours (2 HRS) of notification 

by the District. Work shall be performed continuously until the emergency condition is resolved 
or stabilized, unless otherwise directed by the District. Urgent, but non-emergency work can 
mobilize and arrive on site in three to four hours (3-4 HRS). 

2.4 Contractor shall provide detailed incident reports after completion of each emergency and urgent 
call, including before-and-after documentation. 

2.5 The District may decide to Owner direct purchase any parts or materials for Contractor use during 
the term of the Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

A - 2 

SECTION 3. CONTRACTOR REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 All work shall meet applicable codes, safety standards, and District specifications, even during 
emergency and urgent conditions. Work areas shall be always secure to ensure safety of District 
personnel and the public. 

3.2 Comply with confined space entry and lock out/tag out safety requirements. Refer to RCES Lockout 
Tagout and RCES Confined Space documents in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.3 Contractor must have their Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) accepted by CFTOD Safety prior to 
commencement of work. Refer to CFTOD PSSP Requirements in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.4 Contractor shall adhere to any and all RCES Specifications applicable to each specific project for a 
Task Work Authorization. 

3.5 The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests, or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific Safety 
Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) 
and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. 

3.6 Contractor’s service vehicle shall contain all parts, equipment, and materials necessary to perform 
services. Damage attributed to the Contractor shall be repaired immediately at no cost to the District.  

3.7 Special access throughout property will need to be approved prior to work being performed at the 
Energy Plants. 

3.8 Contractor must maintain valid licensing, accreditations, and certifications applicable to the services 
throughout the term of the Agreement.  

3.9 Safety Training: The Contractor is responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent 
injury to all persons involved in any way in the Services. 

SECTION 4. EMPLOYEES 

The following applies to ALL contract work: 
4.1 The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 

clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials. The District may require the 
Contractor to comply with such standards, means, and methods of cleanup, removal, disposal as the 
District may make known to the Contractor and/or as required by any applicable laws. In the event 
the Contractor fails to keep clean of such rubbish and waste in the affected areas, and the District 
incurs the clean-up cost, the District will deduct the expenses incurred from any sums then or 
thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.2 All Contractor employees are expected to present a professional, businesslike image to clients, 
visitors, customers and the public. Contractor shall ensure that all vehicles and uniforms used by 
their staff are identified with company name and logo. 

4.3 Employees may be required to meet special dress and grooming standards, such as wearing uniforms 
or personal protective equipment (PPE) depending on the nature of their job.  

4.4 District will designate where Contractor’s crew will take breaks, lunches, and use restroom facilities. 
Employee personal vehicles will be parked only in areas designated by the District. No smoking of 
any kind at any time on District property. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

A - 3 

4.5 District reserves the right to refuse any Contractor’s employee who does not meet or conform to the 
District’s policies. Contractor’s employees shall be required to maintain a level a professional 
appearance at all times while performing required tasks in or out of guest view. This includes as level 
of professional hygiene that includes all Contractor-provided uniforms. 

4.6 Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to all 
persons involved in any way in the Services. 

4.7 Any and all complaints or calls for assistance from the District or its agents or representatives shall 
be responded to by the Contractor within twenty-four (24) hours of the District’s issuance of such 
complaints or calls and all repairs or work which precipitated such complaint shall be diligently and 
professionally completed by the Contractor. 

4.8 Contractor shall cause all of its employees to behave in a friendly, respectable, and courteous manner 
toward the District, guests, staff, and management. In the event the District believes that any of the 
Contractor’s employees are acting other than herein required, or the District or its agents determine 
that any of such employees are not performing their duties in a competent manner, the District shall 
so advise the Contractor and the Contractor shall promptly arrange to correct the deficiencies or to 
replace such employee as reasonably approved by the District. Contractor shall maintain continuous 
and regular communications with the District concerning safety and other factors that relate to the 
performance requirements hereunder and concerning any injury or damage to guests or Contractor’s 
employees that may result or occur in connection with the services to be provided by the Contractor 
hereunder. 

4.9 All services shall be approved by and scheduled through the District or its authorized representative. 
4.10 All services, whether performed by the Contractor, its subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools, and like items 
used in the services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to: (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations, and orders of any public, quasi-public, or other governmental authority; and (b) 
all codes, rules, regulations, and requirements, of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating 
thereto. In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

SECTION 5. TASK WORK ORDERS 

5.1 Services will be requested as needed by District, and will be authorized on a Task Work Order 
(“TWO”) basis. Task Work Order review and approval process (sample “TWO” form included in 
Exhibit E – Sample Task Work Order Form):   
A. The District will request written proposal from the Contractor. Written proposals must include 

the following: 
1. Scope of Services (should be detailed and outline all tasks); 
2. Itemized Pricing (should be detailed to ensure the rates are pursuant to Agreement); 
3. Project Schedule; and 
4. Subcontractor and/or sub-consultant proposals, if applicable. 

B. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under direction 
of Owner using the billing rates established in the contract while a formal proposal and Task 
Work Order is drafted for the project. 

5.2 Liquidated Damages & Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) dates will be negotiated for each project. Failures 
upon the part of the Contractor to complete the specific project within the time frame after receiving 
the Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) will be assessed Liquidated Damages per day in the amount the District 
will determine for each project. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

A - 4 

5.3 Task Work Orders will be assigned to contract holders on an alternating basis while utilizing a fair 
and balanced approach, while also considering the best qualified contractor for a particular job, at 
the sole discretion of the District.  

5.4 The District does not guarantee the number of assignments, if any or the dollar value of fees for 
tasks that may be assigned. This Agreement shall be non-exclusive and without limitation upon the 
District to obtain services from third parties as the District deems appropriate in its sole discretion. 

 
 

End of Exhibit A 
 
 

 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

B - 1 

In accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions for Construction, the following Unit Price Schedule 
may be used for the Contract Work (individual projects) as the Owner may direct.  

SECTION 1. LABOR RATES  
The hourly wage rates shall be utilized for calculating the total cost of labor pursuant to this Agreement. 
All hourly wage rates set forth herein are inclusive of the Contractor’s overhead, profit and cost of all 
employee burdens, benefits, insurance and Worker’s Compensation coverage. The Contractor shall provide, 
if so required by Owner, as supporting data, evidence of the direct cost of labor, Contractor’s overhead, 
profit, and each category of employee burden, benefit and related cost.  

• Standard labor shall be between the hours of 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM Eastern Standard Time, Monday 
through Friday.   

• Overtime labor shall be defined as any hours worked outside of Standard (above).  
   

Labor Category UOM Standard 
Rate 

Overtime 
Rate 

Principle-in-Charge HR $405.00 $405.00 
Regional Manager HR $368.00 $368.00 
Area Manager HR $337.00 $337.00 
Sr. Project Manager HR $320.00 $320.00 
Project Manager HR $262.00 $262.00 
Asst. Project Manager (Sr. PE) HR $219.00 $219.00 
Project Engineer HR $177.00 $177.00 
Sr. Superintendent HR $324.00 $324.00 
Superintendent HR $263.00 $263.00 
Assist. Superintendent HR $222.00 $222.00 
Field Engineer HR $177.00 $177.00 
BIM/VDC HR $241.00 $241.00 
Scheduler HR $218.00 $218.00 
Field Clerk HR $98.00 $98.00 
Project Coordinator HR $118.00 $118.00 
Regional Safety Manager HR $269.00 $269.00 
Safety Manager HR $199.00 $199.00 
QA/QC Support HR $222.00 $222.00 
Chief Estimator HR $263.00 $263.00 
Sr. Estimator HR $224.00 $224.00 
Estimator HR $195.00 $195.00 
Foreman (Job Foreman) HR $155.00 $232.50 
Equipment Operator 1 HR $115.00 $172.50 
Pipelayer HR $112.00 $168.00 
Laborer 1 HR $93.00 $139.50 
Carpenter HR $112.00 $168.00 
Crane Operator HR $135.00 $202.50 
Intern/Co-Op HR $90.00 $135.00 
Welder HR $171.00 $256.50 

 
SECTION 2. EQUIPMENT RATES 
The table below lists each type of equipment to be utilized in the performance of the Work and the daily, 
weekly and monthly rate corresponding to each.  Each and every listed rate is an all-inclusive rate, which 
includes but is not necessarily limited to, the cost of purchasing, leasing, maintaining, licensing, transporting 
and fueling the equipment, the Contractor’s overhead and any profit to be derived by the Contractor from 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

B - 2 

the use of the equipment pursuant to the Agreement, and is not subject to additional markup by the 
Contractor.   

Each and every equipment rate shall remain in effect for the duration of the Contract and shall apply to 
both additions to and deletions from the Work (collectively, changes to the Work).  Any costs for such 
equipment that are attributable to changes to the Work shall be computed on a net daily, weekly or monthly 
basis, as applicable, multiplied by the corresponding rate.   
The rates applied in such computations shall be strictly applied in the following manner:  the daily rate shall 
be applied when the equipment is utilized for more than one (1) but less than five (5) consecutive days; 
the weekly rate shall be applied when the equipment is utilized for more than five (5) consecutive days but 
less than four (4) consecutive weeks; and, the monthly rate shall be applied when the equipment is utilized 
for four (4) or more consecutive weeks, including any net portions thereof, which shall be applied on a 
prorated basis.  The equipment rates set forth below are exclusive of the cost of Labor, if any, that is 
necessary to operate the equipment.   
 

Equipment Description Size Class  Daily 
Rate  

 Weekly 
Rate  

 Monthly 
Rate  

AIR COMPRESSORS  
Atlas Copco XAS146 250 - 599 cfm $310.00 $1,235.00 $4,405.00 
Doosan P185 135-249 cfm $145.00 $575.00 $2,050.00 
Ingersoll Rand HP300WCU 250 - 599 cfm $295.00 $1,180.00 $4,220.00 
Ingersoll Rand HP750WJD 600 - 899 cfm $410.00 $1,640.00 $5,860.00 
ARTICULATED FRAME GRADERS  
Komatsu GD655-3 145 - 169 HP $700.00 $2,790.00 $9,965.00 
Lee-Boy 685B 75 - 114 HP $490.00 $1,965.00 $7,010.00 
ARTICULATED REAR DUMPS  
Caterpillar 740B (disc. 2015) 35 MTons & Over, 24.2 - 31.3 cy $1,390.00 $5,550.00 $19,820.00 
Caterpillar 740C EJ 35 MTons & Over, 23.5 - 31.1 cy $1,600.00 $6,405.00 $22,870.00 
Komatsu HM300-2 26 - 29 Mtons, 16.9 - 21.7 cy $1,070.00 $4,275.00 $15,260.00 
Komatsu HM300-5 26 - 29 Mtons, 17.5 - 22.4 cy $1,130.00 $4,515.00 $16,125.00 
Komatsu HM400-2 35 MTons & Over, 21.6 - 29.2 cy $1,385.00 $5,545.00 $19,795.00 
Komatsu HM400-5 35 MTons & Over, 23.8 - 31.4 cy $1,930.00 $7,725.00 $27,590.00 
Volvo A25C 6X6 20 - 25 Mtons, 13.9 - 17.7 cy $1,075.00 $4,295.00 $15,340.00 
Volvo A25G 6X4 20 - 25 Mtons, 15.3 - 19.6 cy $1,675.00 $6,695.00 $23,905.00 
COMPACT TRACK LOADERS 
Bobcat T450 2,000 lbs. $435.00 $1,745.00 $6,235.00 
Bobcat T870 3,525 lbs. $645.00 $2,575.00 $9,195.00 
Case TR270 1,890 lbs. $515.00 $2,060.00 $7,350.00 
Case TR320 2,240 lbs. $525.00 $2,090.00 $7,460.00 
Case TR380 2,660 lbs. $370.00 $1,470.00 $5,255.00 
Case TV380 2,850 lbs. $715.00 $2,855.00 $10,195.00 
Caterpillar 239D3 1,530 lbs. $425.00 $1,700.00 $6,070.00 
Caterpillar 289D 2850 lbs. $590.00 $2,360.00 $8,420.00 
Caterpillar 289D3 2,890 lbs. $558.00 $2,412.00 $9,371.00 
Caterpillar 299D2 XHP 3201 lbs. > $690.00 $2,765.00 $9,865.00 
Caterpillar 299D2 3,200 lbs. $635.00 $2,530.00 $9,040.00 

 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

B - 3 

Equipment Description Size Class Daily 
Rate 

Weekly 
Rate 

Monthly 
Rate 

COMPACTORS 
Reversible Plate Tamp Impulse Force 10,001 - 20,000 lbs. $160.00 $700.00 $2,724.00 
Jumping Jack 3,060 lbs./blow (Jumping Jack) $54.00 $236.00 $915.00 
Wacker RT560 Thru 25 Inches (Trench Compactor) $705.00 $2,815.00 $10,045.00 
Wacker RT820 26 - 34 Inches (Trench Compactor) $710.00 $2,845.00 $10,160.00 
Bomag BW145DH-40 W/O Ballast 5.0 - 7.9 MTons $635.00 $2,535.00 $9,050.00 
Bomag BW211PD-3 8.0 - 11.9 MTons $600.00 $2,400.00 $8,575.00 
Bomag BW211PD-5 8.0 - 11.9 MTons $570.00 $2,285.00 $8,150.00 
Caterpillar 815F Series 2 200 - 299 HP $1,770.00 $7,080.00 $25,280.00 
Caterpillar CP-56 8.0 - 11.9 MTons $855.00 $3,425.00 $12,230.00 
Caterpillar CP-563E 8.0 - 11.9 MTons $775.00 $3,100.00 $11,070.00 
Dynapac CT262 (Disc. 2006) 200 - 299 HP $900.00 $3,605.00 $12,865.00 
Hamm 2422DSB 12.0 - 14.9 MTons $650.00 $2,605.00 $9,310.00 
Hamm 3205PB 5.0 - 7.9 MTons $480.00 $1,920.00 $6,850.00 
Hamm 3412PB 12.0 - 14.9 MTons $665.00 $2,660.00 $9,500.00 
Hamm 3412P 12.0 - 14.9 MTons $575.00 $2,300.00 $8,220.00 
Hamm HD+120VO 11.3 MTons & Over $1,285.00 $5,145.00 $18,380.00 
Hamm HD12VV 1.8 - 2.9 MTons $380.00 $1,520.00 $5,425.00 
Multiquip MVH158GH 96 - 250 Kg (6,070 lbs./blow) Plate $69.00 $275.00 $985.00 
Sakai SV400D-II 5.0 - 7.9 Mtons (67" Smooth Drum) $580.00 $2,325.00 $8,305.00 
DEWATERING PUMPS 
Self-Priming Trash Pumps 4" Diesel, 44,000 Gal/Hr. $311.00 $1,429.00 $5,871.00 
Self-Priming Trash Pumps 6" Diesel, 90,000 Gal/Hr. $478.00 $2,143.00 $8,602.00 
Self-Priming Trash Pumps 8" Diesel, 125,000 Gal/Hr. $501.00 $2,228.00 $8,912.00 
Heavy Duty Centrifugal Pumps 4" Diesel, 40,000 Gal/Hr. $266.00 $1,197.00 $4,824.00 
Heavy Duty Centrifugal Pumps 8" Diesel, 125,000 Gal/Hr. $424.00 $1,880.00 $7,507.00 
Suction Hose 4"x25' $5.00 $21.00 $76.00 
Suction Hose 6"x25' $19.00 $74.00 $267.00 
Discharge Hose 4"x25' $4.00 $15.00 $57.00 
Discharge Hose 6"x25' $9.00 $39.00 $143.00 
DOZERS 
Caterpillar D3K2 75 - 84 HP $790.00 $3,451.00 $13,579.00 
Deere 700J XLT 105 - 129 HP $984.00 $4,321.00 $17,046.00 
EXCAVATORS 
Bobcat E50 4.1 - 5.0 MTons $616.00 $2,457.00 $8,778.00 
Bobcat E85 8.1 - 11.0 MTons $882.00 $3,535.00 $12,621.00 
Caterpillar 308E2 CR 8.1 - 10 MTons $1,029.00 $4,102.00 $14,644.00 
Caterpillar 315F L 16.1 - 19.0 MTons $1,247.00 $5,393.00 $20,938.00 
Caterpillar 335F LCR 33.1 - 40.0 MTons $2,224.00 $9,653.00 $37,618.00 
Caterpillar 336F 33.1 - 40.0 MTons $2,269.00 $9,928.00 $38,991.00 
Caterpillar 349F 50.1 - 66.0 MTons $3,047.00 $13,428.00 $53,060.00 
Caterpillar 374F L 66.1 - 90.0 MTons $3,978.00 $17,464.00 $68,768.00 
LIGHT TOWERS 
Portable Heavy Duty Light Tower Thru 7 KW, 11.5hp, 4 Lights, 30' Tower $161.00 $807.00 $3,498.00 
LOADERS  
Caterpillar 938K 150 - 174 HP $978.00 $4,275.00 $16,809.00 
Deere 624K 175 - 199 HP $896.00 $3,931.00 $15,495.00 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

B - 4 

Equipment Description Size Class Daily 
Rate 

Weekly 
Rate 

Monthly 
Rate 

ON-HIGHWAY LIGHT DUTY TRUCKS  
4x4 1/2 Ton Ext. Cab, Gas 355 HP $296.00 $1,379.00 $5,715.00 
4x4 1/2 Ton Crew Cab, Gas 325 HP $304.00 $1,410.00 $5,829.00 
4x4 3/4 Ton Crew Cab, Diesel 440 HP $351.00 $1,620.00 $6,692.00 
4x4 1 Ton Crew Cab, Diesel 440 HP $358.00 $1,636.00 $6,744.00 
PAVEMENT BROOMS 
Broce RJ-350 80 HP Diesel $400.00 $1,590.00 $5,670.00 
Lay-Mor 6HC/8HC 37HP Diesel $300.00 $1,205.00 $4,295.00 
RUBBER TIRE BACKHOES  
Caterpillar 420FIT 14' to Under 15' $604.00 $2,643.00 $10,434.00 
TRAILERS  
Gooseneck Flat Deck   $222.00 $964.00 $3,747.00 
Utility Trailer, Non-Tilt   $74.00 $323.00 $1,260.00 
Cargo Trailer   $10.00 $50.00 $220.00 
SAWS  
Walk Behind Saw Husqvarana Model-FS400 $115.00 $491.00 $1,468.00 
Guillotine Saw E.H. Wachs 16'' Wire Saw $496.00 $1,653.00 $5,562.00 
CONCRETE MIXERS  
Mortar Mixer 9 Cubic Feet $139.00 $428.00 $1,433.00 
Mortar Mixer 3 Cubic Feet $70.00 $214.00 $717.00 
EXCAVATOR ATTACHMENTS  
Hyd Plate Compactor CAT 315 $195.00 $842.00 $3,262.00 
Compaction Wheel 54'' Sheeps Foot $112.00 $447.00 $1,595.00 
Compaction Wheel 24'' Sheeps Foot $67.00 $268.00 $957.00 
MISC  
Test Ball 24''-48'' $288.00 $577.00 $1,731.00 
Mitzer Rock Box 12 CY $249.00 $498.00 $1,493.00 
Hydro Test Pump   $172.00 $549.00 $1,487.00 
Road Plate 8'x10' $47.00 $94.00 $283.00 
Road Plate 8'x20' $68.00 $135.00 $406.00 
Offroad Man Lift   $331.00 $1,656.00 $7,176.00 
Welder (Gas Powered) Single - Pipe/Tube $183.00 $917.00 $3,975.00 
Vacuum Locator   $928.00 $4,642.00 $20,113.00 
Forklift - Propane Powered   $520.00 $1,206.00 $2,808.00 
Utility Vehicle/ATV 2 Seater - Gas $205.00 $1,027.00 $4,449.00 
TRENCH BOXES  
Steel 8X8 $133.00 $265.00 $796.00 
Steel 8X10 $133.00 $265.00 $796.00 
Steel 20X4 $156.00 $311.00 $934.00 
Steel 20X8 $259.00 $518.00 $1,555.00 
Steel 26X4 $249.00 $498.00 $1,493.00 
Steel 26X6 $262.00 $523.00 $1,570.00 
Steel 26X8 $319.00 $638.00 $1,915.00 
Steel 12X10 $213.00 $426.00 $1,279.00 
Steel 12X4 $133.00 $265.00 $796.00 
Steel 12X6 $156.00 $311.00 $934.00 
Steel 24X4 $191.00 $383.00 $1,149.00 
Steel 8X8 $133.00 $265.00 $796.00 
Steel 10X8 $133.00 $265.00 $796.00 
Aluminum Build A Box 10X10 $383.00 $766.00 $2,297.00 
Aluminum Build A Box 8X8 $255.00 $511.00 $1,532.00 

End of Exhibit B 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 1 

Table of Contents: 

I. General Safety Requirements, Contractor Parking and Access, Break Areas 
II. Construction Site Minimum Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”) and Clothing Requirements 
III. Reserved 
IV. Asbestos/Cadmium or Lead/CFCs 
V. Confined Spaces 
VI. Hazardous and Chemical Waste Disposal 
VII. Electrical Safety Policy 
VIII. Lock out/Tag out (“LOTO”) 
IX. Fall Protection 
X. Aerial Work Platforms (“AWP”) 
XI. Ladders 
XII. Trenching and Excavation 
XIII. Utility Locates 
XIV. Mobile Cranes 
XV. Heavy Equipment Operations 
XVI. Diving Operations 
XVII. RCES Power Outage Scheduling Requirements for Contractors 

 
Definitions: 
The following is a list of defined terms and their corresponding meaning as they appear within this 
document: 

Contractor: The word, Contractor, as it appears within this document, means the Contractor or the 
Consultant as named and as defined within the Agreement.  The Contractor’s, rights, privileges, duties and 
obligations, as set forth herein also apply to each of its Sub-contractors and Sub-subcontractors and the 
suppliers of each and to the Consultant and each of its Sub-consultants and Sub-subconsultants and the 
suppliers of each. 
Owner: The word, Owner, as it appears within this document, means the Owner, acting on its own behalf, 
or the Owner’s Representative, acting on the Owner’s behalf, each as named and defined within the 
Agreement, together with their designated representative(s). 

 I. GENERAL SAFETY REQUIREMENTS, CONTRACTOR PARKING AND ACCESS, BREAK AREAS  
The Owner is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a safe work environment on all of its sites. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is obligated to strictly abide by the safety regulations and requirements 
set forth within these Special Contract Conditions.  Flagrant disregard for safety regulations and 
requirements by the Contractor may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
suspension of all relevant work activities and permanent removal of the responsible party, individual 
(or both) from the Owner’s property. 

All workers must maintain appropriate and respectful behavior at all times. The following behaviors 
are not allowed and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate removal from 
the property: 

a) Fighting 
b) Horseplay 
c) Possession of firearms 
d) Possession/use of alcohol/drugs 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 2 

Work performed must be planned and communicated prior to starting and must incorporate safety 
into the planning. This shall take the form of a Project Site-Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”), a hazard 
analysis, pre-task planning, etc. The type of planning used should be based on the complexity of 
the project and the associated safety hazards. Do not begin work before safety measures are in 
place and training is complete. Any changes to the PSSP must be communicated to the Owner. 
All workers, including managers and supervisors, shall have the proper training and instruction on 
general safety requirements for the project as well as any task or equipment specific training 
required to complete the project. This also includes temporary workers. Awareness-type training is 
not sufficient where task or equipment specific training is required. 
No one shall knowingly be permitted to work while their ability or alertness is so impaired by 
fatigue, illness, or other cause that they may expose themselves or others to injury. 
All jobsite emergencies shall be reported immediately. For fire or medical emergencies, call 911 
and ask for District Fire Department. Report all emergencies to an immediate supervisor, the project 
manager and the Owner. 
All work-related materials must be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping exits, access ways, 
walkways and sidewalks unobstructed. Work areas must be kept as clean and free of debris as 
practicable. Trash cans must be provided for refuse. 
Smoking, “vaping”, and smokeless tobacco use will be permitted in designated areas only. The 
Owner reserves the right to designate these areas on a project. 
Workers shall not engage in any activity, including cell phone usage, which diverts their attention 
while actually engaged in performing work. This includes operating vehicles and equipment. If cell 
phone usage is the primary means of communication, then it must be used in hands-free mode. 
The use of ear buds is prohibited. 
No one shall ride in a vehicle or mobile equipment unless they are on a seat, with the exceptions 
of aerial work platforms (AWPs”) and other equipment designed to be ridden while standing. Riding 
in the back of pick-ups shall not be allowed. 
Seatbelts must be used when provided in any type of vehicle, including but not limited to, personal 
vehicles, industrial trucks, haulage, earth moving, and material handling vehicles. Seatbelts must 
also be used in a personal transport vehicle (“PTV”) if so equipped. 
Posted speed limits and other traffic signs shall be observed at all times. Stop for personnel in 
and/or entering a crosswalk as they have the right of way. 
Do not pass or drive around busses when they are loading, unloading, or stopped in a driving lane. 

Park in authorized areas only. Do not block or obstruct intersections, fire lanes or fire hydrants, 
traffic lanes, pedestrian walkways, driveways or parking lot entrances. Vehicles parked in 
unauthorized places may be towed without notice at the vehicle owner’s expense. 
Fresh drinking water must be provided at construction job sites. If a cooler is used instead of 
bottled water, then it must be maintained in a sanitary condition, be capable of being tightly closed, 
equipped with a tap, and clearly marked as to its content. Disposable cups must be provided. 
Trashcans must be provided for the disposable cups and/or bottles. 
Portable restrooms and hand washing facilities must be provided, if needed, and must be 
maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. Portable restrooms must meet Florida Administrative 
Code 64E-6.0101. The Owner reserves the right to determine the location of these facilities. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 3 

II. CONSTRUCTION SITE MINIMUM PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (“PPE”) AND CLOTHING 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but not limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific 
Safety Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(“OSHA”) and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. The Owner reserves 
the right of final decision, in its sole and absolute discretion, as to whether the PPE utilized meets 
project requirements. “Cowboy” and similar novelty hard hats are not permitted. Sleeveless shirts 
are not permitted. All high-visibility clothing is to be monitored closely to ensure that all items 
retain the protective qualities provided by the manufacturer. Vests and shirts that have become 
faded are to be replaced and shall not be worn while performing work on the Owner’s job site. 
Shirts designed to be worn by the general public, such as those endorsing sports teams or other 
products or services, even if they are yellow, green, or orange, are not considered high-visibility 
shirts and do not meet the requirements set forth herein.  In the event that any of the requirements 
set forth within this Section conflict with the requirements set forth elsewhere within this document 
or within any of the Contract Documents, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 

III. RESERVED. 

IV. ASBESTOS/CADMIUM OR LEAD/CFCs 

 A. ASBESTOS 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that Asbestos-Containing Materials 
(“ACM”) and/or Presumed Asbestos-Containing Materials (“PACM”), including without 
limitation, thermal system insulation, and sprayed on or troweled on surfacing material 
that is presumed to contain asbestos, exists or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor 
may be performing Work or services in or near areas that contain ACM and/or PACM as 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for 
communicating existing conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and 
employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner and Contractor agree 
that the quantities of ACM and/or PACM referred to in the Contract Documents are 
approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant 
to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration Asbestos Standards, 29 CFR Parts 
1910, 1915, and 1926. 

 B. CADMIUM and/or LEAD 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that cadmium and/or lead exists, 
or may exist, at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services in 
or near areas that contain cadmium and/or lead as specified in the Contract Documents.  
Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing conditions to 
all subcontractors and employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the cadmium and/or lead referred to in the Contract Documents 
are described for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant to the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration Cadmium Standard 29 CFR 1926.63 and/or Lead 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.62. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 4 

 C. CHLOROFLUOROCARBONS (“CFCs”) 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that chlorofluorocarbons (“CFCs”) 
exist, or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services 
in or near areas that contain CFCs as specified in the Contract Documents.  Should the 
Contractor’s work result in (i) any loss or release of CFCs from any source, including any 
equipment or containers, or (ii) any addition by Contractor of CFCs to any equipment or 
container, then Contractor shall provide all necessary documentation concerning such loss, 
release or addition, including the quantities of CFCs affected, to the Owner.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the quantities of CFCs referred to in the Contract Documents 
are approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification to the 
Contractor. 

 D. USE OF ASBESTOS/LEAD/CADMIUM CONTAINING MATERIALS 
Contractor shall not utilize or install any asbestos, lead, or cadmium-containing products 
on the Owner’s property or within the scope of Work or services contemplated by this 
Agreement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain appropriate Material Safety 
Data Sheets for all materials to be used, and verify that the products do not contain 
asbestos, lead or cadmium.  This requirement extends to any materials that may be 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Specification of a particular material by the Owner 
in the Contract Documents does not relieve the Contractor from its responsibility to verify 
that the specified material does not contain asbestos, lead or cadmium.  If a specified 
material does contain asbestos, lead or cadmium, then Contractor shall notify Owner 
immediately, and submit a proposed alternate material to be used in lieu of the specified 
material.  Contractor shall submit Material Safety Data Sheets for all installed products, as 
part of the As-Built package.  If Contractor installs any product containing asbestos, lead 
or cadmium, without previously obtaining the written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal of the asbestos, lead, or cadmium 
containing material. 

V. CONFINED SPACES 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that permit-required confined spaces exist 
or may exist at the Job Site and that the Contractor may be performing Work or Services in or near 
permit-required confined spaces as specified in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall fully 
comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910.146 in connection with all Work in any permit-
required confined space (“PRCS”), as defined by OSHA.  The Contractor must have a written 
confined space program when performing Permit Required Confined Space (“PRCS”) entry. 
Accordingly, site specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the 
Contractor’s Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”). In support of the Contractor’s preparation the 
PSSP, the Contractor shall obtain from the Owner the following information:  (i) the elements that 
make the space in question a permit-required confined space, including the hazards identified and 
the Owner’s experience with the space, and (ii) any precautions or procedures that the Owner has 
implemented for the protection of employees in or near any PRCS where the Contractor’s personnel 
will be working.  
The Contractor shall provide its own confined space permits when working on the Owner’s job site. 
All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they 
will be performing. This includes entrant, attendant entry supervisor, air monitoring, rescue, site-
specific training for those workers exposed to hazards posed by PRCS, but who may not be 
performing work inside of confined space or supporting confined space entry. 
Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by the Owner as a PRCS will be treated 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 5 

as such, despite whether or not the Contractor agrees or disagrees with that designation. Trenches 
may also be treated as a PRCS under certain conditions. The Owner reserves the right to designate 
any trench as a PRCS in its sole and absolute discretion.   
Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 
are met. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the Contractor may use 
alternate entry procedures for worker entry into a PRCS, however, the Contractor must first consult 
with the Owner prior to using any alternate entry procedures. 
The Owner shall provide information to the Contractor respecting any known hazards associated 
with a given PRCS.  However, it is ultimately the Contractor’s responsibility to determine, with 
reasonable certainty, the existence of any and all hazards prior to any worker’s entry into the 
confined space.  The Owner is NOT responsible for providing additional services prior to or during 
entry into a given confined space, including but not limited to: atmospheric monitoring, emergency 
response services, including rescue, attendants or entry supervisors. 

The Owner reserves the right to order the immediate discontinuation of the performance of work 
and the immediate removal of the Contractor’s personnel from a confined space if an unsafe 
condition or behavior is observed. In such instances, the space will be immediately evacuated until 
concerns are resolved to the satisfaction of the Owner. 
When both the Owner’s personnel and the Contractor’s personnel will be working in or near any 
PRCS, prior to entering such PRCS, the Contractor shall coordinate entry operations with the Owner.  
The Contractor shall inform the Owner at the conclusion of the entry operations regarding the 
PRCS program followed and regarding any hazards encountered or created within any PRCS during 
entry operations.  The Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing 
conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and to the employees thereof.   

VI. HAZARDOUS AND CHEMICAL WASTE DISPOSAL. 
All hazardous, regulated, universal and chemical wastes generated by the Contractor during the 
performance of the Work shall be managed in accordance with applicable federal, state and local law 
and regulations, including but not limited to Title 40 CFR Subchapter I, Parts 260 through 265, 273, 
279, 302; Title 49 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter A and Rule 62-730 of the Florida Administrative Code 
as applicable to "Large Quantity Generators of Hazardous Wastes".  Packaging, labeling, storage and 
disposal of such wastes shall also comply with Owner’s policies, which are available from Owner.  
Such wastes must be properly placed in U.S. Department of Transportation approved packaging, with 
appropriate markings at the time of generation.  Packages containing such wastes must be labeled 
to identify the contents, date of accumulation and the Contractor’s name and telephone number.  
Such packages must be stored at a secure location and not exposed to weather.  Upon completion 
of the Project or before 60 days has elapsed from the date of the first accumulation of wastes in each 
specific container, whichever is earlier, Contractor shall contact Owner to arrange for disposal.  Owner 
will arrange for the disposal of such wastes by Owner’s approved hazardous waste disposal vendor.  
Upon Owner’s receipt of the invoice for disposal costs, a copy of the invoice will be forwarded to the 
Contractor and Contractor shall reimburse Owner therefor. The Contractor shall be responsible for all 
packaging, storage, and labeling costs. 

VII. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 
Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Contractor’s (and 
its Subcontractor's and Sub-subcontractor's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety 
Policy (“Policy”). 
The Policy is that all electrical work shall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This Policy applies to the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 6 

subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Contractor is expected to exercise good judgment and take 
personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 
The Contractor agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor, Subconsultant, Sub-subconsultant or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized 
electrical conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state.  For systems up to 
1000V, the zero-energy state shall be verified by the Contractor and those greater than 1000V shall 
be verified by the Owner. Any work performed within six feet (6’) of systems greater than 1000V 
at a zero energy state and where there are exposed cables, all personnel shall wear a minimum of 
8cal daily wear Flash Resistant Clothing (“FRC”). 

In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, 
excluding diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing 
must first be completed by the Contractor and submitted to the Owner for approval.  The intent of 
the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the Owner prior to 
performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
• Validation for energized work 
• Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed within 

boundary, etc. 
• Work procedures 
• Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
• PPE to be utilized 
• Job work plan summary 
• A complete list of the names of all individuals involved in the work/briefing 

The Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Contract, may 
review the Contractor's, Subcontractor's, and Sub-subcontractor's safe work plan to confirm for its 
operations and the safety and wellbeing of its employees, guests and invitees that adequate 
contingency plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical 
service. 

Contractor shall establish or shall cause its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the Work based on the type of hazard present as 
called for in NFPA 70. The boundaries shall be either: 
A flash protection boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from 
the exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc 
flash to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is 
appropriate.  Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the 
appropriate PPE and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 
A limited approach boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of three feet six inches (3’6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 7 

The Contractor understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 
Policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Contractor’s 
(or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's) work without notice.  The Contractor expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this Policy constitutes a material breach of the Contract 
and may result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Contract at no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

VIII. LOCK OUT/TAG OUT (“LOTO”) 
The Contractor shall have and maintain a program consisting of energy control procedures, 
employee training and periodic inspections prior to performing Lock Out/Tag Out (“LOTO”). The 
program shall have steps for notification, shutting down, isolating, blocking and securing machines, 
applying LOTO devices, dissipating stored energy equipment or facilities to control hazardous 
energy. It shall also have steps for the removal and transfer of LOTO devices and tags. 
The Contractor must verify by testing that the machine or equipment has been isolated and secured 
from all energy sources before work begins. All affected personnel must be notified prior to starting.  
Proper PPE must be worn in accordance with NFPA70E as referenced in RCES Electrical Safety, 
latest revision. 
LOTO devices shall indicate the identity of the employee applying the device(s) as well as their 
department/company, contact number and date if the work will extend beyond one shift. A lock 
and tag must be used for all energy isolation. LOTO devices shall be standardized by color, shape 
or size and shall not be used for any other purpose. LOTO devices shall only be used for performing 
service or maintenance on equipment, not to be used for any other use. LOTO shall be performed 
only by the person(s) who are performing the servicing or maintenance. Each person performing 
LOTO must have individual locks and tags. 

Before LOTO devices are removed by the worker who applied the device(s), the work area shall be 
inspected to ensure that nonessential items have been removed, all workers have been safely 
positioned or removed, and affected workers have been notified of re-energization of the 
equipment. 
Hot tap operations for pressurized pipelines carrying natural gas, steam or water do not require 
LOTO if it is demonstrated that: 
a)  Continuity of service is essential, and 
b)  Shutdown of the system is impractical, and 
c)  Procedures are documented and followed, and 
d)  Special equipment is used to provide effective protection for workers 

Systems shall be de-energized and taken to a zero-energy state using applicable LOTO procedures 
and verified before work begins. Work on an energized system (e.g. diagnostic testing that cannot 
be performed de-energized) shall require validation accepted by the Owner and project manager. 

If an equipment/machine is not capable of accepting a lock, a tag may be used without a lock as 
long as additional means can be used to prevent accidental activation of the device (e.g., removal 
of a lever, handle, switch, or valve). 
Group LOTO is permitted when all of the following are met: 
a) A single authorized employee must assume the overall responsibility for the control of 

hazardous energy for all workers in the group. Authorized employees must have knowledge 
and training in the following: 

b) Skills necessary for the safe application, use and removal of energy-isolating devices 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 8 

c) Hazardous energy source recognition 
d) Type and magnitude of the hazardous energy sources in the workplace 
e) Energy-control procedures, including methods and means to isolate and control energy sources 
The authorized employee must communicate and implement LOTO procedures, coordinate the 
operation to all affected workers, and verify that all LOTO procedural steps have been taken. 
Each worker must affix their own personal LOTO device and tag to the group LOTO device or group 
lockbox before work begins. 
The authorized employee must not remove the group LOTO device until each worker in the group 
has removed their personal LOTO device. The authorized employee will be the first lock on and the 
last lock off unless their responsibilities have been handed over to another authorized employee. 
The authorized employee must make sure that there is a continuity of LOTO protection during a 
shift change. It is the responsibility of the oncoming worker to verify the machine, equipment or 
facilities is still in a zero-energy state. If there will be a lapse in time between the outgoing worker 
removing their LOTO device and the oncoming worker placing their LOTO device, the oncoming 
authorized employee must repeat the LOTO process and place their personal LOTO device on the 
machine, equipment or system. 
In the event that a worker leaves the jobsite without removing their LOTO device and cannot be 
located, and it is necessary to restore the equipment to its normal operating state, the LOTO device 
may be removed after all of the following have been completed: 
a)  Contractor has had no success in contacting the worker to determine if they are available to 

remove the LOTO device. 
b) Contractor’s supervisory personnel, the authorized person, and the Owner have determined 

that it is safe to re-energize the machine, equipment or facility. 
c)  The authorized person has notified all affected individuals that the machine, equipment or 

facility is being reenergized. 
d)  After removal of the LOTO device, the Contractor must notify the worker whose lock was 

removed, prior to their return to work, that their LOTO device was removed and the machine, 
equipment or facility has been reenergized. 

When the Contractor is performing work on existing machines, equipment or facilities owned and 
operated by the Owner, the Owner’s responsible Project/Engineering Management and responsible 
Contractor supervisory personnel shall inform each other of their respective LOTO programs. The 
Owner reserves the right to determine if the Contractor’s LOTO program meets the Owner’s 
requirements. 

IX.  FALL PROTECTION 
The Contractor shall provide training to all affected workers regarding the proper use of fall 
protection systems. Workers using fall protection improperly (e.g. harness slightly loose, D-ring in 
the wrong position on the back, etc.) can correct the condition and then continue working. 
Repeated misuse or misuse which results in an extremely hazardous condition (e.g. using an 
improper anchor point, using the wrong type or length of lanyard, etc.) will be considered cause 
for the Owner to demand an immediate stop to the performance of all related work (hereinafter 
deemed a “STOP WORK” condition), and the Contractor shall then immediately discontinue the 
performance of such work. When workers are observed being exposed to an unmitigated fall 
hazard, it will also be considered a STOP WORK condition. Work will not resume until the Contractor 
has reevaluated the situation and developed corrective measures to ensure the hazard(s) will not 
occur again. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 9 

Fall restraint systems shall be used instead of fall arrest systems whenever feasible. These systems 
allow a person to reach an area to perform their duties but prevent them from reaching a point 
where a fall could occur. 
Self-retracting lifelines or lanyards (“SRLs”) must be anchored at the height of the harness D-ring 
or above. It should be positioned directly overhead in order to prevent swing falls. When it isn’t 
feasible to anchor overhead, and anchorage is only possible below the D-Ring, then fall protection 
equipment specifically designed for that application must be used. All SRLs must be used in 
accordance with the SRL manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Contractor shall use anchorage connection points designated by the Owner when available. If 
no such designated anchorages are available, then the Contractor’s qualified person must select 
structures suitable as fall protection anchorage points for their workers. 
Fall protection is not required when using portable ladders unless the ladder cannot be placed to 
prevent slipping, tilting or falling. If ladders must be used under these circumstances (e.g. lifts are 
not feasible), a Personal Fall Arrest System (“PFAS”), independent of the ladder, must be used. 
Working height on portable ladders is limited to twenty-five feet (25’). 
The use of a ladder, or similar, in close proximity (i.e., ladder length plus 4 feet) to a guardrail or 
parapet may create an exposure to the fall hazard. Fall protection must be provided by raising the 
height of the guardrail/parapet or a PFAS, independent of the ladder, must be used. Ladders or 
work platforms with a built-in guarded work platform do not require additional fall protection. 
Workers shall be protected from falling into excavations five feet (5’) or more in depth. 

Slopes with an angle of measure from horizontal grade that exceed 40⁰ require the use of fall 
protection. 
Fall protection is required for work conducted six feet (6’) or more above water. Where fall 
protection completely prevents falling into the water, personal flotation devices (“PFDs”) are not 
required. 

X. AERIAL WORK PLATFORMS (“AWP”) 
All operators must be trained in safe and proper AWP operation. Training documents must be 
provided to the Owner immediately upon the Owner’s request.  
Written permission from the manufacturer is required before modifications, additions or alterations 
can be made to an AWP. 
Operators shall be responsible for following the requirements of the AWP operating manual and 
ensuring that the vehicle is in proper operating condition. Operators shall immediately report any 
item of non-compliance to a supervisor for corrective action. AWPs that are not in proper operating 
condition shall be immediately removed from service until repaired. The key shall be removed from 
the vehicle and a tag shall be attached to the control panel to identify the machine as “out of 
service” the vehicle shall not to be operated until it has been repaired. 
The primary purpose of AWP equipment is to raise personnel and necessary tools to a temporary 
height for work; the AWP shall not be used as a crane. AWP equipment is not designed to lift 
materials except on the platform and within the manufacturer’s capacity limits. Lifting items on the 
guardrails or by attaching them to the AWP equipment in any manner not approved by the 
manufacturer is strictly prohibited. 
AWP occupants shall wear a fall restraint system, which includes a safety harness along with a 
fixed lanyard or self-retracting lifeline (“SRL”) of appropriate length (e.g. 3 feet). If the AWP is 
being used at heights of 18 ft. or less, then a SRL shall be utilized. The fall restraint system shall 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 10 

be connected to an anchorage point provided by the manufacturer at all times when the AWP is in 
use.  
Transfer at Height (in or out of the basket/platform) is permitted however one hundred percent 
(100%) tie-off is required during the maneuver. 
Some AWPs are equipped with an external fall protection system. These systems are either a halo 
system or rigid rail engineered to safely allow personnel to exit the basket with 270-degree (270°) 
mobility around the basket. These systems are designed to provide an anchorage for fall arrest 
and can be used as such. Fall restraint is also an option depending upon the situation. When an 
individual is attached outside of the AWP basket, the AWP shall be emergency stopped and the 
basket shall not be moved. If an individual must reach an area that is not within the current radius 
of the attached fall protection system (harness/lanyard) they shall re-enter the AWP basket, move 
the unit to a closer location, emergency stop the AWP and then exit the basket to perform the 
given task from the new location.  

XI.  LADDERS 
Consideration must be given to the method of transporting tools and materials to the work location. 
Workers are not permitted to hand-carry items up the ladder. Hands must be free to climb the 
ladder. 
Ladders placed in areas such as passageways, walkways, doorways or driveways, or where they 
can be displaced by workplace activities or traffic should be barricaded to prevent accidental 
movement. 

Never place a ladder in front of doors unless the door is locked and access is controlled. 

Never climb the back-bracing of a step/A-frame ladder unless it is a twin (double-sided) ladder. 
Only one person is permitted on a ladder at a time, unless it is designed for two-person use. 

Do not use ladders as scaffold. 
All manufacturer stickers/labels must be affixed and in readable condition. 
Prior to each use, the Contractor must visually check the ladder for the following: 
a) Free of cracks, splits, and corrosion. 
b) Steps/rungs free of oil/grease. 
c) Steps/rungs firmly attached to side rails. 
d) Steps/rungs not bent. 
e) Safety feet/base and other moveable hardware in good working condition. 
f) Ropes/pulleys in good condition (extension ladders). 
Temporary fixes shall not be used to make repairs to a damaged ladder. Any repair to a ladder 
must be with manufacturer approved parts or kits. Any accessories used with a ladder must be 
approved by the manufacturer. 
Work shall not be performed from a permanent fixed ladder unless a fall protection system, such 
as a ladder climbing device, is installed and used. 
Extension, straight, and portable ladders cannot be made of wood (except job-made ladders on 
construction sites); fiberglass is preferred. Ladders made of aluminum cannot be used for electrical 
work or near energized equipment. 

The working height for an extension shall be limited to under 25 feet.  
Workers shall not sit, kneel, step, or stand on the pail shelf, top cap, or the first step below the top 
cap of an A-frame/step ladder. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 11 

If ladders are used within 1.5 times their height to a leading edge or drop in elevation (measured 
horizontally), fall protection devices must be used. 
Do not use an A-frame/step ladder to transition to another elevated work surface unless it has 
been specifically designed for this. 
Use ladders correctly. Do not over-reach. Prevent belt buckles from extending outside the side rails 
of the ladder. A-frame/step ladders should be used only for front-facing work. Do not perform 
“side-load” work. 

XII. TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION 

Utility locate tickets must be obtained prior to breaking ground by each and every contractor 
performing trenching/excavation and the operator performing the trenching/excavation must have 
reviewed the ticket. Third party locates may also be required for trenching/excavations located 
beyond the utility provider’s service point.  
All soil shall be considered as Class C soil. Class A and B soils do not exist on property. All sloping 
of trenches must be at a 1.5:1.0 ratio. Benching is not allowed in Class C soil.  
Any shoring, bracing, shielding or trench boxes used must be in good condition. Tabulated data 
must be made available upon request.  
Trenches or excavations that have a hazardous atmosphere or the potential to contain a hazardous 
atmosphere must be monitored by the competent person and may have to be treated as a confined 
space if appropriate.  
The Contractor must provide appropriate barricades to protect people from falling or driving into 
the trench or excavation.  Lighted and/or reflective barricades are preferable at night. Caution tape 
is not a sufficient barricade.  
Barricades must be placed at least six feet (6’) from the edge of the trench or excavation.  Trenches 
and excavation that are left open and unattended shall be barricaded until work resumes. These 
barricades shall be checked at least daily to assure no changes have occurred. 

XIII. UTILITY LOCATES 

Routine Locate Tickets: 
The Contractor must request the locate ticket a minimum of three (3) full business days before 
digging. 
If the dig site is in an area that is under water, the Contractor must call for the locate ten (10) full 
business days before digging. 
Locate ticket requests can be submitted anytime on-line at Sunshine One but must be submitted 
to Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) between 7:00 AM and 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, 
excluding weekends and holidays. 
Obtain a completed locate ticket through Sunshine State One Call of Florida (“SSOCOF”) by calling 
811. 
Call the Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. 

Provide the Sunshine One Call locate ticket number. 

Mark up the RCES supplied map to show limits of excavation. 
The Contractor is expressly forbidden from performing any excavation work until it has received 
and reviewed the RCES Utility Locate Office response and notes for utility presence, conflicts or 
special conditions. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 12 

Emergency Locate Tickets:  
An emergency is defined as any condition constituting a clear and present danger to life or property; 
a situation caused by the escape of any substance transported by means of an underground facility; 
any interruption of vital public service or communication caused by any break or defect in an 
underground facility; or any impairment of public roads or utilities that requires immediate repair 
(collectively, incident(s)), as determined by the authority having jurisdiction within the area where 
the incident has occurred. Difficulties experienced by the Contractor in properly scheduling the 
performance of planned work activities will not constitute justification for obtaining an emergency 
locate ticket. 
During the hours of 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, call the Reedy Creek Energy 
Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. Call the SSOCOF at 811 or 1-800-432-
4770. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance from 
the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
On weekdays between 4:00 PM and 7:00 AM, or Weekends and Holidays: Call the RCES Control 
Room Emergency Number at 407-824-4185. Provide the nature of the emergency and exact 
location. Contact SSOCOF at 811. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Control 
Room. The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance 
from the RCES Control Room. 
No excavation will be permitted until the excavator has submitted a Locate Ticket request and 
received clearance as described above. 
Each company that performs digging must obtain and follow their own locate ticket. The excavator 
shall have a copy of the locate ticket at the excavation site. 

Requirements must be communicated directly to the person(s) performing the digging. 
Exposed underground utilities must be protected. 

Each company must locate utilities when cutting or drilling into concrete. 

Secondary utilities must be considered when performing digging activities. 
The Contractor shall IMMEDIATELY STOP EXCAVATION if an underground facility is contacted 
(even if there is no noticeable damage) and immediately notify the Owner of such. Warning signs 
that indicate the potential of contacting a buried, underground utility include buried red concrete, 
unpainted buried concrete, wooden boards, warning tape, etc. 
It is important to understand tolerance zones. Locate marks show the approximate location of 
underground facilities. The lines can actually be located anywhere within the tolerance zone. 
Proceed cautiously when digging within 24 inches on either side of the locate marks. 
When any mechanized equipment is used within the tolerance zone, supervisory personnel shall 
be present to supervise the operation. 

XIV. MOBILE CRANES 

Operators must be certified on the specific type of crane they are operating. Certification must 
come from an accredited crane operator testing organization, such as The National Commission for 
the Certification of Crane Operators (“NCCCO”). 
A Lift Plan shall be submitted on all critical lifts and should be completed and submitted for review 
and acceptance, with the exception of emergency lifts, 72 hours, prior to lift. 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 13 

A critical lift plan is required for the following lifts: 
a) Lift is ≥ 75% of the cranes rated capacity as determined by the load chart 
b) Two or more cranes involved in the lift or adjacent to each other 
c) Hoisting personnel 
d) Lift from floating platform, barge, or vessel 
e) Any lift where boom intersects within 20 feet of monorail 
f) Any lift deemed critical by the Owner 
g) Any lift where boom intersects within 25 feet of a populated area 
A critical lift plan should include a Pre-Lift Crane Data Worksheet, step-by-step work instructions, 
a list of all personnel involved and their assignments, and a diagram of the lift and swing area. A 
3-D plan or comparable CAD rendering is preferable. A rigging plan is required to be submitted for 
critical lifts. If the crane will be set up on top of, or within 10-feet of a tunnel, manhole, or utility 
vault; or within 10-feet of a seawall, bridge, or water’s edge, Ground Bearing Pressures (“GBP”) 
for each outrigger (below the crane mats) must be submitted with the lift plan. 
The use of a crane to hoist personnel is prohibited except where it can be demonstrated that 
conventional means of reaching the work area (scaffold, ladders, aerial lifts, etc.) would be more 
hazardous or is not possible due to worksite conditions. Hoisting personnel shall comply with all 
parts of 29 CFR 1926.1431. 
The crane hook or other part of the load line may be used as an anchor for a personal fall arrest 
system where all of the following requirements are met: 
a) Approved by a qualified person 
b) Equipment operator must be at the worksite 
c) No load is suspended from the load line when the personal fall arrest system is anchored to it 

or the hook. 
Tag lines must be used for all lifts to control the load unless the use of a tag line is deemed unsafe 
or unfeasible. The decision to not use a tag line must be included in the lift plan and accepted by 
the Owner. 

All crane operations near, adjacent to, or within 10 feet of the monorail or skyway transportation 
system, require a special precautions are taken. All work must be coordinated with the Owner prior 
to commencing.  Any contact with anything associated with these systems must be reported 
immediately to the Owner. At no time will any materials be lifted over the systems. A spotter is 
required when a crane travels under the systems. 
Barricades and notices should be used to prevent people from entering the fall zone (the area 
where the load will land if dropped). No one is allowed to be under a suspended load, with the 
exception of steel workers working in accordance with 29 CFR 1926.753(d). 
In congested areas where barriers are not feasible, an audible signal (horn, whistles, etc.) must 
precede each lift to alert nearby personnel working in the proximity of the crane that the lift is in 
progress. Evening lifts may use alternative signaling methods in lieu of audible signals, if requested.  
The qualified signal person shall be the only person signaling the crane operator; however, anyone 
can signal a stop if there is a perceived emergency situation. 

XV. HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 
The operator must not wear earbuds or headphones while operating heavy equipment. These 
devices may create a distraction and may prevent the operator from hearing important sounds in 
the work area (e.g. backup alarms, evacuation horns, etc.). They do not serve as hearing protection 
or attenuation which may be needed when operating heavy equipment. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 14 

Unless the cab is totally enclosed, the operator must wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) which may include safety glasses, hearing or respiratory protection. When 
exiting the cab in a construction zone, the operator must wear the required site PPE.  Seat belts 
are required at all times.  

Chase (escort) vehicles / Spotters are required when: 
a) Heavy equipment travels to and from work zones 
b) Anticipated pedestrian or vehicle traffic intrudes within the safe work zone, in the judgment of 

the operator 
c) Space is restricted, and a safe work zone cannot be maintained 
d) The back-up alarm is muted 
e) Safe movement is in question 
f) Overhead hazards are present 
The equipment shall be operated at a safe speed. Equipment inspections shall be documented and 
available upon request. 
Check the area for overhead utility lines to ensure the equipment will remain at least 10 feet away 
from the lines at all times. 
Avoid backing up the equipment unless it is absolutely necessary. Attempt to always travel forward 
if possible. Backing up the equipment usually does not present a clear field of view. 
Never allow an individual to ride on running boards or any other part of the equipment. Only the 
operator should be on the equipment. 

Maintain three points of contact when exiting or entering the vehicle. 

Never exit a running vehicle. The vehicle must be turned off if the operator is leaving the cab. 
Remove keys from unattended vehicles. 
Always park the vehicle on level ground. Lower buckets, shovels, dippers, etc. and set the parking 
brake. 

XVI. DIVING OPERATIONS 
Before conducting dive operations, a job hazard assessment shall be developed by the Contractor 
and submitted to the Owner in the form of a dive plan (“Dive Plan”). A complete Dive Plan shall be 
developed and documented for each diving operation. The primary purpose of the Dive Plan is to 
provide a written document capturing the details of the dive operations. The Owner must approve 
all Dive Plans prior to beginning the dive operations. Dive Plans shall be reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure they remain relevant for the actual diving activity and have been updated as 
warranted (i.e., staff safety concerns are conveyed, new equipment or procedures are to be 
implemented, or an injury/incident has occurred).  
The Dive Plan shall include the following:  
a) Site & project information 
b) Immediate contact name(s) and telephone number(s) 
c) Information regarding personnel involved, including the Designated Person in Charge (“DPIC”), 

dive team roles and qualifications, assignment of responsibilities and verification of training 
records, and the verification of the physical fitness of dive team members 

d) Minimum equipment requirements 
e) Sequence of basic job steps and the recommended safe operational procedures and protection.  
f) Known and/or potential hazards, including environmental, surface, overhead and underwater 

conditions and hazards, including any anticipated hazardous conditions or confined spaces 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006914 

 

 

C - 15 

g) Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operations that may interfere with the dive or 
that pose a safety hazard to dive team members (i.e., watercraft, ride vehicles, chemicals, 
potentially dangerous aquatic wildlife and other types of hazards) 

h) Limited access or penetration situations. A diver entering a pipe, tunnel, wreck, or similarly 
enclosed or confining structure, (other than a habitat).  

Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operation that may interfere with the dive or that 
pose a safety hazard to dive team members shall require that proper controls be developed, 
documented and implemented to ensure the dive area is secured from such hazards impeding 
and/or entering the area.  

A diver-carried reserve breathing supply that meets the emergency air volume requirements for 
the dive profile with a separate first and second stage regulator shall be provided to each diver for 
all diving operations.   

 
XVII. RCES POWER OUTAGE SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

Contractors shall provide a minimum three (3) week construction planning schedule to Reedy Creek 
Energy Services (“RCES”) Project Management on a weekly basis identifying all anticipated work 
including utility outages. 

a) A minimum seven (7) day notice will be required for scheduling utility outages to facilitate 
construction.  

b) Any contractor concern with available work duration window and expected task list shall 
be discussed with RCES Project Management before scheduling the utility outage.  

c) All utility outages shall be coordinated with the property owner impacted.  
d) Dates and utility outage duration shall be agreed upon between contractors, customers, 

RCES Project Management and RCES Electrical Operations.  
e) Contractors will be notified by RCES Project Management whether the requested utility 

outage schedule is approved or denied.  
f) In the event the scheduled utility outages need to be canceled due to weather, 

emergencies or customer requests, contractors will be notified, and contractors shall 
provide revised project schedule coordinating with RCES Project Management to plan for 
future power outages. 

 
 
 

END OF SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS 
 
 

End of Exhibit C 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 1 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT  
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
1.1. AGREEMENT/CONTRACT. The sum of all Contract Documents. It represents the entire and integrated 

agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, either written or oral.  The Agreement may be amended or modified only by a 
Modification, as defined below.  The Agreement shall be referred to throughout the Contract 
Documents as the “Agreement” or “Contract.” 
1.1.1. The Contract Documents consist of those documents specified in Section 33 of the 

Agreement.   
1.1.2. Modifications to the Agreement may be accomplished by:  (a) Change Order; (b) Directive; 

or (c) any other written amendment to the Agreement signed by both parties.  A Modification 
may be made only after execution of the Agreement. No Directive shall be construed as a 
Change Order or other Modification unless it expressly states. 

1.1.3. A Change Order is a written Modification executed by both parties (except in the event of a 
unilateral Change Order as herein provided) and consisting of additions, deletions or other 
changes to the Agreement.  A Change Order may be accompanied by and/or may identify 
additional or revised Drawings, sketches or other written instructions, which become and 
form a part of the Contract Documents by virtue of the executed Change Order.  Except as 
otherwise provided in Subparagraph 1.1.4., a Change in the Work, or a change in the 
Contract Time or the Contract Sum shall become the subject of a Change Order. 

1.1.4. A Directive is a written document issued by the Owner and consisting of additions, deletions, 
clarifications or other written instructions issued by the Owner with respect to the 
performance of the Work or the activities of the Contractor on the Job Site or the property 
of the Owner.  A Directive may include, but shall not be limited to, a bulletin, an engineering 
change, or other orders or instructions.  Directives may become the subject of a Change 
Order, either singularly or collectively.  Directives shall become the subject of a Change Order 
if they involve a Change in the Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum. 

1.2. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER. The person or entity having a direct contract with the Owner to design the 
Project or a portion thereof and to produce the Project Plans and Specifications or portion thereof, 
as identified in Section 13 of the Agreement or the most current Modification thereto, together with 
its subconsultants. 

1.3. CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  
The Contractor shall so designate a sufficient number of Project representatives that there shall be 
at least one authorized representative on the Job Site at all times in which the Work is being 
performed including, without limitation, a project manager (herein referred to as the "Project 
Manager") who shall at all times have authority to act (in all capacities necessary for the Work) for 
and bind the Contractor. 

1.4. JOB SITE.  The Job Site shall mean the area in which the Work is to be performed and such other 
areas as may be designated by the Owner for the storage of the Contractor's materials and 
equipment. 

1.5. OWNER.  The Owner is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  The term 
"Owner," whenever it appears in the Contract Documents, means the Owner and/or the Owner's 
Representative acting on behalf or for the benefit of the Owner (except as otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents or as the context otherwise requires); provided, however, that with respect to 
any provisions of the Agreement which require the Contractor to provide insurance for the protection 
of the Owner or to release the Owner from, or waive, any claims the Contractor may have against it, 
the term "Owner" shall mean the Owner and its supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns 
and the Owner’s Representatives and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies, and the 
officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns of each. 

1.6. OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. The Owner's Representative is the person or organization designated 
from time to time by the Owner to act as its representative as identified in Section 20 of the 
Agreement or the most current Modification thereto. 

1.7. PLANS.  Wherever the words "Plan," “Plan Set” or "Plans" are used in the Contract Documents, they 
shall be construed as having the same meaning as Drawing or Drawings. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 2 

1.8. PROJECT. The Project is the total construction of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
1.9. PROVIDE. Except as the context otherwise requires, the term "provide" means to furnish, fabricate, 

complete, deliver, install and erect including all labor, materials, equipment, apparatus, 
appurtenances and expenses, necessary to complete in place, ready for operation or use under the 
terms of the Specifications. 

1.10. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR. 
1.10.1. A Subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct contract with the Contractor to 

perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

1.10.2. A Sub-subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct or indirect contract (on any 
tier) with a Subcontractor to perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any 
materials or equipment to be incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

ARTICLE 2 - THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS. 

2.1.1. The Contractor warrants and represents that, in executing the Agreement and undertaking 
the Work, it has not relied upon any oral inducement or representation by the Owner, the 
Owner's Representative, the Architect/Engineer or any of their officers or agents as to the 
nature of the Work, the Job Site, the Project conditions or otherwise. 

2.1.2. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.  If the Contract Documents do not specifically allow the 
Contractor a choice as to quality or cost of items to be furnished, but could be interpreted to 
permit such choice, subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, they shall be construed 
to require the Contractor to furnish the best quality.  Words and abbreviations which have 
well-known technical or trade meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance 
with such recognized meanings. 

2.1.3. Where conflict exists within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the 
Contract Documents and either applicable industry standards or applicable codes, ordinances 
or other legal requirements, the more stringent requirements shall apply; otherwise, the 
following order of precedence shall be used:  the Agreement; the Scope of Work; the Special 
Conditions; the General Conditions; the Specifications; the Drawings.  If the Contractor is 
required to perform any extra or corrective Work to comply with the preceding sentence, it 
shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, and no claim shall 
result from such compliance.  Subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, large scale 
Drawings take precedence over smaller scaled Drawings, figured dimensions on the Drawings 
take precedence over scaled dimensions, and noted items on the Drawings take precedence 
over graphic representations. 

2.1.4. The organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and the 
arrangement of Drawings, are not intended to influence the Contractor in its division of the 
Work among Subcontractors or its establishment of the extent of the Work to be performed 
by any trade. 

2.1.5. The Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for any interpretations necessary 
for the proper execution or progress of the Work.  Such interpretations shall be issued in 
writing. 

2.1.6. The Contract Documents reflect conditions as they are believed to exist, but it is not intended 
or to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by or on 
behalf of the Owner that such conditions actually exist.  The Contractor shall inspect the Job 
Site and conduct any tests or surveys it deems necessary or desirable prior to the 
commencement of the Work and shall accept full responsibility for any loss sustained by it 
as a result of any variances between the conditions as shown on the Contract Documents 
and the actual conditions revealed during the progress of the Work or otherwise.  The 
Contract Sum shall in no event be increased by reason of any such variance unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

2.1.7. The Contractor shall develop and maintain current "as-built" Plans to be provided to the 
Owner in accordance with Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Owner may inspect and copy such Plans 
at any time during the course of the Work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 3 

2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP.  All Contract Documents and copies thereof furnished by the 
Owner, the Owner's Representative or the Architect/Engineer are and shall remain the Owner's 
property.  They are not to be published or used by the Contractor on any other project and, with the 
exception of one complete set for the Contractor, are to be returned to the Owner upon completion 
of the Work. 

2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER.  The provisions of this Agreement cannot be amended, modified, varied or waived 
in any respect except by a Modification signed by the Owner.  The Contractor is hereby given notice 
that no person has authority to orally waive, or to release the Contractor from, any of the Contractor's 
duties or obligations under or arising out of this Contract.  Any waiver, approval or consent granted 
to the Contractor shall be limited to those matters specifically and expressly stated thereby to be 
waived, approved or consented to and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to obtain any 
future waiver, approval or consent.  Despite any prior waiver, approval or consent as to any particular 
matter, the Owner may at any time require strict compliance with the Contract Documents as to any 
other matter. 

ARTICLE 3 - OWNER 
3.1. EASEMENTS.  The Owner shall obtain and pay for any easements required for permanent structures. 
3.2. ACCESS. The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work at each and every stage of preparation 

and progress.  The Contractor shall provide facilities (including, without limitation, roadways) for 
such access. 

ARTICLE 4 - THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 
4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS. Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner's Representative and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that the Owner's Representative shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations 
of the Contractor to the Owner as imposed by the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, 
the Owner's rights pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. and Articles 10 and 11 of these General Conditions). 

4.2. ROLE.  Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, and until the Contractor is notified 
in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and 
instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall 
be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner's Representative in the name of 
and on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner's Representative) 
shall be solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the 
Contractor hereunder.  If the Owner's Representative is an organization, then it shall, in turn, act 
through such person or persons as it may designate in writing from time to time.  Only those so 
designated are authorized to grant on behalf of the Owner any approval, consent or waiver with 
respect to the Contract Documents or the Work, or to otherwise act for the Owner in any capacity 
whatsoever. 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACTOR 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. In addition to the representations contained in Section 11 of 

the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that prior to execution of the Agreement it has 
thoroughly reviewed and inspected the Contract Documents. The Contractor further acknowledges 
that it has satisfied itself regarding any error, inconsistency, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, 
insufficiency of detail or explanation and has assured itself of the adequacy and accuracy of each of 
the Contract Documents, as well as the compatibility of any combination thereof, as they relate to 
one another and to the scope of Work and the Schedule.  The Contractor hereby warrants and 
represents to the Owner that the Contract Documents are suitable and adapted for the Work and 
guarantees their sufficiency for their intended purpose.  The Owner shall not be responsible or liable 
to the Contractor for, and the Contractor hereby waives, any claims for changes, delays, 
accelerations, inefficiencies, impacts, and any other costs, damages, losses, or expenses of any 
nature whatsoever, resulting from any error, inadequacy, inaccuracy, inconsistency, insufficiency, 
unsuitability, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, or insufficiency of detail or explanation in the Contract 
Documents. The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work at any time without approved 
Contract Documents or, where required, shop drawings, product data, or samples, for such portions 
bearing the A/E's appropriate action stamp.  Work performed in violation of this provision shall be at 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 4 

the Contractor's risk.  Nothing in this Paragraph 5.1. shall in any way limit the effects of Section 11 
of the Agreement. 

5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 
5.2.1. The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using its best skill and attention. The 

Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, coordination, scheduling (subject to Article 8) and procedures, for all cleanup 
and for all safety and weather precautions and programs, in connection with the Work. 

5.2.2. The Contractor shall employ a competent Project Manager and necessary assistants who 
shall be in attendance at the Job Site during the progress of the Work and who shall be 
satisfactory to the Owner. The Contractor shall remove any of its employees or agents 
(including, without limitation, the Project Manager) from the Project upon instruction from 
the Owner.  The Project Manager shall not be changed except with the consent of the Owner 
unless the Project Manager ceases to be in the Contractor's employ.   

5.2.3. The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its employees.  
It shall also be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors, their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the 
Work, in the same manner as if they were the acts and omissions of persons directly 
employed by the Contractor. 

5.2.4. The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the Owner in its administration 
of the Contract, including, without limitation, by any inspections or tests required or 
performed under Paragraph 5.7., or by approvals or other similar action with regard to shop 
drawings or submittals (of any type), or by the activities of persons other than the Contractor 
with respect to the Project.  Further, notwithstanding the fact that a dispute, controversy or 
other question may have arisen between the parties hereto relating to the execution or 
progress of the Work, the interpretation of the Contract Documents, the payment of any 
monies, the delivery of any materials or any other matter whatsoever, the Contractor shall 
not be relieved of its obligations to pursue the Work diligently under the Contract Documents 
pending the determination of such dispute, controversy or other question. 

5.2.5. The Contractor shall establish, implement and supervise the submission of shop drawings 
and other submittals (of any type) in accordance with the Schedule and any Milestones.  The 
Contractor shall note any variances between any such shop drawings or other submittals and 
the Contract Documents for the benefit of the Owner at the time of submission. 

5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. 
5.3.1. The Contractor shall, if so directed by the Owner, cause any or all materials and equipment 

to be manufactured in advance, and be warehoused either at the factory or elsewhere at the 
Contractor's cost.  The Contractor shall cause all materials and equipment to be delivered to 
the Job Site in accordance with any schedule or schedules therefor established from time to 
time and approved by the Owner and, in any event, in a manner which will assure the timely 
progress and completion of the Work but will not encumber the Job Site unreasonably.  
Materials delivered to the Job Site for incorporation in the Work shall not be removed from 
the Job Site without the consent of or unless directed by the Owner. 

5.3.2. The Owner may, from time to time during the performance of the Work and without any 
liability or obligation whatsoever to the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors, direct the Contractor to relocate, or cause to be relocated, to any other 
location on or off the Job Site, as designated by the Owner, any materials, equipment, office 
or storage trailers, storage sheds or the like brought onto the Owner's property by the 
Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, with which directions the 
Contractor shall promptly comply.  Should such relocation not be completed within the time 
therefor established by the Owner, the Owner may accomplish such relocation and offset the 
costs incurred by it in accomplishing the same against any amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor. 

5.3.3. The Contractor shall give, or shall require its Subcontractors and their Sub-subcontractors to 
give, full and accurate quality, performance and delivery status reports, in a form satisfactory 
to the Owner, regarding any materials and equipment, or such other data with respect 
thereto as may be requested by the Owner, and shall obtain for the Owner the written 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 5 

assurances of any manufacturer that its material or equipment is designed, and appropriate, 
for the use intended. 

5.4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the Owner that all materials and equipment furnished under 
this Agreement shall be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work shall be of good quality, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents.  All Work not so 
conforming to these standards may be considered defective.  This warranty is not limited by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.2. of these General Conditions or Section 30 of the Agreement.  All 
warranties and guarantees from Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (including, without limitation, 
manufacturers) shall be assignable to the Owner regardless of whether it is so stated therein, and 
the Contractor agrees to assign all such warranties and guarantees to the Owner and deliver them 
pursuant to Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph shall survive the 
expiration or sooner termination of the Contract. 

5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS. 
5.5.1. The Contractor shall pay, or cause to be paid, all import duties and sales, consumer, use, 

excise, value added and ad valorem taxes required to be paid in connection with the Work 
or upon materials, tools or equipment brought to the Job Site or used in the Work.  If any of 
the foregoing taxes are not paid in a timely manner, the Owner may withhold the amount of 
any such taxes from any amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract Documents, 
submit the amount so withheld to the appropriate taxing authority on behalf of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors and offset said amount against the Contract 
Sum. 

5.5.2. The Contractor shall secure and pay for all governmental fees, permits and licenses which 
the Owner is not specifically required to provide and pay for under the Contract Documents. 

5.5.3. The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees incident to the use of any invention, 
design, process or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others, 
all of which shall be deemed included in the Contract Sum.  The Contractor shall not 
unlawfully use or install any patented or copyrighted article, and any such unlawful use or 
installation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay 
all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions for infringement of, or otherwise related 
to, any patent rights or copyrights, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  In the event of any injunction or legal action arising out of 
any such infringement which has the effect of delaying the Work, the Owner may require 
the Contractor to substitute such other articles of like kind as will make it possible to proceed 
with and complete the Work, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne 
by the Contractor. 

5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Contractor shall, at its cost and expense, comply with each and every 
Federal, state and local law, ordinance, code, rule and regulation, as well as the lawful order or 
decree of any public or quasi-public authority, bearing on the performance of the Work specifically 
including, but not limited to, those specified in Subparagraph 10.1.2., and all applicable building 
codes.  It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to familiarize itself with all of the same, and 
any performance of the Work by or on behalf of the Contractor which is not in compliance therewith 
shall be at the Contractor's sole risk and expense.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner prior to 
execution of the Agreement (and, without limiting the duty of such prior notice, continuously 
thereafter) of any instances where the Contract Documents are, or where the Contractor believes 
the Contract Documents are, not in compliance with the same. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 6 

5.7. TESTS. 
5.7.1. If the Contract Documents, or any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or any orders or 

decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having jurisdiction, or common practice in the 
industry, require or dictate that the Contractor have any portion of the Work inspected, 
tested or approved, the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if 
practicable) of its readiness and of the date arranged so that the Owner may observe such 
inspection, testing or approval.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of such inspections, tests 
and approvals except as otherwise specified. 

5.7.2. The Owner may require any special inspection, testing or approval of the Work not included 
under Subparagraph 5.7.1., or any more stringent inspection, testing or approval thereof, in 
which event it shall instruct the Contractor to order such inspection, testing or approval, and 
the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if practicable) as in 
Subparagraph 5.7.1.  If such inspection or testing reveals any failure of the Work or the 
performance thereof to comply with the more stringent of:  (a)  the requirements of the 
Contract Documents;  (b)  applicable industry standards; or  (c)  applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, regulations or orders or decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having 
jurisdiction, or reveals any defect in the Work, the Contractor shall bear the costs of such 
inspection or testing and all costs to correct the Work to the satisfaction of the Owner, which, 
if incurred by the Owner, may be offset by the Owner against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If such inspection or testing proves that the Work was performed 
properly, the Owner shall bear the costs of such inspection or testing. 

5.7.3. Required certificates of inspection, testing or approval shall be secured by the Contractor 
and promptly delivered by it to the Owner. 

5.8. CONTRACTOR - GENERAL.  The duties and responsibilities of the Contractor as set forth in this Article 
5 are in addition to, and not in lieu of, other duties and responsibilities of the Contractor enumerated 
elsewhere in these Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 - SUBCONTRACTORS 
6.1. SUBCONTRACTORS - GENERAL.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner or the Owner's Representative and any Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor.  However, it is acknowledged that the Owner and Owner's Representative are 
intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
related to the Work and the Project. 

6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS. 
6.2.1. The Contractor shall, prior to awarding any subcontract, notify the Owner in writing of the 

names of all Subcontractors proposed for the several parts of the Work and shall include with 
any such notice the completed insurance information form and any insurance certificates 
required by this Agreement for any proposed Subcontractor.  The Owner may also require 
such lists and information regarding any proposed Sub-subcontractors.  The Contractor shall 
also advise the Owner in writing of any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor with which it 
shares any business relationship or financial interest, and of the nature and extent of any 
such relationship or interest.  No Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be engaged if 
objected to by the Owner; provided, however, that if the Owner does not take exception to 
a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor in writing within fifteen (15) days of its receipt of such 
notification, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be deemed acceptable to the 
Owner.  The Owner shall not be liable to the Contractor in any manner arising out of the 
Owner's objection to a proposed Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  The Contractor shall 
not terminate the employment of a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor engaged in the Work 
prior to the expiration of that subcontract without good cause shown and the Owner's prior 
approval after reasonable notice of the Contractor's intent to so terminate. 

6.2.2. The Owner may, without any responsibility or liability whatsoever, require the Contractor to 
utilize any person or organization for any portion of the Work as a Subcontractor or a Sub-
subcontractor (herein referred to as a "Nominated Subcontractor" or "Nominated Sub-
subcontractor") provided the Owner gave notice of its intention to so nominate any such 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor prior to execution of the Agreement. The Contractor 
shall assume full responsibility for any such Nominated Subcontractor or Nominated Sub-
subcontractor. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 7 

6.2.3. In the event the Owner and Contractor agree that the Owner may participate in any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor procurement activities, provided the Owner has 
informed the Contractor and allowed the Contractor the opportunity to participate and concur 
with such activities, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the results of any such 
activities including, without limitation, full responsibility for the Subcontractors' or Sub-
subcontractors' awarded portions of the Work as a result thereof. 

6.2.4. The Owner may assign to the Contractor any contracts or purchase orders entered into 
between the Owner and any other person or organization in any way related to the Project 
or the Work, at any time, in which event the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for 
such person or organization and its portion of the Work as if such person or organization was 
originally a Subcontractor.  Such assignment may occur by Change Order or other 
Modification to the Agreement, and any increase in the Contract Sum shall be governed by 
Article 12. 

6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS. 
6.3.1. All subcontracts and sub-subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract and sub-

subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement and shall incorporate the terms and 
conditions hereof to the full extent applicable to the portion of the Work covered thereby.  
Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the Owner, to be bound by, and to require 
each of its Sub-subcontractors to be bound by, such terms and conditions to the full extent 
applicable to its portion of the Work. 

6.3.2. Each subcontract shall provide for its termination by the Contractor if, in the Owner's opinion, 
the Subcontractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents insofar 
as the same may be applicable to its portion of the Work; and each Subcontractor shall be 
required to insert a similar provision in each of its  sub-subcontracts.  In the event of any 
such failure by a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to comply with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, as the case may be, shall, 
upon the Owner’s request, be removed immediately from the Work and shall not again be 
employed on the Work.  Any such failure (specifically including, without limitation, a failure 
to pay for labor (including applicable fringe benefits) or materials) by a Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or 
utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for 
and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or 
otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner. 

6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS. 
6.4.1. Unless the Owner otherwise agrees or the Contract Documents otherwise provide, the 

Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, upon receipt of payments from the Owner, an 
amount equal to the percentage of completion allowed to the Contractor on account of such 
Subcontractor's portion of the Work, less a percentage thereof equal to the percentage 
retained from payments to the Contractor.  The Contractor shall also require each 
Subcontractor to make similar payments due to any Sub-subcontractor. 

6.4.2. If the Owner fails to approve a Contractor's Application for Payment, as hereinafter provided, 
for any cause which is the fault of the Contractor and not the fault of a particular 
Subcontractor, the Contractor shall nevertheless pay that Subcontractor for its portion of the 
Work to the extent completed, less the retained percentage, such payment to be made no 
later than the date payment to the Contractor would otherwise have been made by the 
Owner. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 8 

6.4.3. The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor its proper share of any insurance monies 
received by the Contractor under Article 11, and it shall require each Subcontractor to make 
similar payments due to a Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 7 - SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS. The Owner reserves the right to award other 

contracts in connection with the Project or other work on the Job Site on any terms and conditions 
which the Owner may from time to time determine in its sole discretion (hereinafter referred to as 
"Separate Contracts"; and such other contractors are hereinafter referred to as "Separate 
Contractors"). 

7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS. 
7.2.1. The Contractor shall afford all Separate Contractors and the Owner reasonable opportunity 

for the introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and for the execution of 
their work and shall properly cooperate, connect and coordinate the Work with such other 
work as shall be in the best interest of the Project as determined by the Owner. 

7.2.2. If the execution or result of any part of the Work depends upon any work of the Owner or 
of any Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with the Work, inspect 
and promptly report to the Owner in writing any apparent discrepancies or defects in such 
work of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor that render it unsuitable for the proper 
execution or result of any part of the Work.  Failure of the Contractor to so inspect and report 
shall constitute an acceptance of the Owner's or Separate Contractor's work as fit and proper 
to receive the Work, except as to defects which may develop in the Owner's or Separate 
Contractor's work after completion of the Work and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered by its inspection prior to completion of the Work. 

7.2.3. Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any Separate 
Contractor on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the 
Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work, the Contractor shall be liable for the same; and, 
in the case of a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall attempt to settle said claim with 
such Separate Contractor prior to such Separate Contractor's institution of litigation or other 
proceedings against the Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner 
may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the 
Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  Any such damage to the work 
or property of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor on the Project, or to other work on 
the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work shall 
be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional 
wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor 
in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, 
judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such damage, 
delay or interference, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to 
reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge 
all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor under the 
Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been paid or if the sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the 
Owner. 

7.2.4. Should any Separate Contractor cause damage to the Work or to the property of the 
Contractor or cause delay or interference with the Contractor's performance of the Work, the 
Contractor shall present to such Separate Contractor any claims it may have as a result of 
such damage, delay or interference (with an information copy to the Owner) and shall 
attempt to settle its claim against such Separate Contractor prior to the institution of litigation 
or other proceedings against such Separate Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the 
dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event 
the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  In no 
event shall the Contractor seek to recover from the Owner, the Owner's Representative or 
the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor hereby represents that it will not seek to recover 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 9 

from them, any costs, expenses or losses incurred by the Contractor as a result of any 
damage to the Work or property of the Contractor or any delay or interference caused or 
allegedly caused by any Separate Contractor. 

7.2.5. If a dispute arises between the Contractor and any Separate Contractor as to the 
responsibility for cleaning as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner may clean and 
charge the cost thereof to the responsible contractor, or apportion it among the several 
responsible contractors, as the Owner shall determine to be just. 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME 
8.1. DEFINITIONS. 

8.1.1. Whenever the word "day" is used in the Contract Documents, it shall mean a calendar day 
unless otherwise specifically provided. 

8.1.2. The Date of Commencement of the Work is the date established in a written notice to 
proceed.  If there is no notice to proceed, it shall be the date of the Agreement or such other 
date as may be established by the Owner in writing. 

8.1.3. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (or "Substantial Completion") is the date, 
certified by the Owner, when all construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the 
Contract Documents that the Owner may, if it so elects, occupy and use the Work or 
designated portion thereof for the purpose for which it was intended.  

8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING. 
8.2.1. All times and dates stated in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, those for 

the Commencement, prosecution, Milestones, Substantial Completion and final completion 
of the Work and for the delivery and installation of materials and equipment, are of the 
essence of the Contract. 

8.2.2. The Contractor shall begin the Work on the Date of Commencement and shall perform the 
Work diligently, expeditiously and with adequate resources so as to meet all Milestones and 
complete all the Work within the Contract Time. The scheduling of the Work shall be 
performed and monitored by the Contractor utilizing a method to be chosen by the Owner.  
The Contractor (and its Subcontractors, if the Owner requires) shall furnish all scheduling 
information requested by the Owner (in such form and detail as requested for the particular 
portion of the Work; herein referred to as the "Schedule" or "Schedules") within two (2) 
weeks of the Owner's request, shall revise the same from time to time thereafter when so 
requested by the Owner, and shall attend such meetings concerning scheduling as the Owner 
may call from time to time.  The Contractor shall comply with any Schedule or Schedules 
established by it and approved by the Owner, or established by the Owner with respect to 
the Commencement, performance, Milestones or completion of the whole or various portions 
of the Work.  With respect to any portion of the Work for which a Schedule has not been 
established, the Contractor shall commence such portion of the Work within three (3) days 
of the date on which the Owner directs such commencement and shall thereafter prosecute 
and complete the same with all due diligence or as otherwise directed by the Owner.  Neither 
the scheduling information submitted by the Contractor or its Subcontractors, the acceptance 
or approval thereof by the Owner nor the establishment or implementation of, or failure to 
establish or implement, Schedules by the Owner shall relieve the Contractor of its obligation 
to perform and complete the Work in a timely manner or to otherwise perform in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

8.2.3. Float or slack time associated with any one chain of activities is defined as the amount of 
time between earliest start date and latest start date or between earliest finish date and 
latest finish date for such activities, as set forth in an approved Schedule for the Work 
(assuming the critical path method is used), including any revisions or updates thereto.  Float 
or slack time is not for the exclusive use or benefit of either the Owner or the Contractor.  
However, if float time associated with any chain of activities is expended but not exceeded 
by any actions attributable to the Owner, the Contractor shall not be entitled to an extension 
in the Contract Time. 

8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME. 
8.3.1. The time during which the Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by the acts 

or omissions of the Owner, the Owner's Representative, acts of God, unusually severe and 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 10 

abnormal climatic conditions or other conditions beyond the Contractor's control and which 
the Contractor could not reasonably have foreseen and provided against, shall be added to 
the Contract Time stated in the Agreement; provided, however, that no claim by the 
Contractor for an extension of time for such delays shall be considered unless made in 
accordance with Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.2. The Owner and the Owner's Representative shall not be obligated or liable to the Contractor 
for, and the Contractor hereby expressly waives any claims against them, on account of, any 
damages, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever which the Contractor, its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, 
suspensions, rescheduling, changes in sequence, congestion, disruptions or the like, arising 
from or out of any act or omission of the Owner, or any of the events referred to in 
Subparagraph 8.3.1. above, it being understood and agreed that the Contractor's sole and 
exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of the Contract Time, but only if claim 
is properly made in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.3. Whenever, in the opinion of the Owner, the Work falls behind Schedule due to the fault of 
the Contractor, the Contractor shall, to the extent necessary to meet said Schedule, increase 
its labor force and/or provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, and Sunday and/or holiday 
work, and shall have each Subcontractor do likewise, all at no additional cost to or 
compensation from the Owner.  Further, the Owner shall have the right to offset against any 
amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor, or to be reimbursed by the Contractor for, 
any additional costs the Owner may incur as a direct result of said increase in labor force or 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 

8.3.4. The Owner may, in its sole discretion and for any reason, direct the Contractor to accelerate 
the Schedule of performance by providing overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or 
holiday work and/or by having all or any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors designated 
by the Owner provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
8.3.4.1. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by the 

Contractor's own forces pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and 
exclusive obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account 
thereof shall be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Contractor of 
the premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) for all labor utilized by 
the Contractor in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but 
not for the straight time costs of such labor, together with any Social Security and 
state or federal unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium 
time (or shift differential for any extra shifts). 

8.3.4.2. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by a 
Subcontractor pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive 
obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall 
be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Subcontractor for the 
premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) of all labor utilized in such 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but not for the straight 
time cost of such labor), together with any Social Security and state or federal 
unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium time. 

8.3.4.3. Anything in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, should the Owner's 
direction to the Contractor to accelerate the Schedule of performance pursuant to 
this Subparagraph 8.3.4. require the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's forces to work 
in excess of fifty (50) hours per week for a period in excess of four (4) consecutive 
weeks, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, for each consecutive week after the 
fourth consecutive week in which the same forces are required to work in excess of 
fifty (50) hours, an additional amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the gross 
wages of Job Site labor, less payroll costs as defined in Subparagraph 12.2.1., paid 
to such forces on account of such overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.  Such acceleration shall be referred to as 
"Extended Acceleration", and the payment described herein shall be the sole and 
exclusive remedy for such Extended Acceleration including, without limitation, all 
inefficiencies, impacts, added supervision and overhead, ripple effect or any other 
costs or expenses of any kind.  Anything in this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Owner shall have no obligation to make payments on account 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 11 

of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work ordered pursuant hereto unless:  (a)  
the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for the Owner's review and approval, duly 
authenticated time tickets evidencing the hours of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. by the end of the 
day on which performed and recapped in summary form; and  (b)  the Contractor 
shall include with its request for reimbursement a duplicate of each of the foregoing 
time tickets and such other substantiation of costs reimbursable hereunder as the 
Owner may require.  If overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work is 
performed in part pursuant to Subparagraph 8.3.3. and in part pursuant to this 
Subparagraph 8.3.4.3., the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. calling for 
payments by the Owner on account thereof shall only apply to such work performed 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. 

8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK. The Owner shall have the authority to suspend the Work, in 
whole or in part, for such periods and such reasons as it may deem necessary or desirable, in its sole 
discretion including, without limitation:  (a) unsuitable weather; (b) other conditions considered 
unfavorable for the suitable prosecution of the Work; (c) special events; and/or (d) other conditions 
considered adverse to the best interests of the Owner.  Any such suspension shall be in writing to 
the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately obey such orders of the Owner and shall not 
resume the Work until so ordered in writing by the Owner.  No such temporary suspension of the 
Work, for periods of time up to thirty (30) consecutive days, shall be the basis of a claim by the 
Contractor for any increase in the Contract Sum or for any other damages, losses, costs or expenses 
whatsoever, all of which claims the Contractor hereby expressly waives.  The Contractor shall be 
entitled to an extension of the Contract Time not to exceed the length of time that the Work was 
suspended provided the claim is submitted in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. and the suspension 
is not due to an act or omission of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 9 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE. 

9.1.1. The "Payment Application Date" shall be that day of each calendar month designated in the 
Agreement when the Contractor shall deliver the "Application for Payment," as hereinafter 
defined, to the Owner. 

9.1.2. The "Application for Payment" shall be an invoice prepared by the Contractor and submitted 
to the Owner in accordance with the Contract Documents.  It shall show in detail all monies 
properly payable to the Contractor in accordance with the previously approved Schedule of 
Values, including those items of labor, materials and equipment used or incorporated in the 
Work (and, if the Owner has agreed in advance in writing, suitably stored at the Job Site) 
through and including the Payment Application Date.  The Application for Payment shall have, 
as attachments, waivers of mechanics' and materialmen's liens by the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors as of the date of submission of the Application for 
Payment, which waivers shall conform in all material respects with the then current provisions 
of Part I, Chapter 713, Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto), and such other evidence 
of performance of the Work, the costs thereof and payment therefor as the Owner may deem 
necessary or desirable. 

9.1.3. The Contractor warrants that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by an 
Application for Payment shall pass to the Owner, free and clear of all liens, claims, security 
interests or encumbrances, upon the sooner occurrence of:  (a)  the delivery of any such 
materials or equipment to the Job Site; or (b) the tender of payment of the applicable 
Application for Payment by the Owner to the Contractor; and that no Work, materials or 
equipment covered by an Application for Payment shall have been acquired, whether by the 
Contractor or by any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, subject to an agreement under 
which an interest therein or an encumbrance thereon is retained by the seller or otherwise 
imposed by the Contractor or such other person.  The passage of title to the Owner as 
provided herein shall not alter or limit the obligations and duties of the Contractor with 
respect to the Work and the materials or equipment incorporated therein or used in 
connection therewith as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT. 
9.2.1. If the Contractor has submitted an Application for Payment in the manner prescribed in the 

Contract Documents, the Owner shall, with reasonable promptness, approve the same (or 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 12 

such portions thereof covering amounts it determines to be properly due) or shall state in 
writing its reasons for withholding its approval (whether of all or a part). 

9.2.2. The Owner's approval of an Application for Payment shall not constitute a representation by 
the Owner that the conditions precedent to the Contractor's entitlement to payment have 
been fulfilled, nor shall approval of an Application for Payment by the Owner be deemed a 
representation by the Owner:  (a) that it has made exhaustive or continuous on-site 
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work; (b)  that it has reviewed the 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, coordination or procedures, or the 
cleanliness of the Job Site, or the safety precautions and programs, in connection with the 
Work; (c) that it has made any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes the 
Contractor has used the monies previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 

9.2.3. No approval of an Application for Payment, progress payment or any beneficial, partial or 
entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall constitute an acceptance of any 
Work which is not in accordance with the Contract Documents; and regardless of approval 
of an Application for Payment by the Owner, the Contractor shall remain totally obligated 
and liable for the performance of the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. 

9.2.4. Subject to the Owner's rights to offset or withhold as set forth in these General Conditions, 
after the Owner has approved an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, it shall make 
payment of the amount approved to the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 

9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK. 
9.3.1. The Owner may withhold its approval of an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, or 

nullify the whole or any part of an approval previously given, if it determines that the 
Application for Payment covers portions of the Work which have not, in fact, been completed, 
or that it includes amounts for claims allegedly made but not actually made (or subsequently 
withdrawn),  and/or for which payment is not then due or if, and to the extent that, it deems 
it necessary or desirable to protect itself against loss or damage due to: (a) defective Work 
not remedied; (b) Contractor, Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or third party claims, 
disputes or liens or reasonable evidence indicating such claims, disputes or liens; (c) failure 
or alleged failure of the Contractor to make payments to Subcontractors (or of Subcontractors 
to make payments to Sub-subcontractors) as required by the Contract Documents, or failure 
to provide lien waivers for previous payments; (d) inability, or reasonable doubt as to the 
ability, of the Contractor to complete the Work within the Contract Time, for the unpaid 
balance of the Contract Sum or within the estimates prepared by the Contractor and 
submitted to and approved by the Owner; (e) damage to the Owner or a Separate 
Contractor; (f) unsatisfactory prosecution of the Work by the Contractor, its Subcontractors 
or Sub-subcontractors; (g) failure of the Contractor to maintain the Job Site in a clean and 
safe condition; (h) failure of the Contractor to meet any other monetary obligation imposed 
upon it pursuant to the Contract Documents; or (i) failure of the Contractor to comply with 
any other provision of the Contract Documents. 

9.3.2. The Owner after giving the Contractor appropriate notice, may make payments on account 
of labor, materials and/or equipment for the Work directly to the Subcontractors, Sub-
subcontractors or persons entitled to the same in lieu of paying the Contractor therefor or 
make joint payment to any such person and the Contractor.  Any amounts so paid shall be 
credited against the Contract Sum.  No such payment shall create any relationship between 
the recipient thereof and the Owner, nor any duty on the part of the Owner.  The Contractor 
shall cooperate with the Owner to facilitate any such direct payments and shall provide such 
evidence as the Owner may request for purposes of determining any amount to be so paid.  
If the Owner elects to make such payments as a result of a failure on the part of the 
Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract, or as a result of a request from the 
Contractor that the Owner make such payments, then the Owner may offset or credit the 
amount of its administrative costs incurred in making said such payments against the 
Contract Sum or render an invoice to the Contractor for such administrative costs, which 
invoice the Contractor shall pay promptly. 

9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT. 
9.4.1. At such time as the Contractor deems the Work to be Substantially Complete, the Contractor 

shall notify the Owner and prepare and submit to the Owner a list of items to be completed 
and/or corrected and its final bill, including itemized projected amounts for any portions of 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 13 

the Work not yet completed.  The failure to include any items on such list shall not alter the 
responsibility of the Contractor to complete and/or correct the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.  When the Owner, on the basis of an inspection, confirms the 
notification from the Contractor that the Work is Substantially Completed or, without being 
notified by the Contractor, determines that the Work is Substantially Completed, it shall 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Substantial Completion which may state 
the responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor for maintenance, heat, utilities and 
insurance and it shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, which sets forth those items determined by the Owner to require completion or 
correction, as applicable, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall complete or 
correct the items listed and complete all obligations required by the Contract Documents and 
submit to the Owner all documents and other matters required by the Contract Documents 
to be submitted by the Contractor upon completion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's 
rights or remedies under the Contract Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations 
to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The Certificate of 
Substantial Completion shall constitute a demand for an Application for Payment (including 
all costs, claims or fees for any outstanding Change Orders, or any other matter which the 
Contractor has not previously waived pursuant to the General Conditions, and itemized 
projections for any incomplete Work), and the Contractor shall be deemed conclusively to 
have waived the right to payment of any such item, fee or cost of any kind not billed to the 
Owner within thirty (30) days of delivery to the Contractor of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  The issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not constitute a 
waiver of any rights of the Owner, including without limitation the right to those retainages 
permitted by the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor does not complete and/or correct 
the items listed in the Punch List within the time fixed therein, the Owner shall have the right 
to accomplish the same and offset all costs thereof against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not 
sufficient to cover such costs, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.  The 
Owner's decision as to the Date of Substantial Completion shall be final and binding. 

9.4.2. Within a reasonable time following the Owner's receipt of written notification from the 
Contractor that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and that the Contractor 
has completed all items set forth on the Punch List, including, delivery of the final Application 
for Payment, the Owner shall make such inspection and, when the Work is found to be 
acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Agreement fully performed, shall certify 
completion of the Punch List, including approval of the final Application for Payment; 
provided, however, Owner shall not be required to certify completion of the Punch List and, 
therefore, neither final payment nor any retainage shall become due, until the Contractor 
submits to the Owner:  (a) an affidavit, in a form approved by the Owner, that all payrolls, 
bills for materials and equipment and other indebtednesses connected with the Work for 
which the Owner or its property might in any way be responsible have been paid in full or 
otherwise satisfied; (b) consent of sureties, if any, to final payment; (c) all Contract 
Documents (except one set thereof to be retained by the Contractor), including, without 
limitation, a completed set of as-builts and record documents (as defined in and to the extent 
required by the Specifications); (d) such other data as the Owner may require establishing 
payment or satisfaction of all obligations of the Contractor in connection with the Work 
including, without limitation, receipt of final satisfaction and releases and waivers of lien and 
releases of any and all claims by the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors, 
conforming in all material respects with the then current provisions of Part I, Chapter 713, 
Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto) and evidencing performance of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents; (e) a release of the Owner and its insurers from 
and against any claims under the insurance required to be provided by the Owner hereunder 
(except to the extent of any claims theretofore timely filed which are owing but unpaid) and 
a release of the Owner from and against any claims between the Contractor and a separate 
contractor; (f) any governmental certificates required by the Contract Documents or 
otherwise to evidence compliance of the Contractor and the Work with applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, codes, regulations and the Contract Documents; and (g) warranties, 
guarantees, assignments thereof, and maintenance or other manuals, required by the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 14 

Specifications in the forms approved by the Owner, in favor of the Owner and such other 
persons as the Owner may direct (notwithstanding the foregoing, by execution of the 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be deemed to have guaranteed to the Owner the matters 
contained in the attached form of guarantee incorporated by reference into the Agreement); 
and (h) a fully and  properly executed Close-out Change Order, with all of its fully and 
properly executed Exhibits, in the form attached to the Agreement. 

9.4.3. The making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims or rights by the 
Owner. 

9.4.4. The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor and 
shall constitute a general release of the Owner, the Owner's Representative and the 
Architect/Engineer by the Contractor. 

9.4.5. If any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor refuses to furnish any release, satisfaction or 
waiver of lien required at any time by the Owner under Paragraphs 9.1., 9.3. or 9.4., or files 
a claim of lien against the Owner's property, the Contractor shall, if requested by the Owner 
and at the Contractor's expense, furnish a bond (separate and apart from any other bond 
provided by the Contractor hereunder) satisfactory to the Owner to exempt the Owner and 
its property from and against any such lien.  The Contractor authorizes the Owner, and shall 
cause its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to authorize the Owner, to check directly 
with any suppliers of labor and material with respect to any item chargeable to the Owner's 
property, to confirm balances due and to obtain sworn statements and waivers of lien, all if 
the Owner so elects.  If any lien remains unsatisfied after all payments are made to the 
Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner on account of all monies that the latter 
may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and attorneys' fees. 

9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. 
9.5.1. The Owner reserves the right, at its option and convenience, to occupy or otherwise make 

use of all or any part of the Project or equipment at any time prior to completion of the Work 
upon two (2) days written notice to the Contractor (referred to herein as "Beneficial 
Occupancy").  The Owner shall use its best efforts to prevent such occupancy from interfering 
with the performance of the remaining Work; provided, however, that the Owner shall not 
be liable for any delays or additional costs of any nature caused by such occupancy. 

9.5.2. Beneficial Occupancy shall not constitute acceptance by the Owner or the Owner's 
Representative of the completed Work or any portion thereof, shall not relieve the Contractor 
of its full responsibility for correcting defective Work and repairing the Work, shall not be 
deemed to be the equivalent of completion of the Work, shall not relieve the Contractor from 
its obligation to complete the Punch List, and shall not entitle the Contractor to any increase 
in the Contract Sum. 

9.5.3. Anything in this Paragraph 9.5. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner may certify any 
portion of the Work to be occupied or used hereunder to be Substantially Completed and 
shall prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion for 
such portion of the Work.  The Owner shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the 
Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, in the form provided by the Owner, and, upon the Contractor's timely completion or 
correction of the items on the Punch List and the Owner's approval thereof, accept that 
portion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies under the Contract 
Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents.  The provisions of Paragraph 9.4., except as they relate to the 
Contractor's obligations to complete or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, shall not apply to such Partial Substantial Completion, but the provisions of 
Subparagraph 14.2.2. shall apply to the portion of the Work which the Owner certifies to be 
Substantially Completed. 

9.6. INDIVIDUAL PROJECTS.  The duties and responsibilities of the parties as set forth in this Article 9 
may be applied to individual projects issued to Contractor under the Agreement.  Each individual 
project shall follow the process outlined above with the exception of the close-out process. A close-
out change order will be issued to Contractor at the end of the Agreement and after the completion 
of all individual projects.   Individual projects, if applicable will be indicated in Section 3 and 4 of the 
Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 15 

ARTICLE 10 - PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
10.1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH. 

10.1.1. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety and 
anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and shall 
provide all protection to prevent injury to all persons involved in any way in the Work and all 
other persons, including, without limitation, the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees 
and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be affected thereby.  These precautions shall 
include, but in no event be limited to:  the posting of danger signs and personal notification 
to all affected persons of the existence of a hazard of whatever nature; the furnishing and 
maintaining of necessary traffic control barricades and flagman services; the use, or storage, 
removal and disposal of required explosives or other hazardous materials only under the 
supervision of qualified personnel and after first obtaining permission of all applicable 
governmental authorities; and the maintenance of adequate quantities of both hose and 
operable fire extinguishers at the Job Site.  The Contractor shall set forth in writing its safety 
and anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work and, if 
requested by the Owner, submit the same to the Owner for review.  The Owner may, but 
shall not be obligated to, make suggestions and recommendations to the Contractor with 
respect thereto. 

10.1.2. All Work, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and all equipment, appliances, 
machinery, materials, tools and like items incorporated or used in the Work, shall be in 
compliance with, and conform to:  (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental authority relating to the safety of 
persons and their protection against injury, specifically including, but in no event limited to, 
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, and all rules and 
regulations now or hereafter in effect pursuant to said Act; and (b) all codes, rules, 
regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating thereto.  In 
the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

10.1.3. The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization at the Job Site as 
the Project Safety Officer, whose duties it shall be to enforce the Contractor's safety and 
anti-substance abuse programs, to assure compliance with Subparagraph 10.1.2 and to 
prevent accidents.  This person shall be the Contractor's Project Manager unless otherwise 
designated in writing by the Contractor and approved by the Owner.  The Contractor shall 
further cause each of its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to designate a responsible 
supervisory representative to assist the Contractor's Project Safety Officer Representative in 
the performance of their duties as aforesaid. 

10.1.4. Should the Contractor fail to provide a safe area for the performance of the Work or any 
portion thereof, the Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to suspend Work in 
the unsafe area.  All costs of any nature (including, without limitation, overtime pay) resulting 
from the suspension, by whomsoever incurred, shall be borne by the Contractor. 

10.1.5. The Contractor shall provide to each worker on the Job Site the proper safety equipment for 
the duties being performed by that worker and will not permit any worker on the Job Site 
who fails or refuses to use the same.  The Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, 
to order the Contractor to send a worker home for the day or to discharge a worker for their 
failure to comply with safe practices or anti-substance abuse policies, with which order the 
Contractor shall promptly comply. 

10.1.6. Any failure of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be responsible, to 
comply with the provisions of Paragraph 10.1. shall be considered or deemed to be caused 
by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of 
persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work. The 
Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, 
including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions 
pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all 
damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If 
the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 16 

or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities 
under this Paragraph 10.1. should the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights 
hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any 
responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this Contract, or in any other 
manner whatsoever. 

10.1.7 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should 
the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby 
assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the 
Contractor by this Contract, or in any other manner whatsoever. 

10.2. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS. 
10.2.1. The Contractor shall, throughout the performance of the Work, maintain adequate and 

continuous protection of all Work and temporary facilities against loss or damage from 
whatever cause, shall protect the property of the Owner and third parties from loss or 
damage from whatever cause arising out of the performance of the Work and shall comply 
with the requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers and with all applicable laws, 
codes, rules and regulations with respect to the prevention of loss or damage to property as 
a result of fire or other hazards.  The Owner may, but shall not be required to, make periodic 
patrols of the Job Site as a part of its normal security program.  In such event, however, the 
Contractor shall not be relieved of its aforesaid responsibilities.  

10.2.2. Until final acceptance of the Work by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 9.4. (unless and to 
the extent otherwise set forth in a Certificate of Substantial Completion), the Contractor shall 
have full and complete charge and care of and, except as otherwise provided in this 
Subparagraph 10.2.2., shall bear all risk of loss of, and injury or damage to, the Work or any 
portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to 
be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) from any cause whatsoever.  
The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, restore and make good all losses of, and injuries or 
damages to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, 
equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) 
before final acceptance of the Work.  Such rebuilding, repair or restoration shall be at the 
Contractor's sole cost and expense unless the loss, injury or damage requiring such 
rebuilding, repair or restoration:  (a) is directly due to errors in the Contract Documents 
which were not discovered by the Contractor and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered through the exercise of due diligence; (b) is caused by the Owner (unless (i) the 
Contractor has waived its rights of subrogation against the Owner on account thereof as 
provided in the Contract Documents, or (ii) such loss or damage would be covered by any 
policy or policies of insurance which the Contractor is required to maintain hereunder, 
whether the Contractor actually maintains such insurance or not, or (iii) is otherwise covered 
by a policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor, whether or not required 
hereunder); or (c) is caused by a hazard against which the Owner is required to insure under 
the provisions of Article 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the loss, injury or damage 
would not have occurred but for the negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, the rebuilding, repair or restoration shall 
be at the Contractor's cost and expense to the extent of the deductible on said insurance. 

10.3. SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER. Surface or subsurface water or other fluid shall not be permitted 
to accumulate in excavations or under structures.  Should such conditions develop or be encountered, 
the water or other fluid shall be controlled and suitably disposed of by means of temporary pumps, 
piping, drainage lines and ditches, dams or other methods approved by the Owner in writing. The 
proposed location and coordination of temporary channels and conduits conducting accumulated 
water from the Job Site shall be submitted to the Owner for its prior written approval.  All such work 
shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 

10.4. EMERGENCIES.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, or in the event of a 
claimed violation of any federal or state safety or health law or regulation, arising out of or in any 
way connected with the Work or its performance, the Contractor shall act immediately to prevent 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 17 

threatened damage, injury or loss or to remedy said violation, whichever is applicable, failing which 
the Owner may immediately take whatever action it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, 
suspending the Work as provided in Paragraph 8.4.  Any failure by the Contractor to so act or so 
remedy a violation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure to act or 
remedy a violation, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, 
costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, 
or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the 
Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have 
already been paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover 
the items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  If the Contractor shall be entitled to any additional compensation 
or extension of time claimed on account of emergency work not due to the fault or neglect of the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, it shall be handled as a claim as provided in 
Article 13. 

10.5. CLEANUP.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Job Site clean and free from accumulation of 
waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, hazardous waste), caused by its 
performance of the Work, and shall continuously throughout performance of the Work remove and 
dispose of all such materials from the Job Site and the Project.  The Owner may require the Contractor 
to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal as the Owner 
may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the Job Site clean and 
free from such waste or rubbish, or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner 
may take such action and offset any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred 
by the Owner in undertaking such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  
The Contractor shall notify the Owner in advance of the generation, importation, storage, 
transportation or disposal, of any hazardous waste, toxic materials or contaminants of any type in 
connection with the Project.  

10.6. OWNER'S STANDARDS.  The Owner reserves the right, but assumes no duty, to establish and enforce 
standards, and to change the same from time to time, for the protection of persons and property, 
with which the Contractor shall comply, and to review the efficiency of all protective measures taken 
by the Contractor.  The exercise of or failure to exercise any or all of these acts by the Owner shall 
not relieve the Contractor of its duties and responsibilities under this Contract, and the Owner shall 
not thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any such duties or responsibilities of the 
Contractor. 

ARTICLE 11 - INSURANCE; INDEMNIFICATION 
11.1. - 11.7. COMMERCIAL INSURANCE.  Refer to Sections 6.A.-6.F. of the Agreement.  
11.8.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Refer to Section 6.G. of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
12.1. CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES.  The Owner may, without affecting the validity of the Contract 

Documents or any term or condition thereof, issue Change Orders, or Directives, or give other orders 
and instructions regarding the Work which may have the effect of ordering extra work or other 
changes in the Work by altering, adding to or deducting from the Work, modifying the method or 
manner of its performance or otherwise (herein sometimes referred to as "Changes in the Work").  
The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner.  In any such 
event, the Contract Sum shall, where applicable, be increased or decreased in the manner hereinafter 
set forth; provided, however, that if the Contractor should proceed with a Change in the Work upon 
an oral order, by whomsoever given, it shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for 
an increase in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time on account thereof.  Upon receipt 
of any such Change Order, or Directive or other order or instructions, the Contractor shall promptly 
proceed with the Change in the Work, even though the amount of any resultant increase or decrease 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 18 

in the Contract Sum has not yet been determined.  All Changes in the Work shall be performed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

12.2. CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in 
an increase in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall have the right to require the performance thereof 
on a lump sum basis, a unit price basis or a time and material basis, all as hereinafter more 
particularly described. 
12.2.1. If the Owner elects to have any Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis, its 

election shall be based on a lump sum proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a lump sum proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall be itemized and segregated by labor and materials for the various components of the 
Change in the Work (no aggregate labor total will be acceptable) and shall be accompanied 
by signed proposals of any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors who will perform any 
portion of the Change in the Work and of any persons who will furnish materials or equipment 
for incorporation therein. The portion of the proposal relating to labor, whether by the 
Contractor's forces or those of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may only include 
reasonably anticipated gross wages of Job Site labor, including foremen, who will be directly 
involved in the Change in the Work (for such time as they will be so involved), plus payroll 
costs (including Social Security, federal or state unemployment insurance taxes and fringe 
benefits in connection with such labor required by union and/or trade agreements if 
applicable) and up to fifteen percent (15%) of such anticipated gross wages, but not payroll 
costs, as overhead and profit for any such entity actually performing the Change in the Work 
or a portion thereof.  The portion of the proposal relating to materials may only include the 
reasonably anticipated direct costs to the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors (as applicable) of materials to be purchased for incorporation in the Change 
in the Work, plus transportation and applicable sales or use taxes, and up to fifteen percent 
(15%) of said direct material costs as overhead and profit for the entity actually supplying 
the materials.  The proposal may further include the Contractor's or its Subcontractor's or 
Sub-subcontractor's reasonably anticipated direct rental costs in connection with the Change 
in the Work (either actual rates or discounted local published rates), plus up to six percent 
(6%) thereof as overhead and profit for the entity actually incurring such costs.  If any of 
the items included in the lump sum proposal are covered by unit prices contained in the 
Contract Documents, the Owner may elect to use these unit prices in lieu of the similar items 
included in the lump sum proposal, in which event an appropriate deduction will be made in 
the lump sum amount prior to the application of any allowed overhead and profit 
percentages.  No overhead and profit shall be applied to any unit prices.  The lump sum 
proposal may only include up to six percent (6%) of the amount which the Contractor will 
pay to any Subcontractor, and up to six percent (6%) of the amount which a Subcontractor 
will pay to any Sub-subcontractor, for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the 
Contractor or Subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may 
be included). 

12.2.2. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis, its 
election shall be based on a unit price proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a unit price proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall itemize the quantities of each item of the Change in the Work for which there is an 
applicable unit price contained in the Contract Documents.  The quantities shall be itemized 
in relation to each specific Drawing or Scope of Work.  Unit prices shall be applied to net 
differences of quantities of the same item.  Nothing herein contained shall preclude the 
Owner from requesting a lump sum proposal and a unit price proposal with respect to the 
same Change in the Work, in which event the Contractor shall submit both. 

12.2.3. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a time and material basis, 
the same shall be performed, whether by the Contractor's forces or the forces of any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, at actual cost to the entity performing the Change in 
the Work (without any charge for  administration, clerical expense, supervision or 
superintendents of any nature whatsoever, except foremen directly involved in the Change 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 19 

in the Work, or the cost, use or rental of small tools, defined as tools with a cost or value of 
less than $1,000,  or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated 
companies), plus fifteen percent (15%) of gross wages (excluding payroll costs) of Job Site 
labor and direct material costs and six percent (6%) of rental costs (other than small tools 
or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated companies) as the 
total overhead and profit.  Only the entity actually performing the Change in the Work or a 
portion thereof shall be entitled to a mark-up as aforesaid for overhead and profit, but the 
Contractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Subcontractor, 
and a Subcontractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any 
Sub-subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be 
included), for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or 
Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall submit to the Owner daily time and material tickets, to 
include the identification number assigned to the Change in the Work, the location and 
description of the Change in the Work, the classification, names and social security numbers 
of the labor employed, the materials used, the equipment rented (not tools) and such other 
evidence of costs as the Owner may require.  The Owner may require authentication of all 
time and material tickets and invoices by persons designated by the Owner for such purpose.  
The failure of the Contractor to secure any required authentication shall, if the Owner elects 
to treat it as such, constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for the cost of that 
portion of the Change in the Work covered by a non-authenticated ticket or invoice; provided, 
however, that the authentication of any such ticket or invoice by the Owner shall not 
constitute an acknowledgment by the Owner that the items thereon were reasonably 
required for the Change in the Work. 

12.2.4. The Owner shall have no obligation or liability on account of a Change in the Work except as 
specifically provided in this Paragraph 12.2.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal 
within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 
or such longer period of time established by the Owner in its request, the Owner may issue 
a unilateral Change Order for any such Change in the Work giving the Owner's reasonable 
estimate of the cost of the Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the 
Contractor.  Overhead and profit, as allowed under this Paragraph 12.2., shall be deemed to 
cover all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including, without limitation, those 
for clean-up, protection, supervision, estimating, field operations, insurance, impacts, 
inefficiency, extended (Job Site and home office) overhead, unabsorbed (Job Site and home 
office) overhead, delays, acceleration (actual or constructive), ripple effect, small tools and 
security, which the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur 
in the performance of or in connection with a Change in the Work and which are not 
otherwise specifically recoverable by them pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 

12.2.5. The Work pursuant to this Agreement shall be performed by the Contractor at no extra cost 
to the Owner despite any order from the Owner which designates or contemplates a portion 
of the Work as a Change in the Work. 

12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in a 
decrease in the Contract Sum, the Owner may request a quotation by the Contractor of the amount 
of such decrease for use in preparing a Change Order.  The Contractor's quotation shall be forwarded 
to the Owner within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request or such longer period of 
time established by the Owner therein and, if acceptable to the Owner, shall be incorporated in the 
Change Order.  If not acceptable, the parties shall make every reasonable effort to agree as to the 
amount of such decrease, which may be based on a lump sum properly itemized, on unit prices 
stated in the Contract Documents and/or on such other basis as the parties may mutually determine.  
If the parties are unable to so agree, the amount of such decrease shall be the total of the estimated 
reduction in actual cost of the Work, as determined by the Owner's Representative in its reasonable 
judgment.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal within the time required herein, the Owner 
may issue a unilateral deductive Change Order giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the 
deductive Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the Contractor. 

12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES.  If any dispute should arise between the parties with respect to 
an increase or decrease in the Contract Sum as a result of a Change in the Work, the Contractor shall 
not suspend performance of any such Change in the Work or the Work itself unless otherwise so 
ordered by the Owner in writing.  The Owner may, however, notify the Contractor of its determination 
regarding any such Change and, in the case of an increase, may thereafter pay to the Contractor up 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 20 

to 50% of the Owner's reasonable estimate of the value of the Change in the Work as its sole 
obligation with respect to any such Change pending resolution of the dispute.  The Contractor shall 
thereafter be subject to the terms of Paragraph 13.2. regarding its claim for any difference. 

12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS.  The Contractor shall afford, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to afford, access to the Owner at all reasonable times to any accounting books and 
records, correspondence, instructions, invoices, receipts, vouchers, memoranda and other records of 
any kind relating to the Work, all of which each of them shall maintain for a period of at least four 
(4) years from and after the Date of Substantial Completion.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall make the same available for inspection, copying and audit, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting standards, within three (3) days following notification 
to the Contractor of the Owner's intent to audit, failing which any claims for an increase in the 
Contract Sum and/or extension of the Contract Time, as applicable, shall be waived. 

ARTICLE 13 - CLAIMS 
13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME.   No claim by the Contractor for an extension of the 

Contract Time or any Milestones shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 
13.1.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time or any Milestones 
as a result of any condition or cause, unless it shall have given written notice to the Owner pursuant 
to Paragraph 16.3. promptly, but in any event within fourteen (14) days following the commencement 
of each such condition or cause and stating the probable duration of the condition or cause and the 
Contractor’s request for an extension of time.  The Contractor shall deliver to the Owner, within thirty 
(30) days after the commencement of each condition or cause for which the Contractor has submitted 
a request for extension of time, supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s request, 
including, without limitation, an analysis showing the actual impact of the condition or cause on the 
Schedule and the critical path of construction activities, plus any other documentation or information 
as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s request.  
The Contractor hereby waives any claims for any such extensions not timely made or timely 
substantiated in accordance herewith.  If the Contractor timely makes any such claim and the parties 
are unable to agree as to whether or not the Contractor is entitled to an extension of time or the 
length of such extension regarding such claim, the Owner's Representative may, but shall not be 
required to, ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and determine and fix an extension of 
the time for completing the Work. 

13.2. CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM. 
13.2.1. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 12.2., no claim by the Contractor for an increase 

in the Contract Sum shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 13.2.  
The Contractor shall give the Owner written notice pursuant to Paragraph 16.3. of any such 
claim promptly, but in any event not later than fourteen (14) days after the occurrence of 
the event giving rise to the claim (including, without limitation, any Owner determination 
pursuant to Article 12.4.), but (except in the event of emergencies pursuant to Paragraph 
10.4.) prior to the incurring of any expenses by the Contractor.  Failure to give such notice, 
or to provide substantiation thereof as required below, shall constitute a waiver of the claim 
including, but not limited to, any and all damages, cost, impacts, inefficiency, extended 
overhead, unabsorbed overhead, ripple effect, or expenses of any nature whatsoever which 
the Contractor, or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may suffer or incur.  Claims shall 
be made in writing and shall identify the instructions or other circumstances that are the 
basis of the claim and shall set forth the Contractor's best estimate of the dollar amount 
claimed.  Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, 
the Contractor shall fix the amount of its claim with specificity and shall provide to the Owner 
supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s claim, including, without 
limitation, substantiation of all costs plus any other documentation or information as may be 
requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s claim.  No 
claim shall be considered by the Owner if the Contractor has otherwise waived its rights to 
file a claim pursuant to the Contract Documents. 

13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS.  The parties acknowledge that the provisions of Paragraphs 13.1. and 
13.2. are included herein for the purpose of fixing and limiting the time within which, and 
the manner in which claims must be made; and that Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. do not grant 
to the Contractor any right to increases in the Contract Sum, or extensions in the Contract 
Time or any Milestones, not otherwise permitted or provided by the other terms and 
provisions of the Contract Documents. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 21 

ARTICLE 14 - UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK; OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 
14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK. 

14.1.1. If any portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the instructions or request of the 
Owner or the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, if required by 
the Owner, uncover such portion of the Work for the Owner's observation and shall replace 
such Work all at the Contractor's expense. 

14.1.2. If any portion of the Work should be covered prior to a specific request for observation or 
instruction by the Owner, the Owner may request to see such Work, and it shall be uncovered 
by the Contractor.  If such Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and without defect, the cost of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change 
Order, be charged to the Owner.  If such Work is found to be defective or not in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall bear such costs; provided, however, that 
if it is found that the condition was caused by a Separate Contractor employed as provided 
in Article 7, the Contractor shall have the right to seek reimbursement of the costs it incurs 
as aforesaid from said Separate Contractor. 

14.2. CORRECTION OF WORK. 
14.2.1. The Owner shall have the authority to reject any portion of the Work which is defective or 

does not conform to the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall promptly correct all 
Work so rejected by the Owner, whether observed before or after the Date of Substantial 
Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed.  In order that such 
corrective Work shall not interrupt or delay the Owner's schedule for completion of the 
Project or, if applicable, disturb the occupants of the completed Project, the Contractor shall 
perform such Work according to a schedule therefor established by the Owner (which may 
provide that the same be performed on overtime, shiftwork, Saturdays, Sundays and/or 
holidays), utilizing in the performance thereof such manpower as is necessary to complete 
the corrective Work in accordance with said schedule.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of 
correcting such rejected Work including, without limitation, compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary thereby. 

14.2.2. If, within one (1) year after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (as determined 
by the Owner) or within such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the 
terms of any applicable warranty or guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any of 
the Work is found to be defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the 
Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of written instructions to that effect from 
the Owner unless the Owner has previously given the Contractor a written acceptance of 
such condition. 

14.2.3. The Contractor shall remove from the Job Site all Work which is defective or non-conforming 
and not corrected under Paragraph 5.4. or Subparagraphs 14.2.1. or 14.2.2. unless removal 
is waived by the Owner. 

14.2.4. The Contractor shall bear the cost of making good all work of Separate Contractors (and any 
of the Owner's other structures or facilities) destroyed or damaged by such removal or 
correction. 

14.2.5. If the Contractor does not remove such uncorrected defective or non-conforming Work within 
a reasonable time fixed by written instructions to that effect from the Owner, the Owner may 
remove it and store the materials and equipment at the expense of the Contractor.  If the 
Contractor does not pay the cost of such removal and storage within ten (10) days thereafter, 
the Owner may, upon ten (10) additional days written notification to the Contractor, sell such 
materials and equipment at public or private sale and account to the Contractor for the net 
proceeds thereof, after deducting all the costs that should have been borne by the 
Contractor, including compensation for any additional architectural and engineering services 
and attorneys' fees made necessary thereby.  If such proceeds of sale do not cover all costs 
which the Contractor should have borne, the difference shall be offset against any amounts 
then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor are not sufficient to cover such difference, the Contractor shall, upon demand, 
pay the same to the Owner.  The obligations of the Contractor under this Subparagraph 
14.2.5. shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any obligations imposed on it by law, 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 22 

by any other provision of this Agreement or by any warranty or guarantee under this 
Agreement. 

14.2.6. If the Contractor fails to correct any defective or non-conforming Work, the Owner may 
correct it in accordance with Paragraph 14.3.  In the event of a defect found after final 
acceptance of the Work by the Owner which the Contractor is obligated to correct pursuant 
to Subparagraph 14.2.2., the Owner may, at its option, after giving the Contractor an 
opportunity to correct such defect, cause such corrective Work to be performed by others 
and charge the Contractor with the cost thereof.  Such charge shall be due and payable by 
the Contractor upon demand. 

14.3. OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK.  If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work 
in accordance with the Contract Documents or fails to perform any provision of this Agreement, and 
such default, neglect or non-performance shall continue for a period of 48 hours after written 
notification thereof from the Owner (or if such default, neglect or non-performance cannot be 
reasonably remedied within such 48-hour period, and Contractor does not (in the sole determination 
of Owner) undertake in good faith the remedy of the same within said period and thereafter proceed 
diligently to completion), then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other remedy the Owner 
may have, make good such deficiencies; provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, as 
determined by the Owner, no notification shall be required.  The Owner shall have the right to take 
possession of such portion of the Job Site as will enable it to make good such deficiencies and, in 
connection therewith, to utilize the materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and 
machinery of the Contractor located on the Job Site.  If the Owner makes good any such deficiencies, 
the costs of correcting the same including, without limitation, compensation for additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary by such default, neglect or non-performance, 
shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such costs, then the Contractor shall, 
upon demand, pay the difference to the Owner. 

 14.4. ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK.   If the Owner prefers to accept 
defective or non-conforming Work, it may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in 
which case an appropriate amount shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor; or, if the said appropriate amount of offset is determined after final payment (or if there 
is not then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to cover the offset available to 
the Owner), the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay the appropriate amount (or the difference after 
offset, as applicable) to the Owner. 

ARTICLE 15 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 
15.1. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR.  If the Owner should, without notifying the Contractor of its cause 

for doing so, fail or refuse to approve an Application for Payment or make payment later than the 
time periods established in section 218.735, Florida Statutes, then the Contractor shall have the right, 
as its sole and exclusive remedy and upon fourteen (14) days prior written notice to the Owner, to 
terminate this Agreement and recover from the Owner payment for all unpaid Work executed up to 
the date of termination, including any proven loss of reasonable profits sustained, based upon the 
percentage of Work completed through the date of termination.  If the Owner shall cure its said 
default within such fourteen (14) day period, then the Contractor's notice of termination shall thereby 
be rendered ineffective, and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.  Prior to 
termination as aforesaid, the Contractor shall not delay or suspend the Work in whole or in part.  The 
Contractor may not terminate this Agreement on the grounds that the cause given by the Owner for 
failing or refusing to pay is not in accordance with fact or law, it being understood and agreed that 
the Contractor's sole remedy in such event shall be to seek money damages.  The Contractor 
acknowledges that it can be adequately compensated by such money damages for any breach of this 
Agreement which may be committed by the Owner.  Accordingly, and except as hereinabove 
provided, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of the Owner shall entitle 
the Contractor to cancel or rescind this Agreement or suspend or abandon its performance of the 
Work. 

15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE. 
15.2.1. If the Contractor should become insolvent, file any bankruptcy proceedings, make a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or allow appointment of a receiver, refuse, fail 
or be unable to make prompt payment to Subcontractors, disregard applicable laws, 
ordinances, governmental orders or regulations or the instructions of the Owner, or if the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 23 

Contractor should otherwise be guilty of a violation of, or in default under, any provision of 
the Agreement, then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy 
available to the Owner and after giving the Contractor and its surety, if any, three (3) days 
written notice, terminate the Agreement and the employment of the Contractor on the 
Project, take possession of the Job Site and of all materials, equipment, tools, construction 
equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and finish the Work by whatever 
method the Owner may deem expedient.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement 
as a whole, the Owner may, under any of the circumstances set forth above, terminate any 
portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner the Owner deems appropriate, the 
scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor) and complete the portion of this 
Agreement so terminated in such manner as the Owner may deem expedient, taking 
possession of such part of the Job Site and utilizing such materials, equipment, tools, 
construction equipment and machinery owned by the Contractor as may be necessary to 
accomplish the same.  The Contractor hereby grants to the Owner the further right:  (a) to 
enter upon any premises or property other than the Job Site in order to take possession of 
any materials, tools, equipment, machinery or other items intended for incorporation in the 
Work (or any portion thereof) or for use in the performance thereof; and (b) to receive an 
assignment of such subcontracts as the Owner deems necessary or desirable at the time of 
termination of this Agreement or a portion thereof. 

15.2.2. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., the Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and the Owner shall 
have the same right to retain monies owing to the Contractor as it would have to retain such 
monies from and against final payments.  Upon the completion of the Work, the Owner shall 
make payment to the Contractor, or the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner, as the case 
may be, as provided in Sections 4 and 7 of the Agreement.  If a portion of this Agreement is 
terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., such termination shall not be treated as a 
reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to Article 12.  Rather, in such event, the Owner 
shall offset against any monies then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount 
determined by the Owner to be adequate to cover all costs and expenses it will incur in 
performing, or causing to be performed, the portion of this Agreement so terminated.  If the 
Owner's cost and expenses prove to be less than the amount offset, the Contractor shall be 
entitled to the difference unless otherwise provided herein.  If the amount then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor is less than the amount to be offset and/or if the Owner's costs and 
expenses prove to exceed the amount offset, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the 
Owner upon demand. 

15.2.3. The remedies provided to the Owner in this Paragraph 15.2. are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to the Owner under the Contract Documents, 
at law or in equity.  In the event of any breach of this Agreement by the Contractor, and 
whether or not this Agreement is terminated by the Owner, the Contractor shall be liable for 
all damages, losses, costs and expenses incurred by the Owner as a result thereof. 

15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE.  Without limitation to the provisions of Paragraph 15.2., 
the Owner shall have the right at any time, upon not less than three (3) days notice to the Contractor 
to terminate this Agreement without cause and/or for the Owner's convenience.  Upon receipt of 
such notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith discontinue the Work and remove its 
equipment and employees from the Job Site.  In the event of termination under this Paragraph 15.3., 
the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to recover from the Owner 
payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss of 
reasonable profits sustained based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement as a whole, the Owner may, for its 
convenience, terminate a portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner as the Owner 
deems appropriate, the scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor), in which event such 
termination of a portion of this Agreement shall be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work 
pursuant to Article 12. 

 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 24 

ARTICLE 16 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
16.1. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 

laws of the State of Florida, to the exclusion of Florida rules of conflicts of laws. 
16.2. ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 

16.2.1. This Agreement may be assigned by Owner at any time without Contractor's consent; without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, all warranties and guarantees in favor of Owner 
under the Contract Documents may be assigned without Contractor's consent by Owner to 
any party designated by Owner and such assignee may directly enforce any such warranty 
or guarantee.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement in whole or in part without the 
written consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion; 
nor shall this Agreement be assignable by the Contractor by operation of law.  The Contractor 
shall not assign any monies due or to become due to it hereunder without the prior written 
consent of the Owner. 

16.2.2. The Owner and the Contractor each binds itself and, to the extent permitted herein, its 
successors and assigns, to the other party and, to the extent permitted herein, the other 
party's successors and assigns, in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations 
contained in the Contract Documents. 

16.3. NOTICE. All notices (whether or not designated as such herein) which are required under this 
Agreement to be given between the parties pursuant to this paragraph shall be in writing and deemed 
given and, unless otherwise provided herein, effective when delivered personally to an officer of the 
party to be served (including the Contractor's Project Manager, in the case of the Contractor), when 
deposited in the United States mail, or in a sealed envelope, with postage thereon prepaid, sent by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the appropriate party at the 
address set forth in the Agreement or such other address as may be designated by either party 
hereto by notice to the other, or when transmitted by wire or facsimile to the appropriate party at 
the aforesaid address (a complimentary confirming letter shall also be mailed to the appropriate party 
on the same date). 

16.4. PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS. Unless waived or otherwise agreed by the Owner, the 
Contractor shall furnish (and if directed by the Owner shall require all or certain of its Subcontractors 
to furnish) a bond covering the faithful performance of this Agreement (or any such subcontract), as 
revised or modified from time to time, and a bond covering the payment of all obligations arising 
thereunder in full compliance with the then current provisions of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes (or 
any successor thereto; or, if applicable, Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, or any successor thereto), 
each in the full Contract Sum, as revised or Modified from time to time, and with such sureties as 
may be approved by the Owner.  Each bond shall contain the following language:  "The provisions 
and limitations of Section 255.05 or of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes, whichever is applicable to 
the Contract, are incorporated herein by reference, provided, however, that in the event of any 
conflict between the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 and those contained in this 
bond, the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 shall govern."  If such bonds, or either 
of them, are stipulated in the bidding documents or in the Contract Documents, the premium therefor 
shall be paid by the Contractor (or appropriate Subcontractors); but if required or increased in amount 
pursuant hereto subsequent to award of the Agreement or due to Changes in the Work, the premium 
therefor shall be reimbursed by the Owner.  The Contractor shall deliver promptly, and in any event 
no later than ten (10) days after notice of award, to the Owner any required bonds or amendments 
thereto. Bonds required under 255.05 must be recorded at the Orange County Courthouse prior to 
providing the recorded certified copy or original bond to the Owner.  The Contractor's failure to timely 
obtain and deliver the required bonds or amendments thereto shall constitute cause for the Owner 
to terminate this Agreement (or for the Contractor to terminate any subcontract).  The Owner shall 
not be obligated to respond to, and the Contractor shall assure that the Owner is not sent, any job 
status inquiries from the Contractor, any surety, or any of their accountants or independent auditors. 

16.5. MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS.  The Contractor is hereby advised that any portion of 
the Project, or other projects in proximity to the Project may be subject to, and governed by, certain 
union or trade agreements.  It is the policy of the Owner to promote and maintain harmonious 
relationships in connection with the Project.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors shall follow this policy; and shall utilize only qualified persons or organizations in the 
performance of the Work.  A qualified person or organization is one:  which is not likely to promote 
labor unrest on the Project; which shall abide by all local, state and federal labor and employment 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 25 

relation rules, regulations and laws; whose financial stability is reasonably assured throughout the 
duration of the Contract; and whose commitments to other projects are not likely to interfere with 
its ability to perform its portion of the Work efficiently and cost effectively.  The Owner reserves the 
right to disapprove, or to require the removal of, any person or organization who is being considered 
for, or has received, an award to perform all or a portion of the Work but has failed to demonstrate 
the willingness or ability to follow this policy. 

16.6. UNION AGREEMENTS.  Regardless of the expiration of any collective bargaining agreement during 
the term of this Agreement which may affect the Contractor in any of its activities including, without 
limitation, with respect to the Work or the Project, the Contractor is obligated to man the job and 
properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner.  Upon notification of expected or actual 
labor disputes or job disruption arising out of any such collective bargaining negotiations, the 
expiration of any union or trade agreement or any other cause, the Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall cooperate with the Owner concerning any legal, practical or contractual 
actions to be taken by the Owner in response thereto and shall perform any actions requested by 
the Owner to eliminate, neutralize or mitigate the effects of such actions on the progress of the Work 
and the impact of such actions on the public access to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
or any of the properties or facilities located therein, irrespective of whether such properties are owned 
by the Owner or by a third party.  It is the Contractor's obligation, at the Contractor's own cost and 
expense, to take all steps available to prevent any persons performing the work from engaging in 
any disruptive activities such as strikes, picketing, slowdowns, job actions or work stoppages of any 
nature or ceasing to work due to picketing or other such activities, which steps shall include, without 
limitation, execution of an appropriate project agreement with appropriate unions prohibiting all such 
activities on or about the Project.  Notwithstanding any such occurrences, the Contractor shall not 
be relieved of its obligation to man the job and properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent 
manner. 

16.7. USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY. Neither the Contractor nor its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire any right to use, and they shall not 
use, the name of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative (either alone or in conjunction with or as a 
part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or designs of either of them 
or any of its related, affiliated or subsidiary companies: in any of their advertising, publicity or 
promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of their respective Work or services; or in any other 
manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the foregoing uses hereinabove specifically 
prohibited).  The Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to, 
and acquire knowledge of or from, material, data, strategies, systems or other information relating 
to the Work, the Project, the Owner, the Owner’s Representative, its parent, affiliated, or related 
companies, which may not be accessible or known to the general public.  Any such knowledge 
acquired by the Contractor shall be kept confidential and shall not be used, published or divulged by 
the Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or in any advertising or promotion regarding 
the Contractor or its Work or services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in 
its sole discretion. The Contractor shall not be allowed to undertake or allow any photography on or 
about the Job Site or the Project absent written permission of the Owner, which permission the 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations 
under this Paragraph 16.7., Owner shall be entitled to an injunction restraining Contractor from 
disclosing or divulging in whole or in part any confidential information.  Further, any failure by 
Contractor to comply with this Paragraph 16.7. shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed 
or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and 
shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 
fees, incurred by the Owner.  The Provisions of this Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of the Contract. 

16.8. GENERAL. 
16.8.1. The captions of divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like 

in the Contract Documents are for convenience only and shall in no way define the content 
or limit the meaning or construction of the wording of the divisions, sections, articles, 
paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like.  The parties agree that the Contract 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

 

D - 26 

Documents shall not be construed more strictly against any party regardless of the identity 
of their drafter. 

16.8.2. Unless otherwise specified, article, paragraph and subparagraph references appearing in 
these General Conditions are to articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs herein. 

16.8.3. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor hereunder to reimburse the Owner or 
others for attorneys' fees, such obligation shall not only include attorneys' fees incurred prior 
to and including litigation in the trial court, but also all attorneys' fees incurred in connection 
with any and all appellate proceedings, no matter to which court any appeal is taken and by 
whomever so taken. 

16.8.4. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor to "indemnify" the Owner, such 
obligations shall include, but shall not be limited by, the following: (i) the Contractor shall 
indemnify the Owner and its supervisors, administrators, officers, directors, agents, 
employees, agents, successors and assigns and Owner's Representative, and its parent, 
related, affiliated and subsidiary companies and the officers, directors, agents, employees 
and assigns of each; (ii) the Contractor shall defend (if requested by the Owner) and hold 
each indemnitee harmless; (iii) in the event of any such requested defense, the Owner may 
choose its legal counsel, control the litigation including, without limitation, determining legal 
strategy, settlement strategy and whether or not to file any appeals; (iv) the Contractor shall 
not raise as a defense to its obligation to indemnify any comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of any of those indemnified 
pursuant to any such provision, it being understood and agreed that no such comparative or 
contributing negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct shall relieve the 
Contractor from its liability to so indemnify nor entitle the Contractor to any contribution, 
either directly or indirectly, by those indemnified; (v) no indemnification obligation hereunder 
shall be limited in any way to any limit on the amount or type of damage, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor under 
any Worker's Compensation Act, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts; and 
(vi) all such indemnity provisions shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this 
Contract.  

16.8.5. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the Owner may withhold any consents, 
approvals or waivers required of it pursuant to the Agreement in its sole discretion. 

16.9. ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS.  To the extent the Work requires the Contractor to enter upon 
land owned by others than the Owner, or the Contractor is permitted to enter upon such land, then 
the Contractor shall, prior to entry, satisfy itself as to all conditions present upon such land and shall 
take all necessary precautions to protect all persons and property from injury or damage as a result 
of the Contractor’s entry upon such land and shall promptly repair any damage to the land and any 
property located thereon.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the owner(s) 
of such land from and against any and all claims, suits, judgments, damages, losses and expenses 
(including attorneys' fees) of any nature whatsoever to the extent caused by or arising out of the 
Contractor’s entry upon such land.  Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Contractor and the owner(s) of such land; however, it is acknowledged that the owner(s) 
of such land are intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Contractor hereunder. 

 
<< END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION >> 

 
End of Exhibit D 

 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit E 
SAMPLE FORMS 

CONTRACT NO. C006914 
 

E - 1 

THIS EXHIBIT CONTAINS THE FOLLOWING: 

• Payment Bond 

• Performance Bond 

• Dual Obligee Rider  

• Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application  

• Task Work Order (sample form) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 2 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
GARNEY COMPANIES, INC. 
1700 Swift Street 
North Kansas City, Missouri 64116 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006914 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum:  ______________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  ________________ 
Amount:  ___________________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, to pay for labor, material, 
services, utilities, equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida 
Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, including, but 
not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor promptly makes full payment to all Claimants, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, 

material, services, utilities and equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 
713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, 
including, but not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, 
and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, losses and expenses 
which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and fully reimburses and 
pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur in remedying any 
such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 3 

administrators, successors and assigns, from  their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
4. The Surety and the Contractor further agree that this bond shall inure to the benefit of, and may be 

sued directly upon by, any Claimant furnishing labor, materials, services, utilities or equipment or any 
other item for which a construction lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this 
Project. 

 
5. “Claimant” shall mean for purposes hereof all persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or other entities 

that would be entitled to claim a construction lien if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project. 
 
6. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
7. The sum of this Payment Bond is in addition to the sum of the Performance Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
GARNEY COMPANIES, INC.   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:  
Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:   Title:   

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 4 
  

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
GARNEY COMPANIES, INC. 
1700 Swift Street 
North Kansas City, Missouri 64116 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006914 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum: _____________________________________ (______________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  _______________ 
Amount: ___________________________________________(______________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, for the performance of 
the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, agreements, 
extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor fully performs the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, 

terms, conditions, agreements, extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and 
warranties thereof, and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, 
losses and expenses which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and 
fully reimburses and pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur 
in remedying any such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
3. The Surety further agrees that whenever the Contractor shall be, and is declared by Owner to be, in 

default under or in breach of the Contract (which shall include without limitation any breach by the 
Contractor of any of the provisions of the Contract) the Surety shall promptly remedy the default or 
breach and undertake to perform and complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and 
conditions.  The Surety’s obligations include, but are not limited to, (i) the responsibilities of the 
Contractor for correction of defective work, completion of the Contract and fulfillment of warranty 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 5 
  

obligations, (ii) additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the Contractor’s 
default or breach or from the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph, and (iii) liquidated 
damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed 
performance or non-performance of the Contractor or the Surety.  The Surety shall fully indemnify and 
hold harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), which the 
Owner may incur as a result of the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph. 

 
4. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
5. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
6. The sum of this Performance Bond is in addition to the sum of the Payment Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
GARNEY COMPANIES, INC.   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:   
Print Name:  Print Name:   

Title:                  Title: ___________________________________ 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 6 
 

DUAL OBLIGEE RIDER 
 
To be attached to and form a part of contract payment bond number _____________________ issued by  

______________________________________________________________________________ (Surety) 

On behalf of _________________________________________________________________ (Contractor)                                       

In the amount of ________________________________________________ Dollars ($_______________) 

and dated _______________ in favor of CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. 

In consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Undersigned hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S. Inc. is hereby added to said bond as additional Obligee. 
 

2. The Surety shall not be liable under this bond to the Obligee, or either of them unless the said 
Obligee, or either of them, shall make payments to the Principal strictly in accordance with the 
terms of the said contract as to payments, and shall perform all other obligations to be performed 
under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth. 
 

3. No suit, action or preceding by reason of any default whatever shall be brought on this bond after 
two (2) years from the day on which the final payment under said construction contract falls due. 
 

4. Aggregate liability of Surety hereunder to Obligee is limited to the penal sum above stated Surety, 
upon making payment hereunder, shall be subrogated to, and shall be entitled to an assignment 
of all rights of the payee with respect to the particular obligation discharged by the payment, either 
against principal or against and other party liable to the payee on the discharged obligation. 

 
 
 
Signed, sealed and dated this ___________ day of ____________________, 20________. 
 
         

Contractor: GARNEY COMPANIES, INC.  
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 

Surety 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



 

E - 7 
 

 
 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
CONSENT OF SURETY FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT APPLICATION 

(Date)______________________________ 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT    
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 

Re: Consent of Surety  
Bond #_________________________  
Contract # C006914 
Payment Req. No.: _______________ 

Dear Sir or Madam: 
__________________________________________________________ (Surety) hereby consents to the 
payment of the amount of moneys due to _______________________________________ (Prime 
Contractor), by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT for which the necessary duly executed 
affidavits/releases of liens have not been provided. 
 
This Consent of Surety is executed in lieu of the appropriated Affidavit and Release of Lien from 
____________________________________________ (Subcontractor/s - Supplier/s list if necessary) 
which the District’s Prime Contractor has not submitted with its Partial Payment Application.  The Surety 
executes this Consent for the amount of __________________, encompassing Work and/or labor 
performed, the provision of materials, equipment, and supplies through the _______ day of 
_________________, 20______, except for any applicable retainage. 
 
_____________________________________________________________ (Surety) further acknowledges 
that payment by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT shall not be construed as a waiver 
of any of the District’s rights or those of any other named Obligee under the Payment and Performance 
Bonds; nor a determination by the District or those of any other named Obligee as to the merits of any 
controversy or dispute between the Prime Contractor and a Subcontractor/Supplier. 
 
Sincerely, 
__________________________________  
Name 
__________________________________  
Title 
__________________________________  
Signature of Attorney-in-Fact 
 
 
 
Note: Documentation must be provided that reflects the Attorney-in-Fact’s authority to sign 
for the Surety. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



CONTRACT#

To: Attn:

Requested By: Date:

Approved By: Date:

 CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
TASK WORK ORDER

RAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVET DIS

FUNDING SOURCE : 

WORK ORDER NUMBER # _________

EFFECTIVE DATE: ________________
Contracting Officer 

Approval/Initials

Department Director or Designee

Owner's Representative

Project Title:  

EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
NUMBER( ):

In accordance with your executed CFTOD Agreement, you are hereby authorized to
commence the work outlined in the attached scope of work. The approved work order
amount as a maximum limiting amount shall not to exceed $

S

Submit completed form to Contracting Officer

Exhibit E - SAMPLE FORMS 

E - 8

End of Exhibit E 

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



EMERGENCY AND URGENT
RESPONSE CONSTRUCTION
SERVICES - CONTINUING 
CONTRACT

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM AND OVERSIGHT DISTRICT

SUBMITTED BY: 
GARNEY COMPANIES, INC.
370 EAST CROWN POINT RD.
WINTER GARDEN, FL 34787
(407) 877-5903
FLestimating@garney.com
TAX ID# 44-0658613 SEPTEMBER 9, 2025

RFP# C006914

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 1

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



2

WATER 
TR ANSMISSION LINES 

AND AQUEDUCTS

ENR RANKINGS – TOP 400 
CONTRACTORS SOURCEBOOK

WATER SUPPLY

#1

#1

GOALS & 
PHILOSOPHIES
SAFETY

QUALITY

ALLOW ALL EMPLOYEE-OWNERS 
TO ACHIEVE THEIR FULL 
POTENTIAL

JOB SECURITY AND ESOP 
PERPETUATION

PROFITABILITY

SERVICE TO OUR CUSTOMERS 
AND THE COMMUNITY

INTEGRITY IS THE SHORTEST 
PATH TO SUCCESS

WIN / WIN

EXCELLENCE IS THE STANDARD

100% EMPLOYEE OWNED

AA. PROPOSER
INFORMATION
GGarney understands the importance of every project that takes place in the water /
wastewater industry. Particularly in regions where growth is rapid, like the City of
Lake Buena Vista, and the surrounding areas. Garney is the largest contractor for conveyance
projects in the country. We continue to lead the industry in rankings in delivering safe
drinking water to customers and moving wastewater and stormwater to treatment
facilities for treatment, discharge, or reuse. Since 1961, we have specialized in pipeline
installations across the United States, installing pipelines from 4" up to 188" in
diameter in all types of soil conditions. We have installed millions of miles of water,
sewer, and storm system pipes with numerous pipe materials, including concrete, steel,
ductile iron, fiberglass, PVC, and HDPE. Garney has been ranked #1 in Water Transmission
Lines by Engineering NewsRecord (ENR) since 2010. Having successfully installed over
23,063,743 LF of pipeline across the nation since 2004, including 7,500,000 LF using
collaborative delivery methods we can ensure CFTOD quicker project completion, less
disruption to the public, and on-budget project delivery.

Since we routinely self-perform the majority of the work on our pipeline projects up to
90%, we will provide the CFTOD with better control of safety, schedule, cost,
and quality. Leveraging this experience, our team offers the city unique insight from
previous pipeline work to expedite delivery, reduce public impact during construction, and
meet the city's critical schedule.

Garney's success is directly attributable to our core goals and philosophies, with quality
only being superseded by safety in our order of priorities. We approach these projects
with earnestness, diligence, and the expectation of providing a result that is excellent.
Garney submits this proposal as a personal commitment toward the Emergency and Urgent
Response Construction Services - Continuing Contract project. Our proposed team members
are immediately available to begin collaborating with CFTOD. I certify that I, William G.
Poczekaj, am the principal contact for this proposal, and am authorized to executive contracts
on behalf of Garney Companies, Inc.

Central Florida Tourism
Oversight District

Inc. William G. Poczekaj
Director, Pipe-Southeast
William G Poczekaj

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 2

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



As a 100% employee-owned company, Garney's corporate
management philosophy has always been one of hands-on
participation by all individuals. Our diligent planning is organized
and structured with the end product in mind. This allows our
personnel to be posed to execute critical work in a
moment'snotice.

Like any business model, the success of the process is ultimately

dependent upon the people involved. Every contract has its own
inherent charter priorities and objectives that need to be identified
during the first meeting with open and honest dialogue. Garney's
management structure includes some of the most knowledgeable
people in our industry. 

Garney's corporate management structure is kept relatively flat
without excessive layers of unnecessary management. This type
of structure is promoted to keep upper-level management as
necessary. This leads to quick decisions, adaptability, and timely
performance. Included in our key personnel qualifications are
Patrick Kelly, Ryan Harvey, Kallie Lowery, Will Poczekaj and
Ryan Smith. These employee-owners have extensive experience
in responding to emergency services for utility infrastructure
failures, specifically working together as a team in the Central
Florida area for multiple local clients.

Our Assistant Project Manager, Kallie Lowery, has been in the
industry for 7 years having a hand in various projects all across
Florida. Previously, Kallie had been in a Corporate Support role
and transitioned to our Operations when she was identified as a
high performing individual. That level of performance has
shown, as she recently has completed the World Drive North
Phase 3 project, Force Main Inspection Services and various
Emergency projects for the District and TOHO all concurrently.
Her ability to communicate with others as well as think outside
the box brings a her entire team to another level.

As Principal-In-Charge, Will Poczekaj is not simply a name at the
top of an organization chart. Will has extensive experience in the
underground utility industry with work covering all pipe and
installation types. Will has performed multiple emergency service
projects for City of Orlando and TOHO Water Authority, as well
as supported the team performing the recent Chilled Water
Bypass for Epcot. 

Ryan Smith is our Regional Safety Manager involved with
ensuring safety on all projects in our Florida area. Ryan has
been with Garney for over 23 years, originally working in our
Operations as a project manager. His hands on knowledge of
project execution makes him versatile in understanding what
safety compliance looks like for a project team. Ryan is involved
in start-up, planning and ongoing safety inspections of every
project in Florida, including the World Drive North Phase 3.

B. QUALIFICATIONS 
& EXPERIENCE Our superintendent Ryan Harvey, has been in the industry for

over 28 years, with multiple projects performed for the District in
the past. Ryan has recently completed the World Drive North
Phase 3 project for the District installing Chilled Water lines, all
the while executing emergency services for both the District and
TOHO Water Authority. Ryan's ability to tackle multiple things at
once, show up when it matters most and never take failure as
an option is why he a key personnel to tackling emergency
services for the District.

Our Project Manager, Patrick Kelly, has over 9 years experience
working on similar projects within Florida. Patrick was born and
raised in the Winter Garden area with extensive knowledge of the
local area and vendors. He will be the District's main point of
contact when Emergency and Urgent Services are required,
available on site within the hour. 

Patrick has direct experience working on Emergency projects with
CFTOD and TOHO Water Authority. Most recently him and other
listed below were able to coordinate as a team to implement a
bypass solution for Chilled Water service inside Epcot within 24
hours to maintain the parks critical customer service capabilities.

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 3

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



C.
 S

TA
FF

IN
G 

PL
AN

LE
G

E
N

D
 

Lo
ca

l 
P

e
rs

o
n

n
e

l

SU
BC

ON
TR

AC
TO

RS
CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
 T

EA
M

PR
IN

CI
PA

L-
IN

-C
HA

RG
E

W
il

l 
P

o
cz

e
k

a
j,

 E
N

V
 S

P

37
0 E

as
t C

ro
wn

 Po
int

 Ro
ad

, W
int

er
 G

ar
de

n, 
FL

 34
78

7 
Ce

ll P
ho

ne
: 4

07
-3

19
-1

78
0

PR
OJ

EC
T M

AN
AG

ER

P
a

tr
ic

k
 K

e
ll

y

37
0 E

as
t C

ro
wn

 Po
int

 Ro
ad

, W
int

er
 G

ar
de

n, 
FL

 34
78

7 
Ce

ll P
ho

ne
: 3

21
-4

38
-7

65
2

SA
FT

EY
 M

AN
AG

ER

R
y

a
n

 S
m

it
h

, 
C

S
P

37
0 E

as
t C

ro
wn

 Po
int

 Ro
ad

, W
int

er
 G

ar
de

n, 
FL

 34
78

7 
Ce

ll P
ho

ne
: 4

07
-4

66
-5

14
3

AS
SI

ST
AN

T P
RO

JE
CT

 M
AN

AG
ER

K
a

ll
ie

 L
o

w
e

ry

37
0 E

as
t C

ro
wn

 Po
int

 Ro
ad

, W
int

er
 G

ar
de

n, 
FL

 34
78

7 
Ce

ll P
ho

ne
: 3

21
-2

99
-4

06
7

SU
PE

RI
NT

EN
DE

NT

R
y

a
n

 H
a

rv
e

y

37
0 E

as
t C

ro
wn

 Po
int

 Ro
ad

, W
int

er
 G

ar
de

n, 
FL

 34
78

7 
Ce

ll P
ho

ne
: 9

41
-2

04
-6

18
7

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 4

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 5

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 6

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 7

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 8

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 9

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



UNDERSTANDING SCOPE

The first step in successful attacking a emergency
construction project is communication. Our team has
worked together for over 7 years consistently and have
formed a tight work flow for understanding what it takes to
execute a project. At the first call or email for an
emergency and urgent project, our team will be diving into
the details to understand the whole of the scope.
Understanding the entire scope allows our team to makes
decisions quickly. Projects that are emergency and urgent
have the given trait that they will be fast moving and
require on the spot decision making. When a team such
as ours communicates effectively, it allows them to makes
these decisions with confidence knowing that it maintains
the safety and quality that Garney expects. 

Our teams experience is extensive in responding to calls
from clients when it matters most. Our Project Manager,
Patrick Kelly, has responded to numerous calls during
weekends and holidays, showing up on-site to begin
understanding the nature of emergency utility failures. Our
Project Engineer, Kallie Lowery, has been on-site 24/7
supporting teams repairing failed utilities impacting
roadways until the work is complete. Our Superintendent,
Ryan Harvey, is extremely familiar with showing up during
times to tackle a problem only known about hours before.

Each project varies in the scope of work and trades that it
may require and that is why at Garney we pride ourselves
in being able to wear many hats. Our team has tackled
many various types of pipe installation methods such as
open cut trench, directional drilling, horizontal jack and
boring, micro tunneling and slip lining. They have
performed these activities in various soil conditions from
dry rock and wet sandy soils, and at depths as great as
30'.

SUBCONTRATOR'S SCOPE

Central Maintenance and Welding was founded in 1966 and
since then has built their name into one recognized by
many large industrial clients in the Florida region. Their
client list includes those such as Duke Energy, Mosaic,
TECO and Lakeland Electric. These clients depend on
CMW in times where failure is not an option and only the
high quality of pipe fabrication will do. Outages must be
kept to the planned minimum of hours and or days in order
to keep production running as smoothly as possible. Every
hour that your facility is not running can have serious
ramifications to your bottom line. However, outages are
sometimes necessary to make capital improvements to your
facility or to keep your facility running at peak operation.
With CMW’s turnaround and outage services, they can help
you minimize down time and lost revenue due to production
interruptions. They are highly experienced in high quality
welding, pipe fabrication, pipe fittings, boiler
replacement/service, retubing, process and chemical piping
and joint preparation and install. 

Most recently, CMW was an integral team member of (2)
projects performed for the District. They recently performed
welding and assisted pipe installation on over 4,000 linear
feet of carbon steel Chilled Water piping for the World Drive
North Phase 3 project. They were able to complete this with
zero (0) rejected welds and maintained the project schedule
as required by the General Contractor and Garney. They
also assisted in supporting a competing contractor in
completing welding on a hot water repair performed within
the Magic Kingdom back of house, responding to the call on
a Sunday morning and working 24/7 until complete. 

Badger Daylighting has been integral to our successful
excavation while on multiple projects. Badger has been able
support Garney over and over again in uncovering unknown
or unforeseen utilities. They have supported our work in the
vacuum excavation , pipe cleaning and CCTV services.
They have been in the industry for over 30 years, providing
a national fleet of equipment and services to clients such as
the District. They are able to respond in a moments notice,
having done so most recently for TOHO Water Authority in
assistance Garney repair a failed 24" Water Main along an
high active roadway. Badgers ability to locate the proved to
be the difference in being able to execute the project versus
making a bad situation worse.

E. APPROACH & 
CAPABILITIES

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 10

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



G. RESPONSE FOR EMERGENCY 
AND URGENT WORK
When Garney is first made aware of an Emergency and Urgent project by the District, our first step will to be gather as
much information we can about the ongoing situation. This means our team showing up to site immediately to make an
assessment of the scope of work. We will work directly with your critical team members to determine the best solution for
the District and what the time line for execution looks like. Fully understanding the problem and scope of work will provide
our team with the knowledge to make quick and accurate decisions on what resources and support services may be
required to execute the work. 

Garney has a highly regarded reputation with subcontracts and vendors across the nation and we will leverage those
relationships to ensure that the District has a quality and timely solution to their Emergency and Urgent Work. With our
local regional office and storage site just 25 minutes from the District in Winter Garden, as well as ongoing sites around
Central Florida, we will be able to pull from our equipment and personnel pools to attack a project quickly. 

Garney also maintains corporate rental agreements with all the national  equipment vendors, such as Untied Rentals,
Sunbelt, Herc and Synergy, allowing us to leverage their fleets when needed to supplement for more specialized or
resource intensive projects. These vendors are capable of providing a plethora of equipment types from bypass pumping,
to vacuum excavation, compactors, excavators, site lighting, etc. Using these vendors as an extension of our fleet gives
Garney much great flexibility to be ready to mobilize to an emergency project when the time arises. 

Once the scope of work and resources required are determined by our Project Team, they will work diligently to begin
pricing the required work and obtaining time lines for any require material purchases. As with our equipment vendors,
Garney maintains strong relationships with material suppliers giving us the ability to obtain priority ordering service when it
matters most. This means the District is able to lean on these relationships to ensure materials are here when they are
needed and not delaying the execution of work.

While the pricing and materials acquisition effort is ongoing, our crews will begin mobilizing to site. Depending on the
nature of the Emergency and Urgent work, our crews will be begin immediately executing what work is available pending
the arrival of materials. Once materials, arrive, installation will be swift and safe. Our crews are well versed in working
weekend and after hours to complete a project. 

Once completed, our crews ensure that site cleanup is ready for the necessary restoration effort. This can vary from a
simple site grading and grassing to road base preparation and asphalt paving. Our team will ensure that the District is
satisfied with the final product prior to demobilizing from site. This includes ensuring any testing or start-up is completed in
the presence of our Superintendent or Project Manager.

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 11

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



Emergency Response Q&A Form
Bid No.: _______________________

Solicitation Title: __________________________________________________________________________________

Please provide responses below.

Q1. After being notified of an emergency  how long on average until your company will be on-
site?

A1.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q2. Will the emergency deployment include full staffing, or limited equipment and staff? 

A2.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q3. What clients of yours, if any, have received similar emergency response services in the past? 

A3._________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q4. Would the District have priority deployment over other clients in an urgent or emergency 
situations? (i.e. natural disasters)   YES   NO

If not, please explain:

A4. ______________________________________________________________________________________

RFP# C006914
Emergency and Urgent  Response Construction  Services - Continuing Contract

1 hour

Full Staffing

City of Orlando

TOHO Water Authority

✔

Exhibit F - Contractor Proposal

F - 12

Docusign Envelope ID: 761F9C41-9802-4955-9BAE-1C842B7F349D



CONTRACT NO. C006942 

Page 1 
 

EMERGENCY AND URGENT RESPONSE CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
CONTINUING AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, is made effective as of November 21, 2025 by and between Central Florida 
Tourism Oversight District (herein referred to as the “Owner,” “District” or “CFTOD”), whose mailing 
address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando, Florida 32869, and Southland Construction, 
Inc., (herein referred to as the “Contractor”), whose mailing address is 172 West Fourth Street, Apopka, 
Florida 32703. 

W I T N E S S E T H 
WHEREAS, Central Florida Tourism Oversight District issued a Request for Proposals (“RFP”) No. 

C006914 on August 21, 2025 for emergency and urgent response construction service-continuing contract.  
Contractor shall provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and maintenance services as 
requested by the District over a three-year continuing contract term;  

WHEREAS, five (5) proposers responded, and Southland Construction, Inc. was a high-ranking firm.  
The Contractor was subsequently selected for one of the three continuing contracts for these services; and 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and obligations 
contained in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. 

A. Agreement. The term “Agreement” or “Contract” represents the entire and integrated Agreement 
between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or agreements, 
either written or oral. The Agreement may be amended or modified only as set forth below in 
Section 10. 

B. Services.  
i. The term “Services” or “Work” as used in this Agreement shall be construed to include all 

Services set forth in Exhibit A, imposed upon the Contractor by this Paragraph and by all other 
provisions of the Contract Documents, as well as the structures to be built and the labor to be 
performed under this Agreement and where any Task Work Orders have been issued pursuant 
to Section 3 and where any Amendments have been issued pursuant to Section 10 of this 
Agreement. 

ii. The Contractor shall provide and pay for all materials, tools, equipment, labor, professional and 
nonprofessional services, and shall perform all other acts and supply all other things necessary 
to fully and properly perform and complete the Work.  The Contractor shall further provide and 
pay for all related facilities described in any of the Contract Documents, including all work 
expressly specified therein and such additional work as may be reasonably inferred therefrom, 
saving and excepting only such items of work as are specifically stated in the Contract 
Documents not to be the obligation of the Contractor. 

C. General Conditions. The capitalized terms used herein may have the meanings set forth in the 
General Conditions for Construction (herein referred to as the “General Conditions”).  References 
herein referring to numbered articles and paragraphs in the General Conditions shall be specified 
as such, however, references to sections refer to those in this Agreement.   

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES.  A description of the nature, scope and schedule of Services to be performed 
by Contractor under this Agreement in accordance with Exhibit A - Scope of Work and the Exhibits 
outlined in Section 32 - Project Specifications and Section 33 - Contract Documents.  

3. CONTRACT TIME. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of all duties, obligations, 
and responsibilities set forth in this Agreement and the Contract Documents.  
A. Term. This Agreement shall commence on DECEMBER 1, 2025 and continue in effect for a term 

of THREE (3) YEARS, through and including NOVEMBER 30, 2028.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 2 

 

B. Optional Renewal.  The Agreement may be renewed for a TWO-YEAR (2-YEAR) renewal term upon 
mutual written consent of both parties, unless terminated by either party pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

C. Initial Request. Once a project has been identified, the Owner will request service.  The Contractor 
shall respond on-site no later than the response timelines set forth in Exhibit A - Scope of Work 
unless Owner requests scheduled or future work. 

D. Project Proposal. The Contractor shall provide a detailed proposal utilizing the pricing outlined in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule with associated quantities for each line item. The detailed 
proposal shall be submitted to the Owner within twenty-four (24) hours after initial request. If 
Owner determines an emergency or urgent condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

E. Task Work Orders for Projects.  
i. Individual Projects:  Contractor is required on-site based on the response timelines outlined in 

Exhibit A.  In such cases, written authorization from the Owner’s Representative (or designee) 
in the form of an email or text may be utilized as authorization to proceed.  However, Contractor 
will still provide a proposal to Owner, and a Task Work Order will be completed to memorialize 
the services and pricing under the Agreement.  

ii. Scheduled/Future Projects:  If Owner requests service for a future date and does not require 
the emergency or urgent response timelines outlined in Exhibit A, Contractor shall not 
commence work until a Task Work Order is executed and provided by the Owner. 

iii. Task Work Orders shall, by mutual agreement of the parties, set forth the: (a) scope of services 
for the individual project; (b) price breakdown; (c) project schedule; and (d) subcontractor/ 
sub-consultant proposals, if applicable.  

iv. Contractor shall complete assigned projects within the time limits specified in the Task Work 
Order and timelines shall be strictly enforced by Owner. At no time will Contractor be allowed 
to lag behind. Contractor will be expected to accurately track Contract Time and progress for 
each assigned project. Task Work Orders for additional projects will not be issued if Contractor 
has failed to properly complete and close out previous projects assigned under this Agreement.  

F. The Time for Performance under this Agreement may only be adjusted by Change Order, in the 
sole and absolute discretion of Owner. Any request for an extension of the Time for Performance 
must be submitted in a writing delivered to the Owner’s Representative, along with all supporting 
data. All requests for adjustments in the Contract Time shall be determined by Owner. 

G. As to any delay, inefficiency, or interference in this performance of this Agreement caused by any 
act or failure to act by Owner, the Contractor’s sole remedy shall be the entitlement of an extension 
of time to complete the performance of the affected work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. Contractor agrees to make no claim for extra or additional costs attributable to said 
delays, inefficiencies or interference, except as provided in this Agreement. 

H. None of the provisions of this Section shall exclude Owner’s right of recovery for damages caused 
by delays or inefficiencies caused by any act or failure to act by Contractor, to include costs incurred 
by Owner for the procurement of additional services. 

4. COMPENSATION.  Owner shall compensate the Contractor an amount not to exceed THREE 
MILLION AND ZERO ONE-HUNDREDTHS DOLLARS ($3,000,000.00), (the “Maximum Limiting 
Amount”) for its Services and in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and based 
on the amounts approved on executed Task Work Orders in accordance with rate schedule set forth in 
Exhibit B - Unit Price Schedule.  Completed projects must be approved and agreed upon by the 
Owner’s Representative  before payment will be made. 
A. Applications for Payment. The Contractor shall, on the twenty-fifth (25th) day of each calendar 

month (herein referred to as the “Payment Application Date”), deliver to the Owner an Application 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 3 

 

for Payment in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 of the General Conditions.  A progress 
report and updated project schedule must be submitted with each monthly Application for Payment 
indicating the percent of services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment 
to Contractor and the basis for payment in the event a project is suspended or abandoned.  

B. Monthly Progress Payments. The compensation amount under this Section shall be paid by Owner, 
monthly, based upon a percentage of completion of the work as invoiced by Contractor and 
approved by Owner. The compensation sought under this Agreement is subject to the express 
terms of this Agreement and any applicable Federal and/or state laws. Prior to payment, the 
Owner’s Representative shall review and approve the Contractor's Application for Payment, 
pursuant to Article 9 of the General Conditions.  However, the Owner shall have no obligation to 
make payment if it has withheld approval as permitted under Subparagraph 9.3.1. of the General 
Conditions or if the Contractor has not submitted to the Owner all documentation required to 
substantiate the Application for Payment. Owner’s Representative approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments by Owner shall be made no later than 
the time periods established in Section 218.735, Florida Statutes.  

C. Project Schedule and Progress Reports (if requested by Owner). A progress report and updated 
project schedule must be submitted with each monthly pay request indicating the percentage of 
services completed to date. This report will serve as support for payment to Contractor and the 
basis for payment in the event project is suspended or abandoned. 

D. Pricing Documentation. Contractor shall provide any and all documentation required by Owner in 
connection with labor, materials,  and equipment. Any pricing submitted for materials, equipment, 
or services provided by a subcontractor or supplier must be accompanied by comprehensive 
documentation to support the cost. This documentation shall include, but is not limited to, the 
following: (i) Manufacturer/Supplier Cost Data: Copies of actual quotes, invoices, or documented 
cost breakdowns from the manufacturer or supplier, detailing material costs, labor, equipment, and 
any other direct or indirect costs; and (ii) Subcontractor Proposals: Copies of all subcontractor 
proposals received for any portion of the Services. 

E. Final Payments. Final payment for each individual project shall be paid to the Contractor after 
completion of those items set forth in the TWO and/or Punch List and after Owner approval of the 
final Application for Payment for said project.   

F. Invoice Form and Address. All invoices shall be in the form required by Owner, reference the 
contract number, and shall be addressed appropriately as outlined below based on the Owner’s 
Representative/department the task work order/invoice pertains to: 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight 
District (“District” or “CFTOD”) projects  

District utility projects managed by Reedy 
Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
ap@oversightdistrict.org 

Central Florida Tourism Oversight District  
C/O: Reedy Creek Energy Services - Utilities Division 
Attention: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 
All invoices shall be sent to 
wdw.rces.billing@disney.com  

G. Payment of Invoices. The Owner’s Representative must review and approve all invoices prior to 
payment. Owner approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Payments 
by Owner shall be made no later than the time periods established in sections 218.73 and 218.735, 
Florida Statutes, as applicable. 

H. Withholding of Payment. Owner reserves the right to withhold, in whole or in part, payment for 
any and all work that: (i) has not been completed by Contractor; (ii) is inadequate or defective and 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7

mailto:wdw.rces.billing@disney.com


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 4 

 

has not been remedied or resolved in a manner satisfactory to the Owner’s Representative; (iii) 
which fails to comply with any term, condition, or other requirement under this Agreement; or for 
(iv) representations provided in Contractor’s billing statements that are wholly or partially 
inaccurate. Any payment withheld shall be released and remitted to Contractor within thirty (30) 
calendar days of the Contractor’s remedy or resolution of the inadequacy or defect.  

I. Amendments to Services. Contractor shall be compensated for any Additional Services based upon 
the Rate Schedule; such amounts to be invoiced and paid in accordance with the terms of this 
section; provided, however, that Contractor shall not be entitled to compensation for Additional 
Services unless Contractor has obtained prior written authorization of Owner to perform the same. 
Owner retains the right to reduce any portion of Contractor's Services at any time. Any additions 
or reductions to the Scope of Services and Not to Exceed Amount shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 10 of this Agreement. 

J. Return of Funds. Contractor will return any overpayments due to unearned funds or funds 
disallowed pursuant to the terms of the Agreement that were disbursed to the Contractor. The 
Contractor must return any overpayment within forty (40) calendar days after either discovery by 
the Contractor, its independent auditor, or notification by the Owner of the overpayment.  

5. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. As specified in Task Work Orders.  Should the Contractor fail to achieve 
Substantial Completion by the date provided in Task Work Order, the Contractor shall pay and/or the 
District may retain from the compensation otherwise to be paid to the Contractor, as liquidated 
damages, the sum of (specified in Task Work Order, if applicable) for each consecutive calendar day 
until Substantial Completion is achieved; said sum is agreed upon as a reasonable and proper measure 
of damages which the District will sustain per diem by failure of the Contractor to complete work within 
the time as stipulated;  it being recognized by the District and the Contractor that the injury to the 
District which could result from a failure of the Contractor to complete on schedule is uncertain and 
cannot be computed exactly.  In no way shall costs for liquidated damages be construed as a penalty 
on the Contractor. The liquidated damages referenced herein may also be assessed and collected 
against the Surety.  Liquidated damages do not apply to final completion dates. 

6. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 
A. The Contractor shall at its expense procure and maintain during the life of this Agreement (and 

shall require the same from its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors) the following types and 
minimum amounts of insurance: 

i. Commercial General Liability Insurance including liability assumed under written contract, 
bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products/completed 
operations liability written on an occurrence basis with minimum combined single limits for 
bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per occurrence. This coverage must be 
maintained for two (2) years after contract expiration;  

ii. Automobile Liability coverage for all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles written on an 
occurrence basis, with minimum combined single limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;   

iii. Workers’ Compensation Insurance providing statutory benefits and Employer’s Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence;  

iv. Umbrella Liability on a follow-form basis providing coverage excess of the underlying policies 
required by i, ii, and iii above in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

v. If Contractor is providing any kind of professional service or advice including design, 
architectural, surveying, legal, financial, accounting or similar then Contractor will also carry 
Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per 
occurrence.  This insurance may be on a claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that 
precedes the first date of work or services under this agreement and is maintained for at 
least two (2) years following the conclusion of work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 5 

 

vi. If Contractor is using, transporting or disposing of any hazardous materials, potentially 
harmful materials, chemicals, waste or similar then Contractor will also carry Pollution Liability 
insurance with a limit of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence.  This insurance may be on a 
claims-made form if there is a retroactive date that precedes the first date of work or services 
under this agreement and is maintained for at least two (2) years following the conclusion 
of work. 

vii. If work will include the use or operation of any crane, total limit of Umbrella liability insurance 
will be at least $4,000,000. 

viii. If Contractor is using any kind of aircraft including unmanned aerial vehicles (drones) then 
use must be approved by Owner and liability insurance satisfactory to Owner must be 
obtained. 

ix. Contractor is not required to commercially insure its owned, rented or borrowed machinery, 
tools, equipment, office trailers, vehicles, and other property but agrees that Owner is not 
responsible for and Contractor holds Owner harmless for loss, damage or theft of such items. 

B. All insurance required under this Section shall be with companies and on forms authorized to issue 
insurance in Florida and with an insurer financial strength rating from AM Best of no less than A- 
or an equivalent rating from a similar, recognized ratings agency unless such requirements are 
waived, in writing, by the Owner’s Risk Manager. Certificates of insurance (or copies of policies, if 
required by the Owner) shall be furnished to the Owner at vendors@oversightdistrict.org. 

C. CANCELLATION. All such insurance required by this Section shall provide that the coverage 
thereunder may not be reduced or canceled unless thirty (30) days unrestricted prior written notice 
thereof is furnished to Contractor, who agrees to promptly relay any such notice received to 
Owner.    

D. ADDITIONAL INSUREDS.  Each liability policy required herein (except Workers’ Compensation or 
Professional Liability) shall schedule as Additional Insureds, on a primary and non-contributory 
basis, the Owner and its affiliated entities and their supervisors, officers, employees, agents and 
assigns.   

E. WAIVERS. The Contractor hereby waives, and will require its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to waive and to require its and their insurers to waive their rights of recovery or 
subrogation against the Owner and its affiliated entities, supervisors, officers, employees, agents 
and assigns.  

F. CLAIMS. The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors shall assist and cooperate 
in every manner possible in connection with the adjustment of all claims arising out of the 
operations conducted under or in connection with the Work and shall cooperate with the insurance 
carrier or carriers of the Owner and of the Contractor, its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
in all litigated claims and demands which arise out of said operations and which the said insurance 
carrier or carriers are called upon to adjust or resist. 

G. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its 
appointed board supervisors, officers, employees, and volunteers from and against liabilities, 
damages, losses and costs including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees to the extent 
caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct (which includes, without 
limitation, any failure of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors to 
perform and complete the Services in strict compliance with the Contract Documents, unless such 
failure has been specifically waived by the District in writing upon final acceptance of the Services) 
of the Contractor or any persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the 
Agreement, including without limitation, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor (or their 
employees), utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Services. The provisions of this 
paragraph shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 6 

 

7. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, 
Owner shall, in its sole discretion and with or without cause, have the right to suspend or terminate 
this Agreement upon seven (7) days prior written notice to Contractor.  In the event of termination, 
Owner's sole obligation and liability to Contractor, if any, shall be to pay to Contractor that portion of 
the amount earned by it, plus any earned amounts for Additional Services performed pursuant to 
Sections 4 and 10, through the date of termination. 

8. NON-FUNDING. In the event that budgeted funds for this Agreement are reduced, terminated, or 
otherwise become unavailable, Owner may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Contractor 
without penalty to Owner.  Owner shall be the final authority as to the availability of the funding. 

9. FORCE MAJEURE. 
A. Neither party shall be responsible for damages or delays caused by Force Majeure or other events 

beyond the reasonable control of the party and which could not reasonably have been anticipated 
or prevented. 

B. Force Majeure includes, but is not limited to, war, terrorism, riots, epidemics, fire, acts of nature, 
strikes, lockouts, pandemics, court orders, and acts, orders, laws, or regulations of the government 
of the United States or the several states, prohibiting or impeding any part from performing its 
respective obligations. 

C. If Force Majeure occurs, the parties shall mutually agree on the terms and conditions upon which 
services may continue. Should Contractor be delayed in the commencement, performance, or 
completion of the Work due to any of the conditions under this section, Contractor shall be entitled 
to an extension of time only, provided however, that in no event shall Contractor  be entitled to 
any increased costs, additional compensation, or damages of any type resulting from such Force 
Majeure delays. 

10. MODIFICATIONS, ADDITIONS, OR DELETIONS TO THE SERVICES. 
A. An Amendment may consist of additions, deletions, or other modifications to the Agreement which 

shall be in writing and mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

B. The Owner may, from time to time, without affecting the validity of the Agreement, or any term 
or condition thereof, issue an Amendment which may identify additional or revised Scope of 
Services, or other written instructions and orders, which shall be governed by the provisions of the 
Agreement. The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner. 
Upon receipt of any such Amendment, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Amendment, 
and the resultant decrease or increase in the amount to be paid the Contractor, if any, shall be 
governed by the provisions of Section 4 in this Agreement. 

11. REPRESENTATIONS. Contractor hereby represents to Owner that:  (A) it has the experience and skill 
to perform the Services as set forth in this Agreement; (B) it is duly licensed to observe and perform 
the terms, covenants, conditions and other provisions on its part to be observed or performed under 
this Agreement; (C) it has by careful examination satisfied itself as to all other matters or things which 
could in any manner affect the performance of the Services. 

12. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES. Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Agreement, 
the following provisions are the responsibility of the Contractor:    
A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures and safety precautions or programs incident thereto.   
B. Contractor shall competently and efficiently supervise, inspect, and direct all work to be performed 

under this Agreement, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 7 

 

C. The Deliverables (if any) shall not call for the use of nor infringe any patent, trademark, service 
mark, copyright or other proprietary interest claimed or held by any person or interest absent prior 
express written consent from the Owner.  

D. Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
ordinances, agency regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other government 
authority including without limitation, the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
1990 (“ADA”), as same may be amended from time to time, which have jurisdiction and which are 
current at the time Contractor renders Services hereunder. 

13. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.  Contractor shall refer to Plans and additional Specifications provided with 
each individual project, if any. 

14. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY. 
A. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions 

and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to 
all persons involved in any way in the Services and all other persons, including, without limitation, 
the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be 
affected thereby. 

B. All Services, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools and 
like items used in the Services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to:  (i) all applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental 
authority; and (ii) all codes, rules, regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance 
carriers relating thereto.  In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

C. The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 
clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials.  The Owner may require 
the Contractor to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal 
as the Owner may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the 
general area in which the Services are to be performed clean and free from such waste or rubbish, 
or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner may take such action and offset 
any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred by the Owner in undertaking 
such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor. 

15. OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT. 
A. All drawings, data, ideas, concepts, molds, models, tooling, improvements, inventions, or other 

tangible or intangible work product in whole or in part conceived, produced, commissioned or 
acquired by Contractor hereunder (“Work Product”) shall be and remain the sole and exclusive 
property of Owner when produced, whether or not fixed in a tangible medium of expression, except 
that Contractor may retain copies of such Work Product for its permanent reference, but shall not 
use such copies in any manner whatsoever without the express written consent of Owner and shall 
keep same confidential in accordance with the requirements of Section 17 entitled 
Promotion/Confidentiality.  In the event of early termination of this Contract, in whole or in part, 
Contractor shall deliver to Owner all Work Product whether complete or not. 

B. Without limiting the forgoing, Contractor agrees that any and all Work Product shall be deemed to 
be "works made for hire" for Owner as the author, creator, or inventor upon creation; provided, 
however, that in the event and to the extent that such Work Product is determined not to constitute 
"works made for hire" as a matter of law, Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers such 
property, and all right, title and interest therein, whether now known or hereafter existing including, 
but not limited to, patents and copyrights, to Owner and its successors and assigns.  Contractor 
grants to Owner all rights including, without limitation, reproduction, manufacturing and moral 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 8 

 

rights, throughout the universe in perpetuity and in all languages and in any and all media whether 
now or hereafter known, with respect to such Work Product.  Contractor acknowledges that Owner 
is the motivating force and factor, and for purposes of copyright or patent, has the right to such 
copyrightable or patentable Work Product produced by Contractor under this Contract.  Contractor 
agrees to execute any and all documents and do such other acts as requested by Owner to further 
evidence any of the transfers, assignments and exploitation rights provided for herein. 

16. BOOKS AND RECORDS.  Contractor shall maintain comprehensive books and records relating to any 
Services performed under this Agreement, which shall be retained by Contractor for a period of at least 
four (4) years from and after the completion of such Services.  Owner, or its authorized representatives, 
shall have the right to audit such books and records at all reasonable times upon prior notice to 
Contractor.  The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the expiration or early termination of this 
Agreement. 

17. PROMOTION/CONFIDENTIALITY. The Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire no 
right to use, and shall not use, the name of the Owner or the Owner’s Representative  (either alone or 
in conjunction with or as a part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or 
designs of either of them or any related, affiliated or subsidiary companies:  in any advertising, publicity 
or promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of the Contractor's Work or services; or in any 
other manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the uses hereinabove specifically prohibited).  
Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to and acquire knowledge 
regarding plans, concepts, designs, materials, data, systems and other information of or with respect 
to Owner or Owner’s Representative, or any subsidiaries or affiliated companies thereof, which may 
not be accessible or known to the general public (“Confidential Information”).  Confidential Information 
that is specific as to techniques, equipment, processes, products, concepts or designs, etc. shall not be 
deemed to be within the knowledge of the general public merely because it is embraced by general 
disclosures in the public domain. Any knowledge acquired by Contractor from such Confidential 
Information or otherwise through its engagement hereunder shall not be used, published or divulged 
by Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or used in any advertising or promotion 
regarding Contractor or its services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of Owner, which permission Owner may withhold in its sole 
discretion.  Contractor specifically agrees that the foregoing confidentiality obligation applies to, but is 
not limited to, any information disclosed to Contractor in any document provided to Contractor pursuant 
to or in connection with this Agreement, including but not limited to, a Request for Proposal, Request 
for Estimate, Request for Quotation or Invitation to Bid, except to the extent Contractor must disclose 
such information to compile and prepare its proposed price for work or services performed hereunder.  
The provisions of this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

18. SUBCONTRACTORS. If the Contractor desires to employ Subcontractors in connection with the 
performance of its Services under this Agreement: 
A. Nothing contained in the Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the Owner 

and any Subcontractor. However, it is acknowledged that the Owner is an intended third-party 
beneficiary of the obligations of the Subcontractors related to the Services. 

B. Owner reserves the right to approve or disapprove the use of any Subcontractor for this Agreement. 
C. Contractor shall coordinate the services of any Subcontractors, and remain fully responsible under 

the terms of this Agreement, Contractor shall be and remain responsible for the quality, timeliness 
and the coordination of all Services furnished by the Contractor or its Subcontractors. 

D. All subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement 
and shall incorporate the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the full extent applicable to 
the portion of the Services covered thereby.  Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the 
Owner, to be bound by such terms and conditions to the full extent applicable to its portion of the 
Services. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 9 

 

19. NOTICE. 
A. Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, may be delivered 

personally or by mail, telex, facsimile, cable, or courier service, and shall be deemed given when 
received by the addressee.  Notices shall be addressed as follows: 

 If to Owner: CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519 
 Orlando, Florida 32869 
 Attention:  Contracting Officer 
 If to Contractor: SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

    172 West Fourth Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 
Attention: William Poczekaj 

or to such other address as either party may direct by notice given to the other as hereinabove 
provided. 

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice sent to the last designated address of the party to whom 
a notice may be or is required to be delivered under this Agreement shall not be deemed ineffective 
if actual delivery cannot be made due to a change of address of the party to whom the notice is 
directed or the failure or refusal of such party to accept delivery of the notice. 

20. THE OWNER’S REPRESENTATIVE. 

A. Reedy Creek Energy Services, whose designated representative is Brad Burchett, and whose 
mailing address is 10450 Turkey Lake Road, Box #690519, Orlando,  Florida 32869, shall act as 
the Owner's authorized representative (herein referred to as the "Owner’s Representative"); 
provided, however, that the Owner may, without liability to the Contractor, unilaterally amend this 
Section from time to time by designating a different person or organization to act as its 
representative and so advising the Contractor in writing, at which time the person or organization 
so designated shall be the Owner’s Representative for purposes of this Agreement.  Except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, and until the Contractor is notified in writing to the contrary, 
all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and instructions to be given 
by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and decisions to be made 
by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall be taken, given 
and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner’s Representative in the name of and on behalf 
of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner’s Representative) shall be 
solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor 
hereunder. 

B. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create any contractual relationship between the 
Contractor and the Owner’s Representative; provided, however, that the Owner’s Representative 
shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations of the Contractor to the Owner 
as imposed by this Agreement. 

21. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
A. The acceptance of final payment under this Agreement, or the acceptance of final payment upon 

early termination hereof, shall constitute a full and complete release of Owner by Contractor from 
any and all claims, demands and causes of action whatsoever which Contractor may have against 
Owner in any way related to the subject matter of this Agreement and Contractor shall as a 
condition precedent to receipt of final payment from Owner, submit to the Owner a fully and 
properly executed General Release.  Neither the Owner's review, approval or acceptance of, nor 
payment for, any of the Services required under this Agreement shall be construed to operate as 
a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the performance 
of this Agreement, and Contractor shall be and remain liable to Owner in accordance with law for 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 10 

 

all damages to Owner caused by the Contractor's performance of any of the Services furnished 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

B. It is understood and agreed that Contractor is acting as an independent contractor in the 
performance of its Services hereunder, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed 
to create an agency relationship between Owner and Contractor. 

C. The rights and remedies of Owner provided for under this Agreement are cumulative and are in 
addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 

22. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Florida Public 
Records Act, Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Specifically, the Contractor shall: 
A. Keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to perform the service. 
B. Upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, provide the public agency with 

a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable 
time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in this chapter or as otherwise provided by 
law. 

C. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of the 
contract term and following completion of the contract if the Contractor does not transfer the 
records to the public agency. 

D. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the public agency all public records in 
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the public agency to 
perform the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the public agency upon 
completion of the contract, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are 
exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the Contractor 
keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the contract, the Contractor shall meet all 
applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the public agency, upon request from the public agency’s custodian of public records, 
in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the public agency. 

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS AGREEMENT, CONTACT THE OWNER’S CUSTODIAN OF 
PUBLIC RECORDS AT TELEPHONE NUMBER 407-939-3240, 
EMAIL ADDRESS PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG, 
MAILING ADDRESS CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT 
DISTRICT, ATTN: PUBLIC RECORDS ADMINISTRATOR, P.O. BOX 
# 690519, ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32869. 

23. E-VERIFY COMPLIANCE. The Contractor and its subcontractors warrant compliance with all federal 
immigration laws and regulations that relate to their employees. The Contractor agrees and 
acknowledges that the Owner is a public employer that is subject to the E-Verify requirements as set 
forth in Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and that the provisions of F.S. Sec. 448.095 apply to this 
Agreement.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section hereof, if the Owner has a good faith belief 
that the Contractor has knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien who is not duly authorized to 
work by the immigration laws of the Attorney General of the United States for employment under this 
Agreement, the Owner shall terminate the Agreement.  If the Owner has a good faith belief that a 
subcontractor performing work under this Agreement knowingly hired, recruited or referred an alien 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7

mailto:PUBLICRECORDS@OVERSIGHTDISTRICT.ORG


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 11 

 

who is not duly authorized to work by the immigration laws or the Attorney General of the United States 
for employment under this Agreement, the Owner shall promptly notify the Contractor and order the 
Contractor to immediately terminate the contract with the subcontractor. The Contractor shall be liable 
for any additional costs incurred by the Owner as a result of termination of a contract based on 
Contractor’s failure to comply with E-Verify requirements referenced herein. 

24. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. By executing this Agreement, the Contractor certifies that it is eligible 
to bid on, submit a proposal for, enter into or renew a contract with the Owner for goods or services 
pursuant to Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Owner may terminate Agreement immediately upon 
discovering that Contractor: (A) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies or Other Entities that 
Boycott Israel List; (B) is engaged in a boycott of Israel; (C) has been placed on the Scrutinized 
Companies with Activities in Sudan List; (D) has been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 
Activities in Iran Terrorism Sectors List; or (E) has been engaged in business operations in Cuba or 
Syria. This Agreement may also be terminated immediately if the Contractor falsely certified or has 
become ineligible to bid and contract with local government entities under F.S. 287.135. If this 
Agreement is terminated by the Owner as provided above, the Owner reserves the right to pursue any 
and all legal remedies against the Contractor, including, but not limited to the remedies described in 
Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid only for 
the work completed as of the date of the Owner’s termination. Unless explicitly stated in this Section, 
no other damages, fees or costs may be assessed against the Owner for its termination of the 
Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

25. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 
A. The Contract Documents shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida, to the exclusion of its rules concerning conflicts of laws, and shall constitute the entire and 
sole understanding of the parties hereto notwithstanding any prior oral or written statements, 
instructions, agreements, representations, or other communications. 

B. Any legal proceeding of any nature brought by either party against the other to enforce any right 
or obligation under this Agreement, or arising out of any matter pertaining to this Agreement, the 
Contract Documents or the Work to be performed hereunder (a “Proceeding”), shall be submitted 
for trial, without jury, solely and exclusively before the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in 
and for Orange County, Florida; provided, however, that if such Circuit Court does not have 
jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and exclusively before the United States 
District Court for the Middle District of Florida (Orlando Division); and provided further that if 
neither of such courts has jurisdiction, then such Proceeding shall be submitted solely and 
exclusively before any other court sitting in Orange County, Florida, having jurisdiction.  The parties 
(i) expressly waive the right to a jury trial, (ii) consent and submit to the sole and exclusive 
jurisdiction of the requisite court as provided herein and (iii) agree to accept service of process 
outside the State of Florida in any matter related to a Proceeding in accordance with the applicable 
rules of civil procedure. 

C. If any provision of the Contract Documents is judicially construed to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision shall then be construed in a manner allowing its validity or, 
if this leads to an impracticable result, shall be stricken but, in either event, all other provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall remain in full force and effect. 

26. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement is for the services of Contractor and may not be assigned by 
Contractor in any fashion, whether by operation of law, or by conveyance of any type including, without 
limitation, transfer of stock in Contractor, without the prior written consent of Owner, which consent 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  Owner retains the right to assign all or any portion of this 
Agreement at any time. Upon such assignment, and provided the Assignee shall, in writing, assume 
Owner's obligations under this Agreement, Owner shall be automatically released and discharged from 
any and all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Contractor shall thenceforth look solely to the 
Assignee for performance of Owner's obligations under this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 12 

 

27. EFFECTIVE DATE.  Any Services performed or caused to be performed by Contractor prior to the 
effective date of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been performed under this Agreement when 
agreed to by the Owner. 

28. HEADINGS.  The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 
and shall not be construed in any manner for the purpose of interpreting the provisions thereof. 

29. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement supersedes any and all discussions, understandings or other 
agreements, either oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the Services and contains 
all the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Services.  Each party to this 
Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or 
otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are not 
embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, course of dealing usage of trade, or promise 
not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding or used to interpret this Agreement. Any 
modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both 
parties. Any failure by Owner to require strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement shall 
not be construed as a waiver of such provision, and Owner may subsequently require strict compliance 
at any time, notwithstanding any prior failure to do so. 

30. WARRANTY.  Contractor warrants all labor, materials, and equipment furnished under the agreement 
are new, of the type and quality required for the Project, and installed in a good and workmanlike 
manner in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall guarantee the Work shall be free 
from any defects in workmanship for a period of not less than ONE (1) year from the date of project 
completion. Contractor shall guarantee the materials provided shall be free from any defects for the 
longer of: (A) ONE (1) year from the date of project completion; or (B) the period of warranty provided 
by any supplier or manufacturer. The Owner may withhold final payment until the Contractor provides 
complete written manufacturers' warranties to the Owner’s Representative at the end of the project. 

31. PUBLIC CONSTRUCTION BOND.  Performance and Payment bonds will be required for any single 
task work order over $200,000 and will be paid as a separate line item. Contractor shall include the 
line item for a bond in their proposal for individual projects of $200,000 or more. In such cases, the 
Contractor must submit a recorded, Public Construction Bond in conformance with Florida Statute 
255.05 as security for the faithful performance of the work within the time set forth as required herein 
and for prompt payment to all persons defined in 713.01, Florida Statues, who furnish labor, services, 
or materials for the completion of the work provided herein. The Public Construction Bond must be 
recorded in the county where the project is located.  

32. PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS. All work shall be in accordance with all applicable federal, state and 
local codes and regulations, including but not limited to the following specifications and documents, 
which are incorporated by reference: 
A. The Project Specifications listed below are available for viewing and download under Request                

for Proposals (RFP) No. C006914: Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services - 
Continuing Contract at: https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296, under 
documents. 

• Central Florida Tourism Oversight District (“CFTOD”) Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) 
Requirements.   

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Contractor Safety Expectation - Confined Spaces, dated 
March 13, 2018. 

• Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Lockout/Tagout (“LOTO”) Program, including                  
Appendix 1-4. 

B. In the event of a conflict between the individual Project Specifications regarding the scope of work 
to be performed, then the specification with the more restrictive provision shall take precedence 
over the others. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7

https://vendors.planetbids.com/portal/62171/bo/bo-detail/132296


 

CONTRACT NO.: C006942 
 

 

 
Page 13 

 

33. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  
A. The Contract Documents which comprise the entire understanding between the Owner and 

Contractor, shall only include (1) this Agreement; (2) those documents listed in this Section as 
Exhibits to this Agreement; and (3) those documents identified in the Project Specifications Section 
of this Agreement.  Each Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference for all purposes. 

Exhibit A: Scope of Work (A-1 through A-4) 
Exhibit B: Unit Price Schedule (B-1) 
Exhibit C: Special Contract Conditions (C-1 through C-15) 
Exhibit D: General Conditions for Construction (D-1 through D-26) 
Exhibit E: Sample Forms (E-1 through E-8) 
Exhibit F: Contractor Proposal (F-1 through F-19) 

B. If there is a conflict between the terms of this Agreement, Project Specifications and the Exhibits, 
then the terms of this Agreement shall control, amend, and supersede any conflicting terms 
contained in the Project Specifications and Exhibits. If there is a conflict between the Project 
Specifications and the Exhibits, the Project Specifications shall prevail.  

C. If there is a conflict between the terms of the Exhibits the order of precedence is as follows:                   
(1) Exhibit A, (2) Exhibit C, (3) Exhibit D, (4) Exhibit E, (5) Exhibit B, then (6) Exhibit F.  

 

 

  
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed effective as 

of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
OWNER CONTRACTOR 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM   
OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

  
 
 

 
Signature:   Signature:   
               As authorized by the Board of Supervisors  
Print Name:  S.C. Kopelousos           Print Name:   

Title:             District Administrator  Title:   

Date:           November 21, 2025  Date:   

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7

November 19, 2025

Vice President

Joe Raucci



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

A - 1 

SECTION 1. SCOPE OF WORK OVERVIEW 

1.1 Contractor shall provide all labor, material, equipment, supervision, transportation, tools, and 
incidentals necessary to provide emergency and urgent general construction, repair, and 
maintenance services for the District over a three-year continuing contract term. 

1.2 Services will be performed on an as needed, on-call basis in response to urgent conditions that 
require immediate attention to protect District property, maintain operations, or ensure public safety. 

SECTION 2. SCOPE OF WORK  

2.1 The Contractor shall respond rapidly to emergency and urgent calls for general construction and 
utility services, which may include, but are not limited to: 

A. Structural repairs and modifications 
B. Concrete and asphalt work, including demolition and restoration 
C. Excavation, trenching, and backfilling 
D. Site grading and stabilization 
E. Temporary structures, shoring, and safety barriers as required 
F. Coordination with other trades and District personnel 
G. Protection of existing facilities during construction 
H. Site cleanup and disposal of waste materials in compliance with environmental regulations 
I. Pipe lining installation and repair 
J. Welding services 
K. High-temperature hot water system services and repairs 
L. Chilled water system services and repairs 
M. Boiler services and repairs 
N. Plumbing services and repairs 
O. Pipe fitting and stabilization 
P. Pipe protection 
Q. Roadway depression investigation 
R. Underground utilities inspection, installation, and repair 
S. Hot tap/line stop services 
T. Hauling and disposal of excess materials 
U. Emergency or urgent response for minor repairs 
V. All other related construction and repair tasks as required by the District during emergency 

situations. 
2.2 The specific scope of work shall be set forth in individual Task Authorizations issued by the Owner 

as needed. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under 
direction of Owner using the billing rates established in the Agreement while a formal proposal and 
Task Work Order is drafted for the project. 

2.3 Response:  

A. Contractor must be available 24/7/365 to respond to emergency calls. 
B. Contractor should be able to mobilize and arrive on site within two hours (2 HRS) of notification 

by the District. Work shall be performed continuously until the emergency condition is resolved 
or stabilized, unless otherwise directed by the District. Urgent, but non-emergency work can 
mobilize and arrive on site in three to four hours (3-4 HRS). 

2.4 Contractor shall provide detailed incident reports after completion of each emergency and urgent 
call, including before-and-after documentation. 

2.5 The District may decide to Owner direct purchase any parts or materials for Contractor use during 
the term of the Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

A - 2 

SECTION 3. CONTRACTOR REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 All work shall meet applicable codes, safety standards, and District specifications, even during 
emergency and urgent conditions. Work areas shall be always secure to ensure safety of District 
personnel and the public. 

3.2 Comply with confined space entry and lock out/tag out safety requirements. Refer to RCES Lockout 
Tagout and RCES Confined Space documents in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.3 Contractor must have their Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”) accepted by CFTOD Safety prior to 
commencement of work. Refer to CFTOD PSSP Requirements in Section 32 - Project Specifications.  

3.4 Contractor shall adhere to any and all RCES Specifications applicable to each specific project for a 
Task Work Authorization. 

3.5 The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests, or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific Safety 
Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) 
and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. 

3.6 Contractor’s service vehicle shall contain all parts, equipment, and materials necessary to perform 
services. Damage attributed to the Contractor shall be repaired immediately at no cost to the District.  

3.7 Special access throughout property will need to be approved prior to work being performed at the 
Energy Plants. 

3.8 Contractor must maintain valid licensing, accreditations, and certifications applicable to the services 
throughout the term of the Agreement.  

3.9 Safety Training: The Contractor is responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Services, and shall provide all protection to prevent 
injury to all persons involved in any way in the Services. 

SECTION 4. EMPLOYEES 

The following applies to ALL contract work: 
4.1 The Contractor shall at all times keep the general area in which the Services are to be performed 

clean and free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, 
hazardous waste), caused by performance of the Services, and shall continuously throughout 
performance of the Services remove and dispose of all such materials. The District may require the 
Contractor to comply with such standards, means, and methods of cleanup, removal, disposal as the 
District may make known to the Contractor and/or as required by any applicable laws. In the event 
the Contractor fails to keep clean of such rubbish and waste in the affected areas, and the District 
incurs the clean-up cost, the District will deduct the expenses incurred from any sums then or 
thereafter due the Contractor. 

4.2 All Contractor employees are expected to present a professional, businesslike image to clients, 
visitors, customers and the public. Contractor shall ensure that all vehicles and uniforms used by 
their staff are identified with company name and logo. 

4.3 Employees may be required to meet special dress and grooming standards, such as wearing uniforms 
or personal protective equipment (PPE) depending on the nature of their job.  

4.4 District will designate where Contractor’s crew will take breaks, lunches, and use restroom facilities. 
Employee personal vehicles will be parked only in areas designated by the District. No smoking of 
any kind at any time on District property. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 

A - 3 

4.5 District reserves the right to refuse any Contractor’s employee who does not meet or conform to the 
District’s policies. Contractor’s employees shall be required to maintain a level a professional 
appearance at all times while performing required tasks in or out of guest view. This includes as level 
of professional hygiene that includes all Contractor-provided uniforms. 

4.6 Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the services, and shall provide all protection to prevent injury to all 
persons involved in any way in the Services. 

4.7 Any and all complaints or calls for assistance from the District or its agents or representatives shall 
be responded to by the Contractor within twenty-four (24) hours of the District’s issuance of such 
complaints or calls and all repairs or work which precipitated such complaint shall be diligently and 
professionally completed by the Contractor. 

4.8 Contractor shall cause all of its employees to behave in a friendly, respectable, and courteous manner 
toward the District, guests, staff, and management. In the event the District believes that any of the 
Contractor’s employees are acting other than herein required, or the District or its agents determine 
that any of such employees are not performing their duties in a competent manner, the District shall 
so advise the Contractor and the Contractor shall promptly arrange to correct the deficiencies or to 
replace such employee as reasonably approved by the District. Contractor shall maintain continuous 
and regular communications with the District concerning safety and other factors that relate to the 
performance requirements hereunder and concerning any injury or damage to guests or Contractor’s 
employees that may result or occur in connection with the services to be provided by the Contractor 
hereunder. 

4.9 All services shall be approved by and scheduled through the District or its authorized representative. 
4.10 All services, whether performed by the Contractor, its subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by any of them, and all applicable equipment, machinery, materials, tools, and like items 
used in the services, shall be in compliance with, and conform to: (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations, and orders of any public, quasi-public, or other governmental authority; and (b) 
all codes, rules, regulations, and requirements, of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating 
thereto. In the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

SECTION 5. TASK WORK ORDERS 

5.1 Services will be requested as needed by District, and will be authorized on a Task Work Order 
(“TWO”) basis. Task Work Order review and approval process (sample “TWO” form included in 
Exhibit E – Sample Task Work Order Form): 
A. The District will request written proposal from the Contractor. Written proposals must include

the following:
1. Scope of Services (should be detailed and outline all tasks);
2. Itemized Pricing (should be detailed to ensure the rates are pursuant to Agreement);
3. Project Schedule; and
4. Subcontractor and/or sub-consultant proposals, if applicable.

B. If Owner determines an emergency condition exists, Contractor will begin work under direction
of Owner using the billing rates established in the contract while a formal proposal and Task
Work Order is drafted for the project.

5.2 Liquidated Damages & Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) dates will be negotiated for each project. Failures 
upon the part of the Contractor to complete the specific project within the time frame after receiving 
the Notice to Proceed (“NTP”) will be assessed Liquidated Damages per day in the amount the District 
will determine for each project. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

A - 4 

5.3 Task Work Orders will be assigned to contract holders on an alternating basis while utilizing a fair 
and balanced approach, while also considering the best qualified contractor for a particular job, at 
the sole discretion of the District.  

5.4 The District does not guarantee the number of assignments, if any or the dollar value of fees for 
tasks that may be assigned. This Agreement shall be non-exclusive and without limitation upon the 
District to obtain services from third parties as the District deems appropriate in its sole discretion. 

 
 

End of Exhibit A 
 
 

 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit B 
UNIT PRICE SCHEDULE  

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

B - 1 

In accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions for Construction, the following Unit Price Schedule 
may be used for the Contract Work (individual projects) as the Owner may direct.  
 
SECTION 1. LABOR RATES  
The hourly wage rates shall be utilized for calculating the total cost of labor pursuant to this Agreement. 
All hourly wage rates set forth herein are inclusive of the Contractor’s overhead, profit and cost of all 
employee burdens, benefits, insurance and Worker’s Compensation coverage. The Contractor shall provide, 
if so required by Owner, as supporting data, evidence of the direct cost of labor, Contractor’s overhead, 
profit, and each category of employee burden, benefit and related cost.  
• Standard labor shall be between the hours of 7:00 AM and 5:00 PM Eastern Standard Time, Monday 

through Friday.   

• After Hours labor shall be defined as any hours worked outside of Standard (above).  

• Emergency rate is applied when Contractor is able to mobilize and arrive on site within two hours      
(2 HRS) of emergency notification by the District. Work shall be performed continuously until the 
emergency condition is resolved or stabilized, unless otherwise directed by the District.  

 

Labor Category* UOM Standard Rate 
(M-F 7AM -5PM) 

After Hours 
Rate 

Emergency 
Rate 

Superintendent HR $161.71 $242.46 $323.42 
Foreman HR $87.55 $130.95 $166.86 
Laborer  HR $44.29 $65.10 $87.55 
Skilled Laborer  HR $49.44 $72.98 $97.85 
Welder  HR $227.63 $294.58 $348.14 
Equipment Operator  HR $73.13 $109.49 $146.26 

 *Note: Labor only, superintendent truck and/or crew truck excluded. 
 
SECTION 2. EQUIPMENT RATES 
Equipment will be utilized in the performance of the Work and the hourly rate corresponding to each.  Each 
and every listed rate is an all-inclusive rate, which includes but is not necessarily limited to, the cost of 
purchasing, leasing, maintaining, licensing, transporting and fueling the equipment, the Contractor’s 
overhead and any profit to be derived by the Contractor from the use of the equipment pursuant to the 
Agreement, and is not subject to additional markup by the Contractor.   
Each and every equipment rate shall remain in effect for the duration of the Contract and shall apply to 
both additions to and deletions from the Work (collectively, changes to the Work).  Any costs for such 
equipment that are attributable to changes to the Work shall be computed on a net hourly basis multiplied 
by the corresponding rate.   
The hourly rates are exclusive of the cost of Labor, if any, that is necessary to operate the equipment.   
 
Refer to Exhibit D – Contractor Proposal for the Equipment Rates.   
 

End of Exhibit B 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 1 

Table of Contents: 

I. General Safety Requirements, Contractor Parking and Access, Break Areas 
II. Construction Site Minimum Personal Protective Equipment (“PPE”) and Clothing Requirements 
III. Reserved 
IV. Asbestos/Cadmium or Lead/CFCs 
V. Confined Spaces 
VI. Hazardous and Chemical Waste Disposal 
VII. Electrical Safety Policy 
VIII. Lock out/Tag out (“LOTO”) 
IX. Fall Protection 
X. Aerial Work Platforms (“AWP”) 
XI. Ladders 
XII. Trenching and Excavation 
XIII. Utility Locates 
XIV. Mobile Cranes 
XV. Heavy Equipment Operations 
XVI. Diving Operations 
XVII. RCES Power Outage Scheduling Requirements for Contractors 

 
Definitions: 
The following is a list of defined terms and their corresponding meaning as they appear within this 
document: 

Contractor: The word, Contractor, as it appears within this document, means the Contractor or the 
Consultant as named and as defined within the Agreement.  The Contractor’s, rights, privileges, duties and 
obligations, as set forth herein also apply to each of its Sub-contractors and Sub-subcontractors and the 
suppliers of each and to the Consultant and each of its Sub-consultants and Sub-subconsultants and the 
suppliers of each. 
Owner: The word, Owner, as it appears within this document, means the Owner, acting on its own behalf, 
or the Owner’s Representative, acting on the Owner’s behalf, each as named and defined within the 
Agreement, together with their designated representative(s). 

 I. GENERAL SAFETY REQUIREMENTS, CONTRACTOR PARKING AND ACCESS, BREAK AREAS  
The Owner is dedicated to establishing and maintaining a safe work environment on all of its sites. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is obligated to strictly abide by the safety regulations and requirements 
set forth within these Special Contract Conditions.  Flagrant disregard for safety regulations and 
requirements by the Contractor may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate 
suspension of all relevant work activities and permanent removal of the responsible party, individual 
(or both) from the Owner’s property. 

All workers must maintain appropriate and respectful behavior at all times. The following behaviors 
are not allowed and may result in disciplinary action up to and including immediate removal from 
the property: 

a) Fighting 
b) Horseplay 
c) Possession of firearms 
d) Possession/use of alcohol/drugs 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 2 

Work performed must be planned and communicated prior to starting and must incorporate safety 
into the planning. This shall take the form of a Project Site-Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”), a hazard 
analysis, pre-task planning, etc. The type of planning used should be based on the complexity of 
the project and the associated safety hazards. Do not begin work before safety measures are in 
place and training is complete. Any changes to the PSSP must be communicated to the Owner. 
All workers, including managers and supervisors, shall have the proper training and instruction on 
general safety requirements for the project as well as any task or equipment specific training 
required to complete the project. This also includes temporary workers. Awareness-type training is 
not sufficient where task or equipment specific training is required. 
No one shall knowingly be permitted to work while their ability or alertness is so impaired by 
fatigue, illness, or other cause that they may expose themselves or others to injury. 
All jobsite emergencies shall be reported immediately. For fire or medical emergencies, call 911 
and ask for District Fire Department. Report all emergencies to an immediate supervisor, the project 
manager and the Owner. 
All work-related materials must be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping exits, access ways, 
walkways and sidewalks unobstructed. Work areas must be kept as clean and free of debris as 
practicable. Trash cans must be provided for refuse. 
Smoking, “vaping”, and smokeless tobacco use will be permitted in designated areas only. The 
Owner reserves the right to designate these areas on a project. 
Workers shall not engage in any activity, including cell phone usage, which diverts their attention 
while actually engaged in performing work. This includes operating vehicles and equipment. If cell 
phone usage is the primary means of communication, then it must be used in hands-free mode. 
The use of ear buds is prohibited. 
No one shall ride in a vehicle or mobile equipment unless they are on a seat, with the exceptions 
of aerial work platforms (AWPs”) and other equipment designed to be ridden while standing. Riding 
in the back of pick-ups shall not be allowed. 
Seatbelts must be used when provided in any type of vehicle, including but not limited to, personal 
vehicles, industrial trucks, haulage, earth moving, and material handling vehicles. Seatbelts must 
also be used in a personal transport vehicle (“PTV”) if so equipped. 
Posted speed limits and other traffic signs shall be observed at all times. Stop for personnel in 
and/or entering a crosswalk as they have the right of way. 
Do not pass or drive around busses when they are loading, unloading, or stopped in a driving lane. 

Park in authorized areas only. Do not block or obstruct intersections, fire lanes or fire hydrants, 
traffic lanes, pedestrian walkways, driveways or parking lot entrances. Vehicles parked in 
unauthorized places may be towed without notice at the vehicle owner’s expense. 
Fresh drinking water must be provided at construction job sites. If a cooler is used instead of 
bottled water, then it must be maintained in a sanitary condition, be capable of being tightly closed, 
equipped with a tap, and clearly marked as to its content. Disposable cups must be provided. 
Trashcans must be provided for the disposable cups and/or bottles. 
Portable restrooms and hand washing facilities must be provided, if needed, and must be 
maintained in a clean and sanitary condition. Portable restrooms must meet Florida Administrative 
Code 64E-6.0101. The Owner reserves the right to determine the location of these facilities. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 3 

II. CONSTRUCTION SITE MINIMUM PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (“PPE”) AND CLOTHING 
REQUIREMENTS 

The Contractor shall require that all workers within the construction limits always wear/utilize 
personal protective equipment (“PPE”), including but not limited to the following: hard hats, safety 
glasses, high visibility vests or shirts, construction/work-grade footwear and long pants. Additional 
PPE shall be utilized when other specific hazards are present as defined by the Project Specific 
Safety Plan (“PSSP”). All PPE must meet current Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(“OSHA”) and American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) requirements. The Owner reserves 
the right of final decision, in its sole and absolute discretion, as to whether the PPE utilized meets 
project requirements. “Cowboy” and similar novelty hard hats are not permitted. Sleeveless shirts 
are not permitted. All high-visibility clothing is to be monitored closely to ensure that all items 
retain the protective qualities provided by the manufacturer. Vests and shirts that have become 
faded are to be replaced and shall not be worn while performing work on the Owner’s job site. 
Shirts designed to be worn by the general public, such as those endorsing sports teams or other 
products or services, even if they are yellow, green, or orange, are not considered high-visibility 
shirts and do not meet the requirements set forth herein.  In the event that any of the requirements 
set forth within this Section conflict with the requirements set forth elsewhere within this document 
or within any of the Contract Documents, the more stringent requirements shall apply. 

III. RESERVED. 

IV. ASBESTOS/CADMIUM OR LEAD/CFCs 

 A. ASBESTOS 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that Asbestos-Containing Materials 
(“ACM”) and/or Presumed Asbestos-Containing Materials (“PACM”), including without 
limitation, thermal system insulation, and sprayed on or troweled on surfacing material 
that is presumed to contain asbestos, exists or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor 
may be performing Work or services in or near areas that contain ACM and/or PACM as 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for 
communicating existing conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and 
employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner and Contractor agree 
that the quantities of ACM and/or PACM referred to in the Contract Documents are 
approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant 
to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration Asbestos Standards, 29 CFR Parts 
1910, 1915, and 1926. 

 B. CADMIUM and/or LEAD 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that cadmium and/or lead exists, 
or may exist, at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services in 
or near areas that contain cadmium and/or lead as specified in the Contract Documents.  
Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing conditions to 
all subcontractors and employees thereof in accordance with the Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration Hazard Communication Standard 29 CFR Part 1926.59.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the cadmium and/or lead referred to in the Contract Documents 
are described for the sole purpose of providing notification pursuant to the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration Cadmium Standard 29 CFR 1926.63 and/or Lead 
Standard 29 CFR 1926.62. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 4 

 C. CHLOROFLUOROCARBONS (“CFCs”) 

Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that chlorofluorocarbons (“CFCs”) 
exist, or may exist at the Job Site and that Contractor may be performing Work or services 
in or near areas that contain CFCs as specified in the Contract Documents.  Should the 
Contractor’s work result in (i) any loss or release of CFCs from any source, including any 
equipment or containers, or (ii) any addition by Contractor of CFCs to any equipment or 
container, then Contractor shall provide all necessary documentation concerning such loss, 
release or addition, including the quantities of CFCs affected, to the Owner.  The Owner 
and Contractor agree that the quantities of CFCs referred to in the Contract Documents 
are approximate and are enumerated for the sole purpose of providing notification to the 
Contractor. 

 D. USE OF ASBESTOS/LEAD/CADMIUM CONTAINING MATERIALS 
Contractor shall not utilize or install any asbestos, lead, or cadmium-containing products 
on the Owner’s property or within the scope of Work or services contemplated by this 
Agreement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain appropriate Material Safety 
Data Sheets for all materials to be used, and verify that the products do not contain 
asbestos, lead or cadmium.  This requirement extends to any materials that may be 
specified in the Contract Documents.  Specification of a particular material by the Owner 
in the Contract Documents does not relieve the Contractor from its responsibility to verify 
that the specified material does not contain asbestos, lead or cadmium.  If a specified 
material does contain asbestos, lead or cadmium, then Contractor shall notify Owner 
immediately, and submit a proposed alternate material to be used in lieu of the specified 
material.  Contractor shall submit Material Safety Data Sheets for all installed products, as 
part of the As-Built package.  If Contractor installs any product containing asbestos, lead 
or cadmium, without previously obtaining the written consent of the Owner, Contractor 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with removal of the asbestos, lead, or cadmium 
containing material. 

V. CONFINED SPACES 
Contractor acknowledges that it has been made aware that permit-required confined spaces exist 
or may exist at the Job Site and that the Contractor may be performing Work or Services in or near 
permit-required confined spaces as specified in the Contract Documents.  The Contractor shall fully 
comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910.146 in connection with all Work in any permit-
required confined space (“PRCS”), as defined by OSHA.  The Contractor must have a written 
confined space program when performing Permit Required Confined Space (“PRCS”) entry. 
Accordingly, site specific conditions related to confined space entry must be addressed in the 
Contractor’s Project Specific Safety Plan (“PSSP”). In support of the Contractor’s preparation the 
PSSP, the Contractor shall obtain from the Owner the following information:  (i) the elements that 
make the space in question a permit-required confined space, including the hazards identified and 
the Owner’s experience with the space, and (ii) any precautions or procedures that the Owner has 
implemented for the protection of employees in or near any PRCS where the Contractor’s personnel 
will be working.  
The Contractor shall provide its own confined space permits when working on the Owner’s job site. 
All workers entering a confined space must have training commensurate with the role or task they 
will be performing. This includes entrant, attendant entry supervisor, air monitoring, rescue, site-
specific training for those workers exposed to hazards posed by PRCS, but who may not be 
performing work inside of confined space or supporting confined space entry. 
Confined spaces that have been evaluated and designated by the Owner as a PRCS will be treated 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 5 

as such, despite whether or not the Contractor agrees or disagrees with that designation. Trenches 
may also be treated as a PRCS under certain conditions. The Owner reserves the right to designate 
any trench as a PRCS in its sole and absolute discretion.   
Alternate entry procedures or reclassification may be used if all requirements of 29CFR1926.1200 
are met. When certain conditions described in the OSHA standard are met, the Contractor may use 
alternate entry procedures for worker entry into a PRCS, however, the Contractor must first consult 
with the Owner prior to using any alternate entry procedures. 
The Owner shall provide information to the Contractor respecting any known hazards associated 
with a given PRCS.  However, it is ultimately the Contractor’s responsibility to determine, with 
reasonable certainty, the existence of any and all hazards prior to any worker’s entry into the 
confined space.  The Owner is NOT responsible for providing additional services prior to or during 
entry into a given confined space, including but not limited to: atmospheric monitoring, emergency 
response services, including rescue, attendants or entry supervisors. 

The Owner reserves the right to order the immediate discontinuation of the performance of work 
and the immediate removal of the Contractor’s personnel from a confined space if an unsafe 
condition or behavior is observed. In such instances, the space will be immediately evacuated until 
concerns are resolved to the satisfaction of the Owner. 
When both the Owner’s personnel and the Contractor’s personnel will be working in or near any 
PRCS, prior to entering such PRCS, the Contractor shall coordinate entry operations with the Owner.  
The Contractor shall inform the Owner at the conclusion of the entry operations regarding the 
PRCS program followed and regarding any hazards encountered or created within any PRCS during 
entry operations.  The Contractor takes full and complete responsibility for communicating existing 
conditions to all Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and to the employees thereof.   

VI. HAZARDOUS AND CHEMICAL WASTE DISPOSAL. 
All hazardous, regulated, universal and chemical wastes generated by the Contractor during the 
performance of the Work shall be managed in accordance with applicable federal, state and local law 
and regulations, including but not limited to Title 40 CFR Subchapter I, Parts 260 through 265, 273, 
279, 302; Title 49 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter A and Rule 62-730 of the Florida Administrative Code 
as applicable to "Large Quantity Generators of Hazardous Wastes".  Packaging, labeling, storage and 
disposal of such wastes shall also comply with Owner’s policies, which are available from Owner.  
Such wastes must be properly placed in U.S. Department of Transportation approved packaging, with 
appropriate markings at the time of generation.  Packages containing such wastes must be labeled 
to identify the contents, date of accumulation and the Contractor’s name and telephone number.  
Such packages must be stored at a secure location and not exposed to weather.  Upon completion 
of the Project or before 60 days has elapsed from the date of the first accumulation of wastes in each 
specific container, whichever is earlier, Contractor shall contact Owner to arrange for disposal.  Owner 
will arrange for the disposal of such wastes by Owner’s approved hazardous waste disposal vendor.  
Upon Owner’s receipt of the invoice for disposal costs, a copy of the invoice will be forwarded to the 
Contractor and Contractor shall reimburse Owner therefor. The Contractor shall be responsible for all 
packaging, storage, and labeling costs. 

VII. ELECTRICAL SAFETY POLICY 
Implicit on all electrical work performed at any of the Owner’s properties is the Contractor’s (and 
its Subcontractor's and Sub-subcontractor's) strict compliance with the Owner’s Electrical Safety 
Policy (“Policy”). 
The Policy is that all electrical work shall be performed de-energized as a standard work practice.  
This Policy applies to the Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, Subconsultants, Sub-

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 6 

subconsultants and anyone who performs electrical work on or near electrical conductors or circuit 
parts which are or may be energized.  Contractor is expected to exercise good judgment and take 
personal responsibility for reducing the hazard risk to its lowest level and to ensure strict 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, regulations and rules. 
The Contractor agrees that its employees and agents and the employees of any Subcontractor, 
Sub-subcontractor, Subconsultant, Sub-subconsultant or anyone who performs electrical work as 
described herein shall adhere to all posted warnings, wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) and protective clothing and use appropriate tools until exposed energized 
electrical conductors or circuit parts are verified to be at a zero energy state.  For systems up to 
1000V, the zero-energy state shall be verified by the Contractor and those greater than 1000V shall 
be verified by the Owner. Any work performed within six feet (6’) of systems greater than 1000V 
at a zero energy state and where there are exposed cables, all personnel shall wear a minimum of 
8cal daily wear Flash Resistant Clothing (“FRC”). 

In the narrowly limited circumstances when exposed energized parts are not de-energized, 
excluding diagnostic testing that cannot be performed de-energized, a documented job briefing 
must first be completed by the Contractor and submitted to the Owner for approval.  The intent of 
the briefing is to provide notification for performing energized work to the Owner prior to 
performing the work.  The job briefing shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
• Validation for energized work 
• Hazards associated with scheduled work such as working in roadways or work performed within 

boundary, etc. 
• Work procedures 
• Energy source controls such as physical barriers or meter verification 
• PPE to be utilized 
• Job work plan summary 
• A complete list of the names of all individuals involved in the work/briefing 

The Contractor understands and agrees that the Owner, throughout the term of the Contract, may 
review the Contractor's, Subcontractor's, and Sub-subcontractor's safe work plan to confirm for its 
operations and the safety and wellbeing of its employees, guests and invitees that adequate 
contingency plans have been considered in the event of an inadvertent interruption of electrical 
service. 

Contractor shall establish or shall cause its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to establish 
appropriate boundaries to restrict access around the Work based on the type of hazard present as 
called for in NFPA 70. The boundaries shall be either: 
A flash protection boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of four feet away (600V, 600A max) from 
the exposed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts where the potential exists for an arc 
flash to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different flash boundary is 
appropriate.  Persons must not cross the flash protection boundary unless they are wearing the 
appropriate PPE and are under direct supervision of a qualified person. 
A limited approach boundary, which shall be established by the qualified person of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor a minimum of three feet six inches (3’6”) away from the 
exposed fixed energized electrical conductors or circuit parts, 600V max, where the potential exists 
for an electric shock to occur, unless specific information is available indicating a different limited 
approach boundary is appropriate. The purpose of the limited approach boundary is to advise 
unqualified persons that an electrical shock hazard exists and to reduce the risk of contact with an 
exposed energized conductor.  Only qualified persons and immediately supervised unqualified 
persons are allowed to cross the limited approach boundary. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 7 

The Contractor understands and agrees that it is the responsibility of the Contractor to ensure 
compliance with all applicable safety laws, codes regulations and rules as well as adherence to the 
Policy for all electrical work. The Owner reserves the right to observe and/or audit the Contractor’s 
(or its Subcontractor's or Sub-subcontractor's) work without notice.  The Contractor expressly 
understands and unequivocally agrees that any failure to strictly comply with any applicable safety 
laws, codes, regulations, and the rules of this Policy constitutes a material breach of the Contract 
and may result in an immediate work stoppage or termination of the Contract at no additional cost 
to the Owner. 

VIII. LOCK OUT/TAG OUT (“LOTO”) 
The Contractor shall have and maintain a program consisting of energy control procedures, 
employee training and periodic inspections prior to performing Lock Out/Tag Out (“LOTO”). The 
program shall have steps for notification, shutting down, isolating, blocking and securing machines, 
applying LOTO devices, dissipating stored energy equipment or facilities to control hazardous 
energy. It shall also have steps for the removal and transfer of LOTO devices and tags. 
The Contractor must verify by testing that the machine or equipment has been isolated and secured 
from all energy sources before work begins. All affected personnel must be notified prior to starting.  
Proper PPE must be worn in accordance with NFPA70E as referenced in RCES Electrical Safety, 
latest revision. 
LOTO devices shall indicate the identity of the employee applying the device(s) as well as their 
department/company, contact number and date if the work will extend beyond one shift. A lock 
and tag must be used for all energy isolation. LOTO devices shall be standardized by color, shape 
or size and shall not be used for any other purpose. LOTO devices shall only be used for performing 
service or maintenance on equipment, not to be used for any other use. LOTO shall be performed 
only by the person(s) who are performing the servicing or maintenance. Each person performing 
LOTO must have individual locks and tags. 

Before LOTO devices are removed by the worker who applied the device(s), the work area shall be 
inspected to ensure that nonessential items have been removed, all workers have been safely 
positioned or removed, and affected workers have been notified of re-energization of the 
equipment. 
Hot tap operations for pressurized pipelines carrying natural gas, steam or water do not require 
LOTO if it is demonstrated that: 
a)  Continuity of service is essential, and 
b)  Shutdown of the system is impractical, and 
c)  Procedures are documented and followed, and 
d)  Special equipment is used to provide effective protection for workers 

Systems shall be de-energized and taken to a zero-energy state using applicable LOTO procedures 
and verified before work begins. Work on an energized system (e.g. diagnostic testing that cannot 
be performed de-energized) shall require validation accepted by the Owner and project manager. 

If an equipment/machine is not capable of accepting a lock, a tag may be used without a lock as 
long as additional means can be used to prevent accidental activation of the device (e.g., removal 
of a lever, handle, switch, or valve). 
Group LOTO is permitted when all of the following are met: 
a) A single authorized employee must assume the overall responsibility for the control of 

hazardous energy for all workers in the group. Authorized employees must have knowledge 
and training in the following: 

b) Skills necessary for the safe application, use and removal of energy-isolating devices 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 8 

c) Hazardous energy source recognition 
d) Type and magnitude of the hazardous energy sources in the workplace 
e) Energy-control procedures, including methods and means to isolate and control energy sources 
The authorized employee must communicate and implement LOTO procedures, coordinate the 
operation to all affected workers, and verify that all LOTO procedural steps have been taken. 
Each worker must affix their own personal LOTO device and tag to the group LOTO device or group 
lockbox before work begins. 
The authorized employee must not remove the group LOTO device until each worker in the group 
has removed their personal LOTO device. The authorized employee will be the first lock on and the 
last lock off unless their responsibilities have been handed over to another authorized employee. 
The authorized employee must make sure that there is a continuity of LOTO protection during a 
shift change. It is the responsibility of the oncoming worker to verify the machine, equipment or 
facilities is still in a zero-energy state. If there will be a lapse in time between the outgoing worker 
removing their LOTO device and the oncoming worker placing their LOTO device, the oncoming 
authorized employee must repeat the LOTO process and place their personal LOTO device on the 
machine, equipment or system. 
In the event that a worker leaves the jobsite without removing their LOTO device and cannot be 
located, and it is necessary to restore the equipment to its normal operating state, the LOTO device 
may be removed after all of the following have been completed: 
a)  Contractor has had no success in contacting the worker to determine if they are available to 

remove the LOTO device. 
b) Contractor’s supervisory personnel, the authorized person, and the Owner have determined 

that it is safe to re-energize the machine, equipment or facility. 
c)  The authorized person has notified all affected individuals that the machine, equipment or 

facility is being reenergized. 
d)  After removal of the LOTO device, the Contractor must notify the worker whose lock was 

removed, prior to their return to work, that their LOTO device was removed and the machine, 
equipment or facility has been reenergized. 

When the Contractor is performing work on existing machines, equipment or facilities owned and 
operated by the Owner, the Owner’s responsible Project/Engineering Management and responsible 
Contractor supervisory personnel shall inform each other of their respective LOTO programs. The 
Owner reserves the right to determine if the Contractor’s LOTO program meets the Owner’s 
requirements. 

IX.  FALL PROTECTION 
The Contractor shall provide training to all affected workers regarding the proper use of fall 
protection systems. Workers using fall protection improperly (e.g. harness slightly loose, D-ring in 
the wrong position on the back, etc.) can correct the condition and then continue working. 
Repeated misuse or misuse which results in an extremely hazardous condition (e.g. using an 
improper anchor point, using the wrong type or length of lanyard, etc.) will be considered cause 
for the Owner to demand an immediate stop to the performance of all related work (hereinafter 
deemed a “STOP WORK” condition), and the Contractor shall then immediately discontinue the 
performance of such work. When workers are observed being exposed to an unmitigated fall 
hazard, it will also be considered a STOP WORK condition. Work will not resume until the Contractor 
has reevaluated the situation and developed corrective measures to ensure the hazard(s) will not 
occur again. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 9 

Fall restraint systems shall be used instead of fall arrest systems whenever feasible. These systems 
allow a person to reach an area to perform their duties but prevent them from reaching a point 
where a fall could occur. 
Self-retracting lifelines or lanyards (“SRLs”) must be anchored at the height of the harness D-ring 
or above. It should be positioned directly overhead in order to prevent swing falls. When it isn’t 
feasible to anchor overhead, and anchorage is only possible below the D-Ring, then fall protection 
equipment specifically designed for that application must be used. All SRLs must be used in 
accordance with the SRL manufacturer’s instructions. 

The Contractor shall use anchorage connection points designated by the Owner when available. If 
no such designated anchorages are available, then the Contractor’s qualified person must select 
structures suitable as fall protection anchorage points for their workers. 
Fall protection is not required when using portable ladders unless the ladder cannot be placed to 
prevent slipping, tilting or falling. If ladders must be used under these circumstances (e.g. lifts are 
not feasible), a Personal Fall Arrest System (“PFAS”), independent of the ladder, must be used. 
Working height on portable ladders is limited to twenty-five feet (25’). 
The use of a ladder, or similar, in close proximity (i.e., ladder length plus 4 feet) to a guardrail or 
parapet may create an exposure to the fall hazard. Fall protection must be provided by raising the 
height of the guardrail/parapet or a PFAS, independent of the ladder, must be used. Ladders or 
work platforms with a built-in guarded work platform do not require additional fall protection. 
Workers shall be protected from falling into excavations five feet (5’) or more in depth. 

Slopes with an angle of measure from horizontal grade that exceed 40⁰ require the use of fall 
protection. 
Fall protection is required for work conducted six feet (6’) or more above water. Where fall 
protection completely prevents falling into the water, personal flotation devices (“PFDs”) are not 
required. 

X. AERIAL WORK PLATFORMS (“AWP”) 
All operators must be trained in safe and proper AWP operation. Training documents must be 
provided to the Owner immediately upon the Owner’s request.  
Written permission from the manufacturer is required before modifications, additions or alterations 
can be made to an AWP. 
Operators shall be responsible for following the requirements of the AWP operating manual and 
ensuring that the vehicle is in proper operating condition. Operators shall immediately report any 
item of non-compliance to a supervisor for corrective action. AWPs that are not in proper operating 
condition shall be immediately removed from service until repaired. The key shall be removed from 
the vehicle and a tag shall be attached to the control panel to identify the machine as “out of 
service” the vehicle shall not to be operated until it has been repaired. 
The primary purpose of AWP equipment is to raise personnel and necessary tools to a temporary 
height for work; the AWP shall not be used as a crane. AWP equipment is not designed to lift 
materials except on the platform and within the manufacturer’s capacity limits. Lifting items on the 
guardrails or by attaching them to the AWP equipment in any manner not approved by the 
manufacturer is strictly prohibited. 
AWP occupants shall wear a fall restraint system, which includes a safety harness along with a 
fixed lanyard or self-retracting lifeline (“SRL”) of appropriate length (e.g. 3 feet). If the AWP is 
being used at heights of 18 ft. or less, then a SRL shall be utilized. The fall restraint system shall 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 10 

be connected to an anchorage point provided by the manufacturer at all times when the AWP is in 
use.  
Transfer at Height (in or out of the basket/platform) is permitted however one hundred percent 
(100%) tie-off is required during the maneuver. 
Some AWPs are equipped with an external fall protection system. These systems are either a halo 
system or rigid rail engineered to safely allow personnel to exit the basket with 270-degree (270°) 
mobility around the basket. These systems are designed to provide an anchorage for fall arrest 
and can be used as such. Fall restraint is also an option depending upon the situation. When an 
individual is attached outside of the AWP basket, the AWP shall be emergency stopped and the 
basket shall not be moved. If an individual must reach an area that is not within the current radius 
of the attached fall protection system (harness/lanyard) they shall re-enter the AWP basket, move 
the unit to a closer location, emergency stop the AWP and then exit the basket to perform the 
given task from the new location.  

XI.  LADDERS 
Consideration must be given to the method of transporting tools and materials to the work location. 
Workers are not permitted to hand-carry items up the ladder. Hands must be free to climb the 
ladder. 
Ladders placed in areas such as passageways, walkways, doorways or driveways, or where they 
can be displaced by workplace activities or traffic should be barricaded to prevent accidental 
movement. 

Never place a ladder in front of doors unless the door is locked and access is controlled. 

Never climb the back-bracing of a step/A-frame ladder unless it is a twin (double-sided) ladder. 
Only one person is permitted on a ladder at a time, unless it is designed for two-person use. 

Do not use ladders as scaffold. 
All manufacturer stickers/labels must be affixed and in readable condition. 
Prior to each use, the Contractor must visually check the ladder for the following: 
a) Free of cracks, splits, and corrosion. 
b) Steps/rungs free of oil/grease. 
c) Steps/rungs firmly attached to side rails. 
d) Steps/rungs not bent. 
e) Safety feet/base and other moveable hardware in good working condition. 
f) Ropes/pulleys in good condition (extension ladders). 
Temporary fixes shall not be used to make repairs to a damaged ladder. Any repair to a ladder 
must be with manufacturer approved parts or kits. Any accessories used with a ladder must be 
approved by the manufacturer. 
Work shall not be performed from a permanent fixed ladder unless a fall protection system, such 
as a ladder climbing device, is installed and used. 
Extension, straight, and portable ladders cannot be made of wood (except job-made ladders on 
construction sites); fiberglass is preferred. Ladders made of aluminum cannot be used for electrical 
work or near energized equipment. 

The working height for an extension shall be limited to under 25 feet.  
Workers shall not sit, kneel, step, or stand on the pail shelf, top cap, or the first step below the top 
cap of an A-frame/step ladder. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 11 

If ladders are used within 1.5 times their height to a leading edge or drop in elevation (measured 
horizontally), fall protection devices must be used. 
Do not use an A-frame/step ladder to transition to another elevated work surface unless it has 
been specifically designed for this. 
Use ladders correctly. Do not over-reach. Prevent belt buckles from extending outside the side rails 
of the ladder. A-frame/step ladders should be used only for front-facing work. Do not perform 
“side-load” work. 

XII. TRENCHING AND EXCAVATION 

Utility locate tickets must be obtained prior to breaking ground by each and every contractor 
performing trenching/excavation and the operator performing the trenching/excavation must have 
reviewed the ticket. Third party locates may also be required for trenching/excavations located 
beyond the utility provider’s service point.  
All soil shall be considered as Class C soil. Class A and B soils do not exist on property. All sloping 
of trenches must be at a 1.5:1.0 ratio. Benching is not allowed in Class C soil.  
Any shoring, bracing, shielding or trench boxes used must be in good condition. Tabulated data 
must be made available upon request.  
Trenches or excavations that have a hazardous atmosphere or the potential to contain a hazardous 
atmosphere must be monitored by the competent person and may have to be treated as a confined 
space if appropriate.  
The Contractor must provide appropriate barricades to protect people from falling or driving into 
the trench or excavation.  Lighted and/or reflective barricades are preferable at night. Caution tape 
is not a sufficient barricade.  
Barricades must be placed at least six feet (6’) from the edge of the trench or excavation.  Trenches 
and excavation that are left open and unattended shall be barricaded until work resumes. These 
barricades shall be checked at least daily to assure no changes have occurred. 

XIII. UTILITY LOCATES 

Routine Locate Tickets: 
The Contractor must request the locate ticket a minimum of three (3) full business days before 
digging. 
If the dig site is in an area that is under water, the Contractor must call for the locate ten (10) full 
business days before digging. 
Locate ticket requests can be submitted anytime on-line at Sunshine One but must be submitted 
to Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) between 7:00 AM and 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, 
excluding weekends and holidays. 
Obtain a completed locate ticket through Sunshine State One Call of Florida (“SSOCOF”) by calling 
811. 
Call the Reedy Creek Energy Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. 

Provide the Sunshine One Call locate ticket number. 

Mark up the RCES supplied map to show limits of excavation. 
The Contractor is expressly forbidden from performing any excavation work until it has received 
and reviewed the RCES Utility Locate Office response and notes for utility presence, conflicts or 
special conditions. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 12 

Emergency Locate Tickets:  
An emergency is defined as any condition constituting a clear and present danger to life or property; 
a situation caused by the escape of any substance transported by means of an underground facility; 
any interruption of vital public service or communication caused by any break or defect in an 
underground facility; or any impairment of public roads or utilities that requires immediate repair 
(collectively, incident(s)), as determined by the authority having jurisdiction within the area where 
the incident has occurred. Difficulties experienced by the Contractor in properly scheduling the 
performance of planned work activities will not constitute justification for obtaining an emergency 
locate ticket. 
During the hours of 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM, Monday through Friday, call the Reedy Creek Energy 
Services (“RCES”) Utility Locate Office at (407) 560-6539. Call the SSOCOF at 811 or 1-800-432-
4770. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance from 
the RCES Utility Locate Office. 
On weekdays between 4:00 PM and 7:00 AM, or Weekends and Holidays: Call the RCES Control 
Room Emergency Number at 407-824-4185. Provide the nature of the emergency and exact 
location. Contact SSOCOF at 811. Provide the SSOCOF locate ticket number to the RCES Control 
Room. The Contractor shall not begin emergency excavation until it has received verbal clearance 
from the RCES Control Room. 
No excavation will be permitted until the excavator has submitted a Locate Ticket request and 
received clearance as described above. 
Each company that performs digging must obtain and follow their own locate ticket. The excavator 
shall have a copy of the locate ticket at the excavation site. 

Requirements must be communicated directly to the person(s) performing the digging. 
Exposed underground utilities must be protected. 

Each company must locate utilities when cutting or drilling into concrete. 

Secondary utilities must be considered when performing digging activities. 
The Contractor shall IMMEDIATELY STOP EXCAVATION if an underground facility is contacted 
(even if there is no noticeable damage) and immediately notify the Owner of such. Warning signs 
that indicate the potential of contacting a buried, underground utility include buried red concrete, 
unpainted buried concrete, wooden boards, warning tape, etc. 
It is important to understand tolerance zones. Locate marks show the approximate location of 
underground facilities. The lines can actually be located anywhere within the tolerance zone. 
Proceed cautiously when digging within 24 inches on either side of the locate marks. 
When any mechanized equipment is used within the tolerance zone, supervisory personnel shall 
be present to supervise the operation. 

XIV. MOBILE CRANES 

Operators must be certified on the specific type of crane they are operating. Certification must 
come from an accredited crane operator testing organization, such as The National Commission for 
the Certification of Crane Operators (“NCCCO”). 
A Lift Plan shall be submitted on all critical lifts and should be completed and submitted for review 
and acceptance, with the exception of emergency lifts, 72 hours, prior to lift. 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 13 

A critical lift plan is required for the following lifts: 
a) Lift is ≥ 75% of the cranes rated capacity as determined by the load chart 
b) Two or more cranes involved in the lift or adjacent to each other 
c) Hoisting personnel 
d) Lift from floating platform, barge, or vessel 
e) Any lift where boom intersects within 20 feet of monorail 
f) Any lift deemed critical by the Owner 
g) Any lift where boom intersects within 25 feet of a populated area 
A critical lift plan should include a Pre-Lift Crane Data Worksheet, step-by-step work instructions, 
a list of all personnel involved and their assignments, and a diagram of the lift and swing area. A 
3-D plan or comparable CAD rendering is preferable. A rigging plan is required to be submitted for 
critical lifts. If the crane will be set up on top of, or within 10-feet of a tunnel, manhole, or utility 
vault; or within 10-feet of a seawall, bridge, or water’s edge, Ground Bearing Pressures (“GBP”) 
for each outrigger (below the crane mats) must be submitted with the lift plan. 
The use of a crane to hoist personnel is prohibited except where it can be demonstrated that 
conventional means of reaching the work area (scaffold, ladders, aerial lifts, etc.) would be more 
hazardous or is not possible due to worksite conditions. Hoisting personnel shall comply with all 
parts of 29 CFR 1926.1431. 
The crane hook or other part of the load line may be used as an anchor for a personal fall arrest 
system where all of the following requirements are met: 
a) Approved by a qualified person 
b) Equipment operator must be at the worksite 
c) No load is suspended from the load line when the personal fall arrest system is anchored to it 

or the hook. 
Tag lines must be used for all lifts to control the load unless the use of a tag line is deemed unsafe 
or unfeasible. The decision to not use a tag line must be included in the lift plan and accepted by 
the Owner. 

All crane operations near, adjacent to, or within 10 feet of the monorail or skyway transportation 
system, require a special precautions are taken. All work must be coordinated with the Owner prior 
to commencing.  Any contact with anything associated with these systems must be reported 
immediately to the Owner. At no time will any materials be lifted over the systems. A spotter is 
required when a crane travels under the systems. 
Barricades and notices should be used to prevent people from entering the fall zone (the area 
where the load will land if dropped). No one is allowed to be under a suspended load, with the 
exception of steel workers working in accordance with 29 CFR 1926.753(d). 
In congested areas where barriers are not feasible, an audible signal (horn, whistles, etc.) must 
precede each lift to alert nearby personnel working in the proximity of the crane that the lift is in 
progress. Evening lifts may use alternative signaling methods in lieu of audible signals, if requested.  
The qualified signal person shall be the only person signaling the crane operator; however, anyone 
can signal a stop if there is a perceived emergency situation. 

XV. HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS 
The operator must not wear earbuds or headphones while operating heavy equipment. These 
devices may create a distraction and may prevent the operator from hearing important sounds in 
the work area (e.g. backup alarms, evacuation horns, etc.). They do not serve as hearing protection 
or attenuation which may be needed when operating heavy equipment. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 14 

Unless the cab is totally enclosed, the operator must wear appropriate personal protective 
equipment (“PPE”) which may include safety glasses, hearing or respiratory protection. When 
exiting the cab in a construction zone, the operator must wear the required site PPE.  Seat belts 
are required at all times.  

Chase (escort) vehicles / Spotters are required when: 
a) Heavy equipment travels to and from work zones 
b) Anticipated pedestrian or vehicle traffic intrudes within the safe work zone, in the judgment of 

the operator 
c) Space is restricted, and a safe work zone cannot be maintained 
d) The back-up alarm is muted 
e) Safe movement is in question 
f) Overhead hazards are present 
The equipment shall be operated at a safe speed. Equipment inspections shall be documented and 
available upon request. 
Check the area for overhead utility lines to ensure the equipment will remain at least 10 feet away 
from the lines at all times. 
Avoid backing up the equipment unless it is absolutely necessary. Attempt to always travel forward 
if possible. Backing up the equipment usually does not present a clear field of view. 
Never allow an individual to ride on running boards or any other part of the equipment. Only the 
operator should be on the equipment. 

Maintain three points of contact when exiting or entering the vehicle. 

Never exit a running vehicle. The vehicle must be turned off if the operator is leaving the cab. 
Remove keys from unattended vehicles. 
Always park the vehicle on level ground. Lower buckets, shovels, dippers, etc. and set the parking 
brake. 

XVI. DIVING OPERATIONS 
Before conducting dive operations, a job hazard assessment shall be developed by the Contractor 
and submitted to the Owner in the form of a dive plan (“Dive Plan”). A complete Dive Plan shall be 
developed and documented for each diving operation. The primary purpose of the Dive Plan is to 
provide a written document capturing the details of the dive operations. The Owner must approve 
all Dive Plans prior to beginning the dive operations. Dive Plans shall be reviewed on a periodic 
basis to ensure they remain relevant for the actual diving activity and have been updated as 
warranted (i.e., staff safety concerns are conveyed, new equipment or procedures are to be 
implemented, or an injury/incident has occurred).  
The Dive Plan shall include the following:  
a) Site & project information 
b) Immediate contact name(s) and telephone number(s) 
c) Information regarding personnel involved, including the Designated Person in Charge (“DPIC”), 

dive team roles and qualifications, assignment of responsibilities and verification of training 
records, and the verification of the physical fitness of dive team members 

d) Minimum equipment requirements 
e) Sequence of basic job steps and the recommended safe operational procedures and protection.  
f) Known and/or potential hazards, including environmental, surface, overhead and underwater 

conditions and hazards, including any anticipated hazardous conditions or confined spaces 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit C 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS – SEPTEMBER 2025 EDITION 
CONTRACT NO. C006942 

 

 

C - 15 

g) Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operations that may interfere with the dive or 
that pose a safety hazard to dive team members (i.e., watercraft, ride vehicles, chemicals, 
potentially dangerous aquatic wildlife and other types of hazards) 

h) Limited access or penetration situations. A diver entering a pipe, tunnel, wreck, or similarly 
enclosed or confining structure, (other than a habitat).  

Activities, equipment or processes in the area of operation that may interfere with the dive or that 
pose a safety hazard to dive team members shall require that proper controls be developed, 
documented and implemented to ensure the dive area is secured from such hazards impeding 
and/or entering the area.  

A diver-carried reserve breathing supply that meets the emergency air volume requirements for 
the dive profile with a separate first and second stage regulator shall be provided to each diver for 
all diving operations.   

 
XVII. RCES POWER OUTAGE SCHEDULING REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS 

Contractors shall provide a minimum three (3) week construction planning schedule to Reedy Creek 
Energy Services (“RCES”) Project Management on a weekly basis identifying all anticipated work 
including utility outages. 

a) A minimum seven (7) day notice will be required for scheduling utility outages to facilitate 
construction.  

b) Any contractor concern with available work duration window and expected task list shall 
be discussed with RCES Project Management before scheduling the utility outage.  

c) All utility outages shall be coordinated with the property owner impacted.  
d) Dates and utility outage duration shall be agreed upon between contractors, customers, 

RCES Project Management and RCES Electrical Operations.  
e) Contractors will be notified by RCES Project Management whether the requested utility 

outage schedule is approved or denied.  
f) In the event the scheduled utility outages need to be canceled due to weather, 

emergencies or customer requests, contractors will be notified, and contractors shall 
provide revised project schedule coordinating with RCES Project Management to plan for 
future power outages. 

 
 
 

END OF SPECIAL CONTRACT CONDITIONS 
 
 

End of Exhibit C 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 1 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT  
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
1.1. AGREEMENT/CONTRACT. The sum of all Contract Documents. It represents the entire and integrated 

agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or 
agreements, either written or oral.  The Agreement may be amended or modified only by a 
Modification, as defined below.  The Agreement shall be referred to throughout the Contract 
Documents as the “Agreement” or “Contract.” 
1.1.1. The Contract Documents consist of those documents specified in Section 33 of the 

Agreement.   
1.1.2. Modifications to the Agreement may be accomplished by:  (a) Change Order; (b) Directive; 

or (c) any other written amendment to the Agreement signed by both parties.  A Modification 
may be made only after execution of the Agreement. No Directive shall be construed as a 
Change Order or other Modification unless it expressly states. 

1.1.3. A Change Order is a written Modification executed by both parties (except in the event of a 
unilateral Change Order as herein provided) and consisting of additions, deletions or other 
changes to the Agreement.  A Change Order may be accompanied by and/or may identify 
additional or revised Drawings, sketches or other written instructions, which become and 
form a part of the Contract Documents by virtue of the executed Change Order.  Except as 
otherwise provided in Subparagraph 1.1.4., a Change in the Work, or a change in the 
Contract Time or the Contract Sum shall become the subject of a Change Order. 

1.1.4. A Directive is a written document issued by the Owner and consisting of additions, deletions, 
clarifications or other written instructions issued by the Owner with respect to the 
performance of the Work or the activities of the Contractor on the Job Site or the property 
of the Owner.  A Directive may include, but shall not be limited to, a bulletin, an engineering 
change, or other orders or instructions.  Directives may become the subject of a Change 
Order, either singularly or collectively.  Directives shall become the subject of a Change Order 
if they involve a Change in the Work, or a change in the Contract Time or the Contract Sum. 

1.2. ARCHITECT/ENGINEER. The person or entity having a direct contract with the Owner to design the 
Project or a portion thereof and to produce the Project Plans and Specifications or portion thereof, 
as identified in Section 13 of the Agreement or the most current Modification thereto, together with 
its subconsultants. 

1.3. CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  
The Contractor shall so designate a sufficient number of Project representatives that there shall be 
at least one authorized representative on the Job Site at all times in which the Work is being 
performed including, without limitation, a project manager (herein referred to as the "Project 
Manager") who shall at all times have authority to act (in all capacities necessary for the Work) for 
and bind the Contractor. 

1.4. JOB SITE.  The Job Site shall mean the area in which the Work is to be performed and such other 
areas as may be designated by the Owner for the storage of the Contractor's materials and 
equipment. 

1.5. OWNER.  The Owner is the person or organization identified as such in the Agreement.  The term 
"Owner," whenever it appears in the Contract Documents, means the Owner and/or the Owner's 
Representative acting on behalf or for the benefit of the Owner (except as otherwise specified in the 
Contract Documents or as the context otherwise requires); provided, however, that with respect to 
any provisions of the Agreement which require the Contractor to provide insurance for the protection 
of the Owner or to release the Owner from, or waive, any claims the Contractor may have against it, 
the term "Owner" shall mean the Owner and its supervisors, officers, employees, agents and assigns 
and the Owner’s Representatives and its parent, related, affiliated and subsidiary companies, and the 
officers, directors, agents, employees and assigns of each. 

1.6. OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. The Owner's Representative is the person or organization designated 
from time to time by the Owner to act as its representative as identified in Section 20 of the 
Agreement or the most current Modification thereto. 

1.7. PLANS.  Wherever the words "Plan," “Plan Set” or "Plans" are used in the Contract Documents, they 
shall be construed as having the same meaning as Drawing or Drawings. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 2 

1.8. PROJECT. The Project is the total construction of which the Work may be the whole or a part. 
1.9. PROVIDE. Except as the context otherwise requires, the term "provide" means to furnish, fabricate, 

complete, deliver, install and erect including all labor, materials, equipment, apparatus, 
appurtenances and expenses, necessary to complete in place, ready for operation or use under the 
terms of the Specifications. 

1.10. SUBCONTRACTOR; SUB-SUBCONTRACTOR. 
1.10.1. A Subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct contract with the Contractor to 

perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any materials or equipment to be 
incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

1.10.2. A Sub-subcontractor is a person or organization having a direct or indirect contract (on any 
tier) with a Subcontractor to perform any of the Work at the Job Site or to supply any 
materials or equipment to be incorporated in, or utilized in connection with, the Work. 

ARTICLE 2 - THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
2.1. EXECUTION, INTENT AND INTERPRETATIONS. 

2.1.1. The Contractor warrants and represents that, in executing the Agreement and undertaking 
the Work, it has not relied upon any oral inducement or representation by the Owner, the 
Owner's Representative, the Architect/Engineer or any of their officers or agents as to the 
nature of the Work, the Job Site, the Project conditions or otherwise. 

2.1.2. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by any one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.  If the Contract Documents do not specifically allow the 
Contractor a choice as to quality or cost of items to be furnished, but could be interpreted to 
permit such choice, subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, they shall be construed 
to require the Contractor to furnish the best quality.  Words and abbreviations which have 
well-known technical or trade meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance 
with such recognized meanings. 

2.1.3. Where conflict exists within or between parts of the Contract Documents, or between the 
Contract Documents and either applicable industry standards or applicable codes, ordinances 
or other legal requirements, the more stringent requirements shall apply; otherwise, the 
following order of precedence shall be used:  the Agreement; the Scope of Work; the Special 
Conditions; the General Conditions; the Specifications; the Drawings.  If the Contractor is 
required to perform any extra or corrective Work to comply with the preceding sentence, it 
shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, and no claim shall 
result from such compliance.  Subject to confirmation or approval by the Owner, large scale 
Drawings take precedence over smaller scaled Drawings, figured dimensions on the Drawings 
take precedence over scaled dimensions, and noted items on the Drawings take precedence 
over graphic representations. 

2.1.4. The organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and the 
arrangement of Drawings, are not intended to influence the Contractor in its division of the 
Work among Subcontractors or its establishment of the extent of the Work to be performed 
by any trade. 

2.1.5. The Contractor shall submit a written request to the Owner for any interpretations necessary 
for the proper execution or progress of the Work.  Such interpretations shall be issued in 
writing. 

2.1.6. The Contract Documents reflect conditions as they are believed to exist, but it is not intended 
or to be inferred that the conditions as shown thereon constitute a representation by or on 
behalf of the Owner that such conditions actually exist.  The Contractor shall inspect the Job 
Site and conduct any tests or surveys it deems necessary or desirable prior to the 
commencement of the Work and shall accept full responsibility for any loss sustained by it 
as a result of any variances between the conditions as shown on the Contract Documents 
and the actual conditions revealed during the progress of the Work or otherwise.  The 
Contract Sum shall in no event be increased by reason of any such variance unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

2.1.7. The Contractor shall develop and maintain current "as-built" Plans to be provided to the 
Owner in accordance with Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Owner may inspect and copy such Plans 
at any time during the course of the Work. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 3 

2.2. COPIES FURNISHED; OWNERSHIP.  All Contract Documents and copies thereof furnished by the 
Owner, the Owner's Representative or the Architect/Engineer are and shall remain the Owner's 
property.  They are not to be published or used by the Contractor on any other project and, with the 
exception of one complete set for the Contractor, are to be returned to the Owner upon completion 
of the Work. 

2.3. NO ORAL WAIVER.  The provisions of this Agreement cannot be amended, modified, varied or waived 
in any respect except by a Modification signed by the Owner.  The Contractor is hereby given notice 
that no person has authority to orally waive, or to release the Contractor from, any of the Contractor's 
duties or obligations under or arising out of this Contract.  Any waiver, approval or consent granted 
to the Contractor shall be limited to those matters specifically and expressly stated thereby to be 
waived, approved or consented to and shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligation to obtain any 
future waiver, approval or consent.  Despite any prior waiver, approval or consent as to any particular 
matter, the Owner may at any time require strict compliance with the Contract Documents as to any 
other matter. 

ARTICLE 3 - OWNER 
3.1. EASEMENTS.  The Owner shall obtain and pay for any easements required for permanent structures. 
3.2. ACCESS. The Owner shall at all times have access to the Work at each and every stage of preparation 

and progress.  The Contractor shall provide facilities (including, without limitation, roadways) for 
such access. 

ARTICLE 4 - THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE 
4.1. CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS. Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner's Representative and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that the Owner's Representative shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of those obligations 
of the Contractor to the Owner as imposed by the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, 
the Owner's rights pursuant to Paragraph 7.2. and Articles 10 and 11 of these General Conditions). 

4.2. ROLE.  Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, and until the Contractor is notified 
in writing to the contrary, all actions to be taken by, all approvals, notices, consent, directions and 
instructions to be given by, all notices and other matters to be delivered to, all determinations and 
decisions to be made by and, in general, all other action to be taken by, or given to, the Owner shall 
be taken, given and made by, or delivered or given to, the Owner's Representative in the name of 
and on behalf of the Owner; provided, however, that the Owner (and not the Owner's Representative) 
shall be solely obligated to the Contractor for all sums required to be paid by the Owner to the 
Contractor hereunder.  If the Owner's Representative is an organization, then it shall, in turn, act 
through such person or persons as it may designate in writing from time to time.  Only those so 
designated are authorized to grant on behalf of the Owner any approval, consent or waiver with 
respect to the Contract Documents or the Work, or to otherwise act for the Owner in any capacity 
whatsoever. 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACTOR 
5.1. REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. In addition to the representations contained in Section 11 of 

the Agreement, the Contractor acknowledges that prior to execution of the Agreement it has 
thoroughly reviewed and inspected the Contract Documents. The Contractor further acknowledges 
that it has satisfied itself regarding any error, inconsistency, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, 
insufficiency of detail or explanation and has assured itself of the adequacy and accuracy of each of 
the Contract Documents, as well as the compatibility of any combination thereof, as they relate to 
one another and to the scope of Work and the Schedule.  The Contractor hereby warrants and 
represents to the Owner that the Contract Documents are suitable and adapted for the Work and 
guarantees their sufficiency for their intended purpose.  The Owner shall not be responsible or liable 
to the Contractor for, and the Contractor hereby waives, any claims for changes, delays, 
accelerations, inefficiencies, impacts, and any other costs, damages, losses, or expenses of any 
nature whatsoever, resulting from any error, inadequacy, inaccuracy, inconsistency, insufficiency, 
unsuitability, discrepancy, ambiguity, omission, or insufficiency of detail or explanation in the Contract 
Documents. The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work at any time without approved 
Contract Documents or, where required, shop drawings, product data, or samples, for such portions 
bearing the A/E's appropriate action stamp.  Work performed in violation of this provision shall be at 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 4 

the Contractor's risk.  Nothing in this Paragraph 5.1. shall in any way limit the effects of Section 11 
of the Agreement. 

5.2. SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES. 
5.2.1. The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using its best skill and attention. The 

Contractor shall be solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, coordination, scheduling (subject to Article 8) and procedures, for all cleanup 
and for all safety and weather precautions and programs, in connection with the Work. 

5.2.2. The Contractor shall employ a competent Project Manager and necessary assistants who 
shall be in attendance at the Job Site during the progress of the Work and who shall be 
satisfactory to the Owner. The Contractor shall remove any of its employees or agents 
(including, without limitation, the Project Manager) from the Project upon instruction from 
the Owner.  The Project Manager shall not be changed except with the consent of the Owner 
unless the Project Manager ceases to be in the Contractor's employ.   

5.2.3. The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its employees.  
It shall also be responsible to the Owner for the acts and omissions of its Subcontractors and 
Sub-subcontractors, their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the 
Work, in the same manner as if they were the acts and omissions of persons directly 
employed by the Contractor. 

5.2.4. The Contractor shall not be relieved of its obligations to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents either by the activities or duties of the Owner in its administration 
of the Contract, including, without limitation, by any inspections or tests required or 
performed under Paragraph 5.7., or by approvals or other similar action with regard to shop 
drawings or submittals (of any type), or by the activities of persons other than the Contractor 
with respect to the Project.  Further, notwithstanding the fact that a dispute, controversy or 
other question may have arisen between the parties hereto relating to the execution or 
progress of the Work, the interpretation of the Contract Documents, the payment of any 
monies, the delivery of any materials or any other matter whatsoever, the Contractor shall 
not be relieved of its obligations to pursue the Work diligently under the Contract Documents 
pending the determination of such dispute, controversy or other question. 

5.2.5. The Contractor shall establish, implement and supervise the submission of shop drawings 
and other submittals (of any type) in accordance with the Schedule and any Milestones.  The 
Contractor shall note any variances between any such shop drawings or other submittals and 
the Contract Documents for the benefit of the Owner at the time of submission. 

5.3. MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. 
5.3.1. The Contractor shall, if so directed by the Owner, cause any or all materials and equipment 

to be manufactured in advance, and be warehoused either at the factory or elsewhere at the 
Contractor's cost.  The Contractor shall cause all materials and equipment to be delivered to 
the Job Site in accordance with any schedule or schedules therefor established from time to 
time and approved by the Owner and, in any event, in a manner which will assure the timely 
progress and completion of the Work but will not encumber the Job Site unreasonably.  
Materials delivered to the Job Site for incorporation in the Work shall not be removed from 
the Job Site without the consent of or unless directed by the Owner. 

5.3.2. The Owner may, from time to time during the performance of the Work and without any 
liability or obligation whatsoever to the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors, direct the Contractor to relocate, or cause to be relocated, to any other 
location on or off the Job Site, as designated by the Owner, any materials, equipment, office 
or storage trailers, storage sheds or the like brought onto the Owner's property by the 
Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, with which directions the 
Contractor shall promptly comply.  Should such relocation not be completed within the time 
therefor established by the Owner, the Owner may accomplish such relocation and offset the 
costs incurred by it in accomplishing the same against any amounts then or thereafter due 
to the Contractor. 

5.3.3. The Contractor shall give, or shall require its Subcontractors and their Sub-subcontractors to 
give, full and accurate quality, performance and delivery status reports, in a form satisfactory 
to the Owner, regarding any materials and equipment, or such other data with respect 
thereto as may be requested by the Owner, and shall obtain for the Owner the written 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 5 

assurances of any manufacturer that its material or equipment is designed, and appropriate, 
for the use intended. 

5.4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the Owner that all materials and equipment furnished under 
this Agreement shall be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work shall be of good quality, 
free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract Documents.  All Work not so 
conforming to these standards may be considered defective.  This warranty is not limited by the 
provisions of Paragraph 14.2. of these General Conditions or Section 30 of the Agreement.  All 
warranties and guarantees from Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors (including, without limitation, 
manufacturers) shall be assignable to the Owner regardless of whether it is so stated therein, and 
the Contractor agrees to assign all such warranties and guarantees to the Owner and deliver them 
pursuant to Subparagraph 9.4.2.  The Contractor's obligations under this Paragraph shall survive the 
expiration or sooner termination of the Contract. 

5.5. TAXES; FEES AND LICENSES; ROYALTIES AND PATENTS. 
5.5.1. The Contractor shall pay, or cause to be paid, all import duties and sales, consumer, use, 

excise, value added and ad valorem taxes required to be paid in connection with the Work 
or upon materials, tools or equipment brought to the Job Site or used in the Work.  If any of 
the foregoing taxes are not paid in a timely manner, the Owner may withhold the amount of 
any such taxes from any amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract Documents, 
submit the amount so withheld to the appropriate taxing authority on behalf of the Contractor 
or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors and offset said amount against the Contract 
Sum. 

5.5.2. The Contractor shall secure and pay for all governmental fees, permits and licenses which 
the Owner is not specifically required to provide and pay for under the Contract Documents. 

5.5.3. The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees incident to the use of any invention, 
design, process or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others, 
all of which shall be deemed included in the Contract Sum.  The Contractor shall not 
unlawfully use or install any patented or copyrighted article, and any such unlawful use or 
installation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay 
all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions for infringement of, or otherwise related 
to, any patent rights or copyrights, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  In the event of any injunction or legal action arising out of 
any such infringement which has the effect of delaying the Work, the Owner may require 
the Contractor to substitute such other articles of like kind as will make it possible to proceed 
with and complete the Work, and all costs and expenses occasioned thereby shall be borne 
by the Contractor. 

5.6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The Contractor shall, at its cost and expense, comply with each and every 
Federal, state and local law, ordinance, code, rule and regulation, as well as the lawful order or 
decree of any public or quasi-public authority, bearing on the performance of the Work specifically 
including, but not limited to, those specified in Subparagraph 10.1.2., and all applicable building 
codes.  It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to familiarize itself with all of the same, and 
any performance of the Work by or on behalf of the Contractor which is not in compliance therewith 
shall be at the Contractor's sole risk and expense.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner prior to 
execution of the Agreement (and, without limiting the duty of such prior notice, continuously 
thereafter) of any instances where the Contract Documents are, or where the Contractor believes 
the Contract Documents are, not in compliance with the same. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 6 

5.7. TESTS. 
5.7.1. If the Contract Documents, or any laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, or any orders or 

decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having jurisdiction, or common practice in the 
industry, require or dictate that the Contractor have any portion of the Work inspected, 
tested or approved, the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if 
practicable) of its readiness and of the date arranged so that the Owner may observe such 
inspection, testing or approval.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of such inspections, tests 
and approvals except as otherwise specified. 

5.7.2. The Owner may require any special inspection, testing or approval of the Work not included 
under Subparagraph 5.7.1., or any more stringent inspection, testing or approval thereof, in 
which event it shall instruct the Contractor to order such inspection, testing or approval, and 
the Contractor shall advise the Owner in a timely manner (in writing, if practicable) as in 
Subparagraph 5.7.1.  If such inspection or testing reveals any failure of the Work or the 
performance thereof to comply with the more stringent of:  (a)  the requirements of the 
Contract Documents;  (b)  applicable industry standards; or  (c)  applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, regulations or orders or decrees of any public or quasi-public authority having 
jurisdiction, or reveals any defect in the Work, the Contractor shall bear the costs of such 
inspection or testing and all costs to correct the Work to the satisfaction of the Owner, which, 
if incurred by the Owner, may be offset by the Owner against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If such inspection or testing proves that the Work was performed 
properly, the Owner shall bear the costs of such inspection or testing. 

5.7.3. Required certificates of inspection, testing or approval shall be secured by the Contractor 
and promptly delivered by it to the Owner. 

5.8. CONTRACTOR - GENERAL.  The duties and responsibilities of the Contractor as set forth in this Article 
5 are in addition to, and not in lieu of, other duties and responsibilities of the Contractor enumerated 
elsewhere in these Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 6 - SUBCONTRACTORS 
6.1. SUBCONTRACTORS - GENERAL.   Nothing contained in the Contract Documents shall create any 

contractual relationship between the Owner or the Owner's Representative and any Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor.  However, it is acknowledged that the Owner and Owner's Representative are 
intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors 
related to the Work and the Project. 

6.2. AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS. 
6.2.1. The Contractor shall, prior to awarding any subcontract, notify the Owner in writing of the 

names of all Subcontractors proposed for the several parts of the Work and shall include with 
any such notice the completed insurance information form and any insurance certificates 
required by this Agreement for any proposed Subcontractor.  The Owner may also require 
such lists and information regarding any proposed Sub-subcontractors.  The Contractor shall 
also advise the Owner in writing of any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor with which it 
shares any business relationship or financial interest, and of the nature and extent of any 
such relationship or interest.  No Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be engaged if 
objected to by the Owner; provided, however, that if the Owner does not take exception to 
a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor in writing within fifteen (15) days of its receipt of such 
notification, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor shall be deemed acceptable to the 
Owner.  The Owner shall not be liable to the Contractor in any manner arising out of the 
Owner's objection to a proposed Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor.  The Contractor shall 
not terminate the employment of a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor engaged in the Work 
prior to the expiration of that subcontract without good cause shown and the Owner's prior 
approval after reasonable notice of the Contractor's intent to so terminate. 

6.2.2. The Owner may, without any responsibility or liability whatsoever, require the Contractor to 
utilize any person or organization for any portion of the Work as a Subcontractor or a Sub-
subcontractor (herein referred to as a "Nominated Subcontractor" or "Nominated Sub-
subcontractor") provided the Owner gave notice of its intention to so nominate any such 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor prior to execution of the Agreement. The Contractor 
shall assume full responsibility for any such Nominated Subcontractor or Nominated Sub-
subcontractor. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 7 

6.2.3. In the event the Owner and Contractor agree that the Owner may participate in any 
Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor procurement activities, provided the Owner has 
informed the Contractor and allowed the Contractor the opportunity to participate and concur 
with such activities, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for the results of any such 
activities including, without limitation, full responsibility for the Subcontractors' or Sub-
subcontractors' awarded portions of the Work as a result thereof. 

6.2.4. The Owner may assign to the Contractor any contracts or purchase orders entered into 
between the Owner and any other person or organization in any way related to the Project 
or the Work, at any time, in which event the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for 
such person or organization and its portion of the Work as if such person or organization was 
originally a Subcontractor.  Such assignment may occur by Change Order or other 
Modification to the Agreement, and any increase in the Contract Sum shall be governed by 
Article 12. 

6.3. SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS. 
6.3.1. All subcontracts and sub-subcontracts shall be in writing.  Each subcontract and sub-

subcontract shall contain a reference to this Agreement and shall incorporate the terms and 
conditions hereof to the full extent applicable to the portion of the Work covered thereby.  
Each Subcontractor must agree, for the benefit of the Owner, to be bound by, and to require 
each of its Sub-subcontractors to be bound by, such terms and conditions to the full extent 
applicable to its portion of the Work. 

6.3.2. Each subcontract shall provide for its termination by the Contractor if, in the Owner's opinion, 
the Subcontractor fails to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents insofar 
as the same may be applicable to its portion of the Work; and each Subcontractor shall be 
required to insert a similar provision in each of its  sub-subcontracts.  In the event of any 
such failure by a Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor to comply with the requirements of the 
Contract Documents, such Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, as the case may be, shall, 
upon the Owner’s request, be removed immediately from the Work and shall not again be 
employed on the Work.  Any such failure (specifically including, without limitation, a failure 
to pay for labor (including applicable fringe benefits) or materials) by a Subcontractor or 
Sub-subcontractor shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, 
recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or 
utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for 
and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without 
limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or 
otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the 
Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 
or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner. 

6.4. PAYMENTS TO SUBCONTRACTORS. 
6.4.1. Unless the Owner otherwise agrees or the Contract Documents otherwise provide, the 

Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor, upon receipt of payments from the Owner, an 
amount equal to the percentage of completion allowed to the Contractor on account of such 
Subcontractor's portion of the Work, less a percentage thereof equal to the percentage 
retained from payments to the Contractor.  The Contractor shall also require each 
Subcontractor to make similar payments due to any Sub-subcontractor. 

6.4.2. If the Owner fails to approve a Contractor's Application for Payment, as hereinafter provided, 
for any cause which is the fault of the Contractor and not the fault of a particular 
Subcontractor, the Contractor shall nevertheless pay that Subcontractor for its portion of the 
Work to the extent completed, less the retained percentage, such payment to be made no 
later than the date payment to the Contractor would otherwise have been made by the 
Owner. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 8 

6.4.3. The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor its proper share of any insurance monies 
received by the Contractor under Article 11, and it shall require each Subcontractor to make 
similar payments due to a Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 7 - SEPARATE CONTRACTS 
7.1. OWNER'S RIGHT TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS. The Owner reserves the right to award other 

contracts in connection with the Project or other work on the Job Site on any terms and conditions 
which the Owner may from time to time determine in its sole discretion (hereinafter referred to as 
"Separate Contracts"; and such other contractors are hereinafter referred to as "Separate 
Contractors"). 

7.2. MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTORS. 
7.2.1. The Contractor shall afford all Separate Contractors and the Owner reasonable opportunity 

for the introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and for the execution of 
their work and shall properly cooperate, connect and coordinate the Work with such other 
work as shall be in the best interest of the Project as determined by the Owner. 

7.2.2. If the execution or result of any part of the Work depends upon any work of the Owner or 
of any Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall, prior to proceeding with the Work, inspect 
and promptly report to the Owner in writing any apparent discrepancies or defects in such 
work of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor that render it unsuitable for the proper 
execution or result of any part of the Work.  Failure of the Contractor to so inspect and report 
shall constitute an acceptance of the Owner's or Separate Contractor's work as fit and proper 
to receive the Work, except as to defects which may develop in the Owner's or Separate 
Contractor's work after completion of the Work and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered by its inspection prior to completion of the Work. 

7.2.3. Should the Contractor cause damage to the work or property of the Owner or of any Separate 
Contractor on the Project, or to other work on the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the 
Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work, the Contractor shall be liable for the same; and, 
in the case of a Separate Contractor, the Contractor shall attempt to settle said claim with 
such Separate Contractor prior to such Separate Contractor's institution of litigation or other 
proceedings against the Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the dispute, the Owner 
may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event the decision of the 
Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  Any such damage to the work 
or property of the Owner or of any Separate Contractor on the Project, or to other work on 
the Job Site, or delay or interfere with the Owner's or any Separate Contractor's work shall 
be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional 
wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the Contractor 
in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, 
judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such damage, 
delay or interference, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to 
reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, 
expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge 
all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor under the 
Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been paid or if the sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the items or amounts required 
hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise pay the difference to the 
Owner. 

7.2.4. Should any Separate Contractor cause damage to the Work or to the property of the 
Contractor or cause delay or interference with the Contractor's performance of the Work, the 
Contractor shall present to such Separate Contractor any claims it may have as a result of 
such damage, delay or interference (with an information copy to the Owner) and shall 
attempt to settle its claim against such Separate Contractor prior to the institution of litigation 
or other proceedings against such Separate Contractor.  If requested by the parties to the 
dispute, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, arbitrate the dispute, in which event 
the decision of the Owner shall be final and binding on the parties to the dispute.  In no 
event shall the Contractor seek to recover from the Owner, the Owner's Representative or 
the Architect/Engineer, and the Contractor hereby represents that it will not seek to recover 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 9 

from them, any costs, expenses or losses incurred by the Contractor as a result of any 
damage to the Work or property of the Contractor or any delay or interference caused or 
allegedly caused by any Separate Contractor. 

7.2.5. If a dispute arises between the Contractor and any Separate Contractor as to the 
responsibility for cleaning as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner may clean and 
charge the cost thereof to the responsible contractor, or apportion it among the several 
responsible contractors, as the Owner shall determine to be just. 

ARTICLE 8 - TIME 
8.1. DEFINITIONS. 

8.1.1. Whenever the word "day" is used in the Contract Documents, it shall mean a calendar day 
unless otherwise specifically provided. 

8.1.2. The Date of Commencement of the Work is the date established in a written notice to 
proceed.  If there is no notice to proceed, it shall be the date of the Agreement or such other 
date as may be established by the Owner in writing. 

8.1.3. The Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (or "Substantial Completion") is the date, 
certified by the Owner, when all construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the 
Contract Documents that the Owner may, if it so elects, occupy and use the Work or 
designated portion thereof for the purpose for which it was intended.  

8.2. PROGRESS AND COMPLETION; SCHEDULING. 
8.2.1. All times and dates stated in the Contract Documents including, without limitation, those for 

the Commencement, prosecution, Milestones, Substantial Completion and final completion 
of the Work and for the delivery and installation of materials and equipment, are of the 
essence of the Contract. 

8.2.2. The Contractor shall begin the Work on the Date of Commencement and shall perform the 
Work diligently, expeditiously and with adequate resources so as to meet all Milestones and 
complete all the Work within the Contract Time. The scheduling of the Work shall be 
performed and monitored by the Contractor utilizing a method to be chosen by the Owner.  
The Contractor (and its Subcontractors, if the Owner requires) shall furnish all scheduling 
information requested by the Owner (in such form and detail as requested for the particular 
portion of the Work; herein referred to as the "Schedule" or "Schedules") within two (2) 
weeks of the Owner's request, shall revise the same from time to time thereafter when so 
requested by the Owner, and shall attend such meetings concerning scheduling as the Owner 
may call from time to time.  The Contractor shall comply with any Schedule or Schedules 
established by it and approved by the Owner, or established by the Owner with respect to 
the Commencement, performance, Milestones or completion of the whole or various portions 
of the Work.  With respect to any portion of the Work for which a Schedule has not been 
established, the Contractor shall commence such portion of the Work within three (3) days 
of the date on which the Owner directs such commencement and shall thereafter prosecute 
and complete the same with all due diligence or as otherwise directed by the Owner.  Neither 
the scheduling information submitted by the Contractor or its Subcontractors, the acceptance 
or approval thereof by the Owner nor the establishment or implementation of, or failure to 
establish or implement, Schedules by the Owner shall relieve the Contractor of its obligation 
to perform and complete the Work in a timely manner or to otherwise perform in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

8.2.3. Float or slack time associated with any one chain of activities is defined as the amount of 
time between earliest start date and latest start date or between earliest finish date and 
latest finish date for such activities, as set forth in an approved Schedule for the Work 
(assuming the critical path method is used), including any revisions or updates thereto.  Float 
or slack time is not for the exclusive use or benefit of either the Owner or the Contractor.  
However, if float time associated with any chain of activities is expended but not exceeded 
by any actions attributable to the Owner, the Contractor shall not be entitled to an extension 
in the Contract Time. 

8.3. DELAYS, EXTENSIONS OF TIME AND OVERTIME. 
8.3.1. The time during which the Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by the acts 

or omissions of the Owner, the Owner's Representative, acts of God, unusually severe and 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 10 

abnormal climatic conditions or other conditions beyond the Contractor's control and which 
the Contractor could not reasonably have foreseen and provided against, shall be added to 
the Contract Time stated in the Agreement; provided, however, that no claim by the 
Contractor for an extension of time for such delays shall be considered unless made in 
accordance with Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.2. The Owner and the Owner's Representative shall not be obligated or liable to the Contractor 
for, and the Contractor hereby expressly waives any claims against them, on account of, any 
damages, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever which the Contractor, its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, 
suspensions, rescheduling, changes in sequence, congestion, disruptions or the like, arising 
from or out of any act or omission of the Owner, or any of the events referred to in 
Subparagraph 8.3.1. above, it being understood and agreed that the Contractor's sole and 
exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of the Contract Time, but only if claim 
is properly made in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 13.1. 

8.3.3. Whenever, in the opinion of the Owner, the Work falls behind Schedule due to the fault of 
the Contractor, the Contractor shall, to the extent necessary to meet said Schedule, increase 
its labor force and/or provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, and Sunday and/or holiday 
work, and shall have each Subcontractor do likewise, all at no additional cost to or 
compensation from the Owner.  Further, the Owner shall have the right to offset against any 
amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor, or to be reimbursed by the Contractor for, 
any additional costs the Owner may incur as a direct result of said increase in labor force or 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 

8.3.4. The Owner may, in its sole discretion and for any reason, direct the Contractor to accelerate 
the Schedule of performance by providing overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or 
holiday work and/or by having all or any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors designated 
by the Owner provide overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work. 
8.3.4.1. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by the 

Contractor's own forces pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and 
exclusive obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account 
thereof shall be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Contractor of 
the premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) for all labor utilized by 
the Contractor in such overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but 
not for the straight time costs of such labor, together with any Social Security and 
state or federal unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium 
time (or shift differential for any extra shifts). 

8.3.4.2. In the event of overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work by a 
Subcontractor pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4., the Owner's sole and exclusive 
obligation to the Contractor (except as hereinafter provided) on account thereof shall 
be to reimburse the Contractor for the direct cost to the Subcontractor for the 
premium time (or shift differential for any extra shifts) of all labor utilized in such 
overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work (but not for the straight 
time cost of such labor), together with any Social Security and state or federal 
unemployment insurance taxes in connection with such premium time. 

8.3.4.3. Anything in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, should the Owner's 
direction to the Contractor to accelerate the Schedule of performance pursuant to 
this Subparagraph 8.3.4. require the Contractor's or a Subcontractor's forces to work 
in excess of fifty (50) hours per week for a period in excess of four (4) consecutive 
weeks, the Owner shall pay to the Contractor, for each consecutive week after the 
fourth consecutive week in which the same forces are required to work in excess of 
fifty (50) hours, an additional amount equivalent to ten percent (10%) of the gross 
wages of Job Site labor, less payroll costs as defined in Subparagraph 12.2.1., paid 
to such forces on account of such overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.  Such acceleration shall be referred to as 
"Extended Acceleration", and the payment described herein shall be the sole and 
exclusive remedy for such Extended Acceleration including, without limitation, all 
inefficiencies, impacts, added supervision and overhead, ripple effect or any other 
costs or expenses of any kind.  Anything in this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the Owner shall have no obligation to make payments on account 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 11 

of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work ordered pursuant hereto unless:  (a)  
the Contractor shall submit to the Owner, for the Owner's review and approval, duly 
authenticated time tickets evidencing the hours of overtime, Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday work performed pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. by the end of the 
day on which performed and recapped in summary form; and  (b)  the Contractor 
shall include with its request for reimbursement a duplicate of each of the foregoing 
time tickets and such other substantiation of costs reimbursable hereunder as the 
Owner may require.  If overtime, extra shifts, Saturday, Sunday or holiday work is 
performed in part pursuant to Subparagraph 8.3.3. and in part pursuant to this 
Subparagraph 8.3.4.3., the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. calling for 
payments by the Owner on account thereof shall only apply to such work performed 
pursuant to this Subparagraph 8.3.4.3. 

8.4. TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF WORK. The Owner shall have the authority to suspend the Work, in 
whole or in part, for such periods and such reasons as it may deem necessary or desirable, in its sole 
discretion including, without limitation:  (a) unsuitable weather; (b) other conditions considered 
unfavorable for the suitable prosecution of the Work; (c) special events; and/or (d) other conditions 
considered adverse to the best interests of the Owner.  Any such suspension shall be in writing to 
the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately obey such orders of the Owner and shall not 
resume the Work until so ordered in writing by the Owner.  No such temporary suspension of the 
Work, for periods of time up to thirty (30) consecutive days, shall be the basis of a claim by the 
Contractor for any increase in the Contract Sum or for any other damages, losses, costs or expenses 
whatsoever, all of which claims the Contractor hereby expressly waives.  The Contractor shall be 
entitled to an extension of the Contract Time not to exceed the length of time that the Work was 
suspended provided the claim is submitted in accordance with Paragraph 13.1. and the suspension 
is not due to an act or omission of the Contractor, any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor. 

ARTICLE 9 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
9.1. APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT; PASSAGE OF TITLE. 

9.1.1. The "Payment Application Date" shall be that day of each calendar month designated in the 
Agreement when the Contractor shall deliver the "Application for Payment," as hereinafter 
defined, to the Owner. 

9.1.2. The "Application for Payment" shall be an invoice prepared by the Contractor and submitted 
to the Owner in accordance with the Contract Documents.  It shall show in detail all monies 
properly payable to the Contractor in accordance with the previously approved Schedule of 
Values, including those items of labor, materials and equipment used or incorporated in the 
Work (and, if the Owner has agreed in advance in writing, suitably stored at the Job Site) 
through and including the Payment Application Date.  The Application for Payment shall have, 
as attachments, waivers of mechanics' and materialmen's liens by the Contractor and its 
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors as of the date of submission of the Application for 
Payment, which waivers shall conform in all material respects with the then current provisions 
of Part I, Chapter 713, Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto), and such other evidence 
of performance of the Work, the costs thereof and payment therefor as the Owner may deem 
necessary or desirable. 

9.1.3. The Contractor warrants that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered by an 
Application for Payment shall pass to the Owner, free and clear of all liens, claims, security 
interests or encumbrances, upon the sooner occurrence of:  (a)  the delivery of any such 
materials or equipment to the Job Site; or (b) the tender of payment of the applicable 
Application for Payment by the Owner to the Contractor; and that no Work, materials or 
equipment covered by an Application for Payment shall have been acquired, whether by the 
Contractor or by any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor, subject to an agreement under 
which an interest therein or an encumbrance thereon is retained by the seller or otherwise 
imposed by the Contractor or such other person.  The passage of title to the Owner as 
provided herein shall not alter or limit the obligations and duties of the Contractor with 
respect to the Work and the materials or equipment incorporated therein or used in 
connection therewith as set forth in the Contract Documents. 

9.2. APPROVALS OF APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT. 
9.2.1. If the Contractor has submitted an Application for Payment in the manner prescribed in the 

Contract Documents, the Owner shall, with reasonable promptness, approve the same (or 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 12 

such portions thereof covering amounts it determines to be properly due) or shall state in 
writing its reasons for withholding its approval (whether of all or a part). 

9.2.2. The Owner's approval of an Application for Payment shall not constitute a representation by 
the Owner that the conditions precedent to the Contractor's entitlement to payment have 
been fulfilled, nor shall approval of an Application for Payment by the Owner be deemed a 
representation by the Owner:  (a) that it has made exhaustive or continuous on-site 
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work; (b)  that it has reviewed the 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, coordination or procedures, or the 
cleanliness of the Job Site, or the safety precautions and programs, in connection with the 
Work; (c) that it has made any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes the 
Contractor has used the monies previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. 

9.2.3. No approval of an Application for Payment, progress payment or any beneficial, partial or 
entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall constitute an acceptance of any 
Work which is not in accordance with the Contract Documents; and regardless of approval 
of an Application for Payment by the Owner, the Contractor shall remain totally obligated 
and liable for the performance of the Work in strict compliance with the Contract Documents. 

9.2.4. Subject to the Owner's rights to offset or withhold as set forth in these General Conditions, 
after the Owner has approved an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, it shall make 
payment of the amount approved to the Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 

9.3. PAYMENTS WITHHELD; OWNER'S RIGHT TO MAKE DIRECT PAYMENTS FOR WORK. 
9.3.1. The Owner may withhold its approval of an Application for Payment, in whole or in part, or 

nullify the whole or any part of an approval previously given, if it determines that the 
Application for Payment covers portions of the Work which have not, in fact, been completed, 
or that it includes amounts for claims allegedly made but not actually made (or subsequently 
withdrawn),  and/or for which payment is not then due or if, and to the extent that, it deems 
it necessary or desirable to protect itself against loss or damage due to: (a) defective Work 
not remedied; (b) Contractor, Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or third party claims, 
disputes or liens or reasonable evidence indicating such claims, disputes or liens; (c) failure 
or alleged failure of the Contractor to make payments to Subcontractors (or of Subcontractors 
to make payments to Sub-subcontractors) as required by the Contract Documents, or failure 
to provide lien waivers for previous payments; (d) inability, or reasonable doubt as to the 
ability, of the Contractor to complete the Work within the Contract Time, for the unpaid 
balance of the Contract Sum or within the estimates prepared by the Contractor and 
submitted to and approved by the Owner; (e) damage to the Owner or a Separate 
Contractor; (f) unsatisfactory prosecution of the Work by the Contractor, its Subcontractors 
or Sub-subcontractors; (g) failure of the Contractor to maintain the Job Site in a clean and 
safe condition; (h) failure of the Contractor to meet any other monetary obligation imposed 
upon it pursuant to the Contract Documents; or (i) failure of the Contractor to comply with 
any other provision of the Contract Documents. 

9.3.2. The Owner after giving the Contractor appropriate notice, may make payments on account 
of labor, materials and/or equipment for the Work directly to the Subcontractors, Sub-
subcontractors or persons entitled to the same in lieu of paying the Contractor therefor or 
make joint payment to any such person and the Contractor.  Any amounts so paid shall be 
credited against the Contract Sum.  No such payment shall create any relationship between 
the recipient thereof and the Owner, nor any duty on the part of the Owner.  The Contractor 
shall cooperate with the Owner to facilitate any such direct payments and shall provide such 
evidence as the Owner may request for purposes of determining any amount to be so paid.  
If the Owner elects to make such payments as a result of a failure on the part of the 
Contractor to perform in accordance with the Contract, or as a result of a request from the 
Contractor that the Owner make such payments, then the Owner may offset or credit the 
amount of its administrative costs incurred in making said such payments against the 
Contract Sum or render an invoice to the Contractor for such administrative costs, which 
invoice the Contractor shall pay promptly. 

9.4. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT. 
9.4.1. At such time as the Contractor deems the Work to be Substantially Complete, the Contractor 

shall notify the Owner and prepare and submit to the Owner a list of items to be completed 
and/or corrected and its final bill, including itemized projected amounts for any portions of 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 13 

the Work not yet completed.  The failure to include any items on such list shall not alter the 
responsibility of the Contractor to complete and/or correct the Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.  When the Owner, on the basis of an inspection, confirms the 
notification from the Contractor that the Work is Substantially Completed or, without being 
notified by the Contractor, determines that the Work is Substantially Completed, it shall 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Substantial Completion which may state 
the responsibilities of the Owner and the Contractor for maintenance, heat, utilities and 
insurance and it shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List, in the form provided by the 
Owner, which sets forth those items determined by the Owner to require completion or 
correction, as applicable, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall complete or 
correct the items listed and complete all obligations required by the Contract Documents and 
submit to the Owner all documents and other matters required by the Contract Documents 
to be submitted by the Contractor upon completion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to 
prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch List shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's 
rights or remedies under the Contract Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations 
to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The Certificate of 
Substantial Completion shall constitute a demand for an Application for Payment (including 
all costs, claims or fees for any outstanding Change Orders, or any other matter which the 
Contractor has not previously waived pursuant to the General Conditions, and itemized 
projections for any incomplete Work), and the Contractor shall be deemed conclusively to 
have waived the right to payment of any such item, fee or cost of any kind not billed to the 
Owner within thirty (30) days of delivery to the Contractor of the Certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  The issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion shall not constitute a 
waiver of any rights of the Owner, including without limitation the right to those retainages 
permitted by the Contract Documents.  If the Contractor does not complete and/or correct 
the items listed in the Punch List within the time fixed therein, the Owner shall have the right 
to accomplish the same and offset all costs thereof against any amounts then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not 
sufficient to cover such costs, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.  The 
Owner's decision as to the Date of Substantial Completion shall be final and binding. 

9.4.2. Within a reasonable time following the Owner's receipt of written notification from the 
Contractor that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and that the Contractor 
has completed all items set forth on the Punch List, including, delivery of the final Application 
for Payment, the Owner shall make such inspection and, when the Work is found to be 
acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Agreement fully performed, shall certify 
completion of the Punch List, including approval of the final Application for Payment; 
provided, however, Owner shall not be required to certify completion of the Punch List and, 
therefore, neither final payment nor any retainage shall become due, until the Contractor 
submits to the Owner:  (a) an affidavit, in a form approved by the Owner, that all payrolls, 
bills for materials and equipment and other indebtednesses connected with the Work for 
which the Owner or its property might in any way be responsible have been paid in full or 
otherwise satisfied; (b) consent of sureties, if any, to final payment; (c) all Contract 
Documents (except one set thereof to be retained by the Contractor), including, without 
limitation, a completed set of as-builts and record documents (as defined in and to the extent 
required by the Specifications); (d) such other data as the Owner may require establishing 
payment or satisfaction of all obligations of the Contractor in connection with the Work 
including, without limitation, receipt of final satisfaction and releases and waivers of lien and 
releases of any and all claims by the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors, 
conforming in all material respects with the then current provisions of Part I, Chapter 713, 
Florida Statutes (or any successor thereto) and evidencing performance of the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents; (e) a release of the Owner and its insurers from 
and against any claims under the insurance required to be provided by the Owner hereunder 
(except to the extent of any claims theretofore timely filed which are owing but unpaid) and 
a release of the Owner from and against any claims between the Contractor and a separate 
contractor; (f) any governmental certificates required by the Contract Documents or 
otherwise to evidence compliance of the Contractor and the Work with applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, codes, regulations and the Contract Documents; and (g) warranties, 
guarantees, assignments thereof, and maintenance or other manuals, required by the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 14 

Specifications in the forms approved by the Owner, in favor of the Owner and such other 
persons as the Owner may direct (notwithstanding the foregoing, by execution of the 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be deemed to have guaranteed to the Owner the matters 
contained in the attached form of guarantee incorporated by reference into the Agreement); 
and (h) a fully and  properly executed Close-out Change Order, with all of its fully and 
properly executed Exhibits, in the form attached to the Agreement. 

9.4.3. The making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims or rights by the 
Owner. 

9.4.4. The acceptance of final payment shall constitute a waiver of all claims by the Contractor and 
shall constitute a general release of the Owner, the Owner's Representative and the 
Architect/Engineer by the Contractor. 

9.4.5. If any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor refuses to furnish any release, satisfaction or 
waiver of lien required at any time by the Owner under Paragraphs 9.1., 9.3. or 9.4., or files 
a claim of lien against the Owner's property, the Contractor shall, if requested by the Owner 
and at the Contractor's expense, furnish a bond (separate and apart from any other bond 
provided by the Contractor hereunder) satisfactory to the Owner to exempt the Owner and 
its property from and against any such lien.  The Contractor authorizes the Owner, and shall 
cause its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to authorize the Owner, to check directly 
with any suppliers of labor and material with respect to any item chargeable to the Owner's 
property, to confirm balances due and to obtain sworn statements and waivers of lien, all if 
the Owner so elects.  If any lien remains unsatisfied after all payments are made to the 
Contractor, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner on account of all monies that the latter 
may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and attorneys' fees. 

9.5. BENEFICIAL USE AND OCCUPANCY; PARTIAL SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. 
9.5.1. The Owner reserves the right, at its option and convenience, to occupy or otherwise make 

use of all or any part of the Project or equipment at any time prior to completion of the Work 
upon two (2) days written notice to the Contractor (referred to herein as "Beneficial 
Occupancy").  The Owner shall use its best efforts to prevent such occupancy from interfering 
with the performance of the remaining Work; provided, however, that the Owner shall not 
be liable for any delays or additional costs of any nature caused by such occupancy. 

9.5.2. Beneficial Occupancy shall not constitute acceptance by the Owner or the Owner's 
Representative of the completed Work or any portion thereof, shall not relieve the Contractor 
of its full responsibility for correcting defective Work and repairing the Work, shall not be 
deemed to be the equivalent of completion of the Work, shall not relieve the Contractor from 
its obligation to complete the Punch List, and shall not entitle the Contractor to any increase 
in the Contract Sum. 

9.5.3. Anything in this Paragraph 9.5. to the contrary notwithstanding, the Owner may certify any 
portion of the Work to be occupied or used hereunder to be Substantially Completed and 
shall prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion for 
such portion of the Work.  The Owner shall, within twenty (20) days from the date of the 
Certificate of Partial Substantial Completion, prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, in the form provided by the Owner, and, upon the Contractor's timely completion or 
correction of the items on the Punch List and the Owner's approval thereof, accept that 
portion of the Work.  Failure of the Owner to prepare and deliver to the Contractor a Punch 
List, shall not constitute a waiver of the Owner's rights or remedies under the Contract 
Documents nor release the Contractor of its obligations to complete the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents.  The provisions of Paragraph 9.4., except as they relate to the 
Contractor's obligations to complete or correct the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, shall not apply to such Partial Substantial Completion, but the provisions of 
Subparagraph 14.2.2. shall apply to the portion of the Work which the Owner certifies to be 
Substantially Completed. 

9.6. INDIVIDUAL PROJECTS.  The duties and responsibilities of the parties as set forth in this Article 9 
may be applied to individual projects issued to Contractor under the Agreement.  Each individual 
project shall follow the process outlined above with the exception of the close-out process. A close-
out change order will be issued to Contractor at the end of the Agreement and after the completion 
of all individual projects.   Individual projects, if applicable will be indicated in Section 3 and 4 of the 
Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 15 

ARTICLE 10 - PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY 
10.1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR SAFETY AND HEALTH. 

10.1.1. The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising safety and 
anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work, and shall 
provide all protection to prevent injury to all persons involved in any way in the Work and all 
other persons, including, without limitation, the employees, agents, guests, visitors, invitees 
and licensees of the Owner who may visit or be affected thereby.  These precautions shall 
include, but in no event be limited to:  the posting of danger signs and personal notification 
to all affected persons of the existence of a hazard of whatever nature; the furnishing and 
maintaining of necessary traffic control barricades and flagman services; the use, or storage, 
removal and disposal of required explosives or other hazardous materials only under the 
supervision of qualified personnel and after first obtaining permission of all applicable 
governmental authorities; and the maintenance of adequate quantities of both hose and 
operable fire extinguishers at the Job Site.  The Contractor shall set forth in writing its safety 
and anti-substance abuse precautions and programs in connection with the Work and, if 
requested by the Owner, submit the same to the Owner for review.  The Owner may, but 
shall not be obligated to, make suggestions and recommendations to the Contractor with 
respect thereto. 

10.1.2. All Work, whether performed by the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and all equipment, appliances, 
machinery, materials, tools and like items incorporated or used in the Work, shall be in 
compliance with, and conform to:  (a) all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and 
orders of any public, quasi-public or other governmental authority relating to the safety of 
persons and their protection against injury, specifically including, but in no event limited to, 
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, and all rules and 
regulations now or hereafter in effect pursuant to said Act; and (b) all codes, rules, 
regulations and requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers relating thereto.  In 
the event of conflicting requirements, the more stringent shall govern. 

10.1.3. The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of its organization at the Job Site as 
the Project Safety Officer, whose duties it shall be to enforce the Contractor's safety and 
anti-substance abuse programs, to assure compliance with Subparagraph 10.1.2 and to 
prevent accidents.  This person shall be the Contractor's Project Manager unless otherwise 
designated in writing by the Contractor and approved by the Owner.  The Contractor shall 
further cause each of its Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors to designate a responsible 
supervisory representative to assist the Contractor's Project Safety Officer Representative in 
the performance of their duties as aforesaid. 

10.1.4. Should the Contractor fail to provide a safe area for the performance of the Work or any 
portion thereof, the Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to suspend Work in 
the unsafe area.  All costs of any nature (including, without limitation, overtime pay) resulting 
from the suspension, by whomsoever incurred, shall be borne by the Contractor. 

10.1.5. The Contractor shall provide to each worker on the Job Site the proper safety equipment for 
the duties being performed by that worker and will not permit any worker on the Job Site 
who fails or refuses to use the same.  The Owner shall have the right, but not the obligation, 
to order the Contractor to send a worker home for the day or to discharge a worker for their 
failure to comply with safe practices or anti-substance abuse policies, with which order the 
Contractor shall promptly comply. 

10.1.6. Any failure of the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be responsible, to 
comply with the provisions of Paragraph 10.1. shall be considered or deemed to be caused 
by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of 
persons employed or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work. The 
Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, 
including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions 
pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, including, without limitation, any and all 
damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If 
the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, or to otherwise pay, any such damages, 
judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the Owner shall have the right to offset 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 16 

or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have already been 
paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover the 
items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities 
under this Paragraph 10.1. should the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights 
hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any 
responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the Contractor by this Contract, or in any other 
manner whatsoever. 

10.1.7 The Contractor shall not be relieved of its responsibilities under this Paragraph 10.1. should 
the Owner act or fail to act pursuant to its rights hereunder, nor shall the Owner thereby 
assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any responsibilities otherwise imposed upon the 
Contractor by this Contract, or in any other manner whatsoever. 

10.2. PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY; RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS. 
10.2.1. The Contractor shall, throughout the performance of the Work, maintain adequate and 

continuous protection of all Work and temporary facilities against loss or damage from 
whatever cause, shall protect the property of the Owner and third parties from loss or 
damage from whatever cause arising out of the performance of the Work and shall comply 
with the requirements of the Owner and its insurance carriers and with all applicable laws, 
codes, rules and regulations with respect to the prevention of loss or damage to property as 
a result of fire or other hazards.  The Owner may, but shall not be required to, make periodic 
patrols of the Job Site as a part of its normal security program.  In such event, however, the 
Contractor shall not be relieved of its aforesaid responsibilities.  

10.2.2. Until final acceptance of the Work by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 9.4. (unless and to 
the extent otherwise set forth in a Certificate of Substantial Completion), the Contractor shall 
have full and complete charge and care of and, except as otherwise provided in this 
Subparagraph 10.2.2., shall bear all risk of loss of, and injury or damage to, the Work or any 
portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, equipment or other items to 
be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) from any cause whatsoever.  
The Contractor shall rebuild, repair, restore and make good all losses of, and injuries or 
damages to, the Work or any portion thereof (specifically including Owner-furnished supplies, 
equipment or other items to be utilized in connection with, or incorporated in, the Work) 
before final acceptance of the Work.  Such rebuilding, repair or restoration shall be at the 
Contractor's sole cost and expense unless the loss, injury or damage requiring such 
rebuilding, repair or restoration:  (a) is directly due to errors in the Contract Documents 
which were not discovered by the Contractor and which the Contractor could not have 
discovered through the exercise of due diligence; (b) is caused by the Owner (unless (i) the 
Contractor has waived its rights of subrogation against the Owner on account thereof as 
provided in the Contract Documents, or (ii) such loss or damage would be covered by any 
policy or policies of insurance which the Contractor is required to maintain hereunder, 
whether the Contractor actually maintains such insurance or not, or (iii) is otherwise covered 
by a policy or policies of insurance maintained by the Contractor, whether or not required 
hereunder); or (c) is caused by a hazard against which the Owner is required to insure under 
the provisions of Article 11 hereof; provided, however, that if the loss, injury or damage 
would not have occurred but for the negligent act or omission of the Contractor, any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, the rebuilding, repair or restoration shall 
be at the Contractor's cost and expense to the extent of the deductible on said insurance. 

10.3. SURFACE OR SUBSURFACE WATER. Surface or subsurface water or other fluid shall not be permitted 
to accumulate in excavations or under structures.  Should such conditions develop or be encountered, 
the water or other fluid shall be controlled and suitably disposed of by means of temporary pumps, 
piping, drainage lines and ditches, dams or other methods approved by the Owner in writing. The 
proposed location and coordination of temporary channels and conduits conducting accumulated 
water from the Job Site shall be submitted to the Owner for its prior written approval.  All such work 
shall be done at the sole expense of the Contractor. 

10.4. EMERGENCIES.  In any emergency affecting the safety of persons or property, or in the event of a 
claimed violation of any federal or state safety or health law or regulation, arising out of or in any 
way connected with the Work or its performance, the Contractor shall act immediately to prevent 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 17 

threatened damage, injury or loss or to remedy said violation, whichever is applicable, failing which 
the Owner may immediately take whatever action it deems necessary, including, but not limited to, 
suspending the Work as provided in Paragraph 8.4.  Any failure by the Contractor to so act or so 
remedy a violation shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the negligence, recklessness or 
intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed or utilized by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and shall pay all 
damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, arising 
out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure to act or 
remedy a violation, including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, 
costs and attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Owner.  If the Contractor fails to reimburse the Owner for, 
or to otherwise pay, any such damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs or attorneys’ fees, the 
Owner shall have the right to offset or back-charge all of said items or amounts against sums then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor under the Contract.  If the sums due under the Agreement have 
already been paid or if the sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover 
the items or amounts required hereunder, the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner or otherwise 
pay the difference to the Owner.  If the Contractor shall be entitled to any additional compensation 
or extension of time claimed on account of emergency work not due to the fault or neglect of the 
Contractor or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, it shall be handled as a claim as provided in 
Article 13. 

10.5. CLEANUP.  The Contractor shall at all times keep the Job Site clean and free from accumulation of 
waste materials or rubbish (including, without limitation, hazardous waste), caused by its 
performance of the Work, and shall continuously throughout performance of the Work remove and 
dispose of all such materials from the Job Site and the Project.  The Owner may require the Contractor 
to comply with such standards, means and methods of cleanup, removal or disposal as the Owner 
may make known to the Contractor.  In the event the Contractor fails to keep the Job Site clean and 
free from such waste or rubbish, or to comply with such standards, means and methods, the Owner 
may take such action and offset any and all costs or expenses of whatever nature paid or incurred 
by the Owner in undertaking such action against any sums then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  
The Contractor shall notify the Owner in advance of the generation, importation, storage, 
transportation or disposal, of any hazardous waste, toxic materials or contaminants of any type in 
connection with the Project.  

10.6. OWNER'S STANDARDS.  The Owner reserves the right, but assumes no duty, to establish and enforce 
standards, and to change the same from time to time, for the protection of persons and property, 
with which the Contractor shall comply, and to review the efficiency of all protective measures taken 
by the Contractor.  The exercise of or failure to exercise any or all of these acts by the Owner shall 
not relieve the Contractor of its duties and responsibilities under this Contract, and the Owner shall 
not thereby assume, nor be deemed to have assumed, any such duties or responsibilities of the 
Contractor. 

ARTICLE 11 - INSURANCE; INDEMNIFICATION 
11.1. - 11.7. COMMERCIAL INSURANCE.  Refer to Sections 6.A.-6.F. of the Agreement.  
11.8.  INDEMNIFICATION.  Refer to Section 6.G. of the Agreement. 

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
12.1. CHANGE ORDERS AND DIRECTIVES.  The Owner may, without affecting the validity of the Contract 

Documents or any term or condition thereof, issue Change Orders, or Directives, or give other orders 
and instructions regarding the Work which may have the effect of ordering extra work or other 
changes in the Work by altering, adding to or deducting from the Work, modifying the method or 
manner of its performance or otherwise (herein sometimes referred to as "Changes in the Work").  
The Contractor shall comply with all such orders and instructions issued by the Owner.  In any such 
event, the Contract Sum shall, where applicable, be increased or decreased in the manner hereinafter 
set forth; provided, however, that if the Contractor should proceed with a Change in the Work upon 
an oral order, by whomsoever given, it shall constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for 
an increase in the Contract Sum or extension of the Contract Time on account thereof.  Upon receipt 
of any such Change Order, or Directive or other order or instructions, the Contractor shall promptly 
proceed with the Change in the Work, even though the amount of any resultant increase or decrease 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 18 

in the Contract Sum has not yet been determined.  All Changes in the Work shall be performed in 
accordance with the Contract Documents. 

12.2. CHANGES REQUIRING AN INCREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in 
an increase in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall have the right to require the performance thereof 
on a lump sum basis, a unit price basis or a time and material basis, all as hereinafter more 
particularly described. 
12.2.1. If the Owner elects to have any Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis, its 

election shall be based on a lump sum proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a lump sum proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a lump sum basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall be itemized and segregated by labor and materials for the various components of the 
Change in the Work (no aggregate labor total will be acceptable) and shall be accompanied 
by signed proposals of any Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors who will perform any 
portion of the Change in the Work and of any persons who will furnish materials or equipment 
for incorporation therein. The portion of the proposal relating to labor, whether by the 
Contractor's forces or those of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may only include 
reasonably anticipated gross wages of Job Site labor, including foremen, who will be directly 
involved in the Change in the Work (for such time as they will be so involved), plus payroll 
costs (including Social Security, federal or state unemployment insurance taxes and fringe 
benefits in connection with such labor required by union and/or trade agreements if 
applicable) and up to fifteen percent (15%) of such anticipated gross wages, but not payroll 
costs, as overhead and profit for any such entity actually performing the Change in the Work 
or a portion thereof.  The portion of the proposal relating to materials may only include the 
reasonably anticipated direct costs to the Contractor, its Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors (as applicable) of materials to be purchased for incorporation in the Change 
in the Work, plus transportation and applicable sales or use taxes, and up to fifteen percent 
(15%) of said direct material costs as overhead and profit for the entity actually supplying 
the materials.  The proposal may further include the Contractor's or its Subcontractor's or 
Sub-subcontractor's reasonably anticipated direct rental costs in connection with the Change 
in the Work (either actual rates or discounted local published rates), plus up to six percent 
(6%) thereof as overhead and profit for the entity actually incurring such costs.  If any of 
the items included in the lump sum proposal are covered by unit prices contained in the 
Contract Documents, the Owner may elect to use these unit prices in lieu of the similar items 
included in the lump sum proposal, in which event an appropriate deduction will be made in 
the lump sum amount prior to the application of any allowed overhead and profit 
percentages.  No overhead and profit shall be applied to any unit prices.  The lump sum 
proposal may only include up to six percent (6%) of the amount which the Contractor will 
pay to any Subcontractor, and up to six percent (6%) of the amount which a Subcontractor 
will pay to any Sub-subcontractor, for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the 
Contractor or Subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may 
be included). 

12.2.2. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis, its 
election shall be based on a unit price proposal which shall be submitted by the Contractor 
to the Owner within the time established by the Owner in the Owner's request therefor (but 
the Owner's request for a unit price proposal shall not be deemed an election by the Owner 
to have the Change in the Work performed on a unit price basis).  The Contractor's proposal 
shall itemize the quantities of each item of the Change in the Work for which there is an 
applicable unit price contained in the Contract Documents.  The quantities shall be itemized 
in relation to each specific Drawing or Scope of Work.  Unit prices shall be applied to net 
differences of quantities of the same item.  Nothing herein contained shall preclude the 
Owner from requesting a lump sum proposal and a unit price proposal with respect to the 
same Change in the Work, in which event the Contractor shall submit both. 

12.2.3. If the Owner elects to have the Change in the Work performed on a time and material basis, 
the same shall be performed, whether by the Contractor's forces or the forces of any of its 
Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, at actual cost to the entity performing the Change in 
the Work (without any charge for  administration, clerical expense, supervision or 
superintendents of any nature whatsoever, except foremen directly involved in the Change 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 19 

in the Work, or the cost, use or rental of small tools, defined as tools with a cost or value of 
less than $1,000,  or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated 
companies), plus fifteen percent (15%) of gross wages (excluding payroll costs) of Job Site 
labor and direct material costs and six percent (6%) of rental costs (other than small tools 
or equipment owned by the Contractor or any of its related or affiliated companies) as the 
total overhead and profit.  Only the entity actually performing the Change in the Work or a 
portion thereof shall be entitled to a mark-up as aforesaid for overhead and profit, but the 
Contractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any Subcontractor, 
and a Subcontractor may include up to six percent (6%) of the amount it will pay to any 
Sub-subcontractor (only a maximum of two contractual tiers of such markup may be 
included), for the Change in the Work as overhead and profit to the Contractor or 
Subcontractor.  The Contractor shall submit to the Owner daily time and material tickets, to 
include the identification number assigned to the Change in the Work, the location and 
description of the Change in the Work, the classification, names and social security numbers 
of the labor employed, the materials used, the equipment rented (not tools) and such other 
evidence of costs as the Owner may require.  The Owner may require authentication of all 
time and material tickets and invoices by persons designated by the Owner for such purpose.  
The failure of the Contractor to secure any required authentication shall, if the Owner elects 
to treat it as such, constitute a waiver by the Contractor of any claim for the cost of that 
portion of the Change in the Work covered by a non-authenticated ticket or invoice; provided, 
however, that the authentication of any such ticket or invoice by the Owner shall not 
constitute an acknowledgment by the Owner that the items thereon were reasonably 
required for the Change in the Work. 

12.2.4. The Owner shall have no obligation or liability on account of a Change in the Work except as 
specifically provided in this Paragraph 12.2.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal 
within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 
or such longer period of time established by the Owner in its request, the Owner may issue 
a unilateral Change Order for any such Change in the Work giving the Owner's reasonable 
estimate of the cost of the Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the 
Contractor.  Overhead and profit, as allowed under this Paragraph 12.2., shall be deemed to 
cover all costs and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including, without limitation, those 
for clean-up, protection, supervision, estimating, field operations, insurance, impacts, 
inefficiency, extended (Job Site and home office) overhead, unabsorbed (Job Site and home 
office) overhead, delays, acceleration (actual or constructive), ripple effect, small tools and 
security, which the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors may incur 
in the performance of or in connection with a Change in the Work and which are not 
otherwise specifically recoverable by them pursuant to this Paragraph 12.2. 

12.2.5. The Work pursuant to this Agreement shall be performed by the Contractor at no extra cost 
to the Owner despite any order from the Owner which designates or contemplates a portion 
of the Work as a Change in the Work. 

12.3. CHANGES REQUIRING A DECREASE IN CONTRACT SUM.  If any Change in the Work will result in a 
decrease in the Contract Sum, the Owner may request a quotation by the Contractor of the amount 
of such decrease for use in preparing a Change Order.  The Contractor's quotation shall be forwarded 
to the Owner within ten (10) days after the date of the Owner's request or such longer period of 
time established by the Owner therein and, if acceptable to the Owner, shall be incorporated in the 
Change Order.  If not acceptable, the parties shall make every reasonable effort to agree as to the 
amount of such decrease, which may be based on a lump sum properly itemized, on unit prices 
stated in the Contract Documents and/or on such other basis as the parties may mutually determine.  
If the parties are unable to so agree, the amount of such decrease shall be the total of the estimated 
reduction in actual cost of the Work, as determined by the Owner's Representative in its reasonable 
judgment.  If the Contractor fails to render any proposal within the time required herein, the Owner 
may issue a unilateral deductive Change Order giving the Owner's reasonable estimate of the 
deductive Change, which shall become automatically binding upon the Contractor. 

12.4. DISPUTES REGARDING CHANGES.  If any dispute should arise between the parties with respect to 
an increase or decrease in the Contract Sum as a result of a Change in the Work, the Contractor shall 
not suspend performance of any such Change in the Work or the Work itself unless otherwise so 
ordered by the Owner in writing.  The Owner may, however, notify the Contractor of its determination 
regarding any such Change and, in the case of an increase, may thereafter pay to the Contractor up 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 20 

to 50% of the Owner's reasonable estimate of the value of the Change in the Work as its sole 
obligation with respect to any such Change pending resolution of the dispute.  The Contractor shall 
thereafter be subject to the terms of Paragraph 13.2. regarding its claim for any difference. 

12.5. AUDIT RIGHTS.  The Contractor shall afford, and shall cause its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors to afford, access to the Owner at all reasonable times to any accounting books and 
records, correspondence, instructions, invoices, receipts, vouchers, memoranda and other records of 
any kind relating to the Work, all of which each of them shall maintain for a period of at least four 
(4) years from and after the Date of Substantial Completion.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall make the same available for inspection, copying and audit, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting standards, within three (3) days following notification 
to the Contractor of the Owner's intent to audit, failing which any claims for an increase in the 
Contract Sum and/or extension of the Contract Time, as applicable, shall be waived. 

ARTICLE 13 - CLAIMS 
13.1. CLAIMS FOR EXTENSIONS OF CONTRACT TIME.   No claim by the Contractor for an extension of the 

Contract Time or any Milestones shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 
13.1.  The Contractor shall not be entitled to any extension of the Contract Time or any Milestones 
as a result of any condition or cause, unless it shall have given written notice to the Owner pursuant 
to Paragraph 16.3. promptly, but in any event within fourteen (14) days following the commencement 
of each such condition or cause and stating the probable duration of the condition or cause and the 
Contractor’s request for an extension of time.  The Contractor shall deliver to the Owner, within thirty 
(30) days after the commencement of each condition or cause for which the Contractor has submitted 
a request for extension of time, supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s request, 
including, without limitation, an analysis showing the actual impact of the condition or cause on the 
Schedule and the critical path of construction activities, plus any other documentation or information 
as may be requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s request.  
The Contractor hereby waives any claims for any such extensions not timely made or timely 
substantiated in accordance herewith.  If the Contractor timely makes any such claim and the parties 
are unable to agree as to whether or not the Contractor is entitled to an extension of time or the 
length of such extension regarding such claim, the Owner's Representative may, but shall not be 
required to, ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and determine and fix an extension of 
the time for completing the Work. 

13.2. CLAIMS FOR INCREASES IN CONTRACT SUM. 
13.2.1. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraph 12.2., no claim by the Contractor for an increase 

in the Contract Sum shall be considered unless made in accordance with this Paragraph 13.2.  
The Contractor shall give the Owner written notice pursuant to Paragraph 16.3. of any such 
claim promptly, but in any event not later than fourteen (14) days after the occurrence of 
the event giving rise to the claim (including, without limitation, any Owner determination 
pursuant to Article 12.4.), but (except in the event of emergencies pursuant to Paragraph 
10.4.) prior to the incurring of any expenses by the Contractor.  Failure to give such notice, 
or to provide substantiation thereof as required below, shall constitute a waiver of the claim 
including, but not limited to, any and all damages, cost, impacts, inefficiency, extended 
overhead, unabsorbed overhead, ripple effect, or expenses of any nature whatsoever which 
the Contractor, or its Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors, may suffer or incur.  Claims shall 
be made in writing and shall identify the instructions or other circumstances that are the 
basis of the claim and shall set forth the Contractor's best estimate of the dollar amount 
claimed.  Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim, 
the Contractor shall fix the amount of its claim with specificity and shall provide to the Owner 
supporting data to substantiate and justify the Contractor’s claim, including, without 
limitation, substantiation of all costs plus any other documentation or information as may be 
requested by the Owner or as may be necessary to substantiate the Contractor’s claim.  No 
claim shall be considered by the Owner if the Contractor has otherwise waived its rights to 
file a claim pursuant to the Contract Documents. 

13.3. NO OTHER CLAIMS.  The parties acknowledge that the provisions of Paragraphs 13.1. and 
13.2. are included herein for the purpose of fixing and limiting the time within which, and 
the manner in which claims must be made; and that Paragraphs 13.1. and 13.2. do not grant 
to the Contractor any right to increases in the Contract Sum, or extensions in the Contract 
Time or any Milestones, not otherwise permitted or provided by the other terms and 
provisions of the Contract Documents. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 21 

ARTICLE 14 - UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK; OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK 
14.1. UNCOVERING OF WORK. 

14.1.1. If any portion of the Work should be covered contrary to the instructions or request of the 
Owner or the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall, if required by 
the Owner, uncover such portion of the Work for the Owner's observation and shall replace 
such Work all at the Contractor's expense. 

14.1.2. If any portion of the Work should be covered prior to a specific request for observation or 
instruction by the Owner, the Owner may request to see such Work, and it shall be uncovered 
by the Contractor.  If such Work is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents 
and without defect, the cost of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change 
Order, be charged to the Owner.  If such Work is found to be defective or not in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall bear such costs; provided, however, that 
if it is found that the condition was caused by a Separate Contractor employed as provided 
in Article 7, the Contractor shall have the right to seek reimbursement of the costs it incurs 
as aforesaid from said Separate Contractor. 

14.2. CORRECTION OF WORK. 
14.2.1. The Owner shall have the authority to reject any portion of the Work which is defective or 

does not conform to the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall promptly correct all 
Work so rejected by the Owner, whether observed before or after the Date of Substantial 
Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed.  In order that such 
corrective Work shall not interrupt or delay the Owner's schedule for completion of the 
Project or, if applicable, disturb the occupants of the completed Project, the Contractor shall 
perform such Work according to a schedule therefor established by the Owner (which may 
provide that the same be performed on overtime, shiftwork, Saturdays, Sundays and/or 
holidays), utilizing in the performance thereof such manpower as is necessary to complete 
the corrective Work in accordance with said schedule.  The Contractor shall bear all costs of 
correcting such rejected Work including, without limitation, compensation for any additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary thereby. 

14.2.2. If, within one (1) year after the Date of Substantial Completion of the Work (as determined 
by the Owner) or within such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the 
terms of any applicable warranty or guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any of 
the Work is found to be defective or not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the 
Contractor shall correct it promptly after receipt of written instructions to that effect from 
the Owner unless the Owner has previously given the Contractor a written acceptance of 
such condition. 

14.2.3. The Contractor shall remove from the Job Site all Work which is defective or non-conforming 
and not corrected under Paragraph 5.4. or Subparagraphs 14.2.1. or 14.2.2. unless removal 
is waived by the Owner. 

14.2.4. The Contractor shall bear the cost of making good all work of Separate Contractors (and any 
of the Owner's other structures or facilities) destroyed or damaged by such removal or 
correction. 

14.2.5. If the Contractor does not remove such uncorrected defective or non-conforming Work within 
a reasonable time fixed by written instructions to that effect from the Owner, the Owner may 
remove it and store the materials and equipment at the expense of the Contractor.  If the 
Contractor does not pay the cost of such removal and storage within ten (10) days thereafter, 
the Owner may, upon ten (10) additional days written notification to the Contractor, sell such 
materials and equipment at public or private sale and account to the Contractor for the net 
proceeds thereof, after deducting all the costs that should have been borne by the 
Contractor, including compensation for any additional architectural and engineering services 
and attorneys' fees made necessary thereby.  If such proceeds of sale do not cover all costs 
which the Contractor should have borne, the difference shall be offset against any amounts 
then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor are not sufficient to cover such difference, the Contractor shall, upon demand, 
pay the same to the Owner.  The obligations of the Contractor under this Subparagraph 
14.2.5. shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any obligations imposed on it by law, 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 22 

by any other provision of this Agreement or by any warranty or guarantee under this 
Agreement. 

14.2.6. If the Contractor fails to correct any defective or non-conforming Work, the Owner may 
correct it in accordance with Paragraph 14.3.  In the event of a defect found after final 
acceptance of the Work by the Owner which the Contractor is obligated to correct pursuant 
to Subparagraph 14.2.2., the Owner may, at its option, after giving the Contractor an 
opportunity to correct such defect, cause such corrective Work to be performed by others 
and charge the Contractor with the cost thereof.  Such charge shall be due and payable by 
the Contractor upon demand. 

14.3. OWNER'S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT WORK.  If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work 
in accordance with the Contract Documents or fails to perform any provision of this Agreement, and 
such default, neglect or non-performance shall continue for a period of 48 hours after written 
notification thereof from the Owner (or if such default, neglect or non-performance cannot be 
reasonably remedied within such 48-hour period, and Contractor does not (in the sole determination 
of Owner) undertake in good faith the remedy of the same within said period and thereafter proceed 
diligently to completion), then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other remedy the Owner 
may have, make good such deficiencies; provided, however, that in the event of an emergency, as 
determined by the Owner, no notification shall be required.  The Owner shall have the right to take 
possession of such portion of the Job Site as will enable it to make good such deficiencies and, in 
connection therewith, to utilize the materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and 
machinery of the Contractor located on the Job Site.  If the Owner makes good any such deficiencies, 
the costs of correcting the same including, without limitation, compensation for additional 
architectural and engineering services made necessary by such default, neglect or non-performance, 
shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the Contractor.  If the amounts then 
or thereafter due to the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such costs, then the Contractor shall, 
upon demand, pay the difference to the Owner. 

 14.4. ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE OR NON-CONFORMING WORK.   If the Owner prefers to accept 
defective or non-conforming Work, it may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in 
which case an appropriate amount shall be offset against any amounts then or thereafter due to the 
Contractor; or, if the said appropriate amount of offset is determined after final payment (or if there 
is not then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount sufficient to cover the offset available to 
the Owner), the Contractor shall, upon demand, pay the appropriate amount (or the difference after 
offset, as applicable) to the Owner. 

ARTICLE 15 - TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 
15.1. TERMINATION BY CONTRACTOR.  If the Owner should, without notifying the Contractor of its cause 

for doing so, fail or refuse to approve an Application for Payment or make payment later than the 
time periods established in section 218.735, Florida Statutes, then the Contractor shall have the right, 
as its sole and exclusive remedy and upon fourteen (14) days prior written notice to the Owner, to 
terminate this Agreement and recover from the Owner payment for all unpaid Work executed up to 
the date of termination, including any proven loss of reasonable profits sustained, based upon the 
percentage of Work completed through the date of termination.  If the Owner shall cure its said 
default within such fourteen (14) day period, then the Contractor's notice of termination shall thereby 
be rendered ineffective, and this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.  Prior to 
termination as aforesaid, the Contractor shall not delay or suspend the Work in whole or in part.  The 
Contractor may not terminate this Agreement on the grounds that the cause given by the Owner for 
failing or refusing to pay is not in accordance with fact or law, it being understood and agreed that 
the Contractor's sole remedy in such event shall be to seek money damages.  The Contractor 
acknowledges that it can be adequately compensated by such money damages for any breach of this 
Agreement which may be committed by the Owner.  Accordingly, and except as hereinabove 
provided, the Contractor expressly agrees that no default, act or omission of the Owner shall entitle 
the Contractor to cancel or rescind this Agreement or suspend or abandon its performance of the 
Work. 

15.2. TERMINATION BY OWNER FOR CAUSE. 
15.2.1. If the Contractor should become insolvent, file any bankruptcy proceedings, make a general 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffer or allow appointment of a receiver, refuse, fail 
or be unable to make prompt payment to Subcontractors, disregard applicable laws, 
ordinances, governmental orders or regulations or the instructions of the Owner, or if the 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 23 

Contractor should otherwise be guilty of a violation of, or in default under, any provision of 
the Agreement, then the Owner may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy 
available to the Owner and after giving the Contractor and its surety, if any, three (3) days 
written notice, terminate the Agreement and the employment of the Contractor on the 
Project, take possession of the Job Site and of all materials, equipment, tools, construction 
equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Contractor and finish the Work by whatever 
method the Owner may deem expedient.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement 
as a whole, the Owner may, under any of the circumstances set forth above, terminate any 
portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner the Owner deems appropriate, the 
scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor) and complete the portion of this 
Agreement so terminated in such manner as the Owner may deem expedient, taking 
possession of such part of the Job Site and utilizing such materials, equipment, tools, 
construction equipment and machinery owned by the Contractor as may be necessary to 
accomplish the same.  The Contractor hereby grants to the Owner the further right:  (a) to 
enter upon any premises or property other than the Job Site in order to take possession of 
any materials, tools, equipment, machinery or other items intended for incorporation in the 
Work (or any portion thereof) or for use in the performance thereof; and (b) to receive an 
assignment of such subcontracts as the Owner deems necessary or desirable at the time of 
termination of this Agreement or a portion thereof. 

15.2.2. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., the Contractor shall not 
be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and the Owner shall 
have the same right to retain monies owing to the Contractor as it would have to retain such 
monies from and against final payments.  Upon the completion of the Work, the Owner shall 
make payment to the Contractor, or the Contractor shall reimburse the Owner, as the case 
may be, as provided in Sections 4 and 7 of the Agreement.  If a portion of this Agreement is 
terminated pursuant to Subparagraph 15.2.1., such termination shall not be treated as a 
reduction in the scope of the Work pursuant to Article 12.  Rather, in such event, the Owner 
shall offset against any monies then or thereafter due to the Contractor an amount 
determined by the Owner to be adequate to cover all costs and expenses it will incur in 
performing, or causing to be performed, the portion of this Agreement so terminated.  If the 
Owner's cost and expenses prove to be less than the amount offset, the Contractor shall be 
entitled to the difference unless otherwise provided herein.  If the amount then or thereafter 
due to the Contractor is less than the amount to be offset and/or if the Owner's costs and 
expenses prove to exceed the amount offset, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the 
Owner upon demand. 

15.2.3. The remedies provided to the Owner in this Paragraph 15.2. are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other rights or remedies available to the Owner under the Contract Documents, 
at law or in equity.  In the event of any breach of this Agreement by the Contractor, and 
whether or not this Agreement is terminated by the Owner, the Contractor shall be liable for 
all damages, losses, costs and expenses incurred by the Owner as a result thereof. 

15.3. TERMINATION BY OWNER WITHOUT CAUSE.  Without limitation to the provisions of Paragraph 15.2., 
the Owner shall have the right at any time, upon not less than three (3) days notice to the Contractor 
to terminate this Agreement without cause and/or for the Owner's convenience.  Upon receipt of 
such notice of termination, the Contractor shall forthwith discontinue the Work and remove its 
equipment and employees from the Job Site.  In the event of termination under this Paragraph 15.3., 
the Contractor shall have the right, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to recover from the Owner 
payment for all unpaid Work executed up to the date of termination, including any proven loss of 
reasonable profits sustained based upon the percentage of Work completed through the date of 
termination.  In addition, without terminating this Agreement as a whole, the Owner may, for its 
convenience, terminate a portion of this Agreement (by reducing, in such manner as the Owner 
deems appropriate, the scope of the Work to be performed by the Contractor), in which event such 
termination of a portion of this Agreement shall be treated as a reduction in the scope of the Work 
pursuant to Article 12. 

 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 24 

ARTICLE 16 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
16.1. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 

laws of the State of Florida, to the exclusion of Florida rules of conflicts of laws. 
16.2. ASSIGNABILITY; SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 

16.2.1. This Agreement may be assigned by Owner at any time without Contractor's consent; without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, all warranties and guarantees in favor of Owner 
under the Contract Documents may be assigned without Contractor's consent by Owner to 
any party designated by Owner and such assignee may directly enforce any such warranty 
or guarantee.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement in whole or in part without the 
written consent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold in its sole discretion; 
nor shall this Agreement be assignable by the Contractor by operation of law.  The Contractor 
shall not assign any monies due or to become due to it hereunder without the prior written 
consent of the Owner. 

16.2.2. The Owner and the Contractor each binds itself and, to the extent permitted herein, its 
successors and assigns, to the other party and, to the extent permitted herein, the other 
party's successors and assigns, in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations 
contained in the Contract Documents. 

16.3. NOTICE. All notices (whether or not designated as such herein) which are required under this 
Agreement to be given between the parties pursuant to this paragraph shall be in writing and deemed 
given and, unless otherwise provided herein, effective when delivered personally to an officer of the 
party to be served (including the Contractor's Project Manager, in the case of the Contractor), when 
deposited in the United States mail, or in a sealed envelope, with postage thereon prepaid, sent by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to the appropriate party at the 
address set forth in the Agreement or such other address as may be designated by either party 
hereto by notice to the other, or when transmitted by wire or facsimile to the appropriate party at 
the aforesaid address (a complimentary confirming letter shall also be mailed to the appropriate party 
on the same date). 

16.4. PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS. Unless waived or otherwise agreed by the Owner, the 
Contractor shall furnish (and if directed by the Owner shall require all or certain of its Subcontractors 
to furnish) a bond covering the faithful performance of this Agreement (or any such subcontract), as 
revised or modified from time to time, and a bond covering the payment of all obligations arising 
thereunder in full compliance with the then current provisions of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes (or 
any successor thereto; or, if applicable, Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, or any successor thereto), 
each in the full Contract Sum, as revised or Modified from time to time, and with such sureties as 
may be approved by the Owner.  Each bond shall contain the following language:  "The provisions 
and limitations of Section 255.05 or of Section 713.23, Florida Statutes, whichever is applicable to 
the Contract, are incorporated herein by reference, provided, however, that in the event of any 
conflict between the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 and those contained in this 
bond, the provisions of said Section 255.05 or Section 713.23 shall govern."  If such bonds, or either 
of them, are stipulated in the bidding documents or in the Contract Documents, the premium therefor 
shall be paid by the Contractor (or appropriate Subcontractors); but if required or increased in amount 
pursuant hereto subsequent to award of the Agreement or due to Changes in the Work, the premium 
therefor shall be reimbursed by the Owner.  The Contractor shall deliver promptly, and in any event 
no later than ten (10) days after notice of award, to the Owner any required bonds or amendments 
thereto. Bonds required under 255.05 must be recorded at the Orange County Courthouse prior to 
providing the recorded certified copy or original bond to the Owner.  The Contractor's failure to timely 
obtain and deliver the required bonds or amendments thereto shall constitute cause for the Owner 
to terminate this Agreement (or for the Contractor to terminate any subcontract).  The Owner shall 
not be obligated to respond to, and the Contractor shall assure that the Owner is not sent, any job 
status inquiries from the Contractor, any surety, or any of their accountants or independent auditors. 

16.5. MAINTENANCE OF HARMONIOUS RELATIONS.  The Contractor is hereby advised that any portion of 
the Project, or other projects in proximity to the Project may be subject to, and governed by, certain 
union or trade agreements.  It is the policy of the Owner to promote and maintain harmonious 
relationships in connection with the Project.  The Contractor and its Subcontractors and Sub-
subcontractors shall follow this policy; and shall utilize only qualified persons or organizations in the 
performance of the Work.  A qualified person or organization is one:  which is not likely to promote 
labor unrest on the Project; which shall abide by all local, state and federal labor and employment 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 25 

relation rules, regulations and laws; whose financial stability is reasonably assured throughout the 
duration of the Contract; and whose commitments to other projects are not likely to interfere with 
its ability to perform its portion of the Work efficiently and cost effectively.  The Owner reserves the 
right to disapprove, or to require the removal of, any person or organization who is being considered 
for, or has received, an award to perform all or a portion of the Work but has failed to demonstrate 
the willingness or ability to follow this policy. 

16.6. UNION AGREEMENTS.  Regardless of the expiration of any collective bargaining agreement during 
the term of this Agreement which may affect the Contractor in any of its activities including, without 
limitation, with respect to the Work or the Project, the Contractor is obligated to man the job and 
properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent manner.  Upon notification of expected or actual 
labor disputes or job disruption arising out of any such collective bargaining negotiations, the 
expiration of any union or trade agreement or any other cause, the Contractor and its Subcontractors 
and Sub-subcontractors shall cooperate with the Owner concerning any legal, practical or contractual 
actions to be taken by the Owner in response thereto and shall perform any actions requested by 
the Owner to eliminate, neutralize or mitigate the effects of such actions on the progress of the Work 
and the impact of such actions on the public access to the Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
or any of the properties or facilities located therein, irrespective of whether such properties are owned 
by the Owner or by a third party.  It is the Contractor's obligation, at the Contractor's own cost and 
expense, to take all steps available to prevent any persons performing the work from engaging in 
any disruptive activities such as strikes, picketing, slowdowns, job actions or work stoppages of any 
nature or ceasing to work due to picketing or other such activities, which steps shall include, without 
limitation, execution of an appropriate project agreement with appropriate unions prohibiting all such 
activities on or about the Project.  Notwithstanding any such occurrences, the Contractor shall not 
be relieved of its obligation to man the job and properly and timely perform the Work in a diligent 
manner. 

16.7. USE OF OWNER'S NAME/CONFIDENTIALITY. Neither the Contractor nor its Subcontractors or 
Sub-subcontractors, by virtue of this Agreement, shall acquire any right to use, and they shall not 
use, the name of the Owner, the Owner’s Representative (either alone or in conjunction with or as a 
part of any other word, mark or name) or any marks, fanciful characters or designs of either of them 
or any of its related, affiliated or subsidiary companies: in any of their advertising, publicity or 
promotion; to express or imply any endorsement of their respective Work or services; or in any other 
manner whatsoever (whether or not similar to the foregoing uses hereinabove specifically 
prohibited).  The Contractor may, during the course of its engagement hereunder, have access to, 
and acquire knowledge of or from, material, data, strategies, systems or other information relating 
to the Work, the Project, the Owner, the Owner’s Representative, its parent, affiliated, or related 
companies, which may not be accessible or known to the general public.  Any such knowledge 
acquired by the Contractor shall be kept confidential and shall not be used, published or divulged by 
the Contractor to any other person, firm or corporation, or in any advertising or promotion regarding 
the Contractor or its Work or services, or in any other manner or connection whatsoever without first 
having obtained the written permission of the Owner, which permission the Owner may withhold in 
its sole discretion. The Contractor shall not be allowed to undertake or allow any photography on or 
about the Job Site or the Project absent written permission of the Owner, which permission the 
Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  In the event of a breach by Contractor of its obligations 
under this Paragraph 16.7., Owner shall be entitled to an injunction restraining Contractor from 
disclosing or divulging in whole or in part any confidential information.  Further, any failure by 
Contractor to comply with this Paragraph 16.7. shall be considered or deemed to be caused by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Contractor or of persons employed 
or utilized by the Contractor in the performance of the Work.  The Contractor is responsible for and 
shall pay all damages, judgments, losses, costs or expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' 
fees, arising out of any claims, lawsuits or actions pertaining or otherwise related to any such failure, 
including, without limitation, any and all damages, judgments, losses, expenses, costs and attorneys’ 
fees, incurred by the Owner.  The Provisions of this Paragraph shall survive the expiration or sooner 
termination of the Contract. 

16.8. GENERAL. 
16.8.1. The captions of divisions, sections, articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like 

in the Contract Documents are for convenience only and shall in no way define the content 
or limit the meaning or construction of the wording of the divisions, sections, articles, 
paragraphs, subparagraphs, clauses and the like.  The parties agree that the Contract 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit D 
GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION - OCTOBER 2025 EDITION 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

 

D - 26 

Documents shall not be construed more strictly against any party regardless of the identity 
of their drafter. 

16.8.2. Unless otherwise specified, article, paragraph and subparagraph references appearing in 
these General Conditions are to articles, paragraphs and subparagraphs herein. 

16.8.3. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor hereunder to reimburse the Owner or 
others for attorneys' fees, such obligation shall not only include attorneys' fees incurred prior 
to and including litigation in the trial court, but also all attorneys' fees incurred in connection 
with any and all appellate proceedings, no matter to which court any appeal is taken and by 
whomever so taken. 

16.8.4. Wherever this Agreement obligates the Contractor to "indemnify" the Owner, such 
obligations shall include, but shall not be limited by, the following: (i) the Contractor shall 
indemnify the Owner and its supervisors, administrators, officers, directors, agents, 
employees, agents, successors and assigns and Owner's Representative, and its parent, 
related, affiliated and subsidiary companies and the officers, directors, agents, employees 
and assigns of each; (ii) the Contractor shall defend (if requested by the Owner) and hold 
each indemnitee harmless; (iii) in the event of any such requested defense, the Owner may 
choose its legal counsel, control the litigation including, without limitation, determining legal 
strategy, settlement strategy and whether or not to file any appeals; (iv) the Contractor shall 
not raise as a defense to its obligation to indemnify any comparative or contributing 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of any of those indemnified 
pursuant to any such provision, it being understood and agreed that no such comparative or 
contributing negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct shall relieve the 
Contractor from its liability to so indemnify nor entitle the Contractor to any contribution, 
either directly or indirectly, by those indemnified; (v) no indemnification obligation hereunder 
shall be limited in any way to any limit on the amount or type of damage, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor or any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor under 
any Worker's Compensation Act, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts; and 
(vi) all such indemnity provisions shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this 
Contract.  

16.8.5. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, the Owner may withhold any consents, 
approvals or waivers required of it pursuant to the Agreement in its sole discretion. 

16.9. ADJACENT LAND AND LANDOWNERS.  To the extent the Work requires the Contractor to enter upon 
land owned by others than the Owner, or the Contractor is permitted to enter upon such land, then 
the Contractor shall, prior to entry, satisfy itself as to all conditions present upon such land and shall 
take all necessary precautions to protect all persons and property from injury or damage as a result 
of the Contractor’s entry upon such land and shall promptly repair any damage to the land and any 
property located thereon.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the owner(s) 
of such land from and against any and all claims, suits, judgments, damages, losses and expenses 
(including attorneys' fees) of any nature whatsoever to the extent caused by or arising out of the 
Contractor’s entry upon such land.  Nothing contained herein shall create any contractual relationship 
between the Contractor and the owner(s) of such land; however, it is acknowledged that the owner(s) 
of such land are intended third party beneficiaries of the obligations of the Contractor hereunder. 

 
<< END OF GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION >> 

 
End of Exhibit D 

 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Exhibit E 
SAMPLE FORMS 

CONTRACT NO. C006942 
 

E - 1 

THIS EXHIBIT CONTAINS THE FOLLOWING: 

• Payment Bond 

• Performance Bond 

• Dual Obligee Rider  

• Consent of Surety for Partial Payment Application  

• Task Work Order (sample form) 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

E - 2 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PAYMENT BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
172 West Fourth Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006942 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum:  ______________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  ________________ 
Amount:  ___________________________________________(_____________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, to pay for labor, material, 
services, utilities, equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida 
Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, including, but 
not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor promptly makes full payment to all Claimants, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, 

material, services, utilities and equipment and all other items for which a lien could be claimed if Ch. 
713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project, supplied for or used in the performance of the Contract, 
including, but not limited to, all modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, 
and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, losses and expenses 
which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and fully reimburses and 
pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur in remedying any 
such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

E - 3 

administrators, successors and assigns, from  their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
4. The Surety and the Contractor further agree that this bond shall inure to the benefit of, and may be 

sued directly upon by, any Claimant furnishing labor, materials, services, utilities or equipment or any 
other item for which a construction lien could be claimed if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this 
Project. 

 
5. “Claimant” shall mean for purposes hereof all persons, firms, partnerships, corporations or other entities 

that would be entitled to claim a construction lien if Ch. 713, Florida Statutes applied to this Project. 
 
6. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
7. The sum of this Payment Bond is in addition to the sum of the Performance Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC.   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:  
Print Name:  Print Name:  

Title:   Title:   

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

 E - 4 
  

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

 
 
OWNER: 
CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 (hereinafter “Owner”) 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
172 West Fourth Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 (hereinafter “Contractor”) 
 
SURETY: 
Name:_________________________________________ 
Address:_______________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ (hereinafter “Surety”) 
 
CONTRACT: 
Date:  ________________ 
Contract No.  C006942 
Project:  _________________________________ 
 
Legal Description or Street Address of Project: ________________________________________________. 
 
Contract Sum: _____________________________________ (______________) (hereinafter “Contract”) 
 
BOND: 
Date:  _______________ 
Amount: ___________________________________________(______________) (hereinafter “Bond”) 
 
1. The Contractor, as Principal, and the Surety hereby, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner, as Obligee, for the performance of 
the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, agreements, 
extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and warranties thereof, all of which are 
incorporated herein by reference. 

 
2. If the Contractor fully performs the Contract, including, but not limited to, all undertakings, covenants, 

terms, conditions, agreements, extensions, modifications, changes, additions, alterations, and 
warranties thereof, and also fully indemnifies and holds harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, 
losses and expenses which the Owner may suffer by reason of the Contractor’s failure to do so and 
fully reimburses and pays the Owner for all costs, damages and expenses which the Owner may incur 
in remedying any such failure, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise it shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
3. The Surety further agrees that whenever the Contractor shall be, and is declared by Owner to be, in 

default under or in breach of the Contract (which shall include without limitation any breach by the 
Contractor of any of the provisions of the Contract) the Surety shall promptly remedy the default or 
breach and undertake to perform and complete the Contract in accordance with its terms and 
conditions.  The Surety’s obligations include, but are not limited to, (i) the responsibilities of the 
Contractor for correction of defective work, completion of the Contract and fulfillment of warranty 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

 E - 5 
  

obligations, (ii) additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the Contractor’s 
default or breach or from the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph, and (iii) liquidated 
damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed 
performance or non-performance of the Contractor or the Surety.  The Surety shall fully indemnify and 
hold harmless the Owner from all costs, damages, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees), which the 
Owner may incur as a result of the Surety’s failure to act as required under this paragraph. 

 
4. The Surety and Contractor further agree that any modifications, changes, additions or alterations which 

may be made in the terms of the Contract or in the work to be done thereunder, or any extensions of 
the Contract time, or other forbearance on the part of either the Owner or Contractor to the other, 
shall not in any way release the Contractor and the Surety, or either of them, their heirs, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns, from their liability hereunder, notice to Surety of any such 
modifications, changes, additions, alterations, extensions or forbearances being hereby expressly 
waived. 

 
5. The provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, including without limitation its notice and limitations 

provisions, are incorporated in this bond by reference; provided, however, that in the event any 
provision of this Bond conflicts with Section 255.05, Florida Statutes, then such conflicting provision 
shall be deemed deleted herefrom and the applicable provisions of Section 255.05, Florida Statutes 
shall be deemed incorporated herein. 

 
6. The sum of this Performance Bond is in addition to the sum of the Payment Bond being executed 

concurrently herewith. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument under their several seals effective on 
the Date of this Bond as set forth on page 1 hereof. 

 
CONTRACTOR:  SURETY: 
SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC.   
 
 [SEAL]   [SEAL] 
 
By:  By:   
Print Name:  Print Name:   

Title:                  Title: ___________________________________ 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

E - 6 

DUAL OBLIGEE RIDER 
 
To be attached to and form a part of contract payment bond number _____________________ issued by  

______________________________________________________________________________ (Surety) 

On behalf of _________________________________________________________________ (Contractor)                                       

In the amount of ________________________________________________ Dollars ($_______________) 

and dated _______________ in favor of CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT. 

In consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), and other good and valuable consideration receipt of 
which is hereby acknowledged, the Undersigned hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Walt Disney Parks and Resorts U.S. Inc. is hereby added to said bond as additional Obligee. 
 

2. The Surety shall not be liable under this bond to the Obligee, or either of them unless the said 
Obligee, or either of them, shall make payments to the Principal strictly in accordance with the 
terms of the said contract as to payments, and shall perform all other obligations to be performed 
under said contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth. 
 

3. No suit, action or preceding by reason of any default whatever shall be brought on this bond after 
two (2) years from the day on which the final payment under said construction contract falls due. 
 

4. Aggregate liability of Surety hereunder to Obligee is limited to the penal sum above stated Surety, 
upon making payment hereunder, shall be subrogated to, and shall be entitled to an assignment 
of all rights of the payee with respect to the particular obligation discharged by the payment, either 
against principal or against and other party liable to the payee on the discharged obligation. 

 
 
 
Signed, sealed and dated this ___________ day of ____________________, 20________. 
 
         

Contractor: SOUTHLAND CONSTRUCTION, INC.  
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 

Surety 
 
 
         

By _______________________ 
 
 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



 

E - 7 
 

 
 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
CONSENT OF SURETY FOR PARTIAL PAYMENT APPLICATION 

(Date)______________________________ 

CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT    
P.O. Box 690519 
Orlando, Florida 32869 

Re: Consent of Surety  
Bond #_________________________  
Contract # C006942 
Payment Req. No.: _______________ 

Dear Sir or Madam: 
__________________________________________________________ (Surety) hereby consents to the 
payment of the amount of moneys due to _______________________________________ (Prime 
Contractor), by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT for which the necessary duly executed 
affidavits/releases of liens have not been provided. 
 
This Consent of Surety is executed in lieu of the appropriated Affidavit and Release of Lien from 
____________________________________________ (Subcontractor/s - Supplier/s list if necessary) 
which the District’s Prime Contractor has not submitted with its Partial Payment Application.  The Surety 
executes this Consent for the amount of __________________, encompassing Work and/or labor 
performed, the provision of materials, equipment, and supplies through the _______ day of 
_________________, 20______, except for any applicable retainage. 
 
_____________________________________________________________ (Surety) further acknowledges 
that payment by CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT shall not be construed as a waiver 
of any of the District’s rights or those of any other named Obligee under the Payment and Performance 
Bonds; nor a determination by the District or those of any other named Obligee as to the merits of any 
controversy or dispute between the Prime Contractor and a Subcontractor/Supplier. 
 
Sincerely, 
__________________________________  
Name 
__________________________________  
Title 
__________________________________  
Signature of Attorney-in-Fact 
 
 
 
Note: Documentation must be provided that reflects the Attorney-in-Fact’s authority to sign 
for the Surety. 
 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



CONTRACT#

To: Attn:

Requested By: Date:

Approved By: Date:

 CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT
TASK WORK ORDER

RAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVET DIS

FUNDING SOURCE : 

WORK ORDER NUMBER # _________

EFFECTIVE DATE: ________________
Contracting Officer 

Approval/Initials

Department Director or Designee

Owner's Representative

Project Title:  

EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
NUMBER( ):

In accordance with your executed CFTOD Agreement, you are hereby authorized to
commence the work outlined in the attached scope of work. The approved work order
amount as a maximum limiting amount shall not to exceed $

S

Submit completed form to Contracting Officer

Exhibit E - SAMPLE FORMS 

E - 8

End of Exhibit E 

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

1 | P a g e

172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

IntroducƟon  

Please accept this response to the RFP for Emergency and Urgent Response ConstrucƟon Services – ConƟnuing Contract 
dated August 21, 2025 on behalf of Southland ConstrucƟon, Inc. (Southland).  SCI offers a wide range of services not 
found in most construction companies. We can take any project from raw land to a fully developed property including 
civil improvements, storm sewer, utilities, and the building structures. Much of our work is self-performed and not 
simply subcontracted to a third party. This is particularly true in our civil disciplines where we routinely self-perform 
sixty percent of our work providing for greater schedule and quality control. Our services include, but are not limited to, 
the following:  

 Design-Build 
 Utility Construction 
 Highway Construction 
 Commercial Building 
 Bridge Construction 

Proposer InformaƟon 

Proposer: Southland Construction, Inc. 
Headquarters Address: 172 W Fourth St, Apopka, FL 32703 
President: Daniel T. Carr – dtcarr@scifl.com | 321-230-2547 
Vice President: Joseph L. Raucci – jraucci@scifl.com | 321-230-2551 
Vice President: Tyler Carr – tylerc@scifl.com | 321-230-2062 
Office Phone: 407-889-9844 
Tax ID Number: 59-1742990 
CFTOD Status: Buy Local Contractor 

Company History / Background 

We are grateful for the opportunity to conƟnue working with CFTOD, having had a successful track record performing 
projects on the Walt Disney World property for both WDI and CFTOD. 

Founded in 1977, Southland is a locally owned and operated Central Florida company headquartered in Apopka, FL. Our 
leadership and staff live in proximity to the WDW property, fostering strong relaƟonships with regional suppliers and 
contractors. 

We have extensive experience working with various stakeholders, including: 

 Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) 
 Florida Turnpike Enterprise 
 Central Florida Expressway Authority 
 Greater Orlando Aviation Authority 
 Local municipalities 
 Private developers 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 1

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

2 | P a g e

172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

Our approach emphasizes partnership, innovaƟon, efficiency, and safety. We understand the importance of coordinaƟon 
and workforce flexibility in minimizing impacts on the guest experience at Walt Disney World. Southland also has a 
proven record of responding to emergency requests quickly and efficiently. We bring our full range of resources and 
experƟse to make each project successful for all stakeholders. 

A. QualificaƟons and Experience

Related Experience to Scope

Southland has extensive experience with the scopes outlined in the RFP, as well as in emergency response scenarios. We 
maintain a conƟnuing contract with Seminole County for infrastructure support and have provided emergency response 
services to RCID/CFTOD, FDOT, Seminole County, and the City of Winter Springs, parƟcularly aŌer hurricanes and severe 
weather events. 

Our scope of services has included: 

 Embankment restoraƟon 
 Bridge and box culvert rehabilitaƟon (including shoring walls and slab replacement) 
 Pressure grouƟng of voids 
 Roadway restoraƟon 
 Drainage improvements 
 Emergency access and evacuaƟon coordinaƟon 

Recent Projects Include: 

 Mullinax Hyundai, Clermont (2024) 
o $4.74M | Grading, drainage, paving, sewer, and water installaƟon

 Bailey Bridge at Perimeter Canal for RCID/CFTOD (2024) 
o $2.41M | Sheet piling, overhead uƟlity coordinaƟon, reclaimed water relocaƟon

 US 441 in Lady Lake for FDOT D5 (Ongoing) 
o $44.96M | Complex MOT, phased bridge removal, shoring walls, heavy traffic coordinaƟon

We operate both a Heavy Highway Division and a Ver cal Construc on Division, giving us flexibility in labor, equipment, 
and scheduling. Our strong vendor network supports emergency response capabiliƟes. 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 2

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

3 | P a g e  
 
172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

Project Manager QualificaƟon and Track Record 
 

Damon Co ngham will serve as Project Manager. With 12 years of conƟnuous experience on WDW property, Damon 
has managed projects for RCID, WDI, Coastal Tishman, WhiƟng-Turner, and is currently overseeing the World Drive Phase 
III project. 

Key projects include: 

 I-4 Slip Ramp (complex bridges, MOT, coordinaƟon) 
 Osceola Parkway/Victory Way Interchange (bridges, walls, uƟliƟes) 
 Epcot Resorts Blvd Phase II Bridge ReconstrucƟon 
 RCID Bailey Bridge waterline relocaƟon 
 Emergency response efforts on behalf of RCID/CFTOD 

Damon’s deep knowledge of the property and stakeholders ensures minimal disrupƟon, efficient / Ɵmely mobilizaƟon, 
and high-quality execuƟon. 

B. Staffing Plan 
 

Project Management Structure 
POSITION TITLE PERSONNEL PHONE 

Vice President Joe Raucci  321-230-2551  
Project Manager Damon Coƫngham   321-230-2538 
Project Superintendent Chris McCully   321-230-2553   
General Superintendent Destry Sorrell 321-230-2533 

 

Address: 172 W Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Phone: 407-889-9844 
 
Key staff posiƟons were chosen for their similar experience or experience working on the Walt Disney World property 
and demonstrated excellent ability of working together to solve construcƟon and design issues in a Ɵmely, efficient 
manner.  Southland has maintained a remote office on the Walt Disney World Property for 12 years now.  We try to 
maintain a consistent backlog of work on the property to support this office.  We would uƟlize the project infrastructure, 
resources and management in place to support the scope of this RFP.  If at some point our office on property were to 
close, we are headquartered with our equipment yard in Apopka, FL and have the ability to mobilize to WDW property in 
short order.  Most of our staff and management live within an hour of the property as well. 

Chris McCully 

Chris McCully will serve as our project superintendent for these projects.  Chris has worked with Damon on various 
projects around the WDW property and is very familiar with the environment and special nature of the site.  Chris has 
worked with Southland for 26 years in a variety of roles from verƟcal construcƟon superintendent, MOT supervisor, pipe 
foreman, to building roads as a grade foreman.  Chris has experience with working with and around all types of uƟlity 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 3

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

4 | P a g e  
 
172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

faciliƟes, such as potable water, reclaimed water, chilled water, sewer, and force main.  His diversity of experience is an 
asset on any project as he can quickly assess situaƟons and develop Ɵme criƟcal and efficient soluƟons.  Chris has been 
the project superintendent on Osceola Parkway / Victory Way Interchange, Epcot Resorts Blvd PH II Bridge Replacement, 
Bailey Bridge at Perimeter Canal project, WDN Regional Stormwater Facility, and is the current superintendent on the 
CFTOD World Drive PH III Project. 

Destry Sorrell 

Destry Sorrell is the general superintendent for Southland ConstrucƟon.  Destry coordinates all of our equipment and 
resources company wide throughout the Central Florida region.  Destry will be a key emergency contact for this project 
and will be available for site assessments and coordinaƟng with the project management and esƟmaƟng team to 
develop Ɵme sensiƟve soluƟons uƟlizing our company resources to the maximum efficiency.  Destry has extensive 
experience in uƟlity construcƟon throughout his career.  He also served as project superintendent for Southland on the 
EB Epcot Center Drive Widening so he is familiar with working on the WDW property as well. 

Luis Muniz 

Luis Muniz is our lead pipe foreman for Southland ConstrucƟon and has been with Southland for 12 years.  Luis will be an 
invaluable resource in project assessments and assisƟng the crew brought in to perform the work.  Luis has experience 
with all uƟlity scopes including potable water, reused water, sewer and force main. 

Subcontractors 

Southland partners with proven vendors for emergency response: 

 P&A Welding – Certified field/shop welders (ASME, AWS D1.1) 
 W&S Construction – Concrete flatwork and non-structural concrete 
 RWH Construction – Structural concrete (as supplement) 
 Orlando Paving / Ranger Construction – Asphalt and paving repairs 
 Carter Electric – Electrical contractor, experienced on WDW property 
 Sabcon – Mechanical/gas utilities; currently active on World Drive PH III 
 Beyel Crane – Heavy lifting and hoisting, known for complex operations 
 C. Slagter / Fausnight – Roadway appurtenances and striping 
 Shenandoah – Ground Stabilization 

C. Reference 
 
The aƩached Reference Form provides a diverse cross secƟon of our clients, projects and scope of work that we typically 
pursue, including work for CFTOD, a private client and for the State of Florida.  We believe these clients will provide 
posiƟve feedback not only on our quality of work but also our responsiveness and coordinaƟon in solving problems and 
creaƟng soluƟons to expedite project compleƟon which is the main thrust of this conƟnuing contract. 
 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 4

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

5 | P a g e

172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

D. Approach and CapabiliƟes

We understand this RFP seeks contractors capable of responding to emergency requests within 2 hours and handling the 
wide range of scopes described in Section 12. 

Southland’s local presence, experienced team, and on-property resources enable us to: 

 Mobilize within 2 hours. 
 Assess and stabilize emergency issues 
 Partner with specialty engineers for long-term solutions 
 Self-perform most scopes: earthwork, MOT, structural repair, concrete, earthwork, shoring, and utilities 

We also manage the construction of complex utility systems, such as the chilled water system on World Drive PH III. Our 
vertical division adds support for building systems (plumbing, mechanical, electrical). For unfamiliar scopes, we leverage 
our experience and relationships to quickly develop solutions. 

E. Response for Emergency and Urgent Work

Southland ConstrucƟon, Inc. is a local company headquartered in Apopka, Florida. All of our ownership and management 
reside in the Central Florida region. We currently maintain an office on Walt Disney World property to support the World 
Drive Phase III project, as well as any upcoming projects. At present, we have a substanƟal amount of equipment on-site 
dedicated to uƟlity and earthwork construcƟon for the World Drive Phase III project, which is expected to conƟnue for 
the next two years. 

Because of this ongoing project, our team is already on call 24/7 to manage any related work on the property. In the 
event of an emergency, the primary point of contact would be Damon Coƫngham, the site Project Manager for 
Southland with CFTOD. The secondary contact is Chris McCully, the on-site Superintendent, followed by Destry Sorrell, 
our General Superintendent. All three individuals have the authority and capability to respond directly or to dispatch a 
qualified representaƟve from Southland within two hours. 

Each of these team members is thoroughly familiar with the equipment and resources currently on-site, allowing for 
immediate mobilizaƟon when needed. If necessary, they can also coordinate the rapid deployment of addiƟonal 
resources from our Apopka yard or another acƟve project site. Furthermore, all three are well-versed in both CFTOD and 
WDW protocols for developing scopes of work, engaging with appropriate stakeholders, and creaƟng safe and effecƟve 
traffic management plans to ensure minimal disrupƟon to the traveling public and resort guests. 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 5

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Central Florida Tourism Oversight District 
RFP# C006914 Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services – Continuing Contract  

6 | P a g e  
 
172 West Fourth St Apopka, FL 32703 
Tel (407) 889-9844 

Summary 
 

Southland looks forward to the opportunity to work with CFTOD on this contract in the years ahead. Our familiarity with 
the site and the flexibility of our resources are advantages that few contractors in the region can match. We have a 
proven track record of rapid response and successful compleƟon of emergency projects throughout Central Florida for 
key clients such as CFTOD, FDOT, Seminole County, and the City of Winter Springs. 

Our conƟnued presence on the Walt Disney World property enables us to operate with significant efficiency, leveraging 
personnel, materials, and equipment that are already on-site or readily accessible. Our project team has extensive 
experience with all relevant scopes of work, combined with a deep understanding of the physical site and the unique 
operaƟonal requirements of the property. 

Southland is based in Orange County and is a registered Buy Local vendor with CFTOD. We sincerely appreciate this 
opportunity and look forward to conƟnuing our partnership. 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 6

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



1 

PPROFILE 

Damon has been in the construction industry 
since 2001 and has worked for Southland since 
2013.  As a Project Manager, he is responsible for 
all activities in all phases and serves as a single 
point of contact for the owner.   Damon also 
relies upon his experience to provide technical 
feedback during the preconstruction / validation 
phase.   

CONTACT 

PHONE: 
407-889-9844 

WEBSITE: 
www.southlandconstruction.com 

EMAIL: 
damonc@scifl.com 

CERTIFICATIONS 
FDEP Stormwater, Erosion, and Sedimentation 

Control Certified Inspector 

Engineer in Training EIT Certification  

FDOT CTQP Earthwork Inspection Level 1 & 2 

PREVIOUS EMPLOYERS 

Kelly Brothers, Inc., Project Manager, 2010-2013 

John Carlo, Inc., Project Engineer, 2008-2010 

Hubbard Construction, Project Engineer, 2001-
2008 

DAMON 
COTTINGHAM 
PROJECT MANAGER 

EDUCATION 
B.S. Civil Engineering, University of Florida 

WORK EXPERIENCE 
Southland Construction, Inc., Project Manager 
2013–Present  

World Drive Phase III, RCID, FL, $74.3
Million

I-4 (T5728), Orange County, FL, $34.5
Million

Baily Bridge at Canal, RCID, $2.4 Million

World Drive Phase II, RCID, $.4 Million

Epcot Resorts Boulevard Bridge, RCID,
$6.2 Million

World Drive Exit, RCID, $2.1 Million

World Drive North Stormwater Facility,
RCID, $9.7 Million

Speedway Parking Lot Rehabilitation,
RCID, $2 Million

Buena Vista Drive Modifications, RCID,
$.8 Million

Osceola Parkway and Victory Way
Interchange, RCID - $59.8 Million

Osceola Parkway and World Drive
Interchange - $12.3 Million

Epcot Center Drive Widening, RCID, $7
Million

SR 417 / Florida’s Turnpike SR 91
Interchange - $30 Million

Reedy Creek I-4 Slip Ramp, RCID - $12.4
Million

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 7

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



1 

PPROFILE 

Chris has been in the construction industry since 
2000 and has worked as a roadway 
superintendent since 2009. Chris has experience 
working as a pipe foreman, MOT foreman and 
managing storm water, erosion and 
sedimentation control.  As the roadway 
superintendent, Chris will be responsible for all 
drainage, embankment, MOT, utility coordination 
and roadway construction activities. 

Chris has been successful working in and around 
the Disney property for the last several years.  
Chris has developed a good working relationship 
with the various stakeholders for RCID.  He has 
extensive history managing the difficult traffic 
control and volumes in and around the property 
on both main limited access roads like World 
Drive and I-4 as well as more urban environments 
like Epcot Resorts Boulevard. 

CERTIFICATIONS  
FDEP Stormwater, Erosion, and Sedimentation 
Control Certified Inspector 

ATSSA – Florida Advanced MOT Training 

Competent Person – Trench and Excavation 

OSHA 10 Hour 

CHRIS 
MCCULLY 
ROADWAY SUPERINTENDENT 

EDUCATION 
B.A. History, University of Central Florida 

WORK EXPERIENCE 
Southland Construction, Inc., Roadway 
Superintendent  
2007–Present  

 I-4 (T5728), FDOT, Orange County, FL,
$34.5 Million 

 Baily Bridge at Canal, RCID, $2.4 Million 

 World Drive Phase II, RCID, $.4 Million 

 Epcot Resorts Boulevard Bridge, RCID, 
$6.2 Million 

 World Drive Exit, RCID, $2.1 Million 

 World Drive North Stormwater Facility, 
RCID, $9.7 Million 

 Speedway Parking Lot Rehabilitation, 
RCID, $2 Million 

 Buena Vista Drive Modifications, RCID, 
$.8 Million 

 Osceola Parkway and Victory Way 
Interchange, RCID - $59.8 Million 

 Osceola Parkway and World Drive 
Interchange, RCID - $12.3 Million 

 SR 528 Airport Mainline Toll Plaza 
Demolition and Ramp Plaza, CFX, $38.8 
Million 

 SR 417 / SR 91 Partial Interchange, CFX, 
$30 Million  

 SR 429 / SR 414 Interchange 
Improvement, CFX, $50 Million 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 8

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



1 

PPROFILE 

Destry has been in the construction industry since 
1981 and has worked for Southland since 2015.  
As the General Superintendent, he is responsible 
for supervising the activities of Project 
Superintendents and scheduling the use of crews 
and equipment for all active heavy highway 
projects.   

CONTACT 

PHONE: 
407-889-9844

WEBSITE: 
www.southlandconstruction.com  

EMAIL: 
destrys@scifl.com 

DESTRY 
SORRELL 
GENERAL SUPERINTENDENT  

RECENT WORK EXPERIENCE 

Southland Construction, Inc., 2015–Present , 
General Superintendent. 

Schedules the assignments of all +/- 200 field 
personnel, as well as the equipment they utilize.  
Responsible for hiring and discipline of field staff. 

SES, Manager, 2014-2015 

Oversaw all employees while delivering projects 
on time, within budget. Set, communicated and 
maintained timelines and priorities on every 
project. Communicated, maintained and 
developed client relationships. Managed supplier 
relationships. 

Premier Utility Contractors, Owner 
2001-2014 

Assumed responsibility for assigned services and 
activities related to the management of specific 
utilities projects, including design, bid, 
construction and related functions and 
professional contracts.  Orchestrated completion 
of projects within budgetary, regulatory and time 
constraints. 

Allen Varnadoe Construction, General 
Superintendent, 1998-2001 

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 9

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Emergency Response Q&A Form
Bid No.: _______________________

Solicitation Title: __________________________________________________________________________________

Please provide responses below.

Q1. After being notified of an emergency  how long on average until your company will be on-
site?

A1.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q2. Will the emergency deployment include full staffing, or limited equipment and staff? 

A2.________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q3. What clients of yours, if any, have received similar emergency response services in the past? 

A3._________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________

Q4. Would the District have priority deployment over other clients in an urgent or emergency 
situations? (i.e. natural disasters)   YES   NO

If not, please explain:

A4. ______________________________________________________________________________________

C006914
Emergency and Urgent Response Construction Services - Continuing Contract

Per RFP, within two-hours of a call for repair.

All equipment needed and staff resources at full levels required to complete the scope of work.

Craig Sandt 321-201-8391 CFTOD

Ted Holmes 321-377-2402 Seminole County

Yes, Except when directed by local or state agencies to protect public health and safety.

✔

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 10

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



Ce
nt

ra
l F

lo
rid

a 
To

ur
ism

 O
ve

rs
ig

ht
 D

ist
ric

t
Eq

ui
pm

en
t L

in
e 

Ite
m

s f
or

 E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

an
d 

Ur
ge

nt
 R

es
po

ns
e 

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Se
rv

ice
s -

 C
on

tin
ui

ng
 C

on
tr

ac
t (

RF
P#

 C
00

69
14

)
Iss

ue
d 

on
 0

8/
21

/2
5

Bi
d 

Du
e 

on
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 9
, 2

02
5

Un
iq

ue
 Id

Su
bt

yp
e

M
an

uf
ac

tu
re

r
M

od
el

Ye
ar

Si
ze

 C
la

ss
Co

nf
ig

ur
at

io
ns

HO
U

RL
Y 

 
   

 T
O

TA
L

AC
-0

9
Po

rt
ab

le
 R

ot
ar

y 
Sc

re
w

 A
ir 

Co
m

pr
es

so
rs

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
18

5 
CF

M
 D

IE
SE

L
20

07
12

5 
- 2

49
 cu

 ft
/m

in
Ai

r D
el

iv
er

y 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
85

.0
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 8

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$6
8.

98
AC

-1
2

Po
rt

ab
le

 R
ot

ar
y 

Sc
re

w
 A

ir 
Co

m
pr

es
so

rs
Su

lla
ir

18
5D

PQ
JD

20
06

12
5 

- 2
49

 cu
 ft

/m
in

Ai
r D

el
iv

er
y 

Ra
tin

g:
 1

85
.0

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 6
0.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$5

7.
90

B-
04

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
De

er
e

20
0L

C
20

01
19

.5
 - 

21
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

40
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
20

.3
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

17
.0

5

B-
08

Tr
ac

to
r-L

oa
de

r-B
ac

kh
oe

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

42
0D

20
01

13
.5

 - 
14

.4
 ft

Dr
iv

e:
 2

W
D,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

9.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 E
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$7

2.
92

B-
12

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

30
0L

C-
7

20
07

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
46

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

34
.2

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
68

.7
8

B-
16

Tr
ac

to
r-L

oa
de

r-B
ac

kh
oe

s
Vo

lv
o

BL
60

20
06

13
.5

 - 
14

.4
 ft

Dr
iv

e:
 2

W
D,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

3.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 E
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$6

1.
65

B-
17

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ta

ke
uc

hi
TB

15
3F

R
20

10
5.

5 
- 6

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 3
8.

8,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

5.
59

74
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$4

5.
99

B-
24

W
he

el
 M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Lie

bh
er

r
A9

00
C

20
11

15
.5

 - 
17

.4
 m

t
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 0
.4

2,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
27

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
38

40
0,

Po
w

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

02
.1

7

B-
27

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

34
9F

20
15

50
.5

 - 
66

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 4
17

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

11
75

00
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
52

.9
9

B-
28

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ku

bo
ta

KX
01

8-
4

20
17

1.
5 

- 2
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

5.
5,

Op
er

at
in

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
37

48
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$2

0.
19

B-
29

Tr
ac

to
r-L

oa
de

r-B
ac

kh
oe

s
JC

B
3C

X 
14

20
16

13
.5

 - 
14

.4
 ft

Dr
iv

e:
 H

yd
ro

st
at

ic,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
1,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
OP

S/
FO

PS
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
3.

25

B-
30

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ku

bo
ta

KX
05

7-
4

20
16

5.
5 

- 6
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 4

5.
2,

Op
er

at
in

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
12

20
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$4
5.

41

B-
31

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ku

bo
ta

KX
03

3-
4

20
17

2.
5 

- 3
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

3.
2,

Op
er

at
in

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
74

20
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
0.

68
B-

32
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ko
m

at
su

PC
36

0L
CI

-1
1

20
16

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

79
80

7.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
76

.3
1

B-
33

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Av

er
ag

e
AV

ER
AG

E 
50

.1
 - 

66
.0

 M
TO

NS
20

17
50

.5
 - 

66
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

57
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
55

.2
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

41
.9

3

B-
34

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ku

bo
ta

U5
5-

4
20

19
4.

5 
- 5

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 4
5.

2,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

11
91

5,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$4

7.
89

B-
36

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Hi

ta
ch

i
ZA

XI
S 

24
5U

SL
C-

6
20

16
24

.5
 - 

28
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

59
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
56

83
0.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

34
.4

5
B-

39
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

De
er

e
24

5G
 LC

20
18

24
.5

 - 
28

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
59

.0
$1

33
.2

2
B-

40
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ko
m

at
su

PC
23

8U
SL

C-
11

20
19

24
.5

 - 
28

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
65

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

54
23

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
25

.7
9

B-
41

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

33
6

20
19

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
.0

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 3
11

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

81
90

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

91
.4

6
B-

42
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Hi
ta

ch
i

ZA
XI

S 
13

5U
S-

6
20

19
12

.5
 - 

14
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

01
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
31

50
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
16

.7
9

B-
43

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

CI
-1

1
20

19
33

.5
 - 

40
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

57
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
79

80
7.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

76
.6

6
B-

44
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Hi
ta

ch
i

ZA
XI

S 
34

5U
SL

C-
6

20
18

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
49

.0
$1

65
.6

1

B-
45

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ta

ke
uc

hi
TB

13
8F

R
20

16
3.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
7.

8,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

3.
80

12
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$2

9.
42

B-
46

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

CI
-1

1
20

20
33

.5
 - 

40
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

57
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
79

80
7.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

76
.6

6
B-

47
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
33

6F
20

19
33

.5
 - 

40
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

03
.0

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
84

00
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
67

.6
9

B-
48

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ku

bo
ta

U3
5

20
18

3.
5 

- 4
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

8.
3,

Op
er

at
in

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
3.

64
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

0.
58

B-
49

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
De

er
e

24
5G

 LC
20

21
24

.5
 - 

28
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

59
.0

$1
33

.4
2

B-
50

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
21

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
4

B-
51

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
21

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
4

B-
52

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
19

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.0
9

B-
52

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

49
0L

C-
11

20
21

40
.5

 - 
50

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 3
59

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
42

.3
3

B-
53

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

13
8U

SL
C-

11
20

21
14

.5
 - 

16
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

7.
2

$1
16

.2
7

B-
54

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

30
3.

5E
2 

CR
20

22
3.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
3.

5,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

82
09

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

6.
71

B-
55

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

30
3.

5E
2 

CR
20

22
3.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
3.

5,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

82
09

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

6.
71

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 11

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



B-
56

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

30
3.

5E
2 

CR
20

22
3.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
3.

5,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

82
09

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

6.
71

B-
57

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
23

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
6

B-
58

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
23

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
6

B-
59

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
23

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
6

B-
60

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
24

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
9

B-
60

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
24

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
9

B-
60

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

36
0L

C-
11

20
24

33
.5

 - 
40

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
57

,O
pe

ra
tin

g 
W

ei
gh

t: 
78

64
5,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
90

.1
9

B-
61

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

13
8U

SL
C-

11
20

25
14

.5
 - 

16
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

7.
2

$1
16

.3
2

B-
62

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ta

ke
uc

hi
TB

23
5-

2
20

23
2.

5 
- 3

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
4.

4,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

72
53

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/T

OP
S/

OP
G,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
9.

87

B-
63

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ta

ke
uc

hi
TB

23
5-

2
20

23
2.

5 
- 3

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
4.

4,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

72
53

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/T

OP
S/

OP
G,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
9.

87

B-
64

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 C

om
pa

ct
 E

xc
av

at
or

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

30
3.

5
20

03
2.

5 
- 3

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
5.

0,
Op

er
at

in
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

3.
4,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
2.

47
B-

65
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ko
m

at
su

PC
36

0L
C-

11
20

24
33

.5
 - 

40
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

57
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

78
64

5,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

90
.1

9
B-

66
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ko
m

at
su

PC
36

0L
C-

11
20

24
33

.5
 - 

40
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

57
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

78
64

5,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

90
.1

9
B-

67
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 H
yd

ra
ul

ic 
Ex

ca
va

to
rs

Ko
m

at
su

PC
49

0L
C-

11
20

24
40

.5
 - 

50
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

59
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$2

42
.4

0
B-

R-
05

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

30
0L

C-
5

19
94

28
.5

 - 
33

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
07

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

31
.2

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
70

.5
9

BR
-0

7
Tr

ac
to

r-L
oa

de
r-B

ac
kh

oe
s

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
42

6B
19

95
14

.5
 - 

15
.4

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 2
W

D,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
9.

0,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

RO
PS

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$9
2.

34
BR

-1
4

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic 

Ex
ca

va
to

rs
Ko

m
at

su
PC

20
0L

C-
6

19
98

19
.5

 - 
21

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
33

.0
,O

pe
ra

tin
g 

W
ei

gh
t: 

21
.3

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
18

.2
6

BT
-0

2
Ba

re
 In

du
st

ria
l T

ra
ct

or
s

Fo
rd

25
0C

50
 - 

59
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 5
4.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

0.
90

BT
-0

3
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Ro
sc

o
RB

-4
8

20
00

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
89

.5
1

BT
-0

4
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Ro
sc

o
RB

-4
8

19
99

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
89

.5
5

BT
-0

5
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

La
y-

M
or

6H
C/

8H
C

20
16

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

7.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
08

.4
6

BT
-0

6
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

La
y-

M
or

8H
C

20
06

Br
oo

m
 Le

ng
th

: 9
6,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

7,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
ra

ns
m

iss
io

n:
 

Hy
dr

os
ta

tic
$1

01
.0

8

BT
-0

7
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Br
oc

e
BB

25
0-

B
20

21
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
18

.3
9

BT
-0

8
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Br
oc

e
BB

25
0-

B
20

19
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
18

.3
9

BT
-1

0
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

La
y-

M
or

8H
C

20
18

Br
oo

m
 Le

ng
th

: 9
6,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

7,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
ra

ns
m

iss
io

n:
 

Hy
dr

os
ta

tic
$1

04
.9

5

BT
-1

1
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

La
y-

M
or

6-
HB

20
18

Br
oo

m
 Le

ng
th

: 7
2.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 3
1.

5,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
ra

ns
m

iss
io

n:
 

Hy
dr

os
ta

tic
$1

46
.5

2

BT
-1

2
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

19
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.4
3

BT
-1

3
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

22
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.4
8

BT
-1

4
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

22
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.4
8

BT
-1

5
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

22
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.4
8

BT
-1

6
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

23
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.4
8

BT
-1

7
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pa
ve

m
en

t B
ro

om
s

Su
pe

rio
r B

ro
om

SM
74

J
20

24
Br

oo
m

 Le
ng

th
: 9

6,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 
Hy

dr
os

ta
tic

$1
78

.5
0

BW
C-

05
Ke

nc
o

KL
-9

00
0

19
99

HD
 B

ar
rie

r W
al

l L
ift

$3
.6

9
BW

C-
06

Ke
nc

o
KL

-9
00

0
19

99
HD

 B
ar

rie
r W

al
l L

ift
$3

.6
9

C-
1

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 La

tti
ce

 B
oo

m
 C

ra
ne

s
Lie

bh
er

r
LR

13
00

20
17

20
0.

5 
m

t &
 O

ve
r

Bo
om

 B
as

e 
Le

ng
th

: 3
3.

8,
M

ax
im

um
 Li

ft 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 2

71
.6

2,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 
60

3.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
,2

91
.4

1
Cr

us
he

r
Ja

w
 C

ru
sh

er
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
16

36
20

23
25

 - 
41

 in
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 E

le
ct

ric
,R

eq
ui

re
d 

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

0.
0 

- 5
0.

0
$8

9.
06

Cr
us

he
r C

on
e

Co
ne

 C
ru

sh
er

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

54
20

23
48

 - 
59

 in
Co

ne
 T

yp
e:

 S
ta

nd
ar

d,
He

ad
 S

ize
: 5

4.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 E
le

ct
ric

,R
eq

ui
re

d 
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
00

.0
$2

08
.8

3

D-
05

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D3

1P
X-

21
20

08
75

 - 
84

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

AT
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

5.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$8

3.
11

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 12

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



D-
06

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D6

1P
X-

15
20

08
13

0 
- 1

59
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
AT

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
68

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

43
.5

2

D-
08

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
X-

22
20

09
13

0 
- 1

59
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
AT

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
31

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

RO
PS

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

25
.0

9

D-
09

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
De

er
e

65
0K

 LG
P

20
16

85
 - 

10
4 

hp
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
AT

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
01

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

16
.8

2

D-
10

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

D5
K2

 LG
P

20
15

85
 - 

10
4 

hp
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 V
PA

T,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
04

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

11
.0

5
D-

15
Lg

p 
Cr

aw
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ko
m

at
su

D5
1P

XI
-2

2
20

14
13

0 
- 1

59
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
30

.0
$1

30
.9

6

D-
16

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

D3
K2

 LG
P

20
16

75
 - 

84
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 V
PA

T,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 8
0.

0,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$8

8.
13

D-
17

St
an

da
rd

 C
ra

w
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
D5

K2
 T

IE
R 

4 
FI

NA
L S

TA
GE

 IV
20

19
85

 - 
10

4 
hp

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

04
.0

$9
2.

65

D-
18

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
X-

24
20

19
13

0 
- 1

59
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
ow

er
 a

ng
le

 ti
lt,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

31
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
50

.0
6

D-
19

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D3

9P
X-

24
20

19
10

5 
- 1

29
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
ow

er
 a

ng
le

 ti
lt,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

9.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
07

.8
0

D-
20

St
an

da
rd

 C
ra

w
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ko
m

at
su

D6
5P

X-
18

20
20

19
0 

- 2
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 S

IG
M

AD
OZ

ER
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 2

17
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

81
.3

6

D-
21

St
an

da
rd

 C
ra

w
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ko
m

at
su

D6
5P

X-
18

20
20

19
0 

- 2
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 S

IG
M

AD
OZ

ER
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 2

17
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

81
.3

6

D-
22

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D6

1P
X-

24
20

20
16

0 
- 1

89
 h

p
Do

ze
r T

yp
e:

 P
ow

er
 a

ng
le

 ti
lt,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

68
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
73

.9
1

D-
23

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
XI

-2
4

20
21

13
0 

- 1
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

ow
er

 a
ng

le
 ti

lt,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
31

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

51
.3

5

D-
24

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

D6
K2

 LG
P

20
20

10
5 

- 1
29

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 V

PA
T,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

28
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
29

.8
7

D-
25

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

D6
K2

 LG
P

20
20

10
5 

- 1
29

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 V

PA
T,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

28
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
29

.8
7

D-
26

St
an

da
rd

 C
ra

w
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ko
m

at
su

D3
9P

XI
-2

4
20

21
10

5 
- 1

29
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
05

.0
$1

09
.4

3

D-
27

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
XI

-2
4

20
21

13
0 

- 1
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

ow
er

 a
ng

le
 ti

lt,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
31

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

51
.3

5

D-
28

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
XI

-2
4

20
21

13
0 

- 1
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

ow
er

 a
ng

le
 ti

lt,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
31

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

51
.3

5
D-

29
St

an
da

rd
 C

ra
w

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D3

9P
XI

-2
4

20
24

10
5 

- 1
29

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

05
.0

$1
09

.4
9

D-
30

Lg
p 

Cr
aw

le
r D

oz
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
D5

1P
XI

-2
4

20
24

13
0 

- 1
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

ow
er

 a
ng

le
 ti

lt,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
31

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

51
.4

1

D-
31

St
an

da
rd

 C
ra

w
le

r D
oz

er
s

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
D4

20
25

13
0 

- 1
59

 h
p

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 V

PA
T,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

30
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

nc
lo

se
d 

ca
b,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
55

.8
1

DD
P-

01
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
08

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
1

DD
P-

06
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
18

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
8

DD
P-

07
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
18

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
8

DD
P-

08
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
19

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
9

DD
P-

09
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
19

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
9

DD
P-

10
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
19

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
9

DD
P-

11
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
19

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
9

DD
P-

12
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
19

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.7
9

DD
P-

13
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

14
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 13

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



DD
P-

15
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

16
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

17
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

18
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

19
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
20

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
0

DD
P-

20
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4 
DO

UB
LE

 D
IE

SE
L

20
22

4 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,P
um

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

40
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$8

.8
1

DR
-0

6
Lg

p 
Cr

aw
le

r D
oz

er
s

De
er

e
65

0H
 LG

P
19

99
85

 - 
10

4 
hp

Do
ze

r T
yp

e:
 P

AT
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 9

0.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$8

8.
48

F-
02

Te
le

ha
nd

le
rs

Gr
ad

al
l

53
4B

-9
19

93
4.

0 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Ba

se
 C

ap
ac

ity
: 9

00
0.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
02

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 Li

ft 
He

ig
ht

: 
43

2.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 R
ea

ch
: 2

76
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
48

.0
4

F-
03

Te
le

ha
nd

le
rs

Te
re

x
TH

63
6C

20
04

2.
71

 - 
3.

0 
m

t
Ba

se
 C

ap
ac

ity
: 6

00
0.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 9
9.

0,
M

ax
im

um
 Li

ft 
He

ig
ht

: 
36

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 R

ea
ch

: 2
1.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

49
.8

4

F-
04

Te
le

ha
nd

le
rs

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
TL

64
2D

20
22

2.
71

 - 
3.

0 
m

t
Ba

se
 C

ap
ac

ity
: 6

50
0.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
00

,M
ax

im
um

 Li
ft 

He
ig

ht
: 

42
.0

,M
ax

im
um

 R
ea

ch
: 3

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
44

.9
3

G-
08

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
De

er
e

67
0C

H
20

00
13

0 
- 1

44
 h

p
M

ol
db

oa
rd

 S
ize

: 1
2.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
40

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$8

8.
89

G-
09

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

12
H

20
00

14
5 

- 1
69

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

45
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
02

.5
8

G-
12

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

12
M

20
11

17
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

58
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
10

.3
1

G-
13

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

14
0M

20
12

17
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

83
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
14

.8
9

G-
14

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

12
M

3
20

14
17

0 
- 1

99
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
79

$1
40

.8
8

G-
15

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

12
M

2
20

16
17

0 
- 1

99
 h

p
M

ol
db

oa
rd

 S
ize

: 1
2.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
73

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

ER
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

08
.8

5

G-
16

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
De

er
e

67
2G

20
19

17
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

70
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
35

.2
1

G-
17

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
De

er
e

67
2G

20
21

17
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

70
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
35

.2
4

G-
18

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
GD

65
5-

7
20

21
20

0 
- 2

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
18

.0
$1

33
.0

9

G-
19

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
De

er
e

67
2G

20
21

17
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

70
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
35

.2
4

G-
20

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

14
0 

AW
D

20
24

25
0 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
M

ol
db

oa
rd

 S
ize

: 1
68

 x 
24

 x 
1,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

70
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

80
.1

2

G-
21

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 F

ra
m

e 
Gr

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

14
0 

AW
D

20
25

25
0 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
M

ol
db

oa
rd

 S
ize

: 1
68

 x 
24

 x 
1,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

70
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

80
.1

4

GR
-0

2
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 F
ra

m
e 

Gr
ad

er
s

De
er

e
57

0B
19

95
75

 - 
11

4 
hp

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

0.
0,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
7.

72

GR
-0

5
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 F
ra

m
e 

Gr
ad

er
s

De
er

e
67

0C
H

19
98

13
0 

- 1
44

 h
p

M
ol

db
oa

rd
 S

ize
: 1

2.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

40
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
ER

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
8.

80
Ge

n-
01

Sm
al

l G
en

er
at

or
 S

et
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
50

00
20

20
To

 5
,0

00
 W

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

0
$5

.7
6

HR
-0

2
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S-

65
20

16
61

 - 
70

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 4
W

D 
w

/O
sc

ill
 A

xl
e,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 5

1.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 
50

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 H
ei

gh
t: 

78
4.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

28
.8

2

HR
-0

3
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S-

65
20

16
61

 - 
70

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 4
W

D 
w

/O
sc

ill
 A

xl
e,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 5

1.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 
50

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 H
ei

gh
t: 

78
4.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

28
.8

2

HR
-0

4
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S-

65
20

16
61

 - 
70

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 4
W

D 
w

/O
sc

ill
 A

xl
e,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 5

1.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 
50

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 H
ei

gh
t: 

78
4.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

28
.8

2

HR
-0

5
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S-

65
20

16
61

 - 
70

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 4
W

D 
w

/O
sc

ill
 A

xl
e,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 5

1.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 
50

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 P
la

tfo
rm

 H
ei

gh
t: 

78
4.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

28
.8

2

HR
-0

6
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S-

65
20

16
61

 - 
70

 ft
Dr

iv
e:

 2
W

D,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 8
2.

0,
M

ax
im

um
 P

la
tfo

rm
 C

ap
ac

ity
: 

50
0.

0,
M

ax
im

um
 P

la
tfo

rm
 H

ei
gh

t: 
78

4.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e/
LP

G
$1

19
.8

0

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 14

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



JJ-
01

Ha
nd

 H
el

d 
Ra

m
m

er
s

M
ul

tiq
ui

p
M

TX
90

20
20

Al
l

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

.5
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 G

as
ol

in
e,

Sh
oe

 S
ize

: 1
3.

4'
 X

 1
1.

2'
$3

4.
79

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 Li

gh
t D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4X
4 

1 
38

3 
CR

EW
 G

AS
20

19
30

0 
hp

 &
 O

ve
r

Ax
le

 C
on

fig
ur

at
io

n:
 4

X4
,C

ab
 T

yp
e:

 C
re

w
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 3

83
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Ga
so

lin
e,

To
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 1

$4
3.

68

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 Li

gh
t D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

4X
4 

1/
2 

19
1 

CO
NV

 G
AS

20
10

10
0 

- 1
99

 h
p

Ax
le

 C
on

fig
ur

at
io

n:
 4

X4
,C

ab
 T

yp
e:

 C
on

ve
nt

io
na

l,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
91

.0
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
To

n 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
/2

$2
2.

87
I.C

. S
el

f P
ro

pe
lle

d 
Te

le
sc

op
ic 

Bo
om

 A
er

ia
l L

ift
s

Ge
ni

e
S6

5T
RA

X
20

17
61

 - 
70

 ft
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 7
4,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
72

.2
1

Cr
aw

le
r M

ou
nt

ed
 La

tti
ce

 B
oo

m
 C

ra
ne

s
M

an
ito

w
oc

22
50

 S
ER

IE
S 

1
20

03
20

0.
5 

m
t &

 O
ve

r
Bo

om
 B

as
e 

Le
ng

th
: 7

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 Li
ft 

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 2
49

.5
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 

45
0.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

,1
33

.6
0

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 Li

gh
t D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Isu

zu
NP

R
20

19
30

0 
hp

 &
 O

ve
r

Ax
le

 C
on

fig
ur

at
io

n:
 4

.0
 X

 2
.0

,C
ab

 T
yp

e:
 C

re
w

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 3
25

.0
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
To

n 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
.0

$4
3.

29

L-
14

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

93
8G

20
01

15
0 

- 1
74

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

60
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

1.
63

L-
22

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Vo

lv
o

L7
0E

20
07

13
5 

- 1
49

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

35
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 E
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$6

4.
18

L-
24

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
50

-5
20

07
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
34

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

RO
PS

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$6
4.

23

L-
25

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
50

-5
20

08
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
34

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

RO
PS

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$6
4.

25

L-
26

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
00

-5
20

05
12

0 
- 1

34
 h

p
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 E

RO
PS

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$5
4.

69

L-
27

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

54
4K

20
11

15
0 

- 1
74

 h
p

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 E
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

1.
08

L-
28

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-6
20

13
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
67

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$6

8.
99

L-
31

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

92
4H

20
12

12
0 

- 1
34

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

28
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 E
RO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$6

8.
91

L-
34

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-7
20

14
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

2.
84

L-
35

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-7
20

14
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
65

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

9.
64

L-
36

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Lie

bh
er

r
L5

38
20

14
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
.4

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
50

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$5
6.

65

L-
37

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Lie

bh
er

r
L5

42
20

13
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 9
.2

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
61

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$8

0.
02

L-
38

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Lie

bh
er

r
L5

50
20

16
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 1
1.

8,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
73

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 

RO
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$6

9.
85

L-
39

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ku

bo
ta

SV
L9

5-
2S

20
16

28
51

 - 
32

00
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 8
7,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
13

.0
6

L-
40

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

17
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
18

L-
41

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-8
20

18
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

65
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
2.

36

L-
42

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

62
4K

20
16

17
5 

- 1
99

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

86
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
0.

13

L-
43

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

18
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
42

L-
44

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

18
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
42

L-
46

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ku

bo
ta

SV
L7

5-
2

20
18

22
01

 - 
25

00
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 6
8.

8,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$9

7.
46

L-
47

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ku

bo
ta

SV
L7

5-
2

20
18

22
01

 - 
25

00
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 6
8.

8,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$9

7.
46

L-
49

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-7
20

18
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

2.
90

L-
50

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ku

bo
ta

SV
L7

5-
2

20
19

22
01

 - 
25

00
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 6
8.

8,
Op

er
at

or
 P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$9

7.
51

L-
52

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-8
20

24
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

65
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
2.

50

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 15

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



L-
53

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

93
0M

20
21

15
0 

- 1
74

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

54
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$8

3.
58

L-
54

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

93
0M

20
21

15
0 

- 1
74

 h
p

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

54
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$8

3.
58

L-
55

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ku

bo
ta

SV
L9

5-
2S

20
21

28
51

 - 
32

00
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 8
7,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
13

.4
1

L-
56

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-8
20

21
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

65
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
2.

46

L-
57

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-8
20

21
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

65
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
2.

46

L-
58

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

21
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
51

L-
59

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

21
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
51

L-
60

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

21
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
51

L-
61

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

21
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
51

L-
62

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

27
9D

3
20

22
22

01
 - 

25
00

 lb
s

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 7

2.
9,

Op
er

at
or

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 R
O

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
07

.8
0

L-
63

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

22
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
52

L-
64

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

22
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
52

L-
65

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

64
4L

 H
YB

RI
D

20
22

22
5 

- 2
49

 h
p

Bu
ck

et
 C

ap
ac

ity
: 4

.3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 2

31
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

08
.0

3

L-
66

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

22
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
52

L-
67

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

29
9D

3
20

23
28

51
 - 

32
00

 lb
s

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

5,
Op

er
at

in
g 

Ca
pa

cit
y 

(3
5%

 O
f T

ip
 Lo

ad
): 

32
00

,O
pe

ra
to

r 
Pr

ot
ec

tio
n:

 R
OP

S/
FO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

23
.9

6

L-
68

Co
m

pa
ct

 T
ra

ck
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

29
9D

3
20

23
28

51
 - 

32
00

 lb
s

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

5,
Op

er
at

in
g 

Ca
pa

cit
y 

(3
5%

 O
f T

ip
 Lo

ad
): 

32
00

,O
pe

ra
to

r 
Pr

ot
ec

tio
n:

 R
OP

S/
FO

PS
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

23
.9

6

L-
69

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

54
4 

G-
TI

ER
20

23
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 2
.8

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
68

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
4.

47

L-
70

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

54
4 

G-
TI

ER
20

24
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 2
.8

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
68

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
4.

50

L-
71

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
De

er
e

54
4 

G-
TI

ER
20

24
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 2
.8

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 1
68

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
4.

50

L-
72

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A2
70

-8
20

24
13

5 
- 1

49
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
49

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

O
PS

/F
OP

S,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

7.
55

L-
73

4-
W

d 
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 W
he

el
 Lo

ad
er

s
Ko

m
at

su
W

A3
20

-8
20

24
15

0 
- 1

74
 h

p
Bu

ck
et

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 3
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

65
.0

,O
pe

ra
to

r P
ro

te
ct

io
n:

 
RO

PS
/F

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
2.

50
LP

-0
1

Po
rt

ab
le

 Li
gh

t T
ow

er
s

Te
re

x
AL

40
00

20
07

To
 7

 k
W

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

0.
5

$1
3.

57
LP

-0
2

Po
rt

ab
le

 Li
gh

t T
ow

er
s

Te
re

x
AL

40
00

20
07

To
 7

 k
W

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

0.
5

$1
3.

57
LP

-0
3

Po
rt

ab
le

 Li
gh

t T
ow

er
s

Te
re

x
AL

40
00

20
07

To
 7

 k
W

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

0.
5

$1
3.

57
LP

-0
4

Po
rt

ab
le

 Li
gh

t T
ow

er
s

Te
re

x
AL

40
00

20
07

To
 7

 k
W

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

0.
5

$1
3.

57

LP
-0

5
Po

rt
ab

le
 Li

gh
t T

ow
er

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

HE
AV

Y 
DU

TY
--6

-1
5-

1/
2

20
16

To
 7

 k
W

Nu
m

be
r O

f L
ig

ht
s:

 4
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ow
er

 H
ei

gh
t: 

30
.0

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 
25

.5
$1

8.
51

LP
-0

6
Po

rt
ab

le
 Li

gh
t T

ow
er

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

HE
AV

Y 
DU

TY
--6

-1
5-

1/
2

20
16

To
 7

 k
W

Nu
m

be
r O

f L
ig

ht
s:

 4
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ow
er

 H
ei

gh
t: 

30
.0

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 
25

.5
$1

8.
51

LP
-1

3
Po

rt
ab

le
 Li

gh
t T

ow
er

s
W

ac
ke

r N
eu

so
n

LT
N6

L
20

22
To

 7
 k

W
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
0.

7
$1

2.
16

LP
-1

4
Po

rt
ab

le
 Li

gh
t T

ow
er

s
W

ac
ke

r N
eu

so
n

LT
N6

L
20

22
To

 7
 k

W
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
0.

7
$1

2.
16

LP
-1

5
Po

rt
ab

le
 Li

gh
t T

ow
er

s
W

ac
ke

r N
eu

so
n

LT
N6

L
20

22
To

 7
 k

W
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
0.

7
$1

2.
16

M
R-

03
Re

cla
im

er
s/

St
ab

ili
ze

rs
W

irt
ge

n
W

R2
00

0X
L (

8 
FT

 D
RU

M
)

20
17

50
1 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
Cu

tt
in

g 
W

id
th

: 1
20

.0
,M

ix
in

g 
De

pt
h:

 2
0.

0'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 6

71
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

,R
ot

or
 D

ia
m

et
er

: 5
8.

0
$4

93
.1

7

P-
Re

nt
al

 1
Di

ap
hr

ag
m

 P
um

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

2 
DI

ES
EL

20
11

To
 2

 in
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 6
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,P

um
p 

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 3
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 2
.0

$6
.4

4

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 16

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



PR
-0

4
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
40

M
 D

IE
SE

L W
AT

ER
-C

OO
LE

D
20

08
4 

- 6
 in

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 4

5.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 4

00
00

.0
,S

ize
: 4

.0
$4

4.
79

PR
-1

1
Se

lf 
Pr

im
in

g 
Tr

as
h 

Pu
m

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

6 
DI

ES
EL

20
00

5 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 8

00
00

.0
,P

um
p 

Si
ze

: 
6.

0
$6

3.
62

PR
-1

4
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
35

0M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
06

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 9

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 3

50
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 1
2.

0
$8

4.
79

PR
-1

9
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
12

5M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
06

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

25
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 8
.0

$6
8.

81

PR
-2

4
Se

lf 
Pr

im
in

g 
Tr

as
h 

Pu
m

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

6 
DI

ES
EL

20
19

5 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 8

00
00

.0
,P

um
p 

Si
ze

: 
6.

0
$6

8.
16

PR
-2

5
Se

lf 
Pr

im
in

g 
Tr

as
h 

Pu
m

ps
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

6 
DI

ES
EL

20
19

5 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 8

00
00

.0
,P

um
p 

Si
ze

: 
6.

0
$6

8.
16

PR
-2

6
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
20

0M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
19

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 2

00
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 1
0.

0
$7

8.
07

PR
-2

7
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
20

0M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
19

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 2

00
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 1
0.

0
$7

8.
07

PR
-2

8
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
12

5M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
19

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 1

25
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 8
.0

$6
9.

88

PR
-2

9
He

av
y 

Du
ty

 C
en

tr
ifu

ga
l P

um
ps

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
20

0M
 D

IE
SE

L E
LE

CT
RI

C 
ST

AR
T

20
19

7 
in

 &
 O

ve
r

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

0.
0,

Pu
m

p 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 2

00
00

0.
0,

Si
ze

: 1
0.

0
$7

8.
07

PT
L-

01
Ha

nd
 H

el
d 

Vi
br

at
or

y 
Pl

at
e 

Co
m

pa
ct

or
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
DI

ES
EL

 2
51

 - 
50

0 
KG

20
20

55
3 

- 1
10

3 
lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 9
.5

,P
la

te
 W

id
th

: 2
4.

6,
Po

un
ds

 P
er

 B
lo

w
: 6

00
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$3
3.

07

PT
S-

01
Ha

nd
 H

el
d 

Vi
br

at
or

y 
Pl

at
e 

Co
m

pa
ct

or
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
GA

SO
LI

NE
 0

 - 
95

 K
G

20
20

To
 2

10
 lb

s
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 4
.5

,P
la

te
 W

id
th

: 1
5,

Po
un

ds
 P

er
 B

lo
w

: 3
00

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 

Ga
so

lin
e

$1
1.

21

Q
S-

01
Co

nc
re

te
 S

aw
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
5-

14
SM

20
20

To
 1

0 
hp

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 5

.5
,M

ax
im

um
 C

ut
tin

g 
De

pt
h:

 5
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
Ty

pe
: 

St
on

e 
&

 M
as

on
ry

$2
7.

81
R-

08
3-

W
he

el
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Sa

ka
i

R2
H

19
99

8.
5 

m
t &

 O
ve

r
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 6
5.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
ra

ns
m

iss
io

n:
 H

yd
ro

st
at

ic
$1

18
.0

9

R-
10

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
21

2D
-2

-2
A

19
99

7.
5 

- 1
1.

4 
m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
2.

7'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

14
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
9.

70

R-
11

Se
lf 

Pr
op

el
le

d 
Pn

eu
m

at
ic 

Co
m

pa
ct

or
s

Ro
sc

o
TR

U-
PA

C 
91

5
19

99
To

 2
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

5.
0,

Nu
m

be
r O

f S
pe

ed
s:

 1
/1

,N
um

be
r O

f W
he

el
s:

 9
.0

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

81
.6

4

R-
12

Se
lf 

Pr
op

el
le

d 
Pn

eu
m

at
ic 

Co
m

pa
ct

or
s

Ro
sc

o
TR

U-
PA

C 
91

5
20

01
To

 2
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

5.
0,

Nu
m

be
r O

f S
pe

ed
s:

 1
/1

,N
um

be
r O

f W
he

el
s:

 9
.0

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

82
.4

2

R-
13

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Sa

ka
i

SV
51

0D
-II

20
02

7.
5 

- 1
1.

4 
m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
38

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$7

9.
68

R-
14

3-
W

he
el

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

Dy
na

pa
c

CS
14

1
20

05
8.

5 
m

t &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 9

9.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

ra
ns

m
iss

io
n:

 H
yd

ro
st

at
ic

$1
49

.3
4

R-
15

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

34
12

20
09

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
34

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$6

7.
91

R-
16

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

32
05

20
13

4.
5 

- 7
.4

 m
t

Dr
um

 T
yp

e:
 S

m
oo

th
,D

ru
m

 W
id

th
: 5

4.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 6

4.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$4
3.

81

R-
17

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

33
07

 V
IO

20
13

4.
5 

- 7
.4

 m
t

Dr
um

 T
yp

e:
 S

m
oo

th
,D

ru
m

 W
id

th
: 6

6.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 7

4.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$5
9.

28

R-
18

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
17

7D
-4

0
20

09
4.

5 
- 7

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 6
6.

4'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 8

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$6
6.

68
R-

19
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

Ha
m

m
H1

0I
20

20
11

.5
 - 

14
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

13
.9

$5
1.

06

R-
20

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

H1
1I

20
16

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

25
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

41
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
4.

10

R-
21

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
12

4D
H-

40
20

20
2.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 4
7.

2'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 4

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$3
7.

38

R-
22

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

H1
1I

20
16

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

25
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

41
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
4.

10

R-
23

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
12

4D
H-

40
20

19
2.

5 
- 4

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 4
7.

2'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 4

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$3
7.

40

R-
24

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

H1
1I

20
16

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

25
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

41
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
4.

10
R-

25
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

19
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

08

R-
26

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

H1
3I

 V
IO

20
18

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 8
4.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
41

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 

Di
es

el
$9

3.
37

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 17

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



R-
27

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Ha

m
m

H1
0I

20
19

11
.5

 - 
14

.4
 m

t
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
13

.9
$5

1.
10

R-
28

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
14

5D
-4

0
20

21
4.

5 
- 7

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 5
6.

1'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$4
8.

24

R-
29

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
14

5D
-4

0
20

20
4.

5 
- 7

.4
 m

t
Dr

um
 T

yp
e:

 S
m

oo
th

,D
ru

m
 W

id
th

: 5
6.

1'
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 7

5.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$4
8.

24
R-

30
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

20
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

01
R-

31
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

21
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

01
R-

32
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

21
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

01
R-

33
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

21
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

01
R-

34
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

23
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

05
R-

35
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

BO
M

AG
BW

21
1D

-5
20

23
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

27
.4

$7
9.

05

R-
36

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Dy

na
pa

c
CA

25
00

D
20

24
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Dr
um

 T
yp

e:
 S

m
oo

th
,D

ru
m

 W
id

th
: 8

4.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

30
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
2.

55

R-
37

Si
ng

le
 D

ru
m

 V
ib

ra
to

ry
 C

om
pa

ct
or

s
Dy

na
pa

c
CA

25
00

D
20

24
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Dr
um

 T
yp

e:
 S

m
oo

th
,D

ru
m

 W
id

th
: 8

4.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

30
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$7
2.

55

RA
T-

02
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Vo

lv
o

A2
5E

20
03

19
.5

 - 
25

.4
 m

t
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 6
 X

 6
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 2

99
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,R

at
ed

 
Pa

yl
oa

d:
 2

4.
0

$2
52

.8
2

RA
T-

03
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
De

er
e

25
0D

20
11

19
.5

 - 
25

.4
 m

t
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 6
 X

 6
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 2

65
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,R

at
ed

 
Pa

yl
oa

d:
 2

3.
2

$2
45

.7
1

RA
T-

04
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ko

m
at

su
HM

40
0-

5
20

16
34

.5
 m

t &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 4

66
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
41

.5
9

RA
T-

05
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ko

m
at

su
HM

40
0-

5
20

16
34

.5
 m

t &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 4

66
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
41

.5
9

RA
T-

06
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ko

m
at

su
HM

40
0-

5
20

16
34

.5
 m

t &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 4

66
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
41

.5
9

RA
T-

07
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ko

m
at

su
HM

40
0-

5
20

16
34

.5
 m

t &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 4

66
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$3
41

.5
9

RA
T-

08
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

72
5C

2
20

20
25

.5
 - 

29
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

14
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
27

.5
0

RA
T-

09
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

72
5C

2
20

20
25

.5
 - 

29
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

14
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
27

.5
0

RA
T-

10
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

72
5C

2
20

20
25

.5
 - 

29
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

14
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
27

.5
0

RA
T-

11
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Hy

dr
em

a
92

2G
20

25
19

.5
 - 

25
.4

 m
t

Ax
le

 C
on

fig
ur

at
io

n:
 6

 x 
6,

Bo
dy

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 1
5.

7,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 3
14

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,R
at

ed
 P

ay
lo

ad
: 2

0
$2

61
.3

0
RA

TS
T-

68
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 R
ea

r D
um

ps
Ca

te
rp

ill
ar

72
5C

2
20

20
25

.5
 - 

29
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

14
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$2
27

.5
0

RR
-0

6
Si

ng
le

 D
ru

m
 V

ib
ra

to
ry

 C
om

pa
ct

or
s

In
ge

rs
ol

l R
an

d
SD

10
0D

A
19

98
7.

5 
- 1

1.
4 

m
t

Dr
um

 T
yp

e:
 S

m
oo

th
,D

ru
m

 W
id

th
: 8

4.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

25
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Di

es
el

$9
3.

87

RR
-0

7
Se

lf 
Pr

op
el

le
d 

Pn
eu

m
at

ic 
Co

m
pa

ct
or

s
BO

M
AG

BW
11

RH
19

97
To

 2
.4

 m
t

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 8

5.
0,

Nu
m

be
r O

f S
pe

ed
s:

 3
F/

3R
,N

um
be

r O
f W

he
el

s:
 9

.0
,P

ow
er

 
M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
72

.3
5

RW
-0

1
Ro

ad
 W

id
en

er
s

Bl
aw

-K
no

x
RW

-1
95

D
30

,0
01

 lb
s &

 O
ve

r
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
73

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

13
.4

7
RW

-0
2

Ro
ad

 W
id

en
er

s
Bl

aw
-K

no
x

RW
-1

95
D

30
,0

01
 lb

s &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

73
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$7
13

.4
7

T-
13

0
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 W
at

er
 T

an
ke

rs
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

DS
L 6

X4
 4

00
0

19
93

20
0 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 2
50

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
an

k 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 4

00
0.

0
$7

2.
62

T-
16

8
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 Li
gh

t D
ut

y 
Tr

uc
ks

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
4X

4 
1/

2 
19

1 
CO

NV
 G

AS
20

10
10

0 
- 1

99
 h

p
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 4
X4

,C
ab

 T
yp

e:
 C

on
ve

nt
io

na
l,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 1

91
.0

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 G

as
ol

in
e,

To
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 1

/2
$2

2.
87

T-
21

2
Cr

ew
 C

ab
 P

ick
up

s
Fo

rd
F4

50
 4

X4
 D

IE
SE

L
20

18
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,W
he

el
ba

se
: 1

72
,A

xl
e 

Co
nf

ig
ur

at
io

n:
 4

x4
,C

om
pl

et
e 

/ 
In

co
m

pl
et

e:
 C

,G
ro

ss
 V

eh
icl

e 
W

ei
gh

t: 
16

50
0

$5
7.

11

T-
21

2A
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 C
ra

ne
s F

or
 T

ru
ck

 M
ou

nt
in

g
Pa

lfi
ng

er
PC

 3
80

0
20

24
To

 8
,0

00
 lb

s
Lif

t C
ap

ac
ity

: 4
40

0.
0,

M
ax

im
um

 B
oo

m
 Le

ng
th

: 1
6.

4,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic

$1
8.

72
T-

21
6

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 T

ru
ck

 T
ra

ct
or

s
Ke

nw
or

th
T8

00
20

18
45

,0
01

 - 
60

,0
00

 lb
s

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

30
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
1.

98
T-

21
7

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 T

ru
ck

 T
ra

ct
or

s
Ke

nw
or

th
T8

00
20

18
45

,0
01

 - 
60

,0
00

 lb
s

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 3

30
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$8
1.

98

T-
23

2
Lig

ht
 D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Fo

rd
SU

PE
R 

DU
TY

 F
-3

50
 X

L 4
X4

 D
IE

SE
L

20
21

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,W

he
el

ba
se

: 1
42

,M
od

el
 T

rim
: X

L,
Gr

os
s V

eh
ic

le
 W

ei
gh

t 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
00

00
$4

7.
05

T-
23

7
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 Li
gh

t D
ut

y 
Tr

uc
ks

Isu
zu

NP
R

20
19

30
0 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 4
.0

 X
 2

.0
,C

ab
 T

yp
e:

 C
re

w
,H

or
se

po
w

er
: 3

25
.0

,P
ow

er
 

M
od

e:
 G

as
ol

in
e,

To
n 

Ra
tin

g:
 1

.0
$4

3.
29

T-
23

8
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 Li
gh

t D
ut

y 
Tr

uc
ks

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
4X

4 
1 

38
3 

CR
EW

 G
AS

20
19

30
0 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 4
X4

,C
ab

 T
yp

e:
 C

re
w

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 3
83

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 
Ga

so
lin

e,
To

n 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
$4

3.
68

T-
24

3
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 F
la

tb
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
6X

4 
45

KG
VW

 D
SL

20
07

33
,0

01
 - 

45
,0

00
 lb

s
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 6
X4

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 3
80

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 G

ro
ss

 V
eh

icl
e 

W
ei

gh
t: 

45
00

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
8.

23

T-
25

3
Lig

ht
 D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Fo

rd
SU

PE
R 

DU
TY

 F
-2

50
 X

L 4
X4

 D
IE

SE
L

20
22

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,W

he
el

ba
se

: 1
42

,M
od

el
 T

rim
: X

L,
Gr

os
s V

eh
ic

le
 W

ei
gh

t 
Ra

tin
g:

 1
00

00
$4

6.
29

T-
25

5
Lig

ht
 D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Fo

rd
F-

15
0 

XL
T 

4X
4 

GA
S

20
23

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
W

he
el

ba
se

: 1
22

.8
,M

od
el

 T
rim

: X
LT

,G
ro

ss
 V

eh
ic

le
 

W
ei

gh
t R

at
in

g:
 6

05
0

$4
0.

64

T-
25

8
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 F
la

tb
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
4X

2 
20

KG
VW

 D
SL

20
22

19
,5

01
 - 

26
,0

00
 lb

s
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 4
X2

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 2
00

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 G

ro
ss

 V
eh

icl
e 

W
ei

gh
t: 

20
00

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$5
5.

73

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 18

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



T-
25

8A
Tr

ai
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 A
rr

ow
 B

oa
rd

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

TR
AI

L M
TD

 D
AR

RO
W

 B
RD

20
22

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 7

.5
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$7

.8
4

T-
25

8B
Cr

as
h 

At
te

nu
at

or
s F

or
 T

ru
ck

 M
ou

nt
in

g
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

AL
UM

IN
UM

-2
20

22
Ca

rt
rid

ge
 T

yp
e:

 T
w

o-
Pi

ec
e 

M
od

ul
ar

,M
at

er
ia

l T
yp

e:
 A

lu
m

in
um

,M
ax

im
um

 
Im

pa
ct

: 6
0.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic

$7
.5

9

T-
26

0
Lig

ht
 D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Fo

rd
F-

15
0 

SS
V 

4X
4 

GA
S

20
23

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
W

he
el

ba
se

: 1
45

.4
,M

od
el

 T
rim

: S
SV

,G
ro

ss
 V

eh
icl

e 
W

ei
gh

t R
at

in
g:

 7
05

0
$4

2.
08

T-
26

4
Lig

ht
 D

ut
y 

Tr
uc

ks
Fo

rd
F-

15
0 

XL
T 

4X
2 

GA
S

20
23

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 G
as

ol
in

e,
W

he
el

ba
se

: 1
22

.8
,M

od
el

 T
rim

: X
LT

,G
ro

ss
 V

eh
ic

le
 

W
ei

gh
t R

at
in

g:
 6

01
0

$3
4.

62

T-
27

5
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 F
la

tb
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
6X

4 
45

KG
VW

 D
SL

20
23

33
,0

01
 - 

45
,0

00
 lb

s
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 6
X4

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 3
80

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 G

ro
ss

 V
eh

icl
e 

W
ei

gh
t: 

45
00

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$1
00

.8
8

T-
28

5
On

-H
ig

hw
ay

 F
la

tb
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
4X

2 
30

KG
VW

 D
SL

20
23

26
,0

01
 - 

33
,0

00
 lb

s
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 4
X2

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 2
17

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 G

ro
ss

 V
eh

icl
e 

W
ei

gh
t: 

30
00

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$6
3.

79

T-
92

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 T

ru
ck

 T
ra

ct
or

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

6X
4 

75
KG

VW
 D

SL
19

99
60

,0
01

 lb
s &

 O
ve

r
Ax

le
 C

on
fig

ur
at

io
n:

 6
X4

,H
or

se
po

w
er

: 4
00

.0
,M

ax
im

um
 G

ro
ss

 V
eh

icl
e 

W
ei

gh
t: 

75
00

0.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l

$9
4.

97

T-
92

A
Hy

dr
au

lic
 R

em
ov

ab
le

 G
oo

se
ne

ck
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t T
ra

ile
rs

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
3 

10
0

20
06

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 1
00

.0
,N

um
be

r O
f A

xl
es

: 3
.0

,N
um

be
r O

f T
ire

s:
 1

2.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
M

an
ua

l
$4

6.
97

TH
-0

1
Te

le
ha

nd
le

rs
JL

G
72

3A
20

11
2.

71
 - 

3.
0 

m
t

Ba
se

 C
ap

ac
ity

: 6
70

0.
0,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 1

00
.0

,M
ax

im
um

 Li
ft 

He
ig

ht
: 

27
1.

0,
M

ax
im

um
 R

ea
ch

: 1
53

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

54
.1

7

TR
-5

8
Hy

dr
au

lic
 R

em
ov

ab
le

 G
oo

se
ne

ck
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t T
ra

ile
rs

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
3 

10
0

20
19

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 1
00

.0
,N

um
be

r O
f A

xl
es

: 3
.0

,N
um

be
r O

f T
ire

s:
 1

2.
0,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 
M

an
ua

l
$4

8.
57

TR
-5

8A
Fl

oa
t T

ra
ile

rs
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

32
20

19
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 4

0.
0,

De
ck

 Le
ng

th
: 3

2.
0,

Nu
m

be
r O

f A
xl

es
: 2

.0
,N

um
be

r O
f T

ire
s:

 
8.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 M

an
ua

l
$1

5.
98

To
m

c
Cr

aw
le

r M
ou

nt
ed

 La
tti

ce
 B

oo
m

 C
ra

ne
s

Lie
bh

er
r

LR
13

00
20

19
20

0.
5 

m
t &

 O
ve

r
Bo

om
 B

as
e 

Le
ng

th
: 3

3.
8,

M
ax

im
um

 Li
ft 

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 2
71

.6
2,

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 

60
3.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$1

,2
92

.5
4

VC
L-

01
Fl

ex
ib

le
 S

ha
ft 

Co
nc

re
te

 V
ib

ra
to

rs
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

8-
14

G
20

20
4 

hp
 &

 O
ve

r
He

ad
 D

ia
m

et
er

: 2
.5

00
',H

or
se

po
w

er
: 8

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 G

as
ol

in
e,

Sh
af

t 
Le

ng
th

: 1
4.

0
$4

.1
0

VC
S-

01
Fl

ex
ib

le
 S

ha
ft 

Co
nc

re
te

 V
ib

ra
to

rs
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

5-
M

ar
20

20
To

 3
 h

p
He

ad
 D

ia
m

et
er

: 2
.2

50
',H

or
se

po
w

er
: 3

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 E

le
ct

ric
,S

ha
ft 

Le
ng

th
: 

5.
0

$0
.6

9
W

-0
1

Of
f-H

ig
hw

ay
 W

at
er

 T
an

ke
r T

ru
ck

s
M

isc
el

la
ne

ou
s

50
00

 1
50

20
20

To
 1

99
 h

p
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
75

.0
,P

ow
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l,T
an

k 
Ca

pa
cit

y:
 5

00
0.

0
$1

27
.9

3
W

-1
0

On
-H

ig
hw

ay
 W

at
er

 T
an

ke
rs

M
isc

el
la

ne
ou

s
BB

2 
DS

L 6
X4

 4
00

0
20

24
20

0 
hp

 &
 O

ve
r

Ho
rs

ep
ow

er
: 2

50
.0

,P
ow

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,T

an
k 

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 4
00

0.
0

$7
0.

45

W
-4

Si
ng

le
 E

ng
in

e 
El

ev
at

in
g 

Sc
ra

pe
rs

Ca
te

rp
ill

ar
61

3C
20

00
To

 1
1 

cu
 y

d
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 1
75

.0
,O

pe
ra

to
r P

ro
te

ct
io

n:
 R

OP
S,

Po
w

er
 M

od
e:

 D
ie

se
l,S

cr
ap

er
 

Ca
pa

cit
y:

 1
1.

0
$2

22
.9

6
X-

21
*

Ke
nc

o
KL

-9
00

0
19

99
HD

 B
ar

rie
r W

al
l L

ift
$6

.9
4

X-
22

*
Ke

nc
o

KL
-9

00
0

19
99

HD
 B

ar
rie

r W
al

l L
ift

$3
.6

9
X-

24
*

Sm
ith

 M
an

uf
ac

tu
rX

-3
 E

ra
se

r
Th

re
e 

Di
am

on
d 

Cu
tit

ng
 h

ea
ds

$2
5.

04
X-

25
Co

nc
re

te
 R

ol
le

r/
Fi

ni
sh

er
 P

av
er

s
Bi

d-
W

el
l

48
00

20
10

77
 ft

 &
 O

ve
r

Fr
am

e 
W

id
th

: 8
0.

0,
Ho

rs
ep

ow
er

: 4
0.

0,
Po

w
er

 M
od

e:
 D

ie
se

l
$3

7.
27

X-
26

*
Bi

d-
W

el
l

34
24

 P
oe

re
d 

W
or

k 
Br

id
ge

Ex
te

nd
ab

le
 to

 1
33

'
$7

.5
6

Exhibit F – Contractor Proposal

F - 19

Docusign Envelope ID: 328C1CF4-05B1-46D9-8F19-066126766BC7



CENTRAL FLORIDA TOURISM OVERSIGHT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REPORT 7.2          Board Meeting Date: 11/21/2025 

   
 

Subject: Studios South Central Energy Plant Expansion 
 
Presented By: Chris Ferraro, Director, Reedy Creek Energy Services 
 
Department: Utility Services 
               
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (Motion Ready): Approve Agenda Item #7.2 establishing the initial 
budget for the Studios South Central Energy Plant Expansion project in the amount of $7,000,000; approve 
allowances for professional services of $500,000; procurement of owner-furnished materials of $1,500,000; 
and RCES design/support services fees of $200,000; all with a 10% contingency for unforeseen issues, and 
authorize the District Administrator to execute the subsequent contracts for such allowances, all subject to 
the District closing on the Series 2025 Bonds previously approved on October 24, 2025 by Resolution No. 
682 
               
RELEVANT STRATEGIC GOALS: Operational Excellence 
               
PROOF OF PUBLICATION: N/A 
               

BACKGROUND:  
The Studios South Central Energy Plant was originally designed to accommodate three chillers and three 
cooling towers to support long-term capacity and resiliency. Only two chillers and two cooling towers 
were installed during initial construction, providing a total of 2,028 tons of cooling capacity. At least one 
chiller and one cooling tower must operate continuously during the cooling season to meet existing 
system demands.   
 
With new customer connections driving increased chilled water demand, the current configuration no 
longer provides sufficient redundancy.  Installing a third 1,000-ton chiller and cooling tower will fulfill 
the original design intent and ensure N+1 resiliency in the event of equipment failure or planned 
maintenance. This expansion is essential to maintain reliable service and support both current and future 
load growth. 
 
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS:  
The Utilities Division is requesting approval to establish the initial budget for the Studios South Central 
Energy Plant Expansion project in the amount of $7,000,000, an allowance for professional services of 
$500,000, an allowance for the procurement of owner furnished materials of $1,500,000, and an 
allowance for RCES design/support services fees of $200,000.  These allowances are subject to an 
additional 10% contingency if needed for unforeseen issues or conditions. All expenditures will be in 
compliance with the District’s procurement policy. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Funding will be from CFTOD Series 2025-2 Utility Revenue Bonds (Taxable) subject to the District 
closing on the Series 2025 Bonds, approved by the District pursuant to Resolution No. 682, on October 
24, 2025. 
 
 



   
 

   
 

PROCUREMENT REVIEW:   
Individual purchase orders will be reviewed and approved for compliance with the District’s procurement 
policies prior to issuance. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The contracts will be reviewed for form and legality by the District Counsel. 
 
ALTERNATIVE:  

• Deny 
• Amend 
• Table 

 
SUPPORT MATERIALS:  
 


	Blank Page



